

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Werner, Daniel

Book The evolution of regional labor market disparities

IAB-Bibliothek, No. 344

Provided in Cooperation with: Institute for Employment Research (IAB)

Suggested Citation: Werner, Daniel (2013) : The evolution of regional labor market disparities, IAB-Bibliothek, No. 344, ISBN 978-3-7639-4076-9, W. Bertelsmann Verlag (wbv), Bielefeld, https://doi.org/10.3278/300816w

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/280197

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.



https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.





Institut für Arbeitsmarktund Berufsforschung

Die Forschungseinrichtung der Bundesagentur für Arbeit



344

IAB-Bibliothek Die Buchreihe des Instituts für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung

The evolution of regional labor market disparities

Daniel Werner

Dissertationen



Institut für Arbeitsmarktund Berufsforschung

Die Forschungseinrichtung der Bundesagentur für Arbeit



344

IAB-Bibliothek

The evolution of regional labor market disparities

Daniel Werner

Dissertationen



Bibliografische Information der Deutschen Nationalbibliothek

Die Deutsche Nationalbibliothek verzeichnet diese Publikation in der Deutschen Nationalbibliografie; detaillierte bibliografische Daten sind im Internet über http://dnb.ddb.de abrufbar.

Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades des Doktors der Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften DOCTOR RERUM POLITICARUM an der Fakultät Sozial- und Wirtschaftswissenschaften der Otto-Friedrich-Universität Bamberg.

Erstgutachter: Prof. Dr. Uwe Blien Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. Herbert Brücker Tag der Disputation: 02.08.2012

Dieses E-Book ist auf dem Grünen Weg Open Access erschienen. Es ist lizenziert unter der CC-BY-SA-Lizenz.



Herausgeber der Reihe IAB-Bibliothek: Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung der Bundesagentur für Arbeit (IAB), Regensburger Straße 104, 90478 Nürnberg, Telefon (09 11) 179-0 ■ Redaktion: Martina Dorsch, Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung der Bundesagentur für Arbeit, 90327 Nürnberg, Telefon (09 11) 179-32 06, E-Mail: martina.dorsch@iab.de ■ Gesamtherstellung: W. Bertelsmann Verlag, Bielefeld (wbv.de) ■ Rechte: Kein Teil dieses Werkes darf ohne vorherige Genehmigung des IAB in irgendeiner Form (unter Verwendung elektronischer Systeme oder als Ausdruck, Fotokopie oder Nutzung eines anderen Vervielfältigungsverfahrens) über den persönlichen Gebrauch hinaus verarbeitet oder verbreitet werden.

© 2013 Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung, Nürnberg/ W. Bertelsmann Verlag GmbH & Co. KG, Bielefeld

In der "IAB-Bibliothek" werden umfangreiche Einzelarbeiten aus dem IAB oder im Auftrag des IAB oder der BA durchgeführte Untersuchungen veröffentlicht. Beiträge, die mit dem Namen des Verfassers gekennzeichnet sind, geben nicht unbedingt die Meinung des IAB bzw. der Bundesagentur für Arbeit wieder.

ISBN 978-3-7639-4075-2 (Print) ISBN 978-3-7639-4076-9 (E-Book) ISSN 1865-4096 Best.-Nr. 300816

www.iabshop.de

www.iab.de

Contents

List o	f Figures	7
List of Tables 1'		
Danks	agung	13
1	Introduction	17
1.1	Motivation	22
1.2	Structure of the thesis	28
2	What do we know about the evolution of regional labor market disparities?	33
2.1	The evolution of regional labor market disparities: Convergence or divergence?	33
2.1.1	Cross-sectional approaches to convergence	35
2.1.2	Time series approaches to convergence	51
2.1.3	Convergence or divergence?	67
2.2	Adjustment to shocks	70
2.2.1	Measures for relative regional variables	71
2.2.2	Theoretical framework	73
2.2.3	Autoregressive processes and impulse response analysis	77
2.2.4	The empirical framework by Blanchard/Katz (1992)	79
2.2.5	The role of wages in the adjustment process	86
2.2.6	Further enhancement of the classical approach	87
2.2.7	When will things return to normal after a regional labor demand shock?	89
3	New insights into the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in Germany	95
3.1	Trends in German regional unemployment	97
3.2	The evolution of regional unemployment disparities	104
3.3	The definition of stochastic convergence	114
3.4	Testing for cross-sectional dependence	117
3.4.1	Two tests for cross-sectional dependence	118
3.4.2	Results	120

3.5	Testing the hypothesis of stochastic convergence	123
3.5.1	Modeling cross-sectional dependence via approximate factors	123
3.5.2	Testing for a unit root	126
3.5.3	Results	128
3.6	Conclusion	132
4	Convergence analysis for heterogeneous employment groups	137
4.1	Data and definitions	141
4.2	The evolution of skill-specific employment in West Germany	143
4.3	Recent trends in regional employment disparities	146
4.4	Stochastic convergence and cross-sectional dependence	152
4.4.1	Structures and restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence	153
4.4.2	Testing stochastic convergence as a second generation panel	
	unit root test	155
4.5	Convergence or divergence of regional employment rates?	158
4.6	Conclusion	162
5	Regional labor market dynamics after a labor demand shock	169
	5	
5.1	Empirical framework	172
5.1 5.1.1	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework	172 172
5.1 5.1.1 5.1.2	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR	172 172 175
5.1 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis	172 172 175 180
5.1 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy	172 172 175 180 182
5.1 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.2	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts	172 172 175 180 182 189
5.1 5.1.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.2 5.2.1	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts Data source and definitions	172 172 175 180 182 189 189
5.1 5.1.2 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.2 5.2.1 5.2.2	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts Data source and definitions Stylized facts	172 175 180 182 189 189 190
5.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.2 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts Data source and definitions Stylized facts Labor mobility in Germany	172 175 180 182 189 189 190 197
5.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.2 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.3	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts Data source and definitions Stylized facts Labor mobility in Germany Measurement of relative regional variables	172 175 180 182 189 189 190 197 205
5.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.2 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.3	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts Data source and definitions Stylized facts Labor mobility in Germany Measurement of relative regional variables Results	172 175 180 182 189 189 190 197 205 206
5.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.2 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.3.1	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts Data source and definitions Stylized facts Labor mobility in Germany Measurement of relative regional variables Results The classical approach revisited	172 175 180 182 189 190 197 205 206 207
5.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.2 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.3.1 5.3.1	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts Data source and definitions Stylized facts Labor mobility in Germany Measurement of relative regional variables Results The classical approach revisited The role of labor mobility for the adjustment process	172 175 180 182 189 189 190 197 205 206 207 211
5.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.2 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.3.1 5.3.1 5.3.2	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts Data source and definitions Stylized facts Labor mobility in Germany Measurement of relative regional variables Results The classical approach revisited The role of labor mobility for the adjustment process The role of the wage feedback in the adjustment process	172 175 180 182 189 189 190 197 205 206 207 211 217
5.1 5.1.2 5.1.3 5.2 5.2.1 5.2.2 5.2.3 5.2.4 5.3.1 5.3.1 5.3.2 5.3.3 5.3.3	Empirical framework Basic principles of the empirical framework Specification of the PVAR Impulse response analysis Estimation strategy Data and some stylized facts Data source and definitions Stylized facts Labor mobility in Germany Measurement of relative regional variables Results The classical approach revisited The role of labor mobility for the adjustment process The role of the wage feedback in the adjustment process Region labor market dynamics in Germany	172 175 180 182 189 190 197 205 206 207 211 217 220

6	What are the new insights into the evolution of regional labor market disparities?	231
Appen	Appendix	
A.1	Appendix: Figures	241
A.2	Appendix: Regression results	257
Refere	References	
Abstract		
Kurzfassung		277

List of Figures

Figure 3.1:	Evolution of the German unemployment rate, 1968–2009	97
Figure 3.2:	Evolution of regional unemployment rates in West Germany, 1968–2009	98
Figure 3.3:	Evolution of regional unemployment rates in East Germany, 1991–2009	99
Figure 3.4:	Relative West German regional unemployment rates, 1968–2009	101
Figure 3.5:	Relative German regional unemployment rates, 1991–2009	103
Figure 3.6:	Persistence of West German regional unemployment rates, 1968–2009	105
Figure 3.7:	Persistence of German regional unemployment rates, 1991–2009	106
Figure 3.8:	Rank-order stability of West German regional unemployment rates, 1968–2009	107
Figure 3.9:	Rank-order stability of regional unemployment rates, 1991–2009	108
Figure 3.10:	Relationship between West German regional unemployment rates in 1968 and their average annual growth rate 1968–2009	109
Figure 3.11:	Relationship between West German regional unemployment rates in 1991 and their average annual growth rate 1991–2009	110
Figure 3.12:	Relationship between German regional unemployment rates in 1991 and their average annual growth rate 1991–2009	111
Figure 3.13:	Dispersion of regional unemployment rates	112
Figure 4.1:	Development of West German employment, index: 1989 = 100	143
Figure 4.2:	Development of West German employment rates, 1989–2008	144
Figure 4.3:	Persistence of regional employment rates	147
Figure 4.4:	Rank-order stability of regional employment rates	149
Figure 4.5:	Relationship between regional employment rates in 1989 and their average annual growth rates 1989–2008	150
Figure 4.6:	Dispersion of regional employment rates	151
Figure 5.1:	Employment growth for German regional planning units in 1999 and 2009	191
Figure 5.2:	Regional employment growth rates in Germany (1999 and 2009)	191

List of Figures

Figure 5.3:	Labor force employment rates for German regional planning units in 1999 and 2009	193
Figure 5.4:	Regional labor force employment rates in Germany (1999 and 2009)	193
Figure 5.5:	Regional participation rates in Germany (1999 and 2009)	194
Figure 5.6:	Participation rates for German regional planning units in 1999 and 2009	195
Figure 5.7:	Regional wages per employee in Germany (1999 and 2009)	196
Figure 5.8:	Wages per employee for German regional planning units, 1999 and 2009	197
Figure 5.9:	Net-migration rates for German regional planning units, 1999 and 2009	199
Figure 5.10:	Regional net-migration rates in Germany (1999 and 2009)	199
Figure 5.11:	Net-commuting rates for German regional planning units in 1999 and 2009	200
Figure 5.12:	Regional net-commuting rates in Germany (1999 and 2009)	201
Figure 5.13:	Regional in-commuting and out-commuting in Germany (1999 and 2009)	202
Figure 5.14:	Regional net-migration rates and unemployment rates in Germany, 2009	202
Figure 5.15:	Regional net-commuting rates and unemployment rates in Germany, 2009	203
Figure 5.16:	Regional in-commuting, out-commuting and unemployment in Germany, 2009	205
Figure 5.17:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock (West German districts, 1989 to 2004)	208
Figure 5.18:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock	200
	(West German regional planning units, 1989 to 2004)	209
Figure 5.19:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock	
-	(West German regional planning units, 1989 to 2009)	210
Figure 5.20:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock (West German regional planning units 1999 to 2009)	212
Figure 5 21.	Response of employment unemployment participation	212
ngure 5.21.	and net-commuting to a labor demand shock (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	213

Figure 5.22:	Response of employment, unemployment, participation and gross-commuting to a labor demand shock	214
Figure 5.23:	Response of employment, wages, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock	214
Figure 5.24:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation with and without wage feedback (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	217
Figure 5.25:	Response of employment, wages, unemployment, participation and net-commuting to a labor demand shock (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	219
Figure 5.26:	Response of employment, wages, unemployment, participation and gross-commuting to a labor demand shock (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	219
Figure 5.27:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock (German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	221
Figure 5.28:	Response of employment, unemployment, participation and net-commuting to a labor demand shock (German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	223
Figure 5.29:	Response of employment, unemployment, participation and gross-commuting to a labor demand shock (German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	223
Figure A.1:	Employment growth West German regional planning units, 1989–2008	241
Figure A.2:	Total employment rates West German regional planning units, 1989 and 2008	242
Figure A.3:	High-skilled employment rates West German regional planning units, 1989 and 2008	242
Figure A.4:	Medium-skilled employment rates West German regional planning units, 1989 and 2008	243
Figure A.5:	Low-skilled employment rates West German regional planning units, 1989 and 2008	243
Figure A.6:	In-commuting rates German regional planning units, 1999 and 2009	244
Figure A.7:	Out-commuting rates German regional planning units, 1999 and 2009	244
Figure A.8:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (West German districts, 1989 to 2004)	245

List of Figures

Figure A.9:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (West German regional planning units, 1989 to 2004)	246
Figure A.10:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (West German regional planning units, 1989 to 2009)	247
Figure A.11:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	248
Figure A.12:	Response of employment, unemployment, participation and net-commuting to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	249
Figure A.13:	Response of employment, unemployment, participation and gross-commuting to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	250
Figure A.14:	Response of employment, wages, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	251
Figure A.15:	Response of employment, wages, unemployment, participation and net-commuting to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	252
Figure A.16:	Response of employment, wages, unemployment, participation and gross-commuting to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	253
Figure A.17:	Response of employment, unemployment and participation to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds (German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	254
Figure A.18:	Response of employment, unemployment, participation and net-commuting to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds	254
Figure A.19:	Response of employment, unemployment, participation and gross-commuting to a labor demand shock with estimated two-standard error bounds	200
	(German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)	256

List of Tables

Table 3.1:	Results CD-test by Pesaran (2004)	121
Table 3.2:	Results Germany spacing-test by Ng (2006)	121
Table 3.3:	Results West Germany spacing-test by Ng (2006)	122
Table 3.4:	Estimated optimal number of common factors	129
Table 3.5:	Results first generation panel unit root tests	129
Table 3.6:	Results PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004)	130
Table 4.1:	Estimated optimal number of common factors in West German regional employment rates	158
Table 4.2:	Results PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004)	159
Table 4.3:	Description of factor loadings	160
Table A.1:	Regression results PVAR West German districts, 1989–2004	257
Table A.2:	Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units, 1989–2004	257
Table A.3:	Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units, 1989–2009	258
Table A.4:	Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units, 1999–2009	258
Table A.5:	Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including net-commuting activity, 1999–2009	259
Table A.6:	Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including gross-commuting activity, 1999–2009	259
Table A.7:	Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including wages, 1999–2009	260
Table A.8:	Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including wages and net-commuting activity, 1999–2009	260
Table A.9:	Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including wages and gross-commuting activity, 1999–2009	261
Table A.10:	Regression results PVAR German regional planning units, 1999–2009	261
Table A.11:	Regression results PVAR German regional planning units including net-commuting activity, 1999–2009	262
Table A.12:	Regression results PVAR German regional planning units including gross-commuting activity, 1999–2009	262

Danksagung

Diese Arbeit ist während meiner Zeit als Mitarbeiter am Institut für Arbeitsmarktund Berufsforschung entstanden. Mein besonderer Dank gilt Uwe Blien, Herbert Brücker, Stefan Fuchs, Jan Mutl, Olaf Struck, Rüdiger Wapler und Katja Wolf für ihre Zeit, Unterstützung, Kommentare und Anregungen.

Daniel Werner Nürnberg, August 2013

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

Large regional disparities are a common feature of the labor market in many countries. There are countries where full employment in certain regions coexists with mass unemployment in other regions (see, for example, the comprehensive overview in OECD 2000 and OECD 2005). Furthermore, the magnitude of regional labor market disparities within countries can be as large as between countries (see Elhorst 2003).

Regional labor market disparities appear to be less problematic and do not need to be a matter of great concern if they simply reflect the preferences of people (see OECD 2000). This could be the case if the differences between regions result from an uneven geographical distribution of regional amenities like an attractive climate or environment, a lower cost of living or better leisure-related endowments. The existence of such regional amenities might compensate low regional employment prospects. Thus, people might be encouraged to remain in regions characterized by regional amenities or move to such regions even if job opportunities are low and unemployment is high. In this case, regional labor market disparities are determined by the underlying preferences of people for certain regions and could represent an optimal equilibrium (see Marston 1985).

In contrast, regional disparities appear to be problematic if they are the result of economic distortion and market failure. In this case, regional labor market disparities are inefficient. A reduction of regional labor market disparities could lead to higher national output, lower inflationary pressure and could produce substantial social benefits (see, for example, the discussion in Elhorst 2003).

The economic theory provides various approaches to explain the existence of regional labor market disparities. First and foremost, regional labor market performance is determined by the demand for goods produced in a certain region. Hence, differences in the economic structure among regions is usually considered as an important origin of regional labor market disparities. Regions are characterized by high unemployment and low employment prospects if the demand for their regional products is low or depressed. This might be the case if the regional economic structure is characterized by a weak trading sector, industries that are no longer competitive, or industries that suffer a common decline in demand for their products.

According to neoclassical economic theory, regional labor market disparities induced by such demand-side factors should only be temporary. Higher regional unemployment as a result of a decline in demand for regional goods should lead to a decrease in regional wages. In a neoclassical framework, the combination of high unemployment and low wages leads to out-migration of people and in-migration of firms. People leave the depressed region and move to more dynamic regions with better employment prospects. Firms start to locate in the depressed region because wages are low and the pool of workers is large because of high regional unemployment. These firms create new jobs and the employment prospects in the depressed area increase. Hence, this adjustment mechanism should minimize the extent of regional labor market disparities. However, the existence of so called supply-side factors and institutional factors might be impediments to the adjustment process (see, for example, Baddeley/Martin/Tyler 1998).

Supply-side factors can be considered as the main reason why the mobility of people is constrained. Migration is only attractive if the employment opportunities in a more dynamic region provide viable alternatives for people from depressed regions. If the economic structure of a depressed region is characterized by old industries, it might be possible that the skills of workers from this region are not required in dynamic regions because they are outdated or redundant. Furthermore, the choice to migrate not only depends on employment prospects. For example, regional amenities, social ties or housing-market conditions influence the location decision of people. Hence, a dynamic region has to provide access to similar facilities and advantages beside job opportunities.

Wages can only serve as an adjustment mechanism if they exhibit a certain degree of flexibility. Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) refer to factors that restrict wage flexibility as so called institutional factors. According to this definition, nationally uniform benefit levels, nationwide or industry wide wage rates and efficiency wages can be considered as institutional factors.

Moreover, the New Economic Geography introduced by Krugman (1991a) and Krugman (1991b) shows that economic activity might be unevenly distributed in space even if workers and firms are mobile and wages are highly flexibly. The New Economic Geography examines the spatial distribution of economic activity under the assumptions of monopolistic competition and agglomeration effects (economies of scale and external effects). If an additional firm locates in a certain region, this leads to a higher competition intensity on the goods market and the factor markets in this region. In a neoclassical framework, these two effects would induce out-migration of firms. However, if the regional economy is characterized by agglomeration effects, the location of an additional firm leads to an increase of the regional market size. This in turn allows the firms in the region to produce more efficiently and to realize higher profits. This so called home markets effect might compensate for the higher competition on the goods market and the factor market (see Krugman 1991b). Higher competition on the factor market implies higher factor prices and, therefore, higher wages. The increase in wages and a greater variety of goods in the region under consideration triggers in-migration of additional workers.

This in turn also leads to an increase of the regional market size. Thus, a circulative cumulative process might start and firms as well as workers tend to concentrate in certain regions. Hence, in a New Economic Geography setting, mobility of firms and workers does not lead to an adjustment of regional employment prospects across regions but instead increases regional labor markets disparities.

Hence, regional science provides a wide range of approaches to explain the existence of such regional labor market differentials. These conditions can occur in different combinations and interrelationships. At the same time, a large body of literature exists that empirically examines the origins of regional labor market disparities. Elhorst (2003) provides a comprehensive overview about theoretical and empirical explanations on regional unemployment differentials. The relationship between regional employment performance and agglomeration was, for example, analyzed by Combes (2000), Combes/Magnac/Robin (2004), Blien/Südekum/ Wolf (2006), Dauth (2012), or Fuchs (2011). Although the empirical results are ambiguous, the literature provides detailed insights about the determinants of regional labor market performance.

However, these studies in general have little to say about the dynamics of regional labor market disparities. In order to get a complete picture about regional labor market disparities though, it is also necessary to consider the evolution of the object of investigation itself. Do regional disparities in labor market performance widen, narrow or remain constant over time? How stable is the geographical distribution of regional labor market performance?

The question of whether regional labor market disparities narrow or widen over time is related to the empirical phenomenons which are called convergence and divergence. Roughly speaking, convergence means that the differences between regions become smaller or even disappear over time. The main challenge of convergence analysis is to define a concept of convergence that is empirically testable.

The analysis of convergence processes has its roots in growth economics. Several concepts of convergence and suitable empirical procedures to test for the existence of convergence (or divergence) are provided by the economic growth literature (for an overview see Durlauf/Johnson/Temple 2005, 2009; for the specifics of regional convergence see Magrini 2004 and Rey/Le Gallo 2009). Many of the techniques developed in the economic growth literature to examine convergence, were adopted to examine the evolution of regional labor market disparities. This is possible because the concepts of convergence are characterized by a purely statistical nature. Hence, they are not only constrained to questions about economic growth but can also be applied (more or less easily) to other economic issues.

According to Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998), there are several ways to characterize the temporal evolution of regional labor market disparities. First, it is possible to examine whether the regional distribution of a labor market variable narrows, widens or remains constant over time by investigating the movements in the dispersion of this variable across regions. This approach refers to the concepts of β -convergence and σ -convergence. Regions exhibit β -convergence if poor or unfavorable regions exhibit higher growth rates than rich or favorable regions. In contrast, the concept of σ -convergence directly focuses on the inequality among regions by comparing the dispersion of a regional labor market variable at different points in time. Regions exhibit σ -convergence if the dispersion decreases over time.

A second approach is to examine the mobility of individual regions within the distribution of the regional labor market variable. This procedure refers to the so called distributional approach to convergence.

The third approach is to determine whether and to what extent there is any mean reversion of the differences between the regional labor market variables and their cross-sectional average (or their national counterpart respectively) over time. This approach refers to the concept of stochastic convergence introduced by Bernard/Durlauf (1995, 1996) and Evans/Karras (1996). The hypothesis of stochastic convergence can be examined using time series analysis.

The first two approaches described above belong to the group of convergence concepts which focus on the cross-sectional behavior of a regional indicator variable. In contrast, the third approach focuses on the time series behavior of the regional variables. The cross-sectional approach and the time series approach to convergence are based on different views of the nature of regional disparities and, therefore, provide different views of the convergence process.

There exists a strong connection between the cross-sectional approach to convergence and the neoclassical growth model. The neoclassical growth model implies that regions with a low initial value of output are characterized by a high marginal product of capital. Hence, these regions attract additional capital and grow faster than regions where the initial value of output is already high. This induces a transition process and the poor regions will catch-up with the other regions. The transition process comes to an end once all regions reach their steady state and the marginal product of capital is equal across the regions. In this case, regional disparities should be at a minimum or even disappear. This means that the underlying assumption of the cross-sectional approaches to convergence is that regional disparities simply reflect the differences in initial conditions. Thus, convergence is considered as a catching-up process between unfavorable and favorable regions.

Introduction

However, a number of studies point out that persistent regional labor market disparities could also follow from regional labor market shocks which then lead to a (long-term) disequilibrium if the adjustment mechanisms are slow or weak (see, for example, Adams 1985, Marston 1985, Topel 1986, or Blanchard/Katz 1992). This implies that regions might not reach their equilibrium permanently or at least for a considerable period of time if economic disturbances have persistent and longlasting effects on regional labor market performance. Hence, in this framework, regional disparities only decline if the effect of a shock is transitory and the regions (eventually) return back to their equilibrium. Therefore, it is also possible to consider convergence as an adjustment process after a region-specific shock.¹ Examples for region-specific labor market shocks are the closure of a large and important factory in a particular region or a downturn in an industry in which a particular region is specialized.

Following this point of view, regional development is no longer determined by differences in the initial conditions. Hence, the cross-sectional approach to convergence does not provide an adequate framework to examine the evolution of regional labor market disparities. Thus, another approach is necessary to examine the evolution of regional labor market disparities. If economic disturbances or changes in the economic climate are the main source of regional labor market disparities, the time series approach provides an adequate framework to test the hypothesis of convergence.

The adjustment processes after economic disturbances can be considered as an important determinant of the evolution of regional labor market disparities. This raises the question: How long does it take until things return back to "normal" after a region was hit by such a shock? In their seminal paper, Blanchard/Katz (1992) provide a theoretical and empirical framework to examine regional labor market dynamics after a region slumps or booms.

According to Blanchard/Katz (1992), regional slumps and booms are best described as transitory accelerations or slowdowns of regional employment growth. They identify region-specific labor demand shocks as the origin of such changes in employment growth.

Suppose a person loses his or her job in the course of a labor demand shock. This person can either remain unemployed in his or her area of residence, exit the labor force or leave the region. Therefore, regional labor market adjustment after a labor demand shock and mobility between these labor market states are very

¹ Note, the literature distinguishes between region-specific and aggregate shocks. So called aggregate shocks affect all regions evenly. Therefore, an aggregate shock can not cause an increase or decrease in regional labor market disparities. In contrast, so called region-specific shocks affect regions differently. Hence, they can be considered as an important driving force in the development of regional disparities.

closely connected. Blanchard/Katz (1992) provide a fully specified empirical model that investigates the joint fluctuations in employment, unemployment, labor force participation and labor mobility to examine regional labor market dynamics and the adjustment processes after a region-specific labor demand shock.

This study investigates several aspects about the evolution of regional labor market disparities in Germany. It examines the hypothesis of convergence for regional employment and unemployment. Furthermore, it provides analysis about regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock.

1.1 Motivation

Nowadays, a number of studies exist which examine the evolution of regional labor market disparities. The large body of literature investigating the hypothesis of convergence focuses on regional unemployment disparities. In contrast, convergence analysis for regional employment disparities is scarce. Of course, measurable (negative) correlation between regional unemployment and regional employment exists. Nevertheless, movements in regional unemployment disparities and regional employment disparities are not necessarily symmetrical. The findings by OECD (2005) suggest for the case of France that an increase in regional unemployment disparities. For Germany, the opposite case is true. To get a complete characterization of the evolution of regional labor market disparities it appears to be reasonable to consider unemployment as well as employment. Hence, this study examines the convergence hypothesis for regional employment and regional unemployment in Germany.

The evolution of employment for most developed countries is characterized by rising inequalities between different qualification groups. Employment gains occur for high-skilled workers while the number of low-skilled workers decreases. This pattern is also observable on the German labor market. An increase in international competition promoting specialization in human-capital intensive industries (see Wood 1994, 2002), and skill-biased technological and organizational changes (see Lindbeck/Snower 1996, Acemoglu 1998, 2002, and Spitz-Oener 2006) are considered as the main sources of the change in the skill composition of employment.

The relationship between local skill composition and regional employment growth was investigated in several studies (see, for example, Glaeser/Scheinkman/ Shleifer 1995, Simon 1998, Simon/Nardinelli 2002, Blien/Südekum/Wolf 2006, Shapiro 2006, Südekum 2008, or Schlitte 2011). The results of the studies indicate that regions with a large share of high-skilled workers exhibit a more favorable development of employment. The total number of employees in Germany was remarkably stable during the last two decades. The development of total

Motivation

employment seems to be mainly driven by business cycles. However, if high-skilled regions exhibit higher employment growth rates than low-skilled regions, while the number of employees in Germany remains stable, then this means that newly created jobs in one region go hand in hand with a loss of jobs in other regions. Hence, the changes in the employment prospects for workers with different skill levels seem to affect regional labor markets differently. Südekum (2008) points out that the change in the skill composition of the employees is more pronounced in regions which started with a relatively low share of high-skilled workers. This in turn implies that the change in the skill composition of employment. However, it is far from clear whether this change in the geographical distribution of employment leads to increasing or decreasing regional employment disparities. Therefore, this study examines the relationship between the changes in the skill composition of employment disparities.

To get a comprehensive overview about the relationship between the change of skill composition of employment and the evolution of regional employment disparities, it appears to be necessary to consider skill-specific employment subgroups as well as total employment. Therefore, this study examines the hypothesis of convergence for total employment, high-skilled employment, medium-skilled employment and low-skilled employment.

Note, that investigating the hypothesis of convergence for different employment subgroups might also be rewarding for an additional reason. Employment subgroups could behave differently to aggregate employment. In this case, the analysis of regional total employment can only provide limited insights into the evolution of regional employment disparities. Divergence of total employment might simply reflect the divergent behavior of one employment subgroup only while all other employment subgroups show convergent behavior. Furthermore, it is possible that total employment shows convergent behavior even if several employment subgroups exhibit divergence. In this case, the geographical distribution of total employment might be stable. However, there would be a remarkable change in the geographical distribution of the employment prospects of the different subgroups. Hence, the analysis of employment subgroups might provide additional insights into the evolution of regional employment disparities.

However, the existing literature does not deal with the fact that *employees* are a heterogeneous group. Studies about the evolution of regional labor market disparities investigate the hypothesis of convergence for total (un)employment but provide no additional results for different subgroups. To the best of my knowledge, only Südekum (2008) tests the hypothesis of convergence for the regional share of

Introduction

high-skilled workers but provides no results for further employment subgroups.² Hence, the knowledge about the role of employment subgroups for the evolution of regional employment disparities is very limited. This study contributes to fill this gap.

The theoretical explanations of regional labor market disparities mentioned above highlight the role of economic disturbances in connection with sluggish adjustment processes as the origin of regional labor market disparities. Hence, considering convergence as an adjustment process after a region-specific shock seems to be more appropriate in a labor market context than considering convergence as a catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions. This might be one reason why the concept of stochastic convergence is very common when analyzing the evolution of regional labor market disparities. Up to now, there exist several studies testing the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for regional (un)employment (see, for example, Blanchard/Katz 1992 and Rowthorn/Glyn 2006 for the US, Decressin/Fatás 1995 for Europe, Möller 1995, Bayer/Jüßen 2007, Kunz 2012 for West Germany, Jimeno/ Bentolila 1998 for Spain, Martin 1997 and Gray 2004 for the UK, Choy/Maré/Mawson 2002 for New Zealand and Debelle/Vickery 1998 for Australia).

The hypothesis of stochastic convergence requires that the effect of a shock on the deviations of a regional variable from its national counterpart is transitory and this measure shows mean reverting behavior. This means that the deviations of a regional variable from its national counterpart need to follow a stationary process. Unit roots are considered as the main source of non-stationarity of a time series. Therefore, usually unit root tests are applied to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence.

A unit root test tests the null hypothesis of a unit root against the alternative hypothesis of a stationary process. Therefore, following this empirical approach to test for stochastic convergence, the null hypothesis corresponds to divergence (see also Pesaran 2007a). Strictly speaking, the rejection of the null hypothesis says that the regions do not show divergent behavior. However, the hypothesis of non-divergence and the hypothesis of convergence are not necessarily identical. For example, stability of the existing regional disparities is in line with regional non-divergence. Hence, if the hypothesis of a unit root can be rejected, this implies that regional disparities do not increase but not that they become negligible. Nevertheless, the existing literature interprets the rejection of a unit root in the deviations of regional variables from their national counterpart as evidence of

² Grip/Hoevenberg/Willems (1997) also present results for employment subgroups. They test the hypothesis of convergence for two forms of atypical employment: part-time employment and temporary employment. Additionally, they present results for the various occupation groups in which part-time workers and temporary workers are employed. However, Grip/Hoevenberg/Willems (1997) test the convergence hypothesis for a cross-section of EU countries and do not choose a regional approach.

Motivation

stochastic convergence. Also this study follows the literature and uses the term of stochastic convergence in this context. However, the crucial point that the alternative hypothesis corresponds to non-divergence rather than convergence should be kept in mind when interpreting the results.

Univariate unit root tests like the augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) test in general reject the hypothesis of stochastic convergence (see the findings in Blanchard/ Katz 1992, Decressin/Fatás 1995, Jimeno/Bentolila 1998, Debelle/Vickery 1998, and Bayer/Jüßen 2007). However, the low power of univariate unit root tests to reject the hypothesis of a unit root is well known (see, for example, Campbell/ Perron 1991, DeJong et al. 1992). By applying the unit root tests to a panel of cross-sectional units, it is possible to gain higher power. In contrast to the results from univariate unit root tests, the findings from these panel unit root tests in general favor the hypothesis of stochastic convergence.

Usually, the different findings are attributed to the higher power of the panel unit root tests compared to the univariate unit root test. However, the so called first generation panel unit root tests applied in the studies cited above are designed for a panel with independent cross-sectional units. Cross-sectional dependence might occur because of a movement common to all cross-sectional units. Examples are the business cyclical or technological change. As O'Connell (1998), Banerjee/ Marcellino/Osbat (2004, 2005), and Baltagi/Bresson/Pirotte (2007) show, crosssectional dependence within the panel leads to an over rejection of the nonstationarity hypothesis.

The so called second generation unit root tests provided by Bai/Ng (2004), Moon/Perron (2004), and Pesaran (2007b) relax the independency assumption. Carrion-I-Silvestre/German-Soto (2009) applied first and second generation panel unit root tests to investigate the hypothesis of stochastic convergence in terms of economic growth. The first generation panel unit root tests find evidence for the existence of stochastic convergence while the second generation panel unit root tests reject the hypothesis of stochastic convergence.

The results by Carrion–I–Silvestre/German–Soto (2009) show that the underlying properties of the cross–sectional units of the panel are essential for the appropriate test procedure to investigate the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. Therefore, the findings from the studies cited above applying first generation panel unit root tests should be interpreted with caution. To examine the evolution of regional labor market disparities, a detailed investigation of the assumption of cross–sectional independence appears to be necessary. This is done in this study.

In the case of stochastic convergence, the deviations of a regional variable from its national counterpart have to follow a stationary process. The literature provides different opportunities to calculate deviations of regional variables from their national counterpart: absolute differences, weighted differences or ratios (see, for example, Martin 1997 and Baddeley/Martin/Tyler 1998). These approaches differ in the assumption about the kind of the relationship between the regional variables and their national counterpart. Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) point out that the assumption about the kind of this relationship could affect whether changes in regional disparities are observable. This in turn implies that the way deviations are calculated might also affect the results of a test for stochastic convergence. However, the existing literature does not deal with this fact. Hence, it is not clear how sensitive the results are with respect to the different assumptions about the kind of the relationship between regional variables and their national counterpart. This study investigates this aspect in more detail.

Blanchard/Katz (1992) provide a comprehensive framework to analyze the adjustment processes after a labor market shock. They identify unemployment, labor force participation and labor mobility as the main adjustment channels. However, in their study, labor mobility is restricted to migration and commuting as an additional form of labor mobility is neglected. This assumption appears to be reasonable if large regional units are considered where commuting only plays a minor role. However, for small regional units, the assumption of no or negligible commuting activities seems to be too restrictive. For the case of Germany, this might also hold for lager regional units. For example, Burda/Hunt (2001) point out that commuting has acted as a feasible substitute for out-migration for East German workers. This is the first study providing a more detailed look on the role of labor mobility during the adjustment process considering both commuting and migration.

Inflexible wages can be considered as an essential impediment for a quick adjustment process after a labor market shock. Therefore, changes in wages also represent an important adjustment mechanism. Several studies already analyze the role of the wage feedback during the adjustment process (see Blanchard/Katz 1992, Debelle/Vickery 1999, Choy/Maré/Mawson 2002, and Leonardi 2004). However, no results exist for Germany. Therefore, this study also examines the role of wages as an adjustment mechanism after a region-specific labor demand shock in Germany.

The existing literature identifies labor mobility as the most important adjustment mechanism in the long run but for some countries this even holds in the short run. Several studies argue that a strong relationship exists between the contribution of labor mobility to the adjustment process and the size of the regions under consideration (see Fredriksson 1999, Choy/Maré/Mawson 2002, or Kunz 2012). In general, more inter-regional labor mobility could be observed for small regions compared to large regions.

This leads to the question how the regional level should be chosen to capture the "real" adjustment dynamics. However, this seems to be rather a discussion about the appropriate delimitation of regions rather than the size of the regions. Studies on the dynamics of regional labor markets usually focus on administrative areas. But the borders of such areas are typically the results of political decisions or historical processes. In general, they do not reflect the distribution of economic activity in space or cannot be regarded as economically independent because functional labor markets extend across administrative borders. An analysis of the dynamics of regional labor markets neglecting spatial dependencies runs the risk of capturing only a part of the ongoing processes. From this point of view, a functional delimitation. Hence, this study focuses on the functional delimitated regional planning units (Raumordnungsregionen) provided by the Federal Institute for Research on Building, Urban Affairs and Spatial Development (Bundesinstitut für Bau-, Stadt- und Raumforschung – BBSR).

Blanchard/Katz (1992) suggest a vector autoregressive (VAR) model to investigate regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock. In most cases, the main interest is the response of the "average" region to a regional labor demand shock. Therefore, the data is usually pooled across cross-sectional units. This leads to a panel vector autoregressive (PVAR) model. Most of the existing studies following the approach suggested by Blanchard/Katz (1992) include region-fixed effects to account for unobservable regional heterogeneity and apply an ordinary least squares (OLS) estimator on the PVAR system. This procedure corresponds to estimating the coefficients of the PVAR by a least square dummy variable (LSDV) estimator.

Note, that the right hand side of each equation of the VAR contains lagged values of the left hand side variable. Therefore, pooling the data leads to a dynamic panel specification. However, a LSDV estimator in a dynamic panel framework is only valid if the number of observations in the time dimension gets large (see, for example, Nerlove 1967, 1971 and Nickell 1981). Even a large number of cross-sectional units does not overcome this problem. Usually, the time dimension is considered as large if observation in time for each cross-sectional unit exceeds the value of 30 (see, for example, the results in Judson/Owen 1999). The observations in the time dimension is considerably smaller than 30. Hence, the results of the existing literature might be subject to bias.

In addition, the panel in this study is characterized by a rather small number of observations in the time dimension. Binder/Hsiao/Pesaran (2005) introduced several estimators for a PVAR with a large cross-sectional dimension and a small time dimension. Mutl (2009) augments the estimation strategies introduced in Binder/Hsiao/Pesaran (2005) allowing for spatial dependence of the cross-sectional units in the error term. To avoid the problem described above, this study applies the estimation strategy suggested by Binder/Hsiao/Pesaran (2005) and Mutl (2009).

1.2 Structure of the thesis

Chapter 2 provides an overview of the literature on the evolution of regional labor market disparities. The various concepts of convergence applied to examine the evolution of regional labor market disparities are introduced and discussed in the first part of this chapter as well as the statistical and econometrical methodologies to test the hypothesis of convergence. Furthermore, the results of the studies are presented which examine the hypothesis of convergence in a labor market context.

The second part of chapter 2 provides an overview about the literature investigating adjustment processes after a labor demand shock. It introduces the theoretical and empirical framework developed by Blanchard/Katz (1992) to examine regional labor market dynamics and adjustment processes after a region-specific labor demand shock. Blanchard/Katz (1992) analyze adjustment processes after a regional labor demand shock for US federal states. Meanwhile, a number of studies exist adopting this framework for other countries and several studies augment the original approach. These studies are often called the regional evolutions literature in terms of the title of the seminal paper by Blanchard/Katz (1992). The findings of the regional evolutions literature are also discussed in chapter 2. Note, however, that Blanchard/Katz (1992) suggest a multivariate setting to analyze the adjustment processes after a regional labor demand shock. There exist several studies following an univariate approach to investigate the adjustment process after a region-specific labor market shock. The findings of these studies are also presented here.

Möller (1995), Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998), Bayer/Jüßen (2007), and Kunz (2012) already investigate the hypothesis of convergence for unemployment rates of West German federal states. However, even 20 years after reunification, a complete characterization of the evolution of regional unemployment disparities for Germany as a whole is still missing. So far, no study exists which considers both West and East Germany. Hence, chapter 3 examines the hypothesis of convergence for unemployment rates of all German federal states.

The different approaches to convergence do not necessarily enclose each other (see, for example, Barro/Sala-I-Martin 1991 and the examples given in Quah 1996b and Baddeley/Martin/Tyler 1998). Therefore, examining different concepts of convergence might lead to ambiguous results. Hence, studies analyzing the evolution of regional labor market disparities usually do not follow solely one approach. Also chapter 3 applies different approaches to get a complete picture of the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in Germany.

The results from the cross-sectional approaches to convergence show that the evolution of regional unemployment disparities does not seem to be characterized by a transition process but instead by changes in the economic climate. The time series approach appears to be more appropriate in this case. However, the choice of an appropriate test procedure to examine the hypothesis of stochastic convergence depends on whether the assumption of cross-sectional independence is valid. The findings from the tests provided by Pesaran (2004) and Ng (2006) show that the deviations of regional unemployment rates from their national counterpart suffer from cross-sectional dependence. Hence, a second generation panel unit root test is required. Here, the so called PANIC (Panel Analysis of Nonstationarity in Idiosyncratic and Common Components) approach suggested by Bai/Ng (2004) is applied to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. Compared to other second generation panel unit root tests this approach is deemed to be the least restrictive. The tests for cross-sectional dependence by Pesaran (2004) and Ng (2006) as well as the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) are discussed in detail in chapter 3.

Stochastic convergence of regional unemployment rates requires that the deviations of the regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate follows a stationary process. The literature provides three different approaches to calculate these deviations. They differ in the assumption about the shape of the equilibrium relationship between the regional unemployment rates and their national counterpart. However, it is not clear how sensitive the results are with respect to these assumptions. To gain insight into this issue, chapter 3 provides results for all three approaches.

As mentioned above, regional unemployment disparities and regional employment disparities do not necessarily behave the same way. To provide a comprehensive overview of the evolution of regional labor market disparities, chapter 4 examines the hypothesis of convergence for regional employment rates. The aim of this chapter is to illustrate the relationship between the changes in the skill composition of employment and the evolution of regional employment disparities. Therefore, the hypothesis of convergence is investigated for total employment as well as for skillspecific employment. For this purpose, skill-specific regional employment rates are calculated for high-, medium-, and low-skilled employment. Moreover, the results presented in this chapter contribute to fill the gap about the role of employment subgroups and the evolution of regional employment disparities.

Please note, before reunification, the educational systems in East and West Germany show considerable differences. Thus, structural differences in skill levels of workers from East and West Germany are observable if they finished their education before reunification. For this reason, East German regions are excluded from the analysis and chapter 4 focuses on regions in West Germany only. Chapter 4 applies cross-sectional approaches to convergence and examines the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. The traditional way of investigating the hypothesis of stochastic convergence in the case of regional employment rates would correspond to testing whether the deviations of the regional employment rates from the national employment rate follow a stationary process. Chapter 4 introduces an alternative way to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence that provides several advantages compared to the traditional approach.

Banerjee/Wagner (2009) provide a comprehensive discussion about the structures and restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence. In the case of stochastic convergence, these restrictions have to be valid. Chapter 4 shows that the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) can be applied to examine whether this is case. To investigate directly the restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence appears to be a more convenient way to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence compared to the traditional approach. The analysis for regional unemployment rates in chapter 3 shows that the results might be sensitive to the way the deviations of regional variables from their national counterpart are calculated. This alternative proceeding requires no assumption about the shape of the relationship between the regional employment rates and their national counterpart. Furthermore, it is possible to leave out the cross-sectional dependence test that is necessary for the choice of an adequate panel unit root test.

Chapter 5 examines regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock for West Germany and Germany as a whole. In contrast to previous studies, the analysis in chapter 5 is not based on administrative regional units but the more functional delimitated regional planning units are applied. A functional delimitation of regional labor markets appears to be more appropriate when investigating adjustment processes after a region-specific shock.

Most of the studies investigating adjustment processes after a region-specific labor demand shock identify labor mobility as the most important adjustment mechanism. However, labor mobility is restricted to migration whereas commuting as an additional form of labor mobility is neglected. This approach runs the risk of overestimating the role of migration during the adjustment process. Therefore, the framework by Blanchard/Katz (1992) is augmented by allowing for both commuting and migration. This allows more detailed insights into the role of labor mobility during the adjustment process compared to the previous studies. Furthermore, chapter 5 provides the first results about the role of wages during the adjustment process for regions in Germany. The PVAR estimator provided by Mutl (2009) is applied here to take into account the structure of the panel and the specification of the PVAR. The estimation strategy provided by Mutl (2009) is discussed in detail in chapter 5.

The last chapter summarizes the results of this study.

Chapter 2

2 What do we know about the evolution of regional labor market disparities?

By now, there exists a considerable body of literature examining the evolution of regional labor market disparities. The intension of this chapter is twofold. It provides an overview about the different approaches to investigate the evolution of regional labor market disparities. Furthermore, it presents the findings of the different studies following these approaches.

Section 2.1 deals with the question of convergence of regional labor market disparities. It introduces the different concepts of convergence applied in a labor market context and the empirical methodologies to test the hypothesis of convergence. Furthermore, it reviews the findings of the literature testing the hypothesis of convergence for regional labor markets.

Section 2.2 provides an overview about the literature investigating adjustment processes after a regional labor market shock. This section introduces the theoretical and empirical framework suggested in the seminal paper by Blanchard/Katz (1992) to investigate regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock. Furthermore, the section presents the results of the studies adopting or augmenting this framework. Besides these studies adopting the multivariate framework by Blanchard/Katz (1992) there also exist several studies that follow an univariate approach to examine the adjustment processes after a regional labor market shock. These studies are also reviewed in section 2.2.

This chapter shows that we know a lot about the evolution of regional labor market disparities. Nevertheless, there are still gaps and open questions. The aim of the following chapters of this study is to fill these gaps and to answer these questions.

2.1 The evolution of regional labor market disparities: Convergence or divergence?

The question whether regions are converging or diverging has its roots in growth economics. The economic growth literature provides various concepts of convergence and suitable empirical procedures to test the hypothesis of convergence (for an overview see, for example, Magrini 2004, Durlauf/Johnson/Temple 2005, 2009, or Rey/Le Gallo 2009). Many of these approaches to convergence were adopted to examine the evolution of regional labor market disparities. This is possible, because they are characterized by a purely statistical nature. Hence, these concepts of convergence are not only restricted to questions about economic growth but can also be applied to other economic issues.

In general, two broad threads of convergence analysis can be identified in the existing literature: the cross-sectional approach to convergence and the time series approach to convergence. Note, that these two approaches to convergence are predicated on different views of the nature of regional disparities and, therefore, different views of the convergence process. The cross-sectional approach considers convergence as a catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions. According to Bernard/Durlauf (1996), the cross-sectional approach to convergence appears to be appropriate if the regions under consideration are characterized by transition dynamics where the regions tend to converge to their steady state. As soon as all regions reach their steady state, regional disparities should minimize or even disappear. In this case, regional disparities simply reflect differences in the initial conditions. However, regional labor market disparities are often considered as the result of economic disturbances and sluggish adjustment processes after a region-specific shock. This in turn implies that regional disparities only disappear if a shock has only temporary effects and regions guickly return back to their steady state. Following this point of view, convergence can also be considered as an adjustment process after a region-specific shock. The time series approach to convergence deals with this aspect.

According to Bernard/Durlauf (1996), the time series approach has only poor power properties when applied to regions characterized by transition dynamics. If the regions under consideration are far from their steady state, the time series approach may falsely accept the hypothesis of divergence. In contrast, the crosssectional approach to convergence might easily lead to misleading results if the development of regional disparities is mainly driven by changes in the economic climate and exhibits no clear trend. Therefore, the choice of the appropriate approach to test for convergence depends on the behavior of the regions under consideration (see Bernard/Durlauf 1996). Hence, studies analyzing the evolution of regional labor market disparities usually do not follow solely one approach. Instead, they investigate several approaches to get a complete picture about the evolution of regional labor market disparities.

This section provides an overview about the concepts of convergence which were applied to investigate the evolution of regional labor market disparities. Moreover, it reviews the findings of the existing literature. Reviews of the analysis of economic convergence are usually structured in a methodological way. This means they discuss the different concepts of convergence and present the findings of the studies using one method after the other. This appears reasonable because of the different nature of the existing concepts and, therefore, the different empirical methodologies that are required to test the hypothesis of convergence. This section is structured in the same way. Section 2.1.1 discusses the cross-sectional
approaches to convergence and reviews the studies following these approaches. Section 2.1.2 introduces the time series approach to convergence. The last section outlines what we know about the evolution of regional labor market disparities based on the different approaches applied in the existing literature.

2.1.1 Cross-sectional approaches to convergence

The underlying assumption of cross-sectional approaches to convergence is that the regions under consideration differ in their initial conditions and are in transition towards their steady state (see Bernard/Durlauf 1996). In the case of convergence, the initial inequality in economic performance between regions disappears once all regions reach their steady state (under the assumption that all regions share the same steady state value). From this point of view, convergence can be considered as a catching-up process between unfavorable and favorable regions. Regional disparities simply reflect the differences in the initial conditions and are observable because the transition process is not yet finished.

If a catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions exists, then this implies that regions with a lower economic performance grow faster than regions with higher economic performance. In this case, a negative relationship between the initial condition or the initial value of the variable of interest and the corresponding growth rate must exist. The concept of β -convergence examines whether such a relationship exists among the regions. However, a negative relationship between initial values and growth rates is only a necessary but not a sufficient condition for closing the gap between favorable and unfavorable regions over time. Even if there is evidence of β -convergence, this does not mean differences in regional economic performance shrink and the regions become more equal over time. Therefore, the concept of β -convergence is often criticized. Hence, the concept of σ -convergence focuses directly on the evolution of regional inequality.

The concepts of β -convergence and σ -convergence was criticized by Quah in a series of papers (see Quah 1993a,b, 1996a,b,c,d) because they provide no information about the intra-distribution dynamics. Persistent inequality across regions can be consistent with marked changes in the intra-distribution of individual regions due to criss-crossing and leap-frogging (see the examples given in Quah 1996b and Baddeley/Martin/Tyler 1998). The distributional approach to convergence investigates the evolution of the entire cross-sectional distribution. This provides insights into aspects such as mobility, stratification and polarization of regions.

The concept of β -convergence

Two regions exhibit β -convergence if the one with the lower initial value grows faster than the other. The concept of β -convergence is closely linked to the models of the neoclassical growth theory. The procedure to empirically test the hypothesis of β -convergence can be directly derived from a neoclassical growth model (see, for example, Durlauf/Johnson/Temple 2009 or Barro/Sala-I-Martin 1992). Therefore, the neoclassical growth model serves as a starting point to introduce the concept of β -convergence.

The neoclassical growth model is based on the four variables output (*Y*), physical capital (*K*), labor (*L*) and the level of technology (*A*). Capital, labor and technology are combined to produce output. The production function for region *i* with $i = 1 \dots N$ is assumed to be of a Cobb-Douglas type. Furthermore, it is assumed that the production function is identical for all regions. The production function for region *i* at time *t* given by:

$$Y_{i,t} = K_{i,t}^{\alpha} (A_{i,t} L_{i,t})^{1-\alpha}$$

$$\tag{2.1}$$

Due to the assumption of identical production functions across the regions, this means $\alpha_1 = \ldots = \alpha_N = \alpha$, differences in regional output can only occur because the amount of the input factors entering the production function differs across regions.

The product of the level of technology and labor $(A_{i,t}L_{i,t})$ can be interpreted as the efficiency unit of labor input. The production function in terms of effective units of labor can be obtained by dividing equation (2.1) by $(A_{i,t}L_{i,t})$. This leads to the following expression:

$$\boldsymbol{y}_{i,t}^{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}} = \left(\boldsymbol{k}_{i,t}^{\boldsymbol{\mathcal{E}}}\right)^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}$$
(2.2)

where $y_{i,t}^{E} = Y_{i,t} / (A_{i,t}L_{i,t})$ and $k_{i,t}^{E} = K_{i,t} / (A_{i,t}L_{i,t})$.

Let $y_{i,\infty}^{E}$ denote the steady state value of output per effective unit of labor input for region *i*. Barro/Sala-I-Martin (1992) show that in a model with a Cobb-Douglas production function, the law of motion around the stable steady state for output per unit of effective labor can approximately be described by the following log-linear expression (for details see Barro/Sala-I-Martin 2004):

$$\log y_{i,t}^{E} = (1 - e^{-\beta_{i}t}) \log y_{i,\infty}^{E} + e^{-\beta_{i}t} \log y_{i,0}^{E}$$
(2.3)

The parameter β_i characterizes the speed with which $y_{i,t}^{\mathcal{E}}$ adjusts towards its steady state and $y_{i,0}^{\mathcal{E}}$ denotes output per effective unit of labor input in the initial period 0.

The level of technology $A_{i,t}$ is unknown and unobservable. Hence, a model in terms of output per effective unit of labor can not be directly translated into a feasible empirical model. However, output per unit of labor $y_{i,t} = Y_{i,t} / L_{i,t}$ is observable and equation (2.3) can easily be rewritten in terms of this measure. Let g_i denote the constant rate of labor-augmenting technological progress and $A_{i,0}$ is the level of technology in the initial period. Therefore, the level of technology in period *t* is given by:

$$A_{i,t} = A_{i,0} e^{g_i^{t}}$$
(2.4)

Using relationship (2.4) makes it possible to rearrange equation (2.3) as follows:

$$\log \gamma_{i,t} - g_i t - \log A_{i,0} = (1 - e^{-\beta_i t}) \log \gamma_{i,\infty}^{E} + e^{-\beta_i t} (\log \gamma_{i,0} - \log A_{i,0})$$
(2.5)

Solving for output per unit of labor y_{it} leads to the following expression:

$$\log y_{i,t} = g_i t + (1 - e^{-\beta_i t}) \log y_{i,\infty}^{\mathcal{E}} + (1 - e^{-\beta_i t}) \log A_{i,0} + e^{-\beta_i t} (\log y_{i,0})$$
(2.6)

The average growth rate of $y_{i,t}$ between the two points in 0 time and T is given by:

$$\gamma_{i} = T^{-1}(\log \gamma_{i,T} - \log \gamma_{i,0}).$$
(2.7)

Based on equation (2.6), the output per unit of labor for region *i* at date *T* denoted by y_{iT} can expressed as:

$$\log y_{i,T} = g_i T + (1 - e^{-\beta_i T}) \log y_{i,\infty}^{E} + (1 - e^{-\beta_i T}) \log A_{i,0} + e^{-\beta_i T} (\log y_{i,0})$$
(2.8)

Subtracting $\log \gamma_{i,0}$ from both sides of equation (2.8) and dividing both sides by *T* leads to the following expression for the average growth rate of output per labor γ_i :

$$\gamma_{i} = g_{i} + [(1 - e^{-\beta_{i}T})/T] \log \gamma_{i,\infty}^{E} + [(1 - e^{-\beta_{i}T})/T] \log A_{i,0} - [1 - e^{-\beta_{i}T}/T] \log \gamma_{i,0}$$
(2.9)

or:

$$\gamma_{i} = g_{i} + [(1 - e^{-\beta_{i}^{T}})/T](\log y_{i,\infty}^{E} + \log A_{i,0} - \log y_{i,0})$$
(2.10)

Equation (2.10) shows that the growth rate γ_i can be decomposed into two parts. The first is growth due to technological progress g_i . The second is growth due to the closing of the initial gap between output per worker and the steady state value $y_{i,\infty}^{E}$ reflected by $(-1)[(1-e^{-\beta_{i}T})/T](\log y_{i,0} - \log y_{i,\infty}^{E} - \log A_{i,0})$. This part causes the catching-up process and, hence, convergence of the regions.

The literature mentions two convergence mechanisms (see, for example, Barro/ Sala-I-Martin 2004 or Durlauf/Johnson/Temple 2009). If the position of an economy is well below the technological frontier, the catching-up process can be initiated by installing capital which corresponds to the current frontier of technology. However, more important in the economic growth literature is the role of diminishing returns to capital in the convergence process. Because of the diminishing returns to capital, a region starting with a relatively low level of output will grow relatively rapidly because its capital-output ratio is comparatively low and the marginal product of capital is high. This growth will slow down as the region reaches its balanced growth path and the marginal product of capital declines towards its steady state level. In contrast, the marginal product of capital is relatively low in a region with a high capital-output ratio. This leads to an average growth rate below the rate of technological progress in such regions.

Without making further assumptions, it is not possible to translate equation (2.10) into a feasible empirical model. $y_{i,\infty}^{E}$ and $\log A_{i,0}$ are both unobservable. Usually it is assumed that all regions share the same steady state so that $y_{i,\infty}^{E}$ can be described by a constant given by y_{∞}^{E} . For the initial value of technology $\log A_{i,0}$ the assumption is made that it can be decomposed into a constant part log *A* and differences across regions occur due to a cross-sectional specific shock ε_{i} . Under this assumption, it holds that $\log A_{i,0} = \log A + \varepsilon_{i}$. Furthermore, in equation (2.10), the growth rate of technological progress g_{i} as well as the speed of convergence are both region-specific terms. The economic growth literature often assumes that these two parameters are identical across regions. This means $g_{i} = g$ and $\beta_{i} = \beta$. Under these assumptions, equation (2.10) can be rewritten as:

$$\gamma_{i} = g + [(1 - e^{-\beta T})/T)]\log y_{\infty}^{E} + [(1 - e^{-\beta T})/T)]\log A_{0} + (-1)[(1 - e^{-\beta T})/T)]\log y_{i,0} + \varepsilon_{i} \quad (2.11)$$

Because the variables y_{∞}^{ε} , *A* and *g* in equation (2.11) are considered as constants, it is possible to subsume them into a constant term *c*. This leads to the following regression equation to empirically test the hypothesis of β -convergence:

$$\gamma_{i} = c + (-1)[(1 - e^{-\beta T})/T]\gamma_{i,0} + \varepsilon_{i}$$
(2.12)

Barro/Sala-I-Martin (1991) and Barro/Sala-I-Martin (1992) use a nonlinear least squares estimator to determine the speed of convergence β based on a regression of the form (2.12). A positive value for β is interpreted as evidence for the existence

of β -convergence. In the case of β -convergence, the expression $(-1)[(1-e^{-\beta T})/T)]$ takes a negative value. This implies that there exists a negative relationship between the initial value of output per labor and the average growth rate γ_i . Therefore, regions with low initial levels of output per labor exhibit higher growth rates and grow faster than regions with high initial levels. This is the necessary condition to start a catching-up process.

Another possibility to directly examine the shape of the relationship between the average growth rate γ_i and the initial values $\gamma_{i,0}$ is the following cross-sectional regression:

$$\gamma_i = \mathbf{c} + \beta^* \gamma_{i,0} + \varepsilon_i \tag{2.13}$$

where $\beta^* = (-1)[(1 - e^{-\beta T})/T)]$. Also equation (2.13) makes it possible to determine whether a negative relation between the initial value in the initial period and the average growth rate exists. A negative value of the coefficient β^* in equation (2.13) can be interpreted as evidence for the existence of β -convergence. In contrast to regression (2.12), a regression of form (2.13) can be estimated using ordinary least squares. Note, the regression coefficient of equation (2.13) does not correspond to the speed of convergence β . Further transformation of the regression coefficient β^* is necessary to derive the speed of convergence β .

According to equation (2.12) and equation (2.13), the average growth rates only depend on the initial value and no other factors. This in turn implies that all regions converge to the same steady state value. In this case, β -convergence is said to be unconditional.

However, Barro/Sala-I-Martin (1991) and Barro/Sala-I-Martin (1992) point out that the neoclassical growth model predicts that the growth rate of a region is inversely related to the distance to its steady state value. Therefore, only if all regions share the same steady state is it to be expected that unfavorable regions grow faster than favorable regions. Otherwise, the negative relation between the growth rates and the initial values does not hold in a cross-sectional sample. The growth literature mentions for example differences in technological levels or differences in the saving rates as possible sources for different steady state values. Then a set of additional exogenous variables x_i^k has to be included in equation (2.13) to control for differences in regional steady state values:

$$\gamma_i = \mathbf{c} + \boldsymbol{\beta}^* \boldsymbol{\gamma}_{i,0} + \sum_{k=1}^{K} \boldsymbol{\beta}^k \boldsymbol{x}_i^k + \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{i,T}$$
(2.14)

A negative value of the coefficient β^* in equation (2.14) is also interpreted as evidence of β -convergence. However, the specification of equation (2.14) implies

that the steady state value differs among the regions. In this case, β -convergence is said to be conditional.

The regression approach to convergence introduced in this section is very popular in the empirical economic growth literature. Due to the strong linkage to the neoclassical growth model, it not only provides evidence of β -convergence, but also permits to test several theories of economic growth. However, no such strong association between a certain labor market model and the regression approach to convergence is depicted in the labor economic literature. Therefore, in a labor market context, the regression approach appears to be predominantly a statistical test for the relationship between the initial value of a variable and its growth rate. Furthermore, the existence of β -convergence does not imply that the inequality across regions diminishes over time. This issue will be discussed in more detail in the next section. This might explain why only three studies about the evolution of regional labor market disparities resort to the concept of β -convergence.

Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) test the hypothesis of β -convergence for regional unemployment rates in Finland. Their data sample includes data of 423 municipalities from the period 1975 to 1993. They estimate a cross-sectional regression of the form of equation (2.13) with the regional unemployment rate as an exogenous variable and its growth rate as the endogenous variable. To take the different development of Finnish unemployment over time into account, they provide results for diverse time periods. Their results give favor of unconditional β -convergence. However, additional robustness tests show that the assumption of different steady state values cannot be rejected. Like many other European countries, Finland also experienced a strong increase in unemployment since the 1970s. The findings by Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) suggest that the regions with low unemployment rates were more affected by this increase in unemployment.

Also Gil-Alana/del Barrio (2009) examine the hypothesis of β -convergence for regional unemployment rates. They consider 50 Spanish provinces and use quarterly data covering the time period from the third quarter 1976 to the fourth quarter 2004. They provide very detailed results for the hypothesis of β -convergence. Different starting points during the observation period are considered. Furthermore, growth rates are calculated for time periods of different length. Using the year 1976 as the starting point, no evidence of β -convergence was found. For the starting points in the 1980s and the 1990s the results are rather mixed whereas the regression results favor the hypothesis of β -convergence using the year 2000 as the starting point. Gil-Alana/del Barrio (2009) conclude that the labor market reforms in Spain in 1999 led to a reduction of the persistence differences of unemployment between regions. Note, however, if regions transit towards their steady state, the speed of convergence should decrease over time. However, the

detailed analysis by Gil-Alana/del Barrio (2009) shows that the regression results favor the hypothesis of β -convergence if the considered observation period ends in the year 2000 or later but reject the hypothesis of β -convergence if the considered observation period ends before 2000. Furthermore, their findings indicate that the speed of convergence increases if the observation period increases. Hence, these results contradict the point of view that regional unemployment rates in Spain are characterized by a transition process towards their stead state.

Südekum (2008) empirically tests the so called smart city hypothesis for 326 districts in West Germany. Roughly speaking, the smart city hypothesis says that skilled cities exhibit higher employment growth rates. His study also provides results about conditional β -convergence of the regional skill composition of employees. Südekum (2008) applies a cross-sectional approach corresponding to equation (2.14) for the initial value of the share of high skilled workers (workers with completed tertiary education) and the corresponding growth rate. The growth rate of the share of high-skilled workers is computed for the period 1985 to 2002. The initial level of the share of high-skilled workers and additional regional control variables enter the right hand side of the regression with their value in 1977. The regression coefficient for the share of high skilled workers takes a high negative value and is highly significant. Hence, Südekum (2008) concludes that there is conditional β -convergence of the local skill composition.

The concept of σ -convergence

Because of the so called Galton's fallacy, it is not possible to conclude that a negative relationship between growth rates and initials values goes hand in hand with a fall in regional inequality. Galton investigates the relationship between the heights of parents and the heights of their children (see, for example, Galton 1886). According to his results, children tend to be larger than their parents if their parents are small and children tend to be smaller than their parents if their parents are large. This relationship can be considered as a form of β -convergence (see, for example, Barro/Sala-I-Martin1991). Galton (1886) infers that in terms of their heights, the generation of the children is "always more mediocre" than the generation of their parents. This would imply that a falling in the spread of heights in the population takes place in every new generation and the inequality in terms of heights decreases over time. However, this must not necessarily hold. The mistaken conclusion that regression towards means triggers a reduction of the dispersion is known as Galton's fallacy.

Bliss (1999) illustrates Galton's fallacy in terms of transition probabilities. He shows that even if not all tall parents have tall children, this does not mean that also

the number of tall people decreases. Small and medium parents also have tall children that are then part of the tall population. The same holds for small parents and the small population. This example shows that the population can be characterized by β -convergence in terms of their heights, but this does not automatically trigger a reduction in the inequality of heights. Therefore, the existence of β -convergence might go hand in hand with stable or even increasing inequality across regions.

In convergence analysis, a reduction in the inequality across regions is called σ -convergence. In contrast to the concept of β -convergence, the concept of σ -convergence focuses directly on the evolution of inequality between regions in general by examining changes in the cross-sectional dispersion of an indicator variable over time. Two regions exhibit σ -convergence if the dispersion across the regions declines over time. If the dispersion increases over time the regions are said to diverge. Let $\sigma_{x,t}^2$ denote the dispersion across N regions of variable $x_{i,t}$ with $i = 1 \dots N$ at date t. σ -convergence occurs between period 0 and period T if:

$$\sigma_{x,0}^2 - \sigma_{x,7}^2 > 0 \tag{2.15}$$

To examine the hypothesis of σ -convergence, absolute measures for the dispersion such as the standard deviation are applied as well as relative measures such as the coefficient of variation. Although, the dispersion is the common inequality measure to test for σ -convergence, other measures of inequality such as the Gini coefficient or the Theil index can also easily be applied.

Note, that σ -convergence implies β -convergence but not vice versa. Therefore, the concept of β -convergence is often criticized and it is argued that this concept of convergence is irrelevant. However, Barro/Sala-I-Martin (1991) and Sala-I-Martin (1996) disagree with this point of view. They argue that the absence of σ -convergence is in line with a complete redistribution of regional economic performance where before unfavorable regions become favorable regions and vice versa. This process refers to the concept of β -convergence. Hence, Sala-I-Martin (1996) points out that the concept of β -convergence might also provide important information for policy makers.

OECD (2005)¹ investigates the inequality in regional unemployment rates and employment rates within and between 17 OECD countries comparing the years 1993 and 2003. As a measure for inequality, the coefficient of variation and the Theil index are used. Especially in Germany, Italy, Belgium and Turkey, disparities in regional unemployment rates and employment rates are very pronounced. In contrast, for Ireland, the Netherlands and Norway, the coefficient of variation

¹ This study is an updated version of OECD (2000).

indicates that regional differentials in labor market performance in terms of employment and unemployment are comparatively low. The evolution of regional disparities in labor market performance is measured by changes in the Theil index. The findings suggest that within the OECD, the inequality within the countries only decreases slightly while differences between countries have been markedly reduced between 1993 and 2003. For the European countries, even a distinct increase in regional unemployment disparities within countries is observable and a slight increase in regional employment disparities within countries. However, this aggregate view on regions conceals that increasing regional disparities in labor market performance in Europe was mainly driven by Italy. Furthermore, the results in OECD (2005) indicate that the evolution of regional unemployment disparities and the evolution of regional employment disparities do not have to react symmetrically. For certain countries, the Theil index for the employment rate and the unemployment rate does not show the same sign. For example, for Germany the Theil index indicates an increase in regional employment disparities but a decrease in regional unemployment disparities. In contrast, for France, the opposite is true.

The findings by Overman/Puga (2002) suggest that the inequality in regional unemployment increased in Europe between 1986 and 1996. They consider 150 regions using level 2 regions according to the Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics (NUTS). A Gini coefficient was calculated for relative regional unemployment rates² to measure the inequality across European regions. They find that the Gini coefficient was 19 percent higher in 1996 compared to 1986.

Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) analyze the evolution of regional unemployment disparities across ten states of the European Union during the years 1981 to 1995. These are the United Kingdom (UK), (West) Germany, France, Italy and Belgium (the "core" EU(5)) as well as Spain, Denmark, the Netherlands, Ireland and Portugal (the "non-core" EU(5)). To analyze the evolution of regional unemployment disparities, they investigate the inequality of unemployment rates measured by the coefficient of variation. Their national-level analysis shows that the dispersion of unemployment rates between countries slightly increases up to the late 1980s and remains stable thereafter. This is the result of divergent behavior of the "non-core" EU(5) group while a slight convergence can be observed for the "core" EU(5) group.

Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) also provide results of a regional-level analysis of the "core" EU(5) group. This restricted examination is enforced by data limitation. The regional-level analysis based on NUTS1, NUTS2 and NUTS3 level for the "core" EU(5) group shows for all three cases, that the coefficient of variation follows a

² This means the regional unemployment is measured relative to the average European unemployment rate to annihilate common movement in regional unemployment rates. The computation of relative regional variables are discussed in detail in chapter 2.2.1.

clear cyclical pattern. The dispersion of regional unemployment rates increased until the beginning of the 1990s and then declined afterwards. In the mid 1990s, the dispersion of regional unemployment rates has returned more or less to values of the early 1980s. However, investigating the evolution of regional unemployment differentials for each country of the group separately on NUTS1 and NUTS3 level shows some interesting differences. This cyclical pattern can be found for Germany, Italy and the UK. In the case of France, the dispersion of regional unemployment rates appears to be stable over the whole observation period. In contrast to the other countries of the "core" EU(5) group the dispersion of regional unemployment rates in Belgium shows clear divergent behavior. To sum up, the dispersion of regional unemployment rates shows a high degree of overall stability and no tendency to narrow. The results of Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) give no hint for the existence of σ -convergence in Europe.

Furthermore, Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) follow an approach introduced by Chatterii (1992) and Chatterii/Dewhurst (1996) in growth economics that investigates the time series properties of the dispersion of a regional variable. Hence, this approach combines the concept of σ -convergence and time series analysis. They specify a variant of an autoregressive model for the variance of relative regional unemployment rates across regions in Europe. In this framework, an autoregressive parameter between -1 and 1 implies convergence, while an autoregressive parameter greater than one in absolute terms implies divergence. If the autoregressive parameter is equal to unity, this indicates stable relative regional unemployment rates fluctuating around a constant value. The hypothesis of an autoregressive parameter equal unity cannot be rejected for the regions of the "core" EU(5) group as a whole. This indicates persistent differences in regional unemployment for the time period under consideration. Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) find similar results for Germany, France and Italy. Only for the UK they find an autoregressive coefficient statistically significant less than unity. However, Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) argue that due to the size of the autoregressive parameter, the convergence process appears to be only weak. In contrast, for Belgium, the findings indicate a weak divergence process.

Martin (2001) examines convergence in regional productivity and regional employment growth on NUTS2 level considering 14 European countries (Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, (West) German, Greece, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden and the UK) over the period 1975 to 1998. Changes in regional employment are expressed as the regional employment growth rate relative to the average employment growth rate of Europe. Note, that Martin (2001) does not compute an inequality measure to investigate the hypothesis of convergence. Instead, the regional relative employment growth rates refer to

deviations around the European employment growth rate. If the inequality between regions becomes smaller, the deviation between the regional and the European employment growth rate should also decrease and, hence, the relative regional employment growth rate. Martin (2001) calculates cumulative employment growth rates for each region. The evolution of cumulative relative regional employment growth is considered on a country by country basis. The results show no evidence of regional convergence. Regional deviations from the European average appear to be persistent. Especially within Greece, Italy, Sweden, Spain and the UK, strongly divergent behavior can be observed.

Martin (1997) and Gray (2004) test the hypothesis of σ -convergence for regional unemployment rates in the UK. In contrast to Martin (1997), Gray (2004) excludes Northern Ireland from his analysis. The time series in Martin (1997) covers the period from 1965 to 1995. Gray (2004) uses monthly seasonally adjusted data covering the period from April 1974 to December 2002. Martin (1997) shows that the movements in the dispersion of relative regional unemployment rates are linked to the development of the national unemployment rate. The relative dispersion of regional unemployment appears to be inversely related to the national unemployment rate. Until the late 1980s, the absolute dispersion of regional unemployment rates tended to move directly with the national unemployment rate. However, in the 1990s, an inverse relationship is also observable for absolute dispersion. For the period from 1965 until 1975, a decrease in relative dispersion is observable which indicates σ -convergence during this period. However, the results of Gray (2004) show that the relative dispersion remains relatively stable from the mid 1970s until 2002. Both studies find a strong increase in absolute dispersion in the 1980s. However, in the 1990s the absolute dispersion returned back to its value of the 1970s and also remained very stable. Neither the absolute nor the relative dispersion of regional unemployment appear to follow a general upward or downward path which would indicate either a divergent or a convergent behavior of regional unemployment rates in the UK.

The fact that periods of convergence and periods of divergence alternate can also be found in other studies. The findings by Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) indicate that the employment rates of 48 US states exhibit periods of σ -convergence and divergence. From 1945 to the mid-1970s, the standard deviation of regional employment rates decreased. However, between then and the mid-1980s, an increase of the standard deviation is observable. After that the dispersion decreased again until the beginning of the 1990s and then remained on a stable level.³

³ Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) compare different sources of employment data. For an employment series provided by the Bureau of Economic Analysis no increase in the mid 1990s is observable. For all other sources only modest changes are observable.

Eichengreen (1990) investigates the evolution of the dispersion of the unemployment rate of the nine US census regions. Regional inequality is measured by the standard deviation and the coefficient of variation. Furthermore, the absolute difference between the highest and the lowest regional unemployment rate in each year is investigated. The results are quite striking and indicate that regional unemployment rates of US census regions show divergent behavior. Between 1960 and 1988, all inequality measures show a clear positive trend.

Debelle/Vickery (1998) and Dixon/Shepherd/Thomson (2001) provide results for the evolution of the dispersion of regional unemployment rates in Australia. Debelle/Vickery (1998) examine the six Australian states from 1978 to 1997. Dixon/ Shepherd/Thomson (2001) examine seasonally adjusted quarterly unemployment rates covering the period second guarter 1978 to first guarter 1999 for the six states and the two territories in Australia. Debelle/Vickery (1998) show that the standard deviation indicates strong divergent behavior of Australian regional unemployment rates between the late 1970s and the late 1980s. In the 1990s, periods of decreasing and increasing regional dispersion are observable. However, during this period, the standard deviation reaches the low values of the early 1980s but never falls below them. Dixon/Shepherd/Thomson (2001) use the relative dispersion as a measure of regional inequality. They find a similar picture for the late 1970s and the 1980s. However, the relative dispersion markedly decreased in the early 1990s and then exhibits a positive trend until the end of the 1990s. Hence, both studies find no clear trend for the dispersion during the observation period. Furthermore, Dixon/Shepherd/Thomson (2001) find a negative long-run relationship between the relative dispersion of regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate in Australia. This means that periods of low unemployment rates are associated with a tendency for greater regional inequality in Australia (see also the results given in Dixon/Shepherd 2001).

The majority of the studies finds no evidence for the existence of σ -convergence. In general, periods of falling inequality alternate with periods of rising inequality. Especially in the case of the unemployment rate cyclical movements appear to be an important driving force for the development of regional inequality. If there was found a clear trend in the evolution of regional dispersion the results indicate for the existence of divergence.

The correct measure of the dispersion of a regional variable is not a trivial issue for the concept of σ -convergence. Variables with high average values usually show higher absolute dispersion than variables with low average values. Absolute measures of dispersion such as the standard deviations do not take this size effect into account. The unemployment rates of most of the developed countries exhibit a strong positive trend behavior during the last four decades. Today, their

unemployment rates are several times higher compared to the 1970s. Hence, a rise in the absolute dispersion of regional unemployment rates over time could solely be the result of this strong increase in unemployment. This might explain why in Martin (1997) and Gray (2004), the standard deviation usually indicates an increase in the dispersion of regional unemployment rates especially in the 1970s and the 1980s in contrast to the coefficient of variation. Hence, the relative dispersion appears to be a more appropriate measure in a labor market context than the absolute dispersion (see also Martin 1997).

According to the neoclassical growth model, the transition process implies trend behavior of regional inequality and should trigger a fall in regional dispersion. This is also an underlying assumption of the definition of σ -convergence given in equation (2.15). Hence, the comparison of two points in time is only sufficient if the development of regional inequality shows such a trend and is not characterized by periods of falling and rising inequality. However, the majority of the studies examining the development of regional inequality over time find scarce evidence for a clear trend behavior but a strong dependence on cyclical movements in the case of regional unemployment rates. Therefore, comparing the inequality across regions only at two points in time, might lead to misleading results. In such a case, observing a rise or fall in regional dispersion could simply result from the time chosen for the two observation points during a business cycle. Hence, the results by OECD (2005) and Overman/Puga (2002) that only compare the degree of regional inequality in two different years have to be interpreted with some caution. According to these findings, it appears to be reasonable to investigate the evolution of regional dispersion over time at least in a labor market context.

As mentioned before, σ -convergence implies β -convergence. Hence, these findings have direct implications for the concept of β -convergence. The standard approach to test the hypothesis of β -convergence only focuses on the initial value of the variable of interest and the (average) growth rate for the whole observation period. Strictly speaking, the test for β -convergence according to equation (2.13) is only based on two points in time because it considers the average change of the variable of interest between the initial year and last year of the observation period. What happened between these two points in time is neglected. However, during this time period, the variable of interest might have gone through a very dynamic development even if the average growth rate is small. Thus, if the regions under consideration are not characterized by transition dynamics and changes in the dispersion of the variable of interest are mainly driven by changes in the economic climate, the concept of β -convergence might lead to misleading results. Similar to the case of σ -convergence, evidence of β -convergence also depends on where during the business cycle the initial year and the last year of the observation period are located. This could also explain the results by Gil-Alana/del Barrio (2009) when examining the concept of β -convergence for different starting points and different observation periods.

The distributional approach to convergence

The concept of β -convergence investigates the average behavior of the representative region while the concept of σ -convergence focuses on the evolution of the distribution across regions. Hence, both concepts only provide information about the transition of the regions towards their own steady states. They provide no insights into the dynamics of the entire cross-sectional distribution.

This drawback was criticized by Quah in a series of papers (see Quah 1993a,b, 1996a, b, c, d). He points out that the concepts of β -convergence and σ -convergence conceal issues such as mobility, stratification and polarization of regions. For example, persistent inequality across regions can be consistent with marked changes in the intra-distribution of individual regions due to criss-crossing and leap-frogging (see the examples given in Quah 1996b and Baddeley/Martin/Tyler 1998). Furthermore, Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) show that complete rank-order stability of the regions due to a labor market variable can be associated with marked changes in the dispersion of this variable across regions. Hence, no inference can be drawn from the trend of regional dispersion on the intra-distribution dynamics and vice versa. Therefore, it is important to investigate the intra-distribution dynamics of the regions as well as the evolution of the dispersion across regions to shed light on these aspects.

OECD (2005) shows that the relative position of the regions in terms of their employment rate and unemployment rate does not change very much between 1993 and 2003. 80 percent of the European regions with a very high unemployment rate in 1993, still belong to the group of regions with a very high unemployment rate in 2003. The equivalent figure is about 65 percent in North America and less than 50 percent for regions in the Asia/Pacific area.

To get information about the intra-distribution dynamics, Martin (1997) and Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) suggest testing the degree of rank-order stability of a regional labor market variable. They use Spearman's rank correlation coefficient to examine whether there are changes in the ranking of the regions due to their unemployment rates over time.

Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) test the degree of rank-order stability for Belgium, France, Italy, Germany and the UK. They compare the correlation between the ranking of NUTS1 and NUTS3 areas respectively in 1983 and in subsequent years until 1995. Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) conclude that distribution of regional unemployment in France, Italy, Germany and the UK has been characterized by a high degree of stability over time. In these four countries, the rank correlation of NUTS1 and NUTS3 regions decreases only slowly over time. For the NUTS1 regions, the correlation coefficient of the rank-order in 1983 compared to 1995 varies between 0.78 and 0.82. For the NUTS3 regions, the degree of rank-order stability is only slightly smaller. The correlation of the rank-order in 1983 compared to 1995 is still between 0.74 and 0.77. Only the Belgian regions appear to be more mobile within the distribution of regional unemployment rates. Compared to the other countries, the rank-order correlations decline faster. For Belgium, the rank-order correlation between 1983 and 1995 is 0.60 for the NUTS1 and 0.58 for NUTS3 regions. Compared to the findings by Eichengreen (1990) for US census regions, regional rank-order stability in terms of regional unemployment rates appears to be much smaller in the US than in Europe.

Martin (1997) and Gray (2004) confirm the result of a high rank-order stability of regional unemployment rates in the UK. Martin (1997) finds that the rank-order correlation of regional unemployment rates between 1980 and 1995 is 0.85. Gray (2004) finds a similarly high value for the correlation coefficient of the regional ranking in 1974 compared to 2002.

The degree of rank-order stability only provides information whether intradistribution dynamics exist or not. However, if the test for rank-order stability indicates that regions are mobile within the distribution, one can not conclude which are the mobile regions. For example, changes in the cross-sectional distribution of regional unemployment rates might be caused by former high unemployment regions which became medium unemployment regions but also by former low unemployment regions which became medium unemployment regions.

Quah (1993a) and Quah (1996b) suggest using a Markov chain transition matrix to map the mobility of countries within the distribution of income per capita. This approach requires the assumption that the evolution of the income distribution can be described by a time-invariant and first-order Markov process. The countries under consideration are grouped into different categories according to their income per capita. These different groups are called income states. The Markov chain transition matrix provides information about the probability that a country from one income state transits to another state over time or remains in the same state. Hence, the transition matrix conceals, for example, what is the probability that a country from the group of countries with the lowest income per capita transits to the group of countries with the highest income per capita or how high the probability is that a poor country remains poor.

This approach was adopted by Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) to investigate the mobility of municipalities in Finland within the distribution of regional unemployment rates

between 1975 and 1993. The analysis by Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) which is based on five unemployment states, leads to a 5×5 first-order Markov chain transition matrix. The different states are formed by grouping the municipalities into five equally sized categories according to their unemployment rates. The lowest category includes the 20 percent of municipalities with the lowest unemployment rates and the highest category includes the 20 percent of municipalities with the highest unemployment rates. Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) provide results for a shortand a long-run model.

The short-run model examines transition probabilities based on one-year transitions observed every year from 1975/1976 to 1992/1993. For the one-year horizon, they find only small transition probabilities between different states of unemployment. With 0.71, the overall probability of a municipality to remain in the same state turns out to be high. Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) conclude that in the short run, the level of persistence is very high. Therefore, in the short run, the probability is very limited for a municipality both to weaken or to improve its unemployment situation compared to other regions.

The long-run model is based on an 18-year transition from 1975 to 1993. In contrast to the short-run model, the long-run model shows higher transition probabilities. The overall probability of a municipality to remain in the same unemployment state decreases to 0.36. This means that between 1975 and 1993, 64 percent of all municipalities changed their unemployment state. Even transitions over two or three unemployment states are quite common. Hence, in the long-run, the behavior of municipalities appears to be less persistent and evidence of intra-distribution dynamics can be found. Furthermore, Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) find evidence that a connection exists between intra-distribution mobility and regional adjustment processes after a labor market shock. Municipalities located in regions where labor market shocks have long-lasting effects seem to show less intra-distribution mobility than municipalities located in regions where labor market shocks have only transitory effects.

Overman/Puga (2002) apply a three dimensional stochastic kernel to illustrate the transition probabilities of European NUTS2 regions between different states of unemployment between 1986 and 1996. They find evidence for polarization of regional unemployment rates within Europe. 81 percent of the regions with high unemployment rates relative to the European average in 1986, tend to have high unemployment rates in 1996. They find a similar picture for the regions with relatively low unemployment rates in 1986. 61 percent of the regions also remain in this group. In contrast, regions with medium unemployment rates in 1986 are very likely to exhibit a rise or fall in their unemployment rates relative to the European average until 1996. According to Overman/Puga (2002), there are two different ways of thinking about the distribution of unemployment rates within Europe. On the one hand, unemployment might be first and foremost a national phenomenon. Countries exhibit different unemployment rates but regional unemployment rates within a country are identical. On the other hand, regional unemployment could be independent of national boundaries. In this case, the distribution of regional unemployment within each European country is quite similar to the distribution of regional unemployment within Europe as a whole. Of course, Overman/Puga (2002) point out that these are two very extreme points of view and rather hypothetical. In reality, the truth might be somewhere in between.

They apply the three dimensional kernel to regional unemployment rates measured relative to the European average and regional unemployment rates measured relative to their corresponding countries average for all eleven years. Overman/Puga (2002) show that regional unemployment disparities are more pronounced within countries than between countries. The results indicate that the distribution of unemployment rates within a country does not differ very much from the distribution of unemployment rates across Europe.

Furthermore, they show that there is a strong neighboring effect. They apply the three dimensional kernel to regional unemployment rates measured relative to the European average and regional unemployment rates measured relative to the average of the contiguous regions. Note, that these neighboring regions do not have to belong to the same country. The results show that a region's unemployment rate is very similar to that of its neighboring regions, irrespective of whether this region is characterized by high or low unemployment or whether a national border between regions exists or not. Hence, Overman/Puga (2002) conclude that variations in national institutions seem to explain only little of European regional unemployment disparities. Furthermore, neighboring regions in a foreign country could be more closely related to a region than regions in the same country.

The findings by the studies following the distributional approach to convergence indicate that regional unemployment rates in Europe are characterized by low intra-distribution dynamics. The distribution of regional labor market performance appears to be characterized by a high degree of persistence. Only some regions appear to improve or weaken their situation compared to other regions especially in the short run.

2.1.2 Time series approaches to convergence

The results of studies following the cross-sectional approach provide no evidence that the evolution of regional labor market disparities is characterized by clear convergent behavior. Furthermore, the findings of several studies examining the concept of σ -convergence for European countries indicate that changes in the regional inequality are not first and foremost driven by differences in the initial conditions but by changes in the economic climate. This makes it hard to assume that these regions are best characterized by a transition process towards their steady state. However, this is the underlying assumption of the cross-sectional approach to convergence.

In contrast, the underlying assumption of the time series approach to convergence is that region-specific shocks due to economic disturbances are responsible for the evolution of regional disparities. Regional labor market disparities do not reflect differences in the initial conditions. In this case, convergence can be regarded as an adjustment process after a region-specific shock rather than a catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions. Considering the results from the reviewed studies following the concept of σ -convergence, this point of view appears to be more appropriate in a labor market context.

The concept of stochastic convergence introduced by Evans/Karras (1996) and Bernard/Durlauf (1995, 1996) focuses on the time series behavior of the differences between regions in economic performance. In the case of stochastic convergence, a stable long-run equilibrium relationship between the regions exists and regional differences in economic performance should follow a stationary process. This means that region-specific shocks due to economic disturbances only have transitory effects on this relationship between regions. After a shock, the differences in economic performance between regions should return back to their initial value before the shock occurred. Methods of time series can be applied to test for stationarity and investigate the hypothesis of stochastic convergence.

The time series approach to convergence is largely statistical in nature and it allows precise statistical definitions about convergence. This is mentioned as an important advantage (see, for example, Durlauf/Johnson/Temple 2005, 2009). However, they also point out that the statistical nature of the time series approach is also a disadvantage because there is no explicit link to a theoretical model of economic growth. Note, this drawback from the perspective of growth theory makes it much easier to adopt this approach to other questions about convergence aside of economic growth.

This section introduces the concept of stochastic convergence. Furthermore, it describes the empirical methods to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence and presents the results of the studies following the concept of stochastic convergence.

The concept of stochastic convergence

The discussion of stochastic convergence presented in this section is based on the definition of stochastic convergence given in Evans/Karras (1996). Let *x* denote the variable of interest. *N* regions are said to converge in this indicator variable *x* if, and only if, a common trend a_i and finite parameters $\mu_1, ..., \mu_N$ exist so that:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E(x_{i,t} - a_t) = \mu_i \tag{2.16}$$

for i = 1, ..., N and t denotes the time dimension. In this context, absolute convergence means that all $\mu_1 = ... = \mu_N = 0$. Hence, in the case of unconditional or absolute convergence, the indicator variable takes on the same value across all regions. If some $\mu_i \neq 0$ exist, convergence is called conditional. Stochastic convergence in the sense of definition (2.16) occurs if, and only if, the deviations of the regional variables $x_{i,t}$ from the joint trend a_t follow a stationary process. If all the deviations are non-stationary, the regions are said to diverge.

In the framework of Evans/Karras (1996) the joint trend a_t is allowed to follow a non-stationary process. If all regions share the same non-stationary joint trend, it can not be a source of divergence because the non-stationary trend is identical in every region. The existence of a non-stationary joint trend in the regional variable $x_{i,t}$ also implies that also the regional variables themselves might follow a non-stationary process. Therefore, stochastic convergence according to definition (2.16), does not require that the regions are in a stable equilibrium in terms of $x_{i,t}$. It only requires that there is a stable equilibrium relationship between the different regions. Note, this is not the case if there is an ongoing catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions. Therefore, the concept of stochastic convergence is not appropriate if the regions under consideration are characterized by transition dynamics.

To empirically test equation (2.16), the common trend a_t is needed. However, a_t typically is unknown and unobservable. To account for the unobservable joint trend, the average of the *N* regions is defined so that:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E(\overline{x}_t - a_t) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \mu_i$$
(2.17)

where $\overline{x}_t = N^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^N x_{i,t}$ is the average value of the indicator variable across the *N* regions. Defining the level of the common trend so that $\overline{x}_t - a_t = N^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^N \mu_i = 0$ and subtracting (2.17) from (2.16), leads to a definition of convergence based on the deviation of the regional series from the cross-sectional average:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E(x_{i,t} - \overline{x}_t) = \mu_i$$
(2.18)

Stochastic convergence in the sense of equation (2.18) occurs if, and only if, the deviations of the regional variables from their cross-sectional average follow a stationary process. Therefore, the definition of stochastic convergence implies that region-specific shocks cannot explain the long-run behavior of the deviations between regional variables and their cross-sectional average or the differences between regions respectively. In general, \bar{x}_t is interpreted as the national counterpart to $x_{i,t}$. This means that the hypothesis of stochastic convergence can be tested by examining whether the deviations of the regional variables from their national counterpart follow a stationary process.⁴

An underlying assumption of equation (2.18), is that the long-run relationship between $x_{i,t}$ and \overline{x}_t is a linear one. However, the economic growth literature in general provides a definition of convergence corresponding to equation (2.18) using the logarithm of output or income. If $\log(x_{i,t})$ instead of $x_{i,t}$ enters equation (2.18), convergence occurs if the ratio between the regional variable and its national counterpart follows a stationary process because $\log(x_{i,t}) - \log(\overline{x}_t) = \log(x_{i,t}/\overline{x}_t)$. Note, that absolute convergence again requires that in the long run, the regional variable equals its national counterpart. Only in this case does the ratio equal one and μ_i becomes zero because $\log(1) = 0$. Therefore, the definition of stochastic convergence is in line with different assumptions about the equilibrium relationship between regional variables and their national counterparts.

As Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) point out, an initial issue in analyzing the evolution of regional disparities is the assumption made about the shape of the relationship between a regional variable and its national counterpart. Note, that a shock which leads to an equal absolute change in x_i and \overline{x} , does not affect the difference between the two variables but only the ratio. In contrast, a shock that leads to an equal relative change in the regional and the national variable, affects the difference of the two variables but not the ratio. Therefore, observing convergence or divergence can highly depend on the assumption made about the equilibrium relationship between x_i and \overline{x} .

To test definition (2.18), it is necessary to make assumptions about the shape of the equilibrium relationship between x_i and \overline{x} in a first step. Based on these assumptions, the deviations between x_i and \overline{x} have to be calculated. Computing the deviations of a regional variable from its national counterpart leads to measure

⁴ Note, if $x_{i,t}$ represents a relative variable such as for example the unemployment rate, the simple cross-sectional average \overline{x}_{i} does not necessarily need to correspond to the national unemployment rate. If regions differ in size, the simple cross-sectional average gives too much weight to small regions. However, applied studies regard \overline{x}_{i} as the national counterpart of a regional variable. This means that it is implicitly assumed that \overline{x}_{i} corresponds to the weighted cross-sectional average rather than the simple cross-sectional average.

of x_i relative to \overline{x} . Therefore, the deviations of x_i and \overline{x} are often called relative regional variables. The construction of such relative regional variables are discussed in detail in section 2.2.1.

A non-stationary time series that becomes stationary after taking first differences is said to be integrated of order one, denoted I(1). Therefore, a stationary time series is said to be integrated of order zero, denoted I(0). The terms non-stationarity and I(1) as well as stationarity and I(0) are usually used synonymously. Of course, it is possible that a time series is integrated of higher order but this case is not very relevant in economic applications. In their seminal paper, Nelson/ Plosser (1982) show that many macroeconomic time series are non-stationary and follow an I(1) process. Hence, in an economic context, non-stationarity is usually constrained to the I(1) case. Note, that this study also follows this practice.

Studies investigating the hypothesis of convergence for regional labor market performance usually focus on the unemployment rate or, (less commonly), on the employment rate. The (un)employment rate is bound and can neither fall below 0 nor exceed 100 percent. If a bounded time series is near a barrier, the process reverts because it can not leave the bounds. In the case of an upper and a lower bound, the two barriers limit the excursion of the time series and induce mean reversion. Pesaran/Smith (1995) as well as Cross (1995) point out that one could expect that in the very long run, the bounded unemployment rate follows a stationary process. Pesaran/Smith (1995) show this for the unemployment rate of the UK and the US considering one century. Following this argumentation, (regional) (un)employment rates can not exhibit divergent behavior in the long run. Convergence analysis focuses on relative regional variables can also suffer from this problem.⁵

However, Nicolau (2002) points out that bounded time series can behave like a random walk even if they can not follow a true non-stationary process. In the case of an upper and a lower bound, the process is reflected by the two barriers and the process only appears to be stationary.⁶ If the two bounds limit the excursion of the time series and induce mean reversion of the time series, this implies that a bounded time series might show a random walk behavior if the bounds are sufficiently far apart. Note, that neither the unemployment rate nor the employment rate tend to fluctuate between 0 percent and 100 percent even in the long run. Furthermore, in practice usually only a finite realization of the process is regarded and it is possible that during this sample period the considered variable can exhibit characteristics

⁵ For example, a relative regional unemployment rate computed as the difference between regional and national unemployment rate, can take values between -100 percent and +100 percent, at least hypothetically.

⁶ If the time series is characterized by a non-stationary behavior but the process is exogenously constrained by the bounds, the time series is said to follow a bounded *I*(1) process (see, for example, Nicolau 2002).

that are not distinguishable from an unrestricted *I*(1) process (see Dixon/Shepherd 2001 and Gray 2004).

Gray (2004) argues that the upward trend of the unemployment rate observable for many countries during the past decades, is inconsistent with a permanent rise that a deterministic trend would suggest because of the upper barrier. According to Gray (2004), it would be more appropriate to consider this movement as the result of a stochastic trend and to view the unemployment rate as I(1), but without a deterministic trend. Therefore, in applied analysis, it appears to be reasonable to act as if the (un)employment rate and hence relative regional (un)employment rates potentially behave like unrestricted I(1) processes (see also Dixon/Shepherd 2001).

As stochastic convergence implies that the deviations between regional variables and their national counterpart follow a stationary process, empirical testing for stochastic convergence corresponds to testing the hypothesis of (non)stationarity for relative regional variables. The time series literature provides different methods for such tests. These test procedures are discussed in the next sections.

Testing for a unit root and empirical application

Unit roots are considered as the main reason why a time series follows a nonstationary process. Investigating the existence of a unit root has a long tradition in time series analysis. Unit root tests test the null hypothesis of non-stationarity against the alternative hypothesis of stationarity. The so called Dickey-Fuller test for a unit root (DF test) introduced by Dickey/Fuller (1979) is based on a first order autoregressive process (AR process) given by:

$$X_t = \rho X_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t \tag{2.19}$$

Subtracting x_{t-1} from both sides of equation (2.19) leads to the following expression:

$$\Delta x_t = \varphi x_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t \tag{2.20}$$

where $\Delta x_t = x_t - x_{t-1}$ and $\varphi = \rho - 1$. The null hypothesis that the time series contains a unit root $\varphi = 0$ (respectively $\rho = 1$) is tested against the alternative hypothesis that the time series is stationary $\varphi < 0$ (respectively $\rho < 1$). This means the test for a unit root corresponds to a one-sided test for the coefficient in a so called Dickey-Fuller regression given by equation (2.20). To test the hypothesis of a unit root, the standard *t*-statistic can be applied given by:

$$DF = \frac{\hat{\varphi}}{se(\hat{\varphi})} \tag{2.21}$$

where $se(\hat{\varphi})$ corresponds to the usual OLS standard error from the Dickey-Fuller regression. However, under the null hypothesis of non-stationarity, the statistic does not follow a standard *t*-distribution but is skewed to the right. The critical values from this Dickey-Fuller distribution are smaller compared to the critical values form the *t*-distribution. This test referring to the critical values from the Dickey-Fuller distribution the Dickey-Fuller *t*-test.

It is possible to allow for deterministic factors in the Dickey-Fuller regression by including an intercept δ and/or a deterministic trend τt .

$$\Delta x_t = \delta + \tau t + \varphi x_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t \tag{2.22}$$

To control for autocorrelation, lagged differences Δx_{t-1} , ..., Δx_{t-K} can be added on the right hand side of equation (2.20). The optimal lag length *K* is usually determined by information criteria such as the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and Schwarz Information Criterion (BIC), or by a sequential *t*-test as suggested by Ng/Perron (1995). This leads to the so called augmented Dickey-Fuller test (ADF test). Additionally allowing for deterministic factors, the underlying regression of an ADF test is given by:

$$\Delta x_{t} = \delta + \tau t + \varphi x_{t-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{k} \phi_{k} \Delta x_{t-k} + \varepsilon_{t}$$
(2.23)

According to Pesaran (2007a), a crucial point should be kept in mind when using unit root tests to examine the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. The null hypothesis to be tested is that of non-stationarity or, in other words, divergence. Thus, if the null hypothesis is rejected, strictly speaking, one can only conclude that regional disparities exhibit no divergence and not that there exists convergence. Anyway, unit root tests are widely used to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence.⁷

Blanchard/Katz (1992) find neither for regional employment growth rates nor regional unemployment rates of US states evidence of stochastic convergence. For the time period 1952 to 1990, the ADF test rejects the hypothesis of a unit root in relative regional employment growth rates only for three states on the five percent level. For relative regional unemployment rates, the hypothesis of a unit root is rejected on the five percent level only for three states for the time period 1972 to 1990.

The findings by Decressin/Fatás (1995) suggest that also for Europe the hypothesis of stochastic convergence in regional employment growth has to be rejected. Only for two of the 51 European regions under consideration does the

⁷ As discussed in the previous section, the (un)employment rate is a bounded variable. There exist so called unit root tests for bounded time series that test the null hypothesis of a unit root against the alternative hypothesis of a bounded *I*(1) process (see, for example, Cavaliere 2002, 2005). This means that the null hypothesis as well as the alternative hypothesis is that of divergence. Hence, unit root tests for bounded time series do not provide an adequate framework to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence.

ADF test reject the hypothesis of a unit root on the five percent level for the time period 1968 to 1987.

In contrast to the results provided by Decressin/Fatás (1995), the analysis in Jimeno/Bentolila (1998) for Spanish regions finds evidence of stochastic convergence in regional employment growth. For the time period 1977 to 1994 the hypothesis of a unit root is rejected for all regions under consideration except Cantabria. However, with respect to the regional employment rates, the ADF test indicates divergent behavior in Spain.

Bayer/Jüßen (2007) test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for unemployment rates of West German federal states (excluding Berlin) covering the time span 1960 to 2002. The results of the ADF test clearly reject the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. With exception of Rhineland-Palatinate, the relative regional unemployment rates of West German federal states appear to contain a unit root.

However, Bayer/Jüßen (2007) find some evidence that the time series of relative regional unemployment rates exhibit structural breaks. As Perron (1990) points out, the traditional ADF tests performs poorly in the case of a structural break in the deterministic component of the time series. Bayer/Jüßen (2007) use the testing procedure provided in Perron/Vogelsang (1992) to account for structural breaks. Accounting for structural changes in the data clearly affects the findings. Now the hypothesis of a unit root is rejected for seven of the ten West German federal states. Only for Baden-Wuerttemberg, Lower Saxony and Schleswig-Holstein can the null hypothesis of a unit root still be not rejected.

To get information about the expected speed of convergence, Bayer/Jüßen (2007) additionally calculate the half-life of a shock in relative regional unemployment rates based on the regression results from the test by by Perron/Vogelsang (1992). The findings indicate that the half-life of a shock is three years for Northrhine Westphalia, two years for Bavaria and Hesse and one year for the other federal states.

For the regional labor market of New Zealand, Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) find clear evidence of stochastic convergence regarding regional employment rates and regional employment growth rates. In addition to the ADF test, the Phillips-Perron test (PP test) introduced by Phillips/Perron (1988) is used. Whereas the ADF test uses additional lags of the first-differenced variable to account for serial correlation, the PP test uses robust standard errors introduced by Newey/West (1987). Both tests strongly reject the hypothesis that relative regional employment growth rates contain a unit root for all regions. The PP test also rejects the hypothesis of a unit root for relative regional employment rates.

Debelle/Vickery (1998) find evidence of stochastic convergence of regional employment growth rates in Australia. The ADF test rejects the hypothesis of a unit root for all regions under consideration. However, the results are less clear for the

regional unemployment rates. For three of the eight regions under consideration the hypothesis of a unit root can not be rejected.

The findings from this univariate unit root tests are rather mixed. In the case of regional unemployment rates, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence has to be rejected whereas evidence of stochastic convergence is found for regional employment growth rates. However, the results by Blanchard/Katz (1992) and Decressin/Fatás (1995) for employment growth are somewhat surprising. It is common to remove a unit root in a time series by taking differences. Hence, growth rates are usually considered as stationary.

One reason why the univariate ADF test often fails to reject the hypothesis of a unit root, might be the low power of the test with regard to distinguishing the unit root hypothesis from the stationarity alternative hypothesis (see, for example, Campbell/Perron 1991, DeJong et al. 1992). Through the application of unit root tests to a panel of cross-sectional units, it is possible to gain higher power. This leads to the so called panel unit root tests.

Testing for a unit root in a panel and empirical application

The idea of panel unit root tests is to pool information from the several crosssections (for an overview see Hlouskova/Wagner 2006, Breitung/Pesaran 2008, or Banerjee/Wagner 2009). Adding the cross-sectional dimension to the time series dimension means that non-stationarity from the time series can be dealt with and combined with the increased data and power that a cross-section brings. The cross-sectional dimension acts as repeated draws from the same distribution. Using the cross-sectional dimension of panel data increases the power of unit root tests that are based on a single draw from the population under consideration (see Harris/Sollis 2003).

Panel unit root tests were introduced by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002), Im/Peseran/ Shin (2003), and Maddala/Wu (1999). They are based on a Dickey-Fuller regression which in the panel framework with i = 1, ..., N cross-sectional units and t = 1, ..., Ttime series units is specified as:

$$\Delta X_{i,t} = \varphi_i X_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t} \tag{2.24}$$

where $\Delta x_{i,t} = x_{i,t} - x_{i,t-1}$. $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ is assumed to be independently distributed across *i*. As in the univariate case, an intercept δ_i and/or a deterministic trend $\tau_i t$ can be included to account for deterministic factors. Including lagged differences Δx_{t-1} , ..., Δx_{t-K} to control for autocorrelation, leads to an augmented Dickey-Fuller equation in the panel framework given by:

What do we know about the evolution of regional labor market disparities?

$$\Delta x_{i,t} = \delta_i + \tau_i t + \varphi_i x_{i,t-1} + \sum_{k=1}^{K_i} \phi_k \Delta x_{i,t-k} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(2.25)

The null hypothesis that all *N* series contain a unit root is given by $H_0: \varphi_i = 0$ for all i = 1, ..., N. The literature considers two different alternative hypothesis. In the test procedure developed in Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) it is assumed that φ is identical for all cross-sectional units. The alternative hypothesis is given by: $H_1^a: \varphi_1 = ... = \varphi_N \equiv \varphi$ and $\varphi < 0$. H_1^a is called the homogeneous alternative.

The so called heterogeneous alternative introduced by Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) is less restrictive and more general than the homogeneous alternative. It allows for different autoregressive parameters. In this case, the alternative hypothesis is given by $H_1^b: \varphi_1 < 0, ..., \varphi_{N_0} < 0, N_0 \le N$.

Breitung/Pesaran (2008) point out one should keep in mind when using panel unit root tests, that the null hypothesis is rejected if the series are stationary for at least one cross-sectional unit. Therefore, a rejection of the null hypothesis does not indicate that all time series are stationary. If the null hypothesis is rejected, one can only conclude that a significant fraction of the time series in the panel does not have a unit root.

By now, there exist various procedures to test for a unit root in a panel. Studies examining the hypothesis of stochastic convergence in a labor market context applied the tests provided by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002), Im/Peseran/Shin (2003), Breitung/Meyer (1994), Taylor/Sarno (1998), Maddala/Wu (1999), and Choi (2001). These tests are discussed briefly. Subsequently, the empirical results of the studies investigating the hypothesis of stochastic convergence by panel unit root tests are presented.

The approach introduced by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) examines the hypothesis of a unit root against the homogeneous alternative. Because of the assumption of the null and the alternative hypothesis that all cross-sectional units share the same autoregressive coefficient, it is possible to pool the data to gain power. Levin/ Lin/Chu (2002) suggest estimating φ based on a pooled regression. As they show, if equation (2.25) includes no deterministic factors under the null hypothesis, the derived regression *t*-statistics have a standard normal limiting distribution. However, if the regression includes deterministic terms, the *t*-statistic diverges to minus infinity. Therefore, Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) provide an adjusted *t*-statistic for the case of only an intercept and the case when there is both an intercept and a linear trend. In the framework by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002), the coefficient φ also has an economic interpretation. The autoregressive coefficient can be considered as a measure of the average speed of convergence. This is a major advantage of the approach by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) compared to other panel unit root tests.

The test procedure suggested by Breitung/Meyer (1994) shows some parallels to the test introduced by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002). Homogeneous autoregressive

coefficients for the cross-sectional units are assumed and the test is based on a pooled ADF regression including cross-sectional fixed effects. Breitung/Meyer (1994) show that OLS leads to consistent results under the null hypothesis of a unit root and that the results are biased under the stationary alternative. A *t*-test can be applied to test the null hypothesis.

Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) provide a procedure that tests the hypothesis of a unit root against the heterogeneous alternative. The idea of the test by Im/Peseran/ Shin (2003) is to combine the ADF test statistics of univariate ADF tests for each cross-sectional unit. The so called t_{bar} -test suggested in Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) is based on the mean of the *t*-statistics from individual specific ADF regressions. Additionally to the group-mean t_{bar} -statistic, they also propose a group-mean Lagrange Multiplier test statistic.

The test provided by Taylor/Sarno (1998) allows for heterogeneous autoregressive parameters as in Im/Peseran/Shin (2003). The test is based on univariate *j*-th order autoregressive regressions for each of the *N* cross-sectional units which are considered as a system of *N* equations. It is suggested to estimate this system by a seemingly unrelated regression (SUR) estimator. The null hypothesis $H_0: \sum_{j=1}^{J} \rho_{ij} - 1 = 0$ with i = 1, ..., N where ρ_{ij} corresponds to the autoregressive parameters can be tested using the multivariate augmented Dickey-Fuller (MADF) statistic provided by Taylor/Sarno (1998).

The tests proposed by Maddala/Wu (1999) and Choi (2001) belong to the group of the so called Fisher-type tests. These tests combine the ρ -values ρ_i of the univariate ADF tests for each cross-sectional unit *i* with *i* = 1, ..., *N*. One advantage of this type of test is its flexibility. The test procedure makes it possible to combine univariate ADF tests with different deterministic factors. In contrast to the approach by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002), the test proposed by Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) and the Fisher-type tests provide no information about the speed of adjustment.

Consistency of estimation requires a careful selection of the lag length of the lagged endogenous variables $\Delta x_{i,t-i}$, ..., $\Delta x_{i,t-k}$ to account for serial correlation. Only if serial correlation is eliminated in the error term, $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ can it be considered as an asymptotically white noise process (see, for example, Banerjee/Wagner 2009). Note, that equation (2.25) permits the optimal lag length to vary across the cross-sectional units. The panel unit root tests provided by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002), Im/ Peseran/Shin (2003), Maddala/Wu (1999), and Choi (2001) allow for this possibility. In the case of the tests suggested by Im/Peseran/Shin (2003), Maddala/Wu (1999), and Choi (2001), this is straightforward because they build on univariate ADF tests for every single cross-sectional unit. In the case of Levin/Lin/Chu (2002), the matter is more complicated because the test is based on pooled data. In a first step before pooling the data Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) suggest to transform $\Delta x_{i,t}$ and $x_{i,t-1}$ so

that they are free of autocorrelation and deterministic factors. However, applied studies usually neglect the possibility that the choice of the optimal lag length could differ across the cross-sectional units. Results for different lag lengths are presented but it is often assumed that the optimal lag length is identical for every cross-sectional unit.

The findings by Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) for New Zealand based on the test by Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) are in line with their findings based on univariate ADF tests. The panel unit root test rejects the hypothesis of a unit root for the relative regional employment growth rate and the regional employment rate. Also, Debelle/Vickery (1998) present results for Australia using the test by Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) next to the results from univariate ADF tests. The panel unit root test still rejects the hypothesis of a unit root for the regional employment growth rate, but now also for the relative regional unemployment rate. Both studies allow for heterogeneous lag lengths based on the BIC.

The study by Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) deals with the behavior of regional employment rates in US states. To test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence, the test by Maddala/Wu (1999) is applied. Maddala/Wu (1999) argue that selecting more than one additional lag in a panel framework would result in a loss of power and, hence, is not justified. Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) follow this argumentation and allow only for one additional lag for each cross-sectional unit. One aim of this study is to investigate how the choice of a certain data source influences the results. Therefore, the regional employment rate is calculated based on different data sources as well as for different time periods. Most of the tests without deterministic terms reject the hypothesis of a unit root in relative regional employment rates. Including a constant term, only relative regional employment rates based on the US census data appear to be stationary. Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) infer that the evolution of regional employment disparities in the US is characterized by absolute stochastic convergence rather than conditional convergence.

Möller (1995), Bayer/Jüßen (2007), and Kunz (2012) use panel unit root tests to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for regional unemployment rates of West German federal states. Kunz (2012) also presents results for the smaller district level.

Möller (1995) considers the time period 1960 to 1991. The procedure to test for a unit root in Möller (1995) is very similar to the approach by Breitung/Meyer (1994). He applies a pooled version of the ADF test and estimates a regression corresponding to equation (2.25). To account for serial correlation, up to three additional lags enter the ADF regression. No deterministic terms are included to the regression. If one or more lags are included in the ADF regression, the hypothesis of a unit root in relative regional unemployment rates is strongly rejected. Bayer/Jüßen (2007) investigate the convergence hypothesis for regional unemployment rates for a longer time period covering 1960 to 2002. They apply various panel unit root tests. Including a constant term and allowing for up to four lags for each cross-sectional unit, the tests by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002), Im/Peseran/Shin (2003), and Breitung/Meyer (1994) reject the hypothesis of a unit root if two or less lags are included at least on the ten percent level. The test by Taylor/Sarno (1998) even reject the hypothesis of a unit root for each considered lag length. Bayer/Jüßen (2007) argue that the results for a specification with two lags is most preferable because in the univariate ADF tests, an optimal lag length of two appears on average as most appropriate. Following this argument, the results provide evidence of (conditional) stochastic convergence of regional unemployment rates. However, the tests by Maddala/Wu (1999) and Choi (2001) find no evidence of stochastic convergence.

In addition, Bayer/Jüßen (2007) also provide results for heterogeneous lag length across cross-sectional units. To determine the optimal lag length, the AIC, the BIC and the sequential *t*-testing method suggested by Ng/Perron (1995) are used. The results are rather mixed. If the optimal lag length is selected based on the BIC, the test by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) and Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) reject the hypothesis of a unit root on the ten percent level. In the case of the AIC, both tests indicate that relative regional unemployment rates contain a unit root. In the case of the sequential *t*-testing method, the test by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) rejects the hypothesis of a unit root, while the test by Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) does not. These results show that the findings of the panel unit root test might be very sensitive to the selection of the lag length.

The estimated autoregressive coefficient from the test by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) provides information about the speed of convergence. The half-life time of shock can be calculated as $\log 0.5 / \log \rho$ with $\rho = \varphi - 1$. The results by Bayer/Jüßen (2007) indicate that the half-life of a region-specific unemployment shock in West German federal states is 5.57 years. This is much longer than the findings based on the test by Perron/Vogelsang (1992) discussed in the previous section. Bayer/Jüßen (2007) conclude that the existence of structural breaks leads to an upward bias of the half-life of the shock and, hence, the effect of a shock appears to be more persistent.

Kunz (2012) tests the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for West German federal states and districts. The time series covers the period from 1989 to 2004. The tests by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) and Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) are applied including an intercept. The results provide clear evidence of (conditional) stochastic convergence in West German regional unemployment rates. Allowing for up to two lags in each cross-sectional unit, both tests reject the hypothesis of a unit root. Only for the specification with no additional lags does the test by Im/Peseran/Shin (2003) not reject the hypothesis of a unit root in the case of federal states. The half-life of a shock in relative regional unemployment rates are calculated based on the results of the test by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002). According to the findings in Kunz (2012), the half-life of a region-specific shock is 1.5 years in the case of federal states and 1.6 years in the case of districts. The average half-life of a shock for federal states is considerably smaller compared to the findings by Bayer/Jüßen (2007). But they are more in line with the findings by Bayer/Jüßen (2007) based on the test by Perron/Vogelsang (1992). Kunz (2012) argues that the absence of breaks during the observation period could be an explanation for this result.

Furthermore, Bayer/Jüßen (2007) and Kunz (2012) use a first order autoregressive AR(1) panel model to distinguish between conditional and unconditional convergence. The panel AR(1) model is specified for relative regional unemployment rates denoted by $\tilde{u}r_{i,t}$. It takes the following form:

$$\tilde{u}r_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta \tilde{u}r_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(2.26)

where *i* denotes the cross-section dimension with i = 1, ..., N and *t* denotes the time dimension with i = 1, ..., T. The constant α_i can be interpreted as a regional fixed effect to account for (unobserved) regional heterogeneity. Only in the absence of regional heterogeneity convergence can be considered as unconditional. Therefore, it is possible to distinguish between conditional and unconditional convergence by testing the joint significance of the fixed effects. If an *F*-Test rejects the hypothesis that all fixed effects are insignificant, this is considered as evidence of conditional convergence. Otherwise, if the *F*-test fails to reject the hypotheses that all fixed effects are insignificant, this is considered as evidence of unconditional convergence. In both studies, the *F*-test rejects the hypothesis that all regional effects are equal zero for German federal states and in Kunz (2012) also for German districts. Bayer/Jüßen (2007) and Kunz (2012) interpret this result (in combination with the results from the unit root tests) as evidence of conditional stochastic convergence.

In contrast to the univariate unit root tests, the panel unit root tests favor the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for regional unemployment rates (and regional employment rates). However, the results by Bayer/Jüßen (2007) show that the panel unit root tests might be sensitive to the choice of additional lags to account for autocorrelation. Note, all panel unit root tests used in the studies reviewed in this section belong to the group of so called first generation panel unit root test. This means that these tests assume that the cross-sectional units are independent. None of the existing studies investigate whether this assumption holds. If this assumption is violated, the first generation panel unit root test might lead to misleading results. This should be kept in mind when interpreting these results (for more details about this issue see section 3.4).

Testing the co-integration relationship

Nelson/Plosser (1982) show that many macroeconomic time series contain a unit root. Nevertheless, it is often observable that non-stationary time series move closely together and the difference between them is stable. In this case, the time series are said to be co-integrated. If a regional variable and its national counterpart are both non-stationary but the difference between them is stable, then this is in line with with the definition of stochastic convergence according to equation (2.18). In the case that all regional time series for the *N* cross-sectional units are I(1), the definition of stochastic convergence implies the existence of N-1 co-integration relationships (see Banerjee/Wagner 2009). Therefore, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence can also be tested by examining the cointegration relationship between the regional variable and its national counterpart.

Two variables which are both I(1) are called co-integrated if there exists a linear combination of these two variables that is I(0). In such a case, Engle/ Granger (1987) define these two variables as co-integrated of order (1,0). For the case that a regional variable x_t and its national counterpart \overline{x}_t are both I(1), the concept of co-integration requires that the linear combination $(u_t = x_t - \beta \overline{x}_t)$ is I(0)and, therefore, stationary. According to the framework provided in Engle/Granger (1987), the null hypothesis that x_t and \overline{x}_t are co-integrated can directly be tested by investigating whether the residuals ε_t of the following regression are either I(0)or I(1):

 $x_t = \beta \overline{x}_t + \varepsilon_t \tag{2.27}$

To test for stationarity, an ADF test can be applied on ε_t . Another possibility is the Co-Integrating Regression Durbin Watson (CRDW) test suggested by Sargan/Bhargava (1983). The CRDW test tests the null-hypothesis that the residuals from the estimated co-integration regression (2.27) follow a simple non-stationary random walk against the alternative of a stationary first order AR process.

Eichengreen (1993) tests for a co-integration relationship between regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate in the US (time period: 1962 to 1988), the UK (time period: 1961 to 1982) and Italy (time period: 1962 to 1985). For the UK and Italy, the CRDW test supports the hypothesis of co-integration. The findings suggest that in the year after a shock, on average

about one half of the shock is eliminated in Britain and about one third in Italy. In contrast, the results for the US are rather mixed. Eichengreen (1993) argues that the difference could arise because the ranking of the regions according to the unemployment rate is more persistent in Europe than in the US. Therefore, a much more stable relationship between regional and the national unemployment rates can be expected in Europe compared to the US. Another reason might be that the time series under consideration are rather short.

The results provided by Martin (1997) and Byers (1990) for regional unemployment rates in the UK confirm the findings by Eichengreen (1993). For the time period 1965 to 1995, Martin (1997) finds strong evidence of a co-integration relationship. The CRDW test indicates that there is a co-integration relationship between every region and the national unemployment rate. Between one third and one half of the effect of the shock is eliminated after one year. Byers (1990) only considers the three regions North, Scotland and Wales for the time period 1949 to 1985. The results of ADF and CRDW tests suggest that a co-integration relationship between the unemployment rates of these three regions and the national unemployment rates of these three regions and the national unemployment rates of these three regions and the national unemployment rates of these three regions and the national unemployment rates of these three regions and the national unemployment rate exists.

In contrast, Chapman (1991) only finds weak evidence for a co-integration relationship between regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate in the UK during the time period 1974 to 1989. The results from the CRDW test do not support the hypothesis of co-integration, while the ADF test⁸ indicates that a co-integration relationship between regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate exists for half of the regions.

In addition, Gray (2004) analyzes the co-integration relationship between regional and national unemployment rates in the UK. He uses seasonally adjusted monthly unemployment rates covering the time period April 1974 to December 2002. A bivariate analysis of the relationships between regions and the nation does not support the hypothesis of co-integration between regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate. This result is in line with Chapman (1991) but does not confirm the findings of Eichengreen (1993) and Martin (1997). Gray (2004) additionally follows the approaches suggested by Johansen (1991) and Johansen (1995) and applies the maximum eigenvalue and the trace statistic to test for the number of co-integration relationships. In contrast to the residual based approach, these multivariate approaches can examine the number of co-integration relationships for a set of regions. The results of a multivariate setting

⁸ However, Gray (2004) reinterprets these results in Chapman (1991). Therefore, the critical values provided by Engle/ Yoo (1987) are used instead of the values given by Dickey/Fuller (1979) as in the original study. According to Gray (2004), the reinterpretation suggests that the hypothesis of co-integration is rejected for all regions except the Northern Region.

indicate that eight of the ten regions under consideration are co-integrated. Only East Midland and East-Anglia do not tend towards an equilibrium relationship with the other regions in the UK. Therefore, the multivariate setting reveals that regional unemployment rates in the UK are more closely associated than a bivariate investigation would suggest. Gray (2004) interprets these results as evidence of persistence in unemployment rate differentials. The relationships among the regional unemployment rates are characterized by natural different rates or longrun multiple equilibria.

Dixon/Shepherd (2001) examine whether the unemployment rates for the six states and the two territories in Australia are co-integrated. They use seasonally adjusted quarterly unemployment rates covering the period second quarter 1978 to first quarter 1999. Investigating the various pairwise combinations of the regions, they find mixed evidence. They conclude that the series are probably not co-integrated and that long-run movements in regional Australian unemployment rates do not appear to have followed a common trend path.

2.1.3 Convergence or divergence?

The previous sections introduced the different concepts of convergence investigated in a labor market context and their empirical implementation. The cross-sectional approach to convergence and the time series approach of convergence consider different aspects of the evolution of regional labor market disparities. The crosssectional approach focuses on transition dynamics and convergence is considered as a catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions. The time series approach to convergence considers convergence as an adjustment process after a region-specific shock. Hence, these two approaches do not enclose each other. They consider different aspects of the evolution of regional labor market disparities. The choice of an appropriate approach to investigate the hypothesis of convergence depends on the characteristics of the regions under consideration.

Among the cross-sectional approaches to convergence, the concept of σ -convergence and the distributional approach are widely used to investigate the evolution of regional labor market disparities. In contrast to the economic growth literature, the concept of β -convergence only plays a minor role in the labor market context. Apart from the restricted explanatory power of this concept, an additional reason might be the strong linkage between the neoclassical growth model and the hypothesis of β -convergence.

Studies following the concept of σ -convergence in general find no evidence for a clear trend in the dispersion of regional labor market performance. Time periods where the inequality between regions becomes smaller, alternate with time periods

of increasing inequality. Therefore, the majority of the results indicate persistent labor market inequalities rather than convergence or divergence of regional labor markets. This observation holds for many European countries but also for Australia and New Zealand. Only for the US does Eichengreen (1990) find a clear positive trend for the dispersion of regional unemployment rates. However, the findings by Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) suggest no clear trend in the dispersion of US regional employment rates. Thus, one could not expect that the inequality across regions would disappear over time at least in short or medium terms.

Studies following the distributional approach to convergence find less intradistribution mobility of regions. The results indicate a persistent geographical distribution of regional labor market performance. Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) find that the ranking of regions due to their unemployment rates is very stable for European countries. The studies by Martin (1997) and Gray (2004) confirm this result for the UK. The findings by Overman/Puga (2002) for Europe and Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) for Finland suggest that mobility of regions between different unemployment states is rather weak in short and medium terms. Only for the long run do Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) find a distinct increase in the transition mobility. However, Overman/Puga (2002) and Pehkonen/Tervo (1998) find that the mobile regions are in general those with a medium unemployment rate. According to Overman/Puga (2002), this form of intra-distribution mobility leads to a polarization in the geographical distribution of regional unemployment in Europe and not to more equality among the European regions.

The results of the studies testing for σ -convergence indicate that cyclical behavior strongly affects the dispersion of regional labor market performance. Because of this strong cyclical behavior, one can hardly conclude that differences in initial conditions are the only source of regional labor market disparities. Economic disturbances appear to be an important driving force for the evolution of regional labor market disparities in many countries. This aspect is not necessarily restricted to changes in the business cycle, but can also contain changes in labor demand, structural changes or technological change. The cross-sectional approach considers convergence as a catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions. Hence, this approach fails to account for such a development. However, the time series approach sheds light on the relationship between region-specific shocks and the evolution of regional labor market disparities. Therefore, it appears to be fruitful to follow the hypothesis of stochastic convergence when examining the evolution of regional labor market disparities.

The common way of investigating the hypothesis of stochastic convergence is to test whether the deviations of the regional variables from their national counterpart follow a stationary process. Unit roots are considered as the main reason why a time series follows a non-stationary process. Hence, unit root tests are usually applied to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. Another possibility is to test whether the regional labor market variables and their national counterpart are co-integrated.

In general, univariate unit root test find no evidence of stochastic convergence for regional unemployment rates. In contrast, the results for regional employment growth rates are rather mixed. The results by Blanchard/Katz (1992) for the US and Decressin/Fatás (1995) for Europe provide no evidence of stochastic convergence. The results by Jimeno/Bentolila (1998) for Spain, Debelle/Vickery (1998) for Australia, and Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) for New Zealand favor the hypothesis of stochastic convergence.

In contrast, the findings of studies using panel unit root tests confirm the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for regional employment and regional unemployment. According to these findings, a stable long-run relationship between regional (un)employment exists. Economic disturbances do not induce divergent behavior and region-specific shocks only have transitory effects.

However, these results have to be interpreted with caution. As Bayer/Jüßen (2007) show, the panel unit tests are sensitive to the choice of the lag length to account for autocorrelation in the ADF regression for the different cross-sectional units. However, many studies do not determine the optimal lag length for each cross-sectional unit but use a homogeneous lag length for all units. Furthermore, the panel unit root tests applied in the studies under review assume that cross-sectional units are not correlated with each other. However, if such cross correlation exists, these first generation panel unit root tests tend to reject the hypothesis of a unit root too often (see, for example, O'Connell 1998 and Baltagi/Bresson/Pirotte 2007).

It is also possible to investigate the hypothesis of stochastic convergence by testing for a co-integration relationship between regional variables and their national counterpart. A number of studies exist which choose this approach to examine unemployment rates in the UK. The findings from studies following an univariate approach are rather mixed. Gray (2004) finds evidence for a cointegration relationships between regional unemployment rates in the UK in a multivariate setting. Analysis by Eichengreen (1993) indicate that a stable long-run relationship exists between regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate in Italy, while for regions in the US, no clear co-integration relationship is found.

2.2 Adjustment to shocks

The previous section already highlighted the role of region-specific shocks and economic disturbances as an origin of regional labor market disparities. Long-lasting region-specific shocks can cause persistent labor market disparities. This raises the question: How long does it take until things return to normal after a region-specific labor market shock?

The studies by Bayer/Jüßen (2007), Kunz (2012), and Eichengreen (1993) already reviewed in the previous section, provide results for the half-life of shocks in relative regional unemployment rates. The findings by Bayer/Jüßen (2007) and Kunz (2012) for German regions are based on the results of the panel unit root test by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002). The findings by Eichengreen (1993) for the US, the UK, and Italy are based on an error correction model.

In addition, several studies use autoregressive (AR) models to examine mean reversion behavior of labor market variables. Usually impulse response functions are derived from the results of the AR model to graphically visualize the adjustment process after a simulated shock. This approach provides insights on about how long it takes until the effects of a shock disappear and things return back to normal. However, they only consider a detail of regional dynamics after a shock because they neglect possible interactions between different labor market variables. Furthermore, they provide no information on the underlying adjustment channels after a labor market shock. For example, the regional unemployment rate might not only return back to its initial value after a shock because new jobs were created, but also because unemployed leave the region.

In their seminal paper, Blanchard/Katz (1992) introduce a fully specified model of regional labor market dynamics. This framework examines the adjustment process after an innovation in regional employment. Blanchard/Katz (1992) identify such an innovation in regional employment as a region-specific labor demand shock. They examine joint fluctuations in employment, unemployment, labor force participation, migration and wages after a labor demand shock. Their approach makes it possible to investigate short- and long-run dynamics after a region-specific shock.⁹

Shocks which are common to all regions can not cause regional labor market disparities. Only if regions are affected by a shock in a different way can this result in regional labor market disparities. To analyze the adjustment mechanism after a region-specific shock, it is necessary to isolate region-specific movements in a

⁹ Note, that the study by Blanchard/Katz (1992) is not the first one which examines the regional responses to an innovation in labor demand. For an overview about the previous studies dealing with this topic see Bartik (1993).
regional variable from common movements shared by all regions. For this purpose, relative regional variables have to be constructed. The next subsection provides an overview about the several procedures to construct relative regional variables discussed in the literature.

Apart from the empirical framework, Blanchard/Katz (1992) also introduced a theoretical framework to account for the features of regional labor market disparities. An augmented version of this model is discussed in section 2.2.2.

Section 2.2.3 presents the findings of studies using AR models to examine adjustment processes after a region-specific labor market shock. Section 2.2.4 introduces the empirical framework provided by Blanchard/Katz (1992) to investigate regional labor dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock. Furthermore, the findings of studies adopting the original approach by Blanchard/Katz (1992) are presented in this section. Inflexible wages are considered as an impediment for quick adjustment processes. Section 2.2.5 reviews the studies investigating the role of wages during the adjustment process. Several authors augmented the original framework of Blanchard/Katz (1992). The findings of these studies are presented in section 2.2.6. The last section concludes.

2.2.1 Measures for relative regional variables

To capture the region-specific movements of a regional variable, it is necessary to isolate the movements in this variable shared by all regions. This problem is usually solved by the construction of so called relative regional variables (see also section 2.1.2). Therefore, such relative regional variables \tilde{x}_i represent the relationship between a regional variable x_i and its aggregate system-wide or reference average counterpart \bar{x} . The definitions of relative regional variables differ in the assumptions about how the relationship between x_i and \bar{x} is best described. The literature provides three different ways to construct relative regional variables to capture the region-specific evolution of a variable.

The first definition of relative regional variables assumes that the relationship between x_i and \overline{x} is best described in terms of a linear relationship. The relative regional variable measured as differentials between x_i and \overline{x} is given by:

$$\tilde{x}_i^d = x_i - \overline{x} \tag{2.28}$$

Constructing relative regional variables as the difference between the x_i and \overline{x} corresponds to simply demeaning the data. Hence, this procedure removes a linear time trend in the data shared by all regions. The second definition assumes the relationship between x_i and \overline{x} is best described by considering the ratio between

these two variables. This leads to the following definition of a relative regional variable:

$$\tilde{X}_{i}^{r} = \frac{X_{i}}{\overline{X}}$$
(2.29)

Note, that the two definitions of relative regional variables picture movements in x_i and \overline{x} in a different way. A shock which leads to an equal absolute change in x_i and \overline{x} does not affect the differential but does influence the ratio. In contrast, a shock that leads to an equal relative change in x_i and \overline{x} , affects the differential but not the ratio of the two variables (see also section 2.1.2).

These two definitions assume that disturbances of the regional variables due to national movements are distributed symmetrically across regions. This means it is assumed that regions do not differ in their elasticity to common shocks. This assumption can be relaxed by combining the two approaches. This leads to a measure for relative regional variables which Blanchard/Katz (1992) and Decressin/Fatás (1995) call β -differences. Relative regional variables measured as β -differences can be expressed as:

$$\widetilde{X}_{i}^{bd} = X_{i} - \beta_{i} \overline{X} \tag{2.30}$$

Hence, relative regional variables measured as β -differences are weighted differences between x_i and \overline{x} . This allows for the possibility that regions react differently to aggregate fluctuations.

However, the coefficient β_i in equation (2.30), is unknown and has to be estimated. This is usually done by applying a so called cyclical sensitivity model. This model was introduced by Thirlwall (1966) and Brechling (1967) to analyze the relationship between regional unemployment rates and their national counterpart. A more common form of the cyclical sensitivity model is given by the following regression:

$$X_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i \overline{X}_t + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(2.31)

where *t* denotes the time dimension with t = 1, ..., T. The coefficient β_i measures to which extent the regional variable is affected by the national variable. Regression (2.31) is run for each of the *N* regions with i = 1, ..., N separately. Using the estimation results, one can calculate the β -difference at date *t* as $x_{i,t}^{bd} = x_{i,t} - \hat{\beta} \overline{x}_t$ for each region. Hence, the β -difference corresponds to the estimated constant $\hat{\alpha}_i$ and the error term $\hat{\varepsilon}_{i,t}$. This means the β -difference captures the variation of the regional variable which can not be explained by the national rate in regression (2.31).

The approach by Thirlwall (1966) and Brechling (1967) additionally provides some insights into which of the three definitions of relative regional variables is

most appropriate for the underlying data. If $\hat{\beta}_i$ is equal to unity for all regions, the values of regional variables would shift perfectly parallel to the national variable and estimates only vary in the constant $\hat{\alpha}_i$. In this case, the relationship between the regional and the national variable is best described by differentials. If the estimated constants are close to zero instead, regional variables are a perfect multiple of the national variable. This indicates that the relationship is best described by ratios. Thus, if there are stable absolute differences instead of stable ratios, the estimates should vary mainly in the constants and not in the value of $\hat{\beta}_i$. If both $\hat{\alpha}_i$ and $\hat{\beta}_i$ vary between the regions, then the β -differences are the appropriate measure.

The application of simple differences are very common (see, for example, Blanchard/Katz 1992, Jimeno/Bentolila 1998, or Mäki-Arvela 2003) as well as the application of β -differences (see, for example, Decressin/Fatás 1995, Fredriksson 1999, Debelle/Vickery 1999, Choy/Maré/Mawson 2002, Pekkala/Kangasharju 2002a,b, or Kunz 2012). To the best of my knowledge, no study investigating regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific shock constructs relative regional variables using the ratio of x_i and \overline{x} . However, it seems noteworthy that in many cases, relative regional variables are calculated for variables measured in logarithm. Because $\log(x_i) - \log(\overline{x}) = \log(x_i / \overline{x})$, the studies implicitly focus on the ratio between a regional variable and its national counterpart and not the differential between these two measures.

Note, when examining the hypothesis of stochastic convergence it is necessary to make an assumption about the long-run relationship between the regional variables and their national counterpart (see section 2.1.2). Therefore, the results of the cyclical sensitivity model might also provide helpful information for this decision.

2.2.2 Theoretical framework

This section introduces a theoretical framework to analyze the adjustment mechanism after a labor demand shock. The model is based on Blanchard/Katz (1992) and the extensions by Jimeno/Bentolila (1998).

The model builds on the following two assumptions: Regions produce different bundles of goods that are all sold on the national market. Production takes place under constant returns to labor, and the demand of each product is downward slopping. Further, it is assumed that workers and firms are mobile across regions.

Let $w_{i,t}$ denote the logarithm of the wage in region *i* at time *t*, $n_{i,t}^*$ denotes the the logarithm of the labor force and $ur_{i,t}$ is the logarithm of the unemployment rate. The unemployment rate corresponds to the ratio of unemployment to employment. Hence, the logarithm of employment is approximately given by $n_{i,t}^* - ur_{i,t}$ (see Blanchard/Katz 1992). Labor demand in region *i* at time *t* measured relative to its national counterpart is given by:

$$\tilde{w}_{i,t} = -d(\tilde{n}_{i,t}^* - \tilde{u}_{i,t}) + \tilde{z}_{i,t}$$
(2.32)

where $\tilde{w}_{i,t}$ denotes the relative regional wage, $\tilde{n}_{i,t}^*$ denotes the relative regional labor force, $\tilde{u}_{r_{i,t}}$ the relative regional unemployment rate and $\tilde{z}_{i,t}$ is the position of the labor demand curve.

Firms move to regions where labor costs are lower. Factors other than wages, such as, for example, public sector infrastructure, natural resources or local taxes, may also affect firms' location decisions. Hence, some regions consistently attract new firms, while other regions do not. Therefore, movements in $\tilde{z}_{i,t}$ are formalized as:

$$\tilde{Z}_{i,t+1} - \tilde{Z}_{i,t} = -\alpha \tilde{W}_{i,t} + X_{di} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}^{d}$$
(2.33)

 x_{di} reflects regional amenities affecting firms' decision to locate their business someplace. Moreover, x_{di} also captures drifts in the demand for individual products. $\varepsilon_{i,t+1}^{d}$ represents innovation to labor demand and is assumed to follow a white noise process. As regions produce different bundles of goods, they experience different shocks to labor demand and thus experience region-specific fluctuation. Note, according to equation (2.33), unemployment does not affect firms' decision for a particular region. Higher unemployment may imply a larger pool of workers to choose from and thus makes firms more likely to locate here. But higher unemployment rates are usually associated with an unfavorable structure of the unemployed. For example, an above average fraction of long term unemployed. Further, high unemployment may be an indicator for regions in economic crisis which may lead to a lower quality of public service (see Blanchard/Katz 1992). Hence, it is assumed that firms are reluctant to locate in an area with high unemployment.

Following Jimeno/Bentolila (1998), absolute regional wages $w_{i,t}$, are assumed to depend on national wages \overline{w}_t and both regional as well as national unemployment. Hence, the regional wage equation is given by:

$$w_{i,t} = f\overline{w}_t - c_A \overline{u} r_t - c_B u r_{i,t}$$
(2.34)

where $\overline{u}r_t$ denotes the national unemployment rate and $ur_{i,t}$ is the absolute regional unemployment rate. The response of wages to an increase in unemployment that is evenly distributed across regions corresponds to $-(c_A + c_R)$. If only regional unemployment increases while national unemployment remains constant, then

regional wages decrease by c_R . Thus c_R is a measure of regional wage flexibility. The wage setting equation on the national level is given by $\overline{w}_t = -c_N \overline{u} r_t$. The wage flexibility at the national level c_N is related to $(c_A + c_R)/(1-f)$. The difference of wage flexibility at the national and the regional level is given by the dependence of regional wages on national wages and unemployment. This dependence may stem from an attempt by unions to set similar wages in all regions, or a geographically decentralized bargaining system where relative wages matter (see Jimeno/Bentolila 1998). Relative regional wages are given by:

$$\tilde{w}_{i,t} = -c_R \tilde{u} r_{i,t} \tag{2.35}$$

Higher relative regional unemployment leads to lower relative wages depending only on regional wage flexibility.

According to Blanchard/Katz (1992), it is appropriate to assume that changes in the labor force are mainly driven by migration and participation decisions and not by differences in the regions' natural population growth rate. Therefore, movements in the regional labor force are formalized as:

$$n_{i,t+1}^{*} - n_{i,t}^{*} = b_{p} W_{i,t} - g_{p} u r_{i,t} - v_{i,t+1} + b_{M} (W_{i,t} - \overline{W}_{t}) - g_{M} (u r_{i,t} - \overline{u} r_{t}) + x_{si} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}^{s}$$
(2.36)

The first three terms on the right hand-side capture participation decisions, the remaining ones capture migration flows. It is assumed that participation depends positively on regional wage levels and negatively on regional unemployment rates. Furthermore, shocks to participation $v_{i,t}$ are assumed to affect the participation decision. Migration is assumed to depend on relative regional wages and unemployment rates. The drift term x_{si} reflects regional amenities affecting migration. $\mathcal{E}_{i,t+1}^{s}$ captures transitory movements in exogenous migration. Interregional migration only affects a region's labor force but not its national counterpart. This assumption implies that migration from foreign countries is negligible. Therefore, it is assumed that changes in the national labor force \overline{n}_{t}^{*} only arise because of participation decisions:

$$\overline{n}_{t+1}^* - \overline{n}_t^* = b_p \overline{w}_t - g_p \overline{u} r_t + \overline{v}_{t+1}$$
(2.37)

Using equations (2.36) and (2.37) changes in the regional relative labor force are given by:

$$\tilde{n}_{i,t+1}^* - \tilde{n}_{i,t}^* = (b_\rho + b_M)\tilde{w}_{i,t} - (g_\rho + g_M)\tilde{u}r_{i,t} + \tilde{v}_{i,t+1} + x_{si} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}^s$$
(2.38)

Using equations (2.32), (2.33) (2.35) and (2.38) one can solve for the paths of relative wages, relative unemployment and relative growth of the labor force:

$$\tilde{u}r_{i,t+1} = \varphi \tilde{u}r_{i,t} + \frac{d}{d+c_R} (\tilde{v}_{i,t+1} + x_{si} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}^s) - \frac{1}{d+c_R} (x_{di} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}^d)$$
(2.39)

$$\tilde{W}_{i,t+1} = \varphi \tilde{W}_{i,t} - \frac{dc_R}{d+c_R} (\tilde{V}_{i,t+1} + x_{si} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}^s) + \frac{c_R}{d+c_R} (x_{di} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}^d)$$
(2.40)

$$\tilde{n}_{i,t+1}^{*} - \tilde{n}_{i,t}^{*} = \varphi(\tilde{n}_{i,t}^{*} - \tilde{n}_{i,t-1}^{*}) + \tilde{v}_{i,t+1} - \left(1 - \frac{a}{d + c_{R}}\right) \tilde{v}_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}^{s} - \left(1 - \frac{a}{d + c_{R}}\right) \varepsilon_{i,t}^{s}$$

$$+ \frac{a}{d + c_{R}} x_{si} + \frac{c_{R}(b_{P} + b_{M}) + (g_{P} + g_{M})}{d + c_{P}} (x_{di} + \varepsilon_{i,t+1}^{d})$$
(2.41)

The speed of adjustment is determined by:

$$\varphi = 1 - \frac{dc_{R}(b_{P} + b_{M}) + d(g_{P} + g_{M}) + ac_{R}}{d + c_{R}}$$
(2.42)

Any reasonable depiction of the adjustment process suggests that φ is positive. The persistence of shocks increases with the size of φ . Note, that shocks to labor supply and labor demand have opposite implications regarding initial responses of relative wages and unemployment. An underlying positive drift x_{di} in labor demand leads to a positive relative trend in employment, higher than average wages and lower than average unemployment. An underlying positive drift in relative labor supply x_{is} leads to a positive relative trend in employment, lower than average wages and higher than average unemployment. Hence, differences in the regional amenities lead to permanent differences in growth rates.

An adverse labor demand shock increases unemployment and decreases wages. This causes a rise in net out-migration of workers and net in-migration of firms. Over time, labor and firm mobility lead to a decline in unemployment and an increase in wages until they return to normal. However, employment is permanently affected. Where the employment level ends up, depends on the speed at which workers and firms adjust to changes in wages and unemployment. But while both high unemployment and lower wages lead to labor migration, only lower wages influence a firms decision to locate. Thus, the larger the initial decline in demand is reflected in unemployment rather than wages, the larger the long-run effect of adverse employment shocks. The answer of relative wages to a labor demand shock depends on the regional wage elasticity. If the regional wage elasticity is small,

adjustment mainly occurs through the migration of workers and not the creation of new jobs.

2.2.3 Autoregressive processes and impulse response analysis

Several studies examine the effects of a region-specific labor market shock in an univariate framework. To do this, they investigate the mean reversion behavior of relative regional labor market variables using autoregressive (AR) models. Let \tilde{x}_t denote the relative regional variable of interest. A simple first order AR model for the relative regional variable \tilde{x}_t is given by:

$$\tilde{X}_{t} = \alpha + \beta \tilde{X}_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{t} \tag{2.43}$$

The coefficient β provides information about the persistent behavior of shocks. This model can be estimated for each region separately to examine the mean reversion behavior of a particular region. However, usually the interest is not in the reaction of a certain region, but the response of the representative region to a shock. For this purpose, regions are pooled which leads to a panel AR(1) model of the following form:

$$\tilde{X}_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta \tilde{X}_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t} \tag{2.44}$$

The constant α_i can be interpreted as a regional fixed effect to account for regional heterogeneity.

Blanchard/Katz (1992) specify a AR(4) model for relative regional employment growth rates covering the time period from 1952 to 1990 for US states. For unemployment, only a shorter time period is available covering the years from 1974 to 1990. Therefore, an AR(2) model is applied for relative regional unemployment rates. The pooled regression for relative regional employment growth shows that an employment shock has persistent effects on the number of employees. A one percent shock to the employment growth rate leads to a permanent increase of the employment level by 1.5 percent. This pattern can also be found for almost every of the 51 US states. For the relative unemployment rate, the pooled model indicates that five years after a shock, the effect of the shock falls to 29 percent. After ten years, the deviations between regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate return back to their initial values. The estimates for each state separately show that the adjustment process takes between six to ten years. Decressin/Fatás (1995) examine adjustment processes for US States and NUTS1 regions in Europe. They run a pooled AR(2) model for relative regional employment growth rates (time period: 1966 to 1987) and relative regional unemployment rates (time period: Europe 1966 to 1987, US 1970 to 1990). Their results are in line with Blanchard/Katz (1992). A region-specific shock in employment growth has a permanent effect on the employment level. The effects appear much stronger for the US than for Europe. In addition, for the relative regional unemployment rates, it is shown that region-specific shocks are less persistent in Europe than in the US. It takes four years until the relative regional unemployment rates return back to their initial value while it takes up to ten years in the US. These results appear surprising because regional unemployment is usually considered more persistent in Europe compared to the US. However, based on the results of a pooled AR(2) model for absolute unemployment rates, Decressin/Fatás (1995) conclude that in Europe common shocks have persistent effects while region-specific shocks only have transitory effects.

Bayer/Jüßen (2007) investigate the adjustment process after a region-specific shock on regional unemployment rates for West German federal states for the time period 1960 to 2002. They use a pooled AR(1) model allowing for fixed effects. According to their results, the half-life of a shock is between five to six years. This is in line with their finding based on the test by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) (see section 2.1.2).

Kunz (2012) specifies a pooled AR(2) model for relative regional unemployment rates of West German federal states for the time period 1989 to 2004. Additionally, results for districts are presented for the same time period. To overcome the so called Nickell bias (see Nickell 1981) of the lest square dummy variable (LSDV) estimator in a dynamic panel framework,¹⁰ the biascorrected LSDV estimator provided by Bruno (2005) is used for the AR(2) model. After a one deviation shock, it takes between four and five years for federal states before the relative regional unemployment rate returns back to its initial value. To compare the results to those by Decressin/Fatás (1995) for Europe, he re-estimates the AR(2) model for German federal states for the time period 1966 to 1987. The results are similar to both the findings for the time period 1989 to 2004 and the findings provided by Decressin/Fatás (1995) for Europe. The smaller districts appear to react more sensitively to a region-specific shock. It takes about seven years until a shock on relative regional unemployment rates cancels out. These results indicate that the half-life of a region-specific shock is about two to three years for federal states and districts. In both cases, the half-

¹⁰ The problem of the LSDV estimator in a dynamic panel framework is discussed in more detail in section 5.1.4.

life of a shock is longer than the predicted half-life by the test by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) (see section 2.1.2). One reason might be that the results are sensitive to the selection of the lag structure.

Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) apply a pooled Dickey-Fuller regression corresponding to equation (2.25), to investigate the mean reversion behavior of relative regional employment rates for US states. They estimate different forms of this regression allowing for different deterministic terms such as fixed effects and trends. To account for the Nickell bias, Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) develop a biascorrected estimator for the Dickey-Fuller regression. Their findings suggest that the adjustment process after a region-specific employment shock is only weak and sluggish. Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) argue that much of the labor market dynamics of US states found by earlier studies occurs due to measurement errors in the Census series for state level labor force variables and short time series.

2.2.4 The empirical framework by Blanchard/Katz (1992)

Regional labor market adjustment after a labor demand shock and labor market mobility are closely connected. Suppose a region is hit by a negative labor demand shock. A person who loses his or her job can either remain unemployed in his or her area of residence, exit the labor force or move to another area. Vice versa, if there is an increase in regional labor demand, the new jobs can be either filled by unemployed people, people out of the labor force or people who move into the region. Hence, changes in employment can be decomposed into changes in unemployment, changes in labor force participation and changes in population due to migration. Of course, reasons for changes in the working age population can either be triggered by natural changes or migration. Blanchard/ Katz (1992) point out that the differences in employment growth across regions predominantly result from migration, rather than natural population growth. Hence, it appears appropriate to assume that changes of the population after an regional employment shock occur due to migration and to consider migration as the corresponding adjustment mechanism. Therefore, the mobility of labor between these different labor market states is the main adjustment channel after regional labor market shocks. It is also possible to derive this relationship based on the employment rate in the following way (see, for example, Rowthorn/Glyn 2006 or Fredriksson 1999):

What do we know about the evolution of regional labor market disparities?

employment rate =
$$\frac{\text{employment}}{\text{population}}$$
 (2.45)
= $\frac{\text{labor force}}{\text{population}} \times \frac{\text{employment}}{\text{labor force}}$
= $\frac{\text{labor force}}{\text{population}} \times \left(1 - \frac{\text{unemployment}}{\text{labor force}}\right)$
= participation rate × (1 – unemployment rate)

Rearranging equation (2.45) leads to the following identity for employment:

 $employment = (1 - unemployment rate) \times participation rate \times population (2.46)$

An empirical model to analyze the adjustment dynamics after a labor market shock must be able to get a complete characterization of the flows of these different labor market states. Furthermore, possible feedback effects between these factors should be taken into account.

In their seminal paper, Blanchard/Katz (1992) suggest a vector autoregressive (VAR) model to explore the strength of these different adjustment mechanisms. The VAR is specified for the employment growth rate (γ^n), the logarithm of the labor force employment rate (*le*), which corresponds to the ratio between employment and the labor force, and the logarithm of the participation rate (*pr*). All variables enter the VAR measured as relative regional variables to trace the effects of a region-specific employment shock. The VAR takes the form:

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n} = \alpha_{i10} + \alpha_{i11}(L)\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t-1}^{n} + \alpha_{i12}(L)\tilde{l}e_{i,t-1} + \alpha_{i13}(L)\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}^{n}$$
(2.47)

$$\tilde{l}e_{i,t} = \alpha_{i20} + \alpha_{i21}(L)\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n} + \alpha_{i22}(L)\tilde{l}e_{i,t-1} + \alpha_{i23}(L)\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}^{le}$$
(2.48)

$$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t} = \alpha_{i30} + \alpha_{i31}(L)\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n} + \alpha_{i32}(L)\tilde{l}e_{i,t-1} + \alpha_{i33}(L)\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}^{\rho r}$$
(2.49)

where α refers to the coefficients, (*L*) denotes the lag structure and error terms are denoted by $\varepsilon_{i,t}^n$, $\varepsilon_{i,t}^{le}$ and $\varepsilon_{i,t}^{pr}$.

Because of the lag structure of the VAR, current changes in $\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^n$ are allowed to affect $\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t}$ and $\tilde{\ell}e_{i,t}$ but not vice versa. Blanchard/Katz (1992) motivate this specification by the identification assumption that unexpected innovations in employment $\varepsilon_{i,t}^n$ reflect movements in labor demand and not movements in labor supply. Therefore, the specification of the VAR excludes the possibility of current changes in employment due to labor supply factors.

Furthermore, note that the unemployment rate does not enter the VAR model directly. According to equation (2.45), the relationship between the unemployment

rate ur_i and the labor force employment rate le_i can be described so that $\log le_i = \log(1 - ur_i) \approx -ur_i$. Blanchard/Katz (1992) use this relationship to deduce the evolution of the unemployment rate from the evolution of the labor force employment rate.

Also migration does not enter the VAR as a separate variable. In this specification of the VAR, migration represents a residual variable. This means changes in employment which can neither be explained by changes in unemployment nor changes in labor force participation are attributed to changes in migration.

The VAR can be estimated separately for each region. But usually the primary concern is the response of the representative region to a region-specific labor demand shock. For this purpose, all regions are pooled together in the VAR. To allow for fixed effects, the VAR is usually augmented by region-specific constant terms in each equation.

Blanchard/Katz (1992) investigate the adjustment process after a labor demand shock for US states. Their time series covers the period 1976 to 1990. They do pooled estimation of the VAR by pooling the states within Census divisions and by pooling all US states together. This leads to a so called panel vector autoregressive (PVAR) model. For each variable in the PVAR, two lags were allowed.

The results presented in Blanchard/Katz (1992) suggest that a one period downturn of employment by one percent, leads to a permanent effect on the employment level. Four years after the labor demand shock, the employment level is two percentage points below its initial value. Afterwards, the effect of the labor demand shock diminishes. But in the long run, the employment level remains 1.3 percentage points below its initial value. In the first year, the decline in employment is reflected in a change of the unemployment rate of 0.32 percentage points and a change in the participation rate of 0.17 percentage points. After the first year, migration accounts for 52 percent of the change in regional employment because of the shock. This means that a decrease in relative regional employment by 100 workers, leads to an increase in unemployment by 30 workers and a decrease in the participation of 5 workers in the initial year. This implies that net out-migration increases by 65 workers. By five to seven years, the participation rate as well as the unemployment rate return back to their initial values. Thereafter, the response of the change in employment consists entirely of the migration of workers. These results indicate that for US states, labor mobility is the dominant adjustment mechanism.

The framework introduced by Blanchard/Katz (1992) was adopted in numerous studies. The adjustment processes after a region-specific labor demand shock was investigated by Decressin/Fatás (1995) and Tani (2003) for Europe, by Jimeno/ Bentolila (1998) for Spain, by Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002a) for Finland, by Kunz

(2012) for West Germany, by Leonardi (2004) for Italy, by Montalvo (2006) for the Philippines, by Kawagoe (2004) for Japan, by Debelle/Vickery (1998) for Australia, and by Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) for New Zealand. Note, that whereas Blanchard/ Katz (1992) simulate a negative employment shock, some of the studies cited above examine the effects of a positive labor demand shock. Because the studies make the implicit assumption that negative and positive labor demand shocks operate symmetrically, the results can easily be compared.

Decressin/Fatás (1995) investigate regional labor market dynamics on the NUTS1 level in Europe and compare the results to those obtained for the US states. The time series covers the period from 1975 to 1987 for Europe and the period from 1976 to 1990 for the US. A one standard deviation shock in regional employment raises the regional employment level permanently by 1.61 percentage points in Europe and by 1.44 percentage points in the US. Note, that the results of the other studies reviewed in this section also suggest that a labor demand shock has a permanent effect on the regional employment level. The size of a typical labor demand shock is quite similar for the US and Europe. But in the long run, the effect is stronger in the US than in Europe. Further, differences arise from the contribution of participation and migration in the adjustment process. In the year of the shock, the participation rate increases by 1.20 percentage points and the unemployment rates decreases by 0.35 percentage points in Europe. In contrast, the findings suggest that in the US, the participation rate only increases by 0.26 percentage points and the unemployment rate decreases by 0.43 percentage points. In Europe, an increase in the labor force participation rate accounts for most of the rise in employment due to a labor demand shock in the first three years. Only then does migration account for a similar proportion of the change in employment as in the US.

The minor role of migration as an adjustment mechanism in Europe compared to the US might occur because people are reluctant to migrate across countries in Europe. But this does not imply that people are also reluctant to migrate within their countries. Hence, Decressin/Fatás (1995) present additional analysis for West Germany, Italy and the UK. Even on the national level, labor force participation still appears to be the main adjustment mechanism in the short run. The role of unemployment is negligible for the UK and West Germany. Migration does not react much in the first three years after the shock except in West Germany.

However, the results provided in Tani (2003) for European regions largely differ from the findings by Decressin/Fatás (1995). While Decressin/Fatás (1995) combine data from different sources, the analysis in Tani (2003) is based on data from the Eurostat's Labour Force Survey. This assures that the data builds on internationally comparable definitions and methodology. Tani (2003) presents results for a panel of 166 regions and the 51 regions used in Decressin/Fatás (1995). The time series covers the period from 1988 to 1997. For the sample of 166 regions a one percent labor demand shock reduces the unemployment rate by 0.21 percentage points and increases the participation rate by 0.32 percentage points. This means 47 percent of the response to the employment shock can be attributed to migration. For the sample of 51 regions, the contribution of migration to the adjustment process in the initial year is 54 percent and, hence, even higher and clearly exceeds the value of four percent found by Decressin/Fatás (1995). The labor demand shock has no long-lasting effects on the unemployment rate and the participation rate. For both regional samples, it only takes three or four years until both variables return back to their initial values. Tani (2003) concludes that also in Europe migration represents the most important short-run adjustment channel. European workers appear much more mobile than usually assumed. Unfortunately, because of the different time periods, it is not possible to detect whether the different findings by Decressin/Fatás (1995) and Tani (2003) result from more mobile workers in the 1990s compared to the 1980s, or the new data source. That results could be sensitive in terms of the choice of the data source is suggested by Rowthorn/Glyn (2006). They argue that due to measurement errors and biases in their employment data sample, Blanchard/ Katz (1992) overestimated the role of migration in the adjustment process.

The results by Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002a) for Finland and Leonardi (2004) for Italy are in line with the findings in Decressin/Fatás (1995). For Italy, as well as for Finland, labor force participation appears to be the most important adjustment mechanism in the early stage of the shock.

Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002a) present results for eleven Finnish provinces from 1976 to 2000. In the first year of a region-specific labor demand shock, 64.8 percent of the shock is absorbed by changes in labor force participation and 27.3 percent by changes in unemployment. In the short run, migration only plays a minor role in the adjustment process but becomes more and more important in the long run. Pekkala/ Kangasharju (2002a) also present results for adjustment processes on the regional level after an aggregate labor demand shock. In contrast to a region-specific labor demand shock, a nationwide labor demand shock has a long-lasting but not permanent effect on the employment level. The employment level returns back to its initial value after twelve years. Furthermore, the findings suggest that the role of the adjustment channels differs between region-specific and nationwide shocks. In the first year, more than 62.9 percent of a nationwide shock is absorbed by the unemployment rate and even ten years after the shock, the unemployment rate accounts for more than 60 percent of the response to the shock. About one third of the shock is absorbed by labor force participation. In the short run as well as in the long run, migration only plays a minor role in the adjustment process. Compared to a region-specific shock, a nationwide shock seems to have long-lasting effects on the unemployment rate and the participation rate. After a region-specific shock, it takes four years for the unemployment rate and about six to seven years for the participation rate until the effect of the shock disappears. In the case of a nationwide shock, it takes up to eleven years until the two variables reach their initial values.

Leonardi (2004) examines 20 Italian regions during 1960 to 1999. His findings are very similar to the results by Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002a). In the first year, more than 60 percent of the shock is absorbed by the participation rate and more than 30 percent by the unemployment rate. The effect of the shock on participation and unemployment is very persistent. Even after 15 years, the unemployment rate and the participation rate have not reached their initial values. Hence, migration does not appear to be a sufficient adjustment mechanism within Italy. These results are in line with the findings by Decressin/Fatás (1995) for Italy.

In contrast, Jimeno/Bentolila (1998) identify migration as the most important adjustment mechanism after a region-specific labor demand shock for Spain. Jimeno/Bentolila (1998) examine 18 regions in Spain. Their time series covers the period 1976 to 1994. In the fist year, migration already absorbs 41 percent of the shock, followed by the unemployment rate with 36 percent and the participation rate with 23 percent. As in the Italian case, the shock shows persistent effects on participation and unemployment. It takes more than 15 years until the unemployment rate and the participation rate return back to their initial values. Jimeno/Bentolila (1998) conclude that in the Spanish case, the response of participation due to a shock is small compared to Europe, and the response of migration is small compared to the US. However, unemployment bears a significant fraction of the adjustment process. In Spain it still accounts for about one third of the change in employment after three years.

Kunz (2012) also concludes that labor force participation only plays a minor role in the adjustment process after a labor demand shock for West German federal states. The time series covers the period from 1989 to 2004. In contrast to other studies, the results in Kunz (2012) suggest that in the short run, the main part of the shock is absorbed by the unemployment rate. A one standard deviation change of employment leads to an increase of the participation rate by 0.07 percent and a decrease of the unemployment rate by 0.28 percent. This means that in the initial year of the shock, the unemployment rate accounts for 52 percent of the shock, migration for 34 percent and the participation rate for 14 percent. The effect of the shock on the unemployment rate and the participation rate appears to be only transitory. Already one year after the shock, the unemployment rate reaches its initial value while it takes two years for the participation rate. The employment level permanently remains about 0.95 percent above its initial value. This means that very soon migration becomes the main adjustment mechanism. Kunz (2012) points out that it is reasonable to assume that the adjustment behavior of small regional units differs from those of larger regional units. Migration and commuting activities between neighboring regions are usually more intense between smaller regional units. In the case of larger regional units, much of these activities take place within the area under consideration. Therefore, he also analyzes labor market adjustment for the smaller regional level of districts. The results confirm this point of view. Even in the first year, migration absorbs 84 percent of a region-specific shock. The response of unemployment and participation is remarkably small in the case of districts. A one standard deviation labor demand shock increases the employment level by 1.62 percent, while the unemployment rate decreases by 0.21 percentage points and the participation rate only increases by 0.05 percentage points.

The results provided by Kawagoe (2004) for Japan are very close to the findings by Decressin/Fatás (1995) for Europe. Kawagoe (2004) examines a panel of ten regions for the time period 1986 to 2003. Labor force participation absorbs the main part of a region-specific labor demand shock. It still accounts for 20 percent of the initial shock after five years. The response of unemployment is only limited and the response of migration at early stages is smaller in Japan compared to Europe. Therefore, Kawagoe (2004) concludes that labor force participation plays a lager role and migration a smaller role in Japan compared to Europe.

Montalvo (2006) examines the adjustment processes for the Philippines. His panel contains eleven regions and quarterly data from 1992 to 2002. The VAR is estimated for each region separately. In addition, results after pooling all regions in a PVAR are presented. On average, it takes almost three years for the unemployment rate and the participation rate of a Philippine region to recover. A region-specific labor demand shock of one percent is reflected in an increase of the unemployment rate by 0.32 percentage points and a reduction in the participation rate by 0.67 percentage points. In terms of a loss of 100 jobs due to a region-specific shock, this means that in the initial quarter of the shock the number of unemployed in a region increases by 8 persons, participation decreases by 47 persons and 44 workers leave the region.

The analysis of Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) for New Zealand is based on twelve regions. They use quarterly data that covers the period from the fourth quarter 1985 to the second quarter 2001. Similar to the US studies, already at an early stage, migration is the main adjustment mechanism. A one percent adverse shock to employment is associated with an initial increase of the unemployment rate of about 0.08 percentage points, whereas the participation rate decreases by 0.16 percentage points. This means that the working age population falls by 0.7 percent in the period of the shock. Expressed in terms of workers: A decrease of the number of employees by 100 workers leads to an increase of unemployment by 6 persons, a fall in the labor force by 22 persons and 71 former workers leave the region in the period of the shock.¹¹ Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) conclude that migration appears to be the primary adjustment mechanism for New Zealand.

Debelle/Vickery (1998) provide results for Australia. Their panel consists of six regions and two territories. Quarterly data is used that covers the period from second quarter 1979 to first quarter 1997. A one percent decrease of employment leads to a decrease of the participation rate by 0.4 percentage points and an increase of the unemployment rate by 0.2 percentage points. It takes four years for the participation rate and the unemployment rate to recover. Although, the shock has a permanent effect on the employment level, most of the change of employment is later reversed. Thus, in the long run, most of the adjustment occurs via migration but the overall response of migration is rather small reaching its peek three years after the shock.

2.2.5 The role of wages in the adjustment process

The theoretical model introduced in section 2.2.2 implies that the speed of adjustment should be largely driven by the response of wages to a labor demand shock. However, movements of relative regional wages after a shock induce an ambiguous effect. For example, lower wages due to an adverse shock induce net in-migration of firms and the creation of new jobs. Lower wages and higher unemployment induce net out-migration of labor. The long-run effect on employment depends on the relative strength and speed of the two effects.

The original model by Blanchard/Katz (1992) neglects the role of wages in the adjustment process. However, to trace the response of wages after an innovation in labor demand, they estimate a two variable PVAR including relative regional employment growth and regional (real manufacturing) wage differentials. To examine the effect of wage adjustment on employment, the impulse response functions are calculated in a first step based on the results of the PVAR. In a next step, the responses are recomputed but all the coefficients of the lagged wages in the employment equation were set to zero to suppress the wage feedback. Of course, this two variable PVAR allows no conclusion about the role of a wage feedback on unemployment and participation. This would require augmenting the original model by including an additional wage equation. Blanchard/Katz (1992) justify their proceeding because a four variable PVAR would lead to too few degrees of freedom. An additional wage equation would reduce the size of the sample and introduce additional right hand side variables.

¹¹ They do not sum to 100 because they are rounded to the nearest whole number (see Choy/Maré/Mawson 2002).

Comparing the response to employment with and without wage feedback, shows that in the first years after the shock, the responses do not differ very much. The wage feedback dampens the response of employment primarily in the long run. But this effect is relatively small. The findings by Blanchard/Katz (1992) suggest that without wage feedback, the employment level would end 1.6 percent below its initial value. The employment level remains permanently 1.2 percent below its initial value allowing for a wage feedback. Therefore, Blanchard/Katz (1992) conclude that there exists only a weak effect of wages on job migration and inmigration of firms.

A PVAR with an additional wage equation was examine by Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) and Leonardi (2004). Also the study by Debelle/Vickery (1999) investigates the role of wages in the adjustment process for Australia. The three studies draw the same conclusion as Blanchard/Katz (1992).

Leonardi (2004) finds that an innovation in labor demand leads to small response of relative regional wages. The effect disappears after three years. He also finds that his results are in line with Blanchard/Katz (1992) and the wage feedback has only a modest effect on the response of employment.

Debelle/Vickery (1999) use a shorter time series compared to their three variable model in Debelle/Vickery (1998) presented above. It starts in the fourth quarter of 1981. Because of data availability, also two regions were excluded from the panel. A region-specific labor demand shock leads to a rise in the unemployment rate by 0.3 percent and a decrease of the participation rate by 0.4 percent. It takes between five and four years until both variables reach their initial values again. Compared to the three variable baseline model in Debelle/Vickery (1998) the findings are very similar. The long-run out-migration is slightly smaller excluding wages.

Because of data availability, also the panel for the four variable model by Choy/ Maré/Mawson (2002) has a shorter time dimension. It covers the period from first quarter 1989 to first quarter 2001. Also their results suggest that compared to the three variable model, including wages does not alter the adjustment process much at all. There is only a small response of wages due to a labor demand shock. The wage feedback contributes only slightly to the adjustment process.

2.2.6 Further enhancement of the classical approach

The majority of the studies indicate that migration is the primary adjustment mechanism even in the short run. But in the VAR framework, migration is only a residual variable. Already Blanchard/Katz (1992) suppose that due to the specification of the VAR in conjunction with their data base, the response of migration after a region-specific shock could be overestimated. Gros (1996) argues

that inconsistencies in the data could be the reason for the high response of migration after a region-specific labor demand shock. The findings by Rowthorn/ Glyn (2006) confirm this assumption.

Mäki-Arvela (2003) and Leonardi (2004) focus directly on the role of migration. They include migration as an additional variable into the PVAR.

The findings by Leonardi (2004) based on the PVAR including the in-migration rate (number of in-migrants in relation to the regional population), confirm the irrelevant role of migration as an adjustment mechanism for Italian regions. He further splits his sample of Italian regions into three subsamples for the North, the Center and the South of Italy. The results for the three subsamples suggest that participation is the primarily adjustment mechanism in Italy. But migration appears to be an effective adjustment mechanism in the North, while in the South and the Center strong effects on unemployment can be found.

Just as Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002a), Mäki-Arvela (2003) examines 11 Finnish regions for the time period 1976 to 1996. Migration enters the PVAR via the regional net-migration rate (number of net-migrants in relation to the regional population). His findings for the short run are very similar to the one presented in Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002a). In the first year of the shock, the main part is absorbed by the participation rate followed by the unemployment rate. However, the adjustment process appears to be slightly weaker. According to Mäki-Arvela (2003), it takes around eight to ten years until the effect of the labor demand shock disappears and the variables return back to their initial values.¹² Therefore, according to the results presented in Mäki-Arvela (2003), and Leonardi (2004) augmenting the PVAR by migration does not alter the results much.

Fredriksson (1999) points out that the lock-in effects of active labor market policy may hinder the adjustment process and migration in particular. The study discusses the role of active labor market policy (ALMP) in the adjustment process for a panel of 24 Swedish counties. The time series covers the period from 1963 to 1993. ALMP covers job creation measures and training programs. Next to employment growth, participation and unemployment, the PVAR also includes wages and the program rate. The program rate corresponds to the ratio of program participants and the labor force. A shock has only transitory effects and it takes between three and four years until unemployment, labor force participation and program participation return back to their initial values. Migration accounts for 66 percent of the response to a region-specific shock in labor demand in the first year of the shock. Two years after the shock, the permanent change in the employment level is

¹² Note, that the PVAR specified by Mäki-Arvela (2003), also includes a wage equation. However, the role of a wage feedback in the adjustment process is not examined separately.

almost completely absorbed by migration. Fredriksson (1999) concludes that labor mobility appears to be high in Sweden compared to other European countries and even the US. Furthermore, the findings suggest that response in program activity leads only to a small reduction of regular employment. Hence, the extent of ALMP to decelerate the adjustment process appears only very limited.

All studies assume that positive and negative labor demand shocks generate similar adjustment processes. There are, however, several reasons for asymmetric adjustment processes. For example, workers will accept decreasing real wages but usually not declining nominal wages. Hence, movements in real wages due to an adverse shock could be limited downward. Further, older workers who loose their jobs due to an adverse shock could choose early retirement schemes to avoid unemployment. Once they leave the labor force, they usually will not alter their participation decision after a favorable shock. Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002b) allow for the possibility that the course of the adjustment processes in terms of positive and negative region-specific shocks is asymmetric. As in Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002a), 11 Finnish regions are considered and the PVAR includes employment growth, the employment rate and the participation rate. However, the methodology introduced by Cover (1992) is applied to allow for different responses of unemployment and participation in the case of positive or negative changes in employment. Two new variables are generated that measure negative and positive changes in employment respectively. These variables enter the labor force employment rate equation and the participation rate equation of the PVAR instead of the original employment growth variable. The time series covers the period 1971 to 1997. The results by Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002b) show that the adjustment processes after negative and positive innovations in labor demand proceed surprisingly symmetric. The adjustment processes after a positive shock appears a little smoother and migration has a more delayed role in the case of a negative shock. Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002b) conclude that the effect of a change in region-specific labor demand is more or less independent of the direction of the shock.

2.2.7 When will things return to normal after a regional labor demand shock?

The univariate approaches examining regional unemployment dynamics after a region-specific shock show that the time until the relative regional unemployment rate returns back to its initial value, varies across countries. It takes up to ten years in the US, while the time horizon is about four years in Europe. Bayer/Jüßen (2007) and Kunz (2012) come to similar results for West German federal states where it takes around five years until a region-specific shock settles down. This means that economic disturbances seem to have more persistent effects on the evolution of

regional unemployment disparities in the US compared to Europe. This result is somewhat surprising because the labor market in the US is usually considered as more flexible than the European labor market. However, these results are in line with the findings by Eichengreen (1993) based on an error correction model. He also finds that it takes longer in the US compared to the UK and Italy until the regional labor market equilibria is restored.

The same holds for regional employment. The effect of a region-specific shock on the regional employment growth rate appears to be much stronger in the US compared to Europe. Also the findings by Rowthorn/Glyn (2006) for regional employment rates in the US suggest that the adjustment process after a regionspecific shock is only weak.

In contrast, most of the studies following the multivariate framework provided by Blanchard/Katz (1992) taking interactions between different labor market variables into account, find that it takes three to four years until the unemployment rate and the participation rate return back to their initial values after a region-specific labor demand shock. The findings by Blanchard/Katz (1992) and Decressin/Fatás (1995) for the US indicate that it takes five to seven years until the effect of an innovation in labor demand on the unemployment rate and the participation rate cancels out. Countries where a labor demand shock has persistent effects on unemployment and participation, are usually located in Europe. For example, the results by Leonardi (2004) for Italy and Jimeno/Bentolila (1998) for Spain show that even 15 years after a region-specific shock, the unemployment rate as well as the participation rate have not yet returned to their initial values. Also in the case of Finland, the adjustment of unemployment and participation appears to be rather sluggish. In contrast, Kunz (2012) finds that for West Germany, the effect of a labor demand shock on the unemployment rate and the participation rate is only of very short duration. Already one to two years after a shock, both variables reach their initial values.

The majority of the existing studies find that migration becomes a more and more important adjustment mechanism in the long run. The only exception is the case of Italy. Here, even in the long run, migration only plays a minor role. According to the findings by Leonardi (2004), the regions in southern and central Italy are responsible for this result. However, for a number of countries like New Zealand, the Philippines, Spain, Sweden and the US, already in early stages does migration account for most of the changes in employment due to a labor demand shock.

Decressin/Fatás (1995) conclude that participation is the most important adjustment channel in the short run in Europe. However, the results presented by Tani (2003) contradict the findings by Decressin/Fatás (1995). Tani (2003) identifies migration as the most important adjustment mechanism even in the short run. But

also the country specific studies show mixed results. The studies by Mäki-Arvela (2003) and Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002a) for Finland confirm results by Decressin/Fatás (1995) as well as the findings by Leonardi (2004) for Italy. According to Fredriksson (1999) and Jimeno/Bentolila (1998), migration is the most important adjustment mechanism at an early stage for Sweden and Spain respectively. In contrast, Kunz (2012) finds for West German federal states, that unemployment absorbs the main part of the shock in the short run.

Studies which examine the role of wages during the adjustment process find that the effect of wages is only very modest. In general, the wage feedback does not prevent an increase in unemployment and hardly affects the response of relative regional employment. According to the theoretical model, the role of wages in the adjustment process is twofold. However, empirical analysis also fail to shed light on this issue. Blanchard/Katz (1992) conclude for the US, that the decline in wages does not trigger job-in-migration or job creation but leads to out-migration of labor. Also the findings by Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) for New Zealand indicate that the wage feedback leads to a rise in the response of migration. In contrast, the results by Debelle/Vickery (1999) for Australia and Leonardi (2004) for Italy suggest that the effect of wage feedback on the migration dynamics is negligible. The role of the wage feedback remains something of a puzzle.

As the existing literature shows, the response of unemployment, participation and migration after a region-specific labor demand shock varies across countries. Hence, differences in the labor market institutions seem to influence the adjustment process after a region-specific shock. However, it should be kept in mind that the comparability of the existing studies is limited due to the different size of the regions under consideration. As Fredriksson (1999), Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002), and Kunz (2012) point out, it seems natural that labor mobility should play a greater role in the case of smaller regions compared to larger regions. The results by Kunz (2012) for West German federal states and West German districts are in accordance with this point of view.

Chapter 3

3 New insights into the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in Germany

Between 2005 and 2009, the number of unemployed in Germany as well as the German unemployment rate decreased by almost one third. Nevertheless, regional unemployment disparities are still present and very persistent within Germany. There are regions that have unemployment rates corresponding to full employment, whereas other regions are marked by deep labor market problems. The aim of this chapter is to answer the following questions: Are regional unemployment disparities in Germany still as pronounced as in the past? Is it reasonable to expect regional unemployment disparities in Germany to rise or to decline? Therefore, this chapter examines the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in Germany and tests the hypothesis of convergence for German regional unemployment rates.

Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998), Möller (1995), Bayer/Jüßen (2007), and most recently Kunz (2012) test the hypothesis of convergence for unemployment rates of West German federal states. Convergence analysis for Germany as a whole is still missing two decades after reunification. Hence, this chapter examines the evolution of regional unemployment rates for Germany as a whole including West and East Germany. Furthermore, to assure comparability with the previous studies, this chapter also focuses on federal states and additionally presents results for West Germany separately.

The literature review provided in chapter 2, shows that there are several concepts of convergence. However, they do not entail each other. The cross-sectional approach and the time series approach to convergence differ in the assumption about the origin of regional labor market disparities and in their point of view about the convergence process. The appropriate choice of a concept of convergence depends on whether regional labor markets in Germany are best described by transition dynamics, or whether the evolution of regional unemployment disparities are mainly driven by changes in the economic climate and economic disturbances. Otherwise, the results might be misleading. Martin (1997) and Gray (2004) follow the cross-sectional approach and the time series approach to convergence and provide a comprehensive picture about the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in the UK. However, such a comprehensive analysis is still missing for Germany. Hence, this chapter follows Martin (1997) and Gray (2004) and does not solely focus on one concept of convergence, but investigates different approaches to convergence.

Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) follow different cross-sectional approaches to convergence. They provide results for the hypothesis of σ -convergence. Furthermore, they follow the distribution approach to convergence by investigating the degree

of rank-order stability of regional unemployment rates. The time series in Baddeley/ Martin/Tyler (1998) starts in the mid 1980s and already ends in mid 1990s. This chapter updates the findings by Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998). Moreover, it provides results for the concept of β -convergence.

In contrast to Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998), Möller (1995), Bayer/Jüßen (2007), and Kunz (2012) examine the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. As shown in section 2.1.2, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence can be tested by examining whether relative regional variables follow a stationary process. Section 2.2.1 discusses the three different ways provided in the literature to calculate relative regional variables (differences, ratios and β -differences). These approaches differ in the assumption about the appropriate relationship between the regional variable and its national counterpart. According to Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998), the assumption about the shape of the long-run relationship between the regional variable and its national counterpart is not trivial and might influence the results. However, it is not clear in which way the results are affected by this assumption and, therefore, how sensitive or robust the results are in terms of this assumption. To get an impression about this aspect, this section provides results for all three measures of relative regional unemployment rates.

The studies cited above use first generation panel unit root tests and find evidence for the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. However, the literature shows that the results from first generation panel unit root tests might be misleading if the assumption of cross-sectional independence does not hold (see, for example, O'Connell 1998 and Baltagi/Bresson/Pirotte 2007). This chapter investigates the role of cross-sectional dependence in more detail. The tests for cross-sectional dependence provided by Pesaran (2004) and Ng (2006) show that (West) German relative regional unemployment rates exhibit cross-sectional dependence. Therefore, a second generation panel unit root test needs to be applied to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence to take this into account. Here, the test procedure suggested by Bai/Ng (2004) is used.

The remainder of this chapter is as follows. The first section provides some stylized facts about the evolution of regional unemployment in Germany. Section 3.2 provides results for the cross-sectional approach to convergence. This section investigates the concepts of β -convergence and σ -convergence as well as the distributional approach to convergence. Section 3.4 introduces the tests for cross-sectional dependence suggested by Pesaran (2004) and Ng (2006) and provides the results of these two tests. Section 3.3 rewrites the concept of stochastic convergence in terms of regional unemployment rates. Additionally, this section investigates the relationship between regional unemployment rates and the (West) German average using the cyclical sensitivity model introduced in

section 2.2.1. Section 3.5 introduces and discuses the second generation panel unit root test suggested by Bai/Ng (2004) and presents the findings of the test for the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. The final section concludes.

3.1 Trends in German regional unemployment

Data on unemployment rates of German federal states are official figures provided by the German Federal Employment Agency and measured in annual averages. Annual averaged unemployment rates are used instead of quarterly or monthly data to avoid seasonal effects. The unemployment time series for West German federal states covers the period from 1968 to 2009. The time series for East Germany starts in 1991 after German reunification and also ends in 2009. For the analysis here, two datasets were constructed. One for the West German federal states excluding Berlin and covering the period from 1968 to 2009, and one for all German federal states including both West and East Germany covering the shorter time period from 1991 to 2009.



Figure 3.1 reveals a number of stylized facts about the evolution of German unemployment rates. First, West German unemployment rates show an upward trend during the last four decades. The West German unemployment rate increased from 1.6 percent in 1968, to 7.8 percent in 2009. Secondly, in (East) Germany, a positive trend in unemployment is observable since 1991. Furthermore, the unemployment rate shows strong cyclical behavior. For example, the effects of the first oil crisis in 1973 and the second oil crisis in 1979 or the recession followed after German reunification in the mid 1990s can be easily identified.

From 1968 until 2005, after every slump or recession, the unemployment rate reached a new maximum. The German unemployment rate reached its highest value in 2005 with 13.0 percent. During an economic boom, the unemployment rate decreased but remained on a higher level each time compared to the previous boom. This pattern held for 40 years. However, it changed in 2007. In this year, Germany reported an unemployment rate of 10.1 percent, 0.2 percentage points lower compared to the one in 2001.



Figure 3.2: Evolution of regional unemployment rates in West Germany, 1968-2009

Figure 3.2 and figure 3.3 show the evolution of regional unemployment rates for West German federal states and East German federal states. Regional unemployment rates are considerably higher in East Germany than in West Germany. However, figure 3.2 also shows that within West Germany, the federal states in the South perform better than those in the North.



Figure 3.3: Evolution of regional unemployment rates in East Germany, 1991-2009

In 1968, the lowest unemployment rates can be found in Baden-Wuerttemberg (0.4 percent) and the city state of Hamburg (0.9 percent). The federal states with the highest unemployment rates were Saarland (3.1 percent), Bavaria (2.2 percent), and Lower Saxony (2.1 percent). In 2009, Bavaria was the federal state in Germany with the lowest unemployment rate (5.5 percent), followed by Baden-Wuerttemberg with 5.7 percent. The federal states with the highest unemployment rates in 2009 were all located in East Germany. They were Berlin (16.4 percent), followed by Mecklenburg-West Pomerania (14.9 percent), and Saxony-Anhalt (14.8 percent). The highest unemployment rates among the West Germany federal states in 2009 were reported by the both cities Bremen (13.1 percent) and Hamburg (10.0 percent) followed by North Rhine-Westphalia (9.9 percent).

That city states experience higher unemployment compared to the territorial states is usually considered as a common feature of the labor market. However, figure 3.2 shows that this was not always the case. In 1968, the unemployment rate of Hamburg was below the West German average. Further, Saarland, Bavaria, and Lower Saxony reported higher unemployment rates in 1968 than Bremen.

Figure 3.2 and figure 3.3 show that there has been a great similarity across the federal states in terms of the evolution of their unemployment rates, mirroring the trend and the cyclical behavior of the national unemployment rate. However, regional unemployment rates have not moved in strict unison. For example, Bavaria and Saarland were the two federal states with the highest unemployment rates in 1968. In 2009 Bavaria had the lowest unemployment rate among the German federal states and Saarland reported an unemployment rate near the West German average. In contrast to the West German federal states, the cyclical behavior of the unemployment rates of East German federal states appears to be weaker. Especially in the city state of Berlin, the trend behavior of the unemployment rate seems to mask cyclical effects.

The evolution of regional unemployment rates considered in figure 3.2 and figure 3.3 is driven by both common or national movements as well as region-specific movements. To shed more light on the region-specific evolution of regional unemployment rates, it is necessary to annihilate the common part of these absolute regional unemployment rates. Hence, relative regional unemployment rates are calculated. They should only reflect the region-specific movements of regional unemployment rates. The literature provides two simple ways to calculate relative regional unemployment rates. Let ur_i denote the regional unemployment rate and \overline{ur} its national counterpart. One possibility to calculate regional unemployment rates is in terms of differentials between regional and national rate:

$$ur_i - \overline{u}r = \alpha_i \tag{3.1}$$

If α_i is zero, the regional unemployment rate parallels the national unemployment rate. A positive (negative) sign for the relative regional unemployment rate means that the absolute regional unemployment rate is above (below) the national average. An alternative way to define a measure for relative regional unemployment rates is in terms of the ratio between each region's rate and the average national rate:

$$\frac{ur_i}{\overline{ur}} = \beta_i \tag{3.2}$$

According to this definition, the regional unemployment rate corresponds to the national unemployment rate if β_i takes the value of one. If β_i is lower than one, the absolute regional unemployment rate is below the national average and vice versa. Furthermore, an equal absolute change in ur_i and $\overline{u}r$ does not affect α_i but β_i . In contrast, an equal relative change in the regional and the national rate affects α_i but not β_i . Therefore, using relative regional unemployment rates measured as differences or ratios, might lead to different pictures for region-specific movements of regional unemployment rates.

Figure 3.4 shows the relationship between regional unemployment rates and the West German unemployment rates over time. Indeed, until the 1990s, the evolution of relative regional unemployment rates measured as differentials and ratios shows clear differences.



In the late 1960s and the 1970s, the unemployment rate was very low in West Germany. Therefore, also relative regional unemployment rate differentials were low. However, the results for ratios between regional unemployment rates and the West German unemployment rate indicate that there were notable relative differences between the West German unemployment rate and the unemployment rates in the federal states during this period. Until the early 1980s, there is only little movement in relative regional differentials. The exceptions are Baden-Wuerttemberg and Saarland. In contrast, much more movement is observable for relative regional ratios. For most of the West German federal states, the relative difference between regional unemployment rates and the West German unemployment rate decreased. Hence, the development of regional unemployment rates and the West German unemployment rate until the 1980s was characterized by similar absolute changes rather than similar relative changes. From the 1990s until the end of the observation period, the development of the two measures for relative regional unemployment rates was very similar.

Regional unemployment rates share trend and cyclical behavior with the West German unemployment rate. However, figure 3.4 shows that next to such common movements, also region-specific movements affect the evolution of regional unemployment rates. For example, both measures indicate an acceleration of unemployment growth compared to the West German average for the city states of Hamburg and Bremen in the early 1980s. The relative regional unemployment rate for Bremen permanently remained on a higher level compared to the 1970s. In contrast, for Hamburg, the increase of the relative regional unemployment rate appears to be only temporary. From 1987 to 1993, a decline of the relative regional unemployment rate is observable. However, Hamburg was never again able to report a below average unemployment rate as in the beginning of the observation period. Bavaria and Rhineland-Palatinate are characterized by decreasing relative regional unemployment rates. A similar pattern was observable for Saarland since the mid 1980s. This means that these federal states performed better than the West German average.

For almost every year from 1968 to 2009, Baden-Wuerttemberg reported the lowest unemployment rate among the West German federal states. In 1994 it was the first time since 1968 that Baden-Wuerttemberg lost its top position and Bavaria reported the lowest unemployment rate across the federal states for some years. The development of relative regional unemployment rates for Baden-Wuerttemberg shows a clear upward trend in the case of relative regional ratios since 1990, and for relative regional differentials already since the end of the 1980s. Also a slight upward trend for Bavaria's relative regional unemployment rate is observable during this time period. This means that around 1990, Baden-Wuerttemberg as well as Bavaria started to perform below average compared to the West German average. Therefore, Bavaria was only able to displace Baden-Wuerttemberg as the federal state with the lowest unemployment rate in 1994 because the development of the unemployment rate in Bavaria was less unfavorable than in Baden-Wuerttemberg compared to the West German average.



Figure 3.5 provides information about the evolution of relative regional unemployment rate differentials and ratios for all German federal states. For the time period under consideration, the development of relative regional unemployment rate differentials and relative regional unemployment rate ratios is similar. These results correspond to the findings for West Germany for the same time period. Region-specific movements appear to be less pronounced during this period especially in the northern federal states. For most of the West German federal states, relative regional unemployment rates show no clear tendency to diverge and remained on a stable level. One exception is Saarland. However, the difference of the relative regional unemployment rate of Saarland and the other federal states in the southern part of Germany tend to narrow. In contrast, relative regional unemployment rates in East German federal states show a positive trend from the mid 1990s until the early 2000s. This means that during this period, the differences between the East German federal states and the German average tend to widen. From then on, this trend dissipates and East German relative regional unemployment rates seem to remain on a stable level, too.

Compared to the West German federal states, relative regional unemployment rates for East German federal states show more pronounced cyclical behavior. Note, that relative regional unemployment rates represent the relationship between regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate. Hence, this cyclical pattern for relative regional unemployment rates indicates that absolute regional unemployment rates in East Germany react less sensitively to common changes of the economic climate than the German average. This pattern can also be observed during the last crisis. Between 2008 and 2009, most of the East German federal states report a decline in relative regional unemployment rates. In contrast, relative regional unemployment rates for Bavaria and Baden-Wuerttemberg, the two federal states with the lowest absolute unemployment rates and a strong economy, show a clear increase between 2008 and 2009. Hence, these two federal states were affected above average by the latest economic crisis.

3.2 The evolution of regional unemployment disparities

It is possible to get a first impression of the persistence of regional unemployment disparities by looking at the correlation between the unemployment rates at different points in time. In figure 3.6, the unemployment rate of West German federal states in 1968 and 2009 are plotted against each other. The dashed lines denote the West German unemployment rates in 1968 and 2009. These lines divide figure 3.6 into four panels. In the upper right panel are regions with an above average unemployment rate in 1968 and an above average unemployment rate in

2009. In the bottom left panel are regions with a below average unemployment rate in 1968 and a below average unemployment rate in 2009. The other two panels contain the regions that changed between the group of regions with an above unemployment rate and the group of regions with a below average unemployment rate over time. In the upper left panel are regions with a below average unemployment rate in 1968 and an above average unemployment rate in 2009. In the bottom right panel regions can be found with an above average unemployment rate in 1968 and a below average unemployment rate in 2009.



For the time period 1968 to 2009, the ranking of the West German federal states according to their unemployment rate appears to be rather weak. The regression line has a slope of 0.54 and the coefficient is not significant. The correlation coefficient of regional unemployment rates in 1968 and 2009 with 0.18 is very low. These results indicate that there is no strong linear relationship between regional unemployment rates in 1968 and 2009. A low unemployment rate compared to the other regions in 1968 does not imply that those federal states also report low unemployment rates in 2009 and vice versa. Therefore, regional unemployment rates in West Germany appear to be characterized by a certain degree of intradistributional dynamics during the last four decades.

Further, figure 3.6 shows that during the last 40 years, three out of the ten West German federal states changed groups. The federal state in the upper left panel with a below average unemployment rate in 1968 and an above unemployment rate in 2009 was the city state of Hamburg. In 1968, Hamburg reported the second lowest unemployment rate among the West German federal states, while in 2009 the second highest unemployment rate could be found in Hamburg. Two federal states (Rhineland-Palatinate and Bavaria) reported an above average unemployment rate in 1968, and a below average rate in 2009.



Source: Statistic of the German Federal Employment Agency, own calculations.

In figure 3.7, the unemployment rates of German federal states in 1991 and 2009 are plotted against each other. In contrast to the picture in figure 3.6, the ranking of all German federal states according to their unemployment rates has remained remarkably stable between the last twenty years. The regression line has a slope of 1.3 and a R^2 of 0.82. The correlation coefficient is very high with 0.91. Most of the federal states with an above average unemployment rate in 1991 still have an above average rate in 2009 and vice versa. Only two of the sixteen federal states under consideration changed their position compared to the German average between 1991 and 2009. Lower Saxony and Saarland reported an above average unemployment rate in 1991, and a below average unemployment rate in 2009.

Figure 3.7 indicates that between 1991 and 2009, Germany was characterized by weak intra-distributional dynamics. This finding does not seem to be solely the result of the inclusion of the East German federal states. Compared to figure 3.6, the West German federal states also appear to be grouped much closer around the regression line in figure 3.7. Therefore, a high degree of intra-distributional
dynamics for the West German federal states seems to be predominantly a feature of the period before 1990.

Figure 3.7 and 3.6 give a hint on whether there is some form of intradistributional mobility. However, comparing the relationship between regional unemployment rates at two points in time provides no information about the evolution of the regional distribution of unemployment rates over time and, hence, on periods mainly characterized by a high degree of intra-distributional dynamics. Therefore, the rank-order stability of regions according to their unemployment rates is examined. The Spearman's rank correlation coefficient considers the correlation between the rank order of regional unemployment rates in a given year and the corresponding rank order in later years.



Figure 3.8 presents for West Germany the development of the rank order correlation between 1968 and 2009 with 1968 as the reference year. The results clearly show a disappearance of rank-order stability during the last 40 years. This was, however, not a continuous process. Between 1968 and 1977, the rank order was stable with a rank correlation coefficient fluctuating between 0.77 and 0.98. From 1977 to 1978, the correlation coefficient fell from 0.83 to 0.66. In the following three years, the correlation coefficient increased again and reached the value of 0.77 in 1981. For the 1980s, rank-order stability shows a strong decline and the correlation coefficient was only 0.25 in 1989. Since the early 1980s, there is no evidence of dependence of the rank order in 1968, and the rank order in the current year. A *t*-test is no longer able to reject the null hypothesis of independent rank order

correlation coefficients on the five percent level. During the 1990s, a clear trend is no longer observable. Since 2001, once more a decline of the rank correlation is observable, and for 2009, a negative rank correlation coefficient is reported.

These findings show that after the second oil crisis hit the labor market, a considerable change of the regional distribution of unemployment took place within West Germany. Intra-distributional dynamics of regional unemployment rates appear to be a feature of the 1980s for West Germany only. Panel 1 of figure 3.9 shows the development of the rank order correlation coefficient for West Germany during the last two decades, with 1991 as the reference year. Compared to the 1970s and the 1980s, the rank-order stability for West German federal states appears to be very persistent since reunification. During the last 19 years, the rank order correlation coefficient never fell below 0.78. These results confirm that especially the 1980s are characterized by a strong degree of intra-distributional dynamics.



Panel 2 of figure 3.9 shows that the stability of the rank order position of all German federal states according to their unemployment rates is also striking. Between 1991 and 2009, Spearman's rank order correlation coefficient hardly changed. The correlation coefficient never fell below 0.89 during this period. Hence, rank order correlation appears to be more stable after the East German federal states are included. One reason might be the persistent higher unemployment rates in the eastern part of Germany.

However, Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) point out that there is no definite relationship between intra-distributional dynamics of regional unemployment rates, and the evolution of regional inequality in unemployment. On the one hand, the

strong degree of intra-distributional dynamics during the 1980s does not necessarily result in decreasing inequality of regional unemployment rates across West Germany. On the other hand, the period between 1991 and 2009 is characterized by a strong degree of rank-order stability that might be consistent with marked changes in the dispersion of regional unemployment rates. If the differences between the ranks widen or narrow over time, convergence as well as divergence can be accompanied with a strong degree of rank-order stability.

A necessary (but not sufficient) condition that German regional unemployment rates become more similar over time is the existence of some form of catching-up process. Federal states with high unemployment rates should exhibit smaller unemployment rate growth rates compared to states with low unemployment rates. Thus, the unemployment rate should sink faster in regions with high unemployment rates compared to regions with low unemployment rates. According to the concept of β -convergence, such a catching-up process requires that there is a negative relationship between the initial level of the regions' unemployment rates and their corresponding growth rates.

Figure 3.10 plots the unemployment rates of West German federal states against the average annual growth rate of the unemployment rates between 1968 and 2009. A negative relationship between these two measures is clearly observable. The regression line has a slope of -1.68 and a R^2 of 0.80. These results can be interpreted as evidence for the existence of unconditional β -convergence.





Figure 3.11: Relationship between West German regional unemployment rates in 1991 and their average annual growth rate 1991–2009

Investigating the time period 1991 to 2009 for West Germany, leads to similar results that point out the existence of β -convergence (see figure 3.11). The slope of the regression line (-1.13) as well as the R^2 (0.68) is smaller compared to the period 1968 to 2009. Hence, the speed of convergence appears to be weaker during the last 20 years compared to the period 1968 to 2009. Furthermore, the findings for the last 19 years confirm that β -convergence and intra-distributional dynamics might exist independently of each other.

Figure 3.12 shows that this clear negative relationship between the initial value of the unemployment rate in 1991 and its average annual growth rate diminishes once the East German federal states are included in the regression. The regression line still has a negative slope. However, the regression coefficient with -0.05 is only small and no longer statistically significant different from zero.

Although, a clear negative relation was found for regional unemployment rates in West Germany and their average annual growth rates, there is no evidence of β -convergence considering all German federal states. Unemployment rates in East Germany are higher than in West Germany. In addition, the gap between regional unemployment rates in East Germany and regional unemployment rates West Germany is persistent. However, at the same time, the results do not support the notion that the unemployment rates in West and East Germany are being driven apart.



Figure 3.12: Relationship between German regional unemployment rates in 1991 and their average annual growth rate 1991–2009

The existence of β -convergence is a necessary but no a sufficient condition for the inequality across regions to decrease. Hence, it is not possible to conclude that the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in West Germany during the last 40 years is actually characterized by some form of catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions.

Only the concept of σ -convergence provides information on whether the negative relationship between regional unemployment rates and their growth rates triggers a catching-up process that is able to reduce the inequality across regions, leading to (more) similar unemployment rates. To examine the evolution of regional dispersion, the coefficient of variation is applied as an inequality measure. Unemployment rates in (West) Germany are up to five times higher in 2009 than in 1968. To take this steady increase of regional unemployment rates into account, a relative measure for the dispersion seems more appropriate than an absolute measure such as the standard deviation (see also the discussion in section 2.1.1).

Panel 1 of figure 3.13 shows for West German federal states that the coefficient of variation in 1968 was clearly higher than in 2009. Further, in 1991, a higher coefficient of variation was reported compared to 2009. These findings are in line with the definition of σ -convergence according to equation (2.15). However, figure 3.13 shows that the coefficient of variation did not follow a steady downward path over time. Between 1968 and 1991, periods of decreasing inequality are observable as well as periods of increasing inequality. Hence, the development of

the coefficient of variation does not indicate for an unambiguous convergent or divergent behavior of regional unemployment rates during the observation period.



From its highest peak in 1970, the dispersion of regional unemployment rates decreased until the mid seventies. From then on, the coefficient of variation increased until 1990. This means that the increase in intra-distributional dynamics during the 1980s identified by the test for rank-order stability is accompanied by an increase of regional inequality. Regional unemployment disparities widen during this period. After 1990, no clear trend for the coefficient of variation is observable. However, it seems that the amplitude of the coefficient of variation became smaller after the year 2000.

Panel 2 of figure 3.13 shows the evolution of the dispersion of regional unemployment rates for Germany. The coefficient of variation takes a higher value in

2009 compared to 1991. However, again this measure of inequality does not follow a clear trend regarding convergence or divergence of regional unemployment rates.

Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) reported a cyclical rise and fall in the dispersion of West German regional unemployment rates. Figure 3.13 confirms this feature. The coefficient of variation tends to vary directly with the movements in the (West) German unemployment rate. Usually, the dispersion increases (decreases) if the national unemployment rate decreases (increases). This means that if the economic climate is positive, regional labor market disparities increase and they decrease during economic slumps. Therefore, regions that already have below average unemployment rates are the ones primarily benefiting from economic booms. In these federal states, the unemployment rate declines stronger than in federal states with high unemployment rates. However, during an economic slump, the unemployment rates of these federal states increase above average. Nevertheless, the unemployment rates of these federal states remain on a below average level. For example, Baden-Wuerttemberg and Bavaria, the two Federal States with the lowest unemployment rates, experienced the highest unemployment growth rates during the latest economic crisis.

These findings imply that even during an economic boom, it is not possible for regions with high unemployment rates to reduce them to an extent that the differences to the regions with low unemployment rates diminishes. On the contrary, a positive economic climate deepens regional labor market disparities while an economic slump leads to more similar regional unemployment rates.

Furthermore, these findings for Germany confirm that solely comparing the degree of inequality between two points in time can easily lead to erroneous conclusions about convergent or divergent behavior of regional unemployment rates. Figure 3.13 shows that observing convergence or divergence of regional unemployment rates strongly depends on where the two points in time are located. Compared to 1975, the year the coefficient of variation reached its lowest value, every other year is characterized by a higher degree of inequality. In contrast, compared to 1970, every other year is characterized by a smaller degree of inequality. Because σ -convergence implies β -convergence, this aspect additionally affects whether evidence of β -convergence is observable or not (see also the discussion in section 2.1.1).

Focusing on the cross-sectional dimension of regional labor market disparities, one neither finds evidence for convergence nor for divergence. A high degree of intra-distributional dynamics is observable for the 1980s, while the geographical distribution of regional unemployment rates appears to be very persistent during the last twenty years. Evidence confirms the existence of β -convergence for West Germany but not for Germany as a whole. However, even for West Germany,

 β -convergence of regional unemployment rates did not trigger a catching-up process nor a steady decrease of regional inequality. Times of increasing dispersion alternate with times of decreasing dispersion. Economic disturbances in particular appear to be an important driving force for the evolution of regional inequality. Furthermore, the development of the distribution of regional unemployment rates as well as the dispersion of regional unemployment rates during the last two decades makes it hard to conclude that the evolution of regional unemployment disparities can be best described by a transition process. Region-specific shocks caused by economic disturbances as the main driving force of the evolution of regional unemployment disparities seem to be more in line with these findings. The time series approach to convergence can shed more light on this aspect.

3.3 The definition of stochastic convergence

Let $ur_{i,t}$ denote the unemployment rate of region *i* at time *t* with *i* = 1, ..., *N*. Further, let $\overline{u}r_t$ denote the national unemployment rate at time *t*. The definition of stochastic convergence according to equation (2.18) can be rewritten for regional unemployment rates as:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E(u_{r_i,t} - \overline{u}_{r_i}) = \mu_i \tag{3.3}$$

In the case of stochastic convergence, the deviations of regional unemployment rates from the national unemployment rate follow a stationary process and there is a stable relationship between these two variables in the long run.

Definition (3.3) implicitly assumes that the shape of this equilibrium relationship between the regional unemployment rate and its national counterpart is linear. However, Martin (1997) points out that alternative assumptions can also be made about the shape of the equilibrium relationship between these two measures. Apart from the assumption of stable equilibrium differentials $(ur_i - \overline{u}r)$, the equilibrium relationship between these two variables could also be characterized by a stable ratio $(ur_i / \overline{u}r)$. According to Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998), constant differentials would imply that in equilibrium unemployment rates change by the same absolute amount across regions. In contrast, constant ratios would imply that in equilibrium unemployment rates change by the same proportion (see also section 2.2.1).

Section 3.1 shows that there are periods where the development of regional unemployment rates and the (West) German unemployment rate was characterized by similar absolute changes as well as periods where it was characterized by similar relative changes. This can be taken into account by relaxing the assumption of either stable differentials or stable ratios and combining these two assumptions:

$$ur_i = \alpha_i + \beta_i \overline{u}r$$

If β_i is equal to unity, the regional unemployment rate would parallel the average unemployment rate perfectly. In this case, equation (3.4) can be rewritten as $\alpha_i = ur_i - \overline{u}r$ which corresponds to constant differentials in equilibrium. If α_i is zero instead, regional rates are a perfect proportion of the national rate. In this case, equation (3.4) can be rewritten as $\beta_i = ur_i / \overline{u}r$ which corresponds to stable ratios in equilibrium. Combining the assumptions of stable ratios and stable differences leads to the assumption of stable weighted differentials in equilibrium $(ur_i - \beta_i \overline{u}r)$. In the literature this measure is usually called β -differences (see, for example, Decressin/Fatas 1995 and section 2.2.1).

Depending on the assumption about the shape of the equilibrium relationship, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence can be tested by examining whether regional unemployment differentials, regional unemployment ratios or regional unemployment β -differences follow a stationary process. Hence, the test procedure for the hypothesis of stochastic convergence corresponds to a test for stationarity of relative regional unemployment rates.

However, making assumptions about the equilibrium relationship between the regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate is not trivial. It directly affects the hypothesis of stochastic convergence to be tested. Nevertheless, the existing literature about convergence of regional (un)employment disparities usually does not deal with this subject. Therefore, we do not known how stable the results are from the tests of the hypotheses of stochastic convergence for different assumptions about the equilibrium relationship. To get an impression about this aspect, this chapter provides results for all three assumptions about the shape of the equilibrium relationship.

Of course, using β -differences appears to be a promising alternative to minimize the problem of inadequate assumptions about the shape of the equilibrium relationship because it is a combination of stable ratios and stable differences. However, while relative regional differentials and relative regional ratios are easy to calculate, equation (3.4) contains the two unknown parameters α_i and β_i . Calculating the β -differences requires consistent estimation of these parameters.

The cyclical sensitivity model can be applied to get an impression about which is the most appropriate assumption regarding the shape of the equilibrium relationship for the underlying data as well as to calculate the β -differences. This approach was introduced by Thirlwall (1966) and Brechling (1967) to analyze the cyclical behavior of regional unemployment rates. The cyclical sensitivity model is based on a regression of the following form (see also section 2.2.1):

(3.4)

$$u_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i \overline{u}_t + \varepsilon_{i,t} \tag{3.5}$$

Regression (3.5) is estimated for each region *i* with $i = 1 \dots N$ separately. The coefficient β_i measures to which extent the regional rate is affected by the national rate. If β_i is equal to unity for all regions and estimates only vary in the constant α_i , the relationship between the regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate would be best described by stable differences. If the estimated constants are close to zero instead and β_i differs from unity, this would correspond to stable ratios. If α_i differs from zero and β_i differs from unity, then the relationship between the regional unemployment rates and the national constants are close to zero instead and β_i differs from unity, then the relationship between the regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate is best described by a combination of the two assumptions. The β -differences for each region *i* at date *t* can be calculated as $ur_{i,t} - \hat{\beta}_i \overline{u}r_t$. This means that this measure corresponds to the sum of the estimated constant $\hat{\alpha}_i$ and the error term $\hat{\epsilon}_{i,r}$.

A regression of the form of equation (3.5) was estimated for each federal state separately with the regional unemployment rate as the endogenous and the (West) German unemployment rate as the exogenous variable. For all German federal states and the time period 1991 to 2009, the *t*-test against the null hypothesis of the constant being equal to zero is only rejected on the five percent level for Hesse and Bavaria. The hypothesis of $\hat{\beta}_i$ being equal to unity is rejected for nine of the sixteen federal states (Bremen, Rhineland-Palatinate, Baden-Wuerttemberg, Bavaria, Brandenburg, Brandenburg, Mecklenburg-West Pomerania, Saxony, Saxony-Anhalt and Thuringia) on the five percent level. The estimates mainly differ with respect to the regression coefficient β_i . Therefore, the relationship between the regional and the German unemployment rate appears to be best characterized by stable ratios.

For the West German Federal States and the time period 1968 to 2009, the hypothesis of α_i being zero is rejected on the five percent level for six of the ten West German federal states (Hamburg, Bremen, Rhineland-Palatinate, Baden-Wuerttemberg, Bavaria and Saarland). The hypothesis of β_i being equal unity is rejected on the five percent level for all West German Federal States except Hesse. In the case of West Germany, the estimates mainly differ in β_i which is not in line with the assumption of stable differences. Therefore, the shape of the relationship between regional unemployment rates and the national unemployment rate appears to be best described by ratios. However, β -differences might also be an appropriate measure because of the mixed results for α_i .

The results for the West German federal states as well as for all German federal states show that a certain measure for the relationship between regional unemployment rates and their national counterpart is suitable for the majority of the federal states, but not for all federal states. Up to a certain degree, assumptions about the shape of the equilibrium relationship always seem to be a compromise.

The estimation results of the cyclical sensitivity model show some critical properties of the β -differences. The highest values for the regression coefficient β_i were reported by federal states where the unemployment rate is also high, for example, Saxony, Saxony-Anhalt and Mecklenburg-West Pomerania in the German case and the city states of Bremen and Hamburg in the West German case. According to theory, β_i should reflect the movements of the regional unemployment rate because of movements of the national unemployment rate. As seen before, the unemployment rates of the East German federal states only slightly react to cyclical movements of the German unemployment rate. Hence, the regression coefficient seems to capture mainly a level effect of the unemployment rate and not the relationship of movements in the national and the regional unemployment rate. The sign of relative regional unemployment rate differentials is a straightforward hint on whether the regional unemployment rate is below or above the national average. In the case of β -differences, such straightforward interpretations are not possible. For instance, a negative value could also be the result of the difference between an above average unemployment rate and a strongly weighted national unemployment rate. This makes the level of relative regional unemployment rate β -differences difficult to interpret.

3.4 Testing for cross-sectional dependence

Studies examining the hypothesis of stochastic convergence usually apply unit root tests on relative regional unemployment rates. The low power of univariate unit root tests is well known. Therefore, recent studies apply panel unit root tests to gain additional power. While there are many different panel unit root tests, the choice of an appropriate test procedure is not trivial.

The so called first generation panel unit root tests assume that the cross-sectional units are independent, whereas the so called second generation unit root tests have relaxed this assumption. A number of studies indicate that investigating (non) stationarity in a panel framework might lead to serious problems if the assumption of cross-sectional independence is violated and this is not taken into account (see, for example, O'Connell 1998, Banerjee/Marcellino/Osbat 2004, 2005, and Baltagi/Bresson/Pirotte 2007). O'Connell (1998) and Baltagi/Bresson/Pirotte (2007) show that the first generation panel unit root tests tend to reject the non-stationarity hypothesis too often if the independency assumption does not hold.

Cross-sectional dependence is introduced in this framework in terms of the disturbances. The first generation panel unit root tests assume that the error terms $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ of the panel ADF-regression (see equation (2.25)) are independently and identically distributed. This implies that the covariance matrix $\Omega = E(\varepsilon_t \varepsilon'_t)$ with $\varepsilon_t = (\varepsilon_{1,t}, ..., \varepsilon_{N,t})$ is diagonal and the off-diagonal elements of this matrix are zero.

This assumption is required when deriving the limiting distribution to test the null hypothesis of a unit root against the alternative hypothesis of a stationary process. O'Connell (1998) shows using the panel unit root test provided by Levin/Lin/Chu (2002) that the derived limiting distribution is no longer correct and the power diminishes if the off-diagonal elements are non zero.

This discussion shows that before choosing an appropriate panel unit root test, it is necessary to test the assumption of cross-sectional independence. In this case, cross-sectional independence requires that the error terms in an ADF-regression in a panel framework are not correlated. Hence, for each federal state, an ADF-regression for relative regional unemployment rates is estimated. Following Carrion-I-Silvestre/German-Soto (2009), the tests provided by Pesaran (2004) and Ng (2006) are used to examine whether the residuals from the ADF-regression exhibit cross-sectional correlation. In order to isolate serial correlation from cross-sectional correlation, two lags are allowed.

3.4.1 Two tests for cross-sectional dependence

The Cross Dependence (CD) test designed by Pesaran (2004) is easy to compute and builds on the average of (estimated) pair-wise Pearson's correlation coefficients \hat{p}_j , j = 1, ..., n with n = N(N-1)/2 possible correlation relationships of a panel of N time series. The null hypothesis of cross-sectional independence is tested against the alternative hypothesis of dependence. The test statistic is given by:

$$CD = \sqrt{\frac{2T}{N(N-1)}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_j \sim N(0,1)$$
(3.6)

The null hypothesis that all units are uncorrelated is very extreme. Furthermore, it provides no information about the shape of cross-sectional dependence within the sample. Ng (2006) introduced a method which relies on the computation of spacings that overcomes some of these disadvantages. The procedure provides a global test on cross-sectional dependence but also an algorithm which allows splitting the whole sample in groups of different strength of cross-sectional dependence. Hence, the null hypothesis of cross-sectional dependence can not only be tested for the whole sample, but also for each subgroup separately. Compared to the CD-test, this approach reveals more information about the extent and nature of cross-sectional correlation within the sample.

The spacing test provided by Ng (2006) does not directly test whether the sample correlations are zero. The test is based on the probability integral transformation of the ordered correlation coefficients denoted by $\bar{\varphi}_j$. Ng (2006) shows that the spacings of the ordered and transformed correlation coefficients $\bar{\varphi}_j - \bar{\varphi}_{j-1}$ follows

a stochastic process with well-defined properties if the sample correlations are zero. The approach suggested by Ng (2006) tests these properties.

The test procedure is as follows. In a first step, the absolute values of the estimated Pearson's correlation coefficients $\tilde{\rho}_j$ with $\tilde{\rho}_j = |\hat{\rho}_j|$ for all possible pairs of individuals j = 1, 2, ..., n with n = N(N-1)/2 are calculated. The absolute values of the Pearson's correlation coefficients are applied to ensure that negative and positive correlations are treated symmetrically. Then, they are sorted in ascending order. This leads to a sequence of ordered statistics given by $\{\tilde{\rho}_{[1:n]}, \tilde{\rho}_{[2:n]}, ..., \tilde{\rho}_{[n:n]}\}$.

Let Φ denote the conditional distribution function of the standard Normal distribution. The probability integral transformed correlation coefficients $\overline{\varphi}_j$ are defined as $\Phi(\sqrt{T}\widetilde{\rho}_{[j:n]})$ so that $\overline{\varphi} = (\overline{\varphi}_1, \dots, \overline{\varphi}_n)$. The spacings are defined as $\Delta \overline{\varphi}_j = \overline{\varphi}_j - \overline{\varphi}_{j-1}$. Ng (2006) proposes splitting the sample of ordered spacings and arbitrarily portioning the sample in a group of small (*S*) correlation coefficients and a group of large (*L*) correlation coefficients. Let υ denote the share of pairs of correlation relationships in group *S* with $\upsilon \in (0,1)$. Therefore, the number of correlation relationships in group *S* is given by υn . The definition of the partition is carried out through the minimization of the sum of squared residuals:

$$Q_n(\upsilon) = \sum_{j=1}^{|\upsilon n|} (\Delta \overline{\varphi}_j - \overline{\Delta}_s(\upsilon))^2 + \sum_{j=|\upsilon n|+1}^n (\Delta \overline{\varphi}_j - \overline{\Delta}_L(\upsilon))^2$$
(3.7)

where $\overline{\Delta}_{s}(\upsilon)$ and $\overline{\Delta}_{\iota}(\upsilon)$ denote the mean spacings for each group. A consistent estimate of the break point is obtained as $\hat{\upsilon} = \arg \min_{\upsilon \in (0,1)} Q_{\sigma}(\upsilon)$.

After partitioning the correlations into the two groups S and L, the next step consists in testing the hypothesis of no correlation for the subsamples. However, group S and group L represent censored samples. Testing for cross-sectional correlation in censored samples is problematic because the distribution of the correlations under the null hypothesis is no longer well-defined.

Defining $\overline{\varphi}_{j}^{n} = n\overline{\varphi}_{j}$ and the corresponding spacings as $\Delta \overline{\varphi}_{j}^{n} = \overline{\varphi}_{j}^{n} - \overline{\varphi}_{j-1}^{n}$. Furthermore, the *q*-order spacings are defined as $\Delta \overline{\varphi}_{jq}^{n} = \overline{\varphi}_{j}^{n} - \overline{\varphi}_{j-q}^{n}$. Ng (2006) shows that under the null hypothesis of no cross-sectional correlation, it holds that $\Delta \overline{\varphi}_{j}^{n}$ is asymptotically uncorrelated and the mean of *q*-order spacings are linear in *q*. To test for cross-sectional dependence in the subsamples, Ng (2006) suggest a spacings variance ratio test (*SVR* test) to examine both properties. Let η denote the size of the sample and let:

$$\hat{\mu}_{1} = \frac{1}{\eta - 1} \sum_{k=1}^{\eta} (\bar{\varphi}_{k}^{n} - \bar{\varphi}_{k-1}^{n})$$
(3.8)

New insights into the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in Germany

$$\hat{\mu}_{q} = \frac{1}{\eta - q} \sum_{k=q+1}^{\eta} (\overline{\varphi}_{k}^{n} - \overline{\varphi}_{k-q}^{n})$$
(3.9)

$$\hat{\sigma}_{1}^{2} = \frac{1}{\eta} \sum_{k=1}^{\eta} (\bar{\varphi}_{k}^{n} - \bar{\varphi}_{k-1}^{n} - \hat{\mu}_{1})^{2}$$
(3.10)

$$\hat{\sigma}_{q}^{2} = \frac{1}{q(\eta - q)} \sum_{k=q+1}^{\eta} (\bar{\varphi}_{k}^{n} - \bar{\varphi}_{k-q}^{n} - \hat{\mu}_{q})^{2}$$
(3.11)

Ng (2006) shows that under the null hypothesis that all correlation coefficients are jointly zero:

$$SVR(\eta) = \frac{\hat{\sigma}_1^2}{\hat{\sigma}_q^2} - 1 \sim N(0, \omega_q^2)$$
(3.12)

where $\omega_q^2 = (2(2q-1)(q-1))/3q$. In actual testing, the standardized spacings variance ratio test (*svr*-test) is used that is standard normally distributed under the null hypothesis:

$$svr(\eta) = \frac{\sqrt{\eta} SVR(\eta)}{\sqrt{\omega_q^2}} \sim N(0,1)$$
 (3.13)

The correlation coefficients are sorted in ascending order. Hence, a rejection of the null hypothesis of no cross-sectional correlation for the small correlation sample *S* will always imply rejection of the null hypothesis for the large correlation sample *L*.

Ng (2006) points out that it is difficult to identify mean shifts occurring at the two ends of the sample. Hence, some trimming is required. Following Ng (2006), the smallest and largest 10 percent of $\overline{\varphi}_j$ are not used for determining the breakpoint. Furthermore, to compute the *q*-ordered spacings for the *svr*-test statistic, this chapter also follows Ng (2006) and *q* is set to 2.

3.4.2 Results

This section presents the results for the two cross-sectional correlation tests provided by Pesaran (2004) and Ng (2006). Both test were applied to investigate whether residuals of ADF-regressions for West German federal states and all German federal states respectively exhibit cross-sectional correlation. All three different measures for relative regional unemployment rates are considered.

Table 3.1: Results CD-test by Pesaran (2004)

	Germany	West Germany		
regional unemployment eta -differentials	-2.111*	-2.935*		
regional unemployment differentials	-2.005*	-2.847*		
regional unemployment ratios	-1.859	-2.844*		
Source: Own calculations, * denote significant on the five percent level.				

The results of the CD test by Pesaran (2004) are reported in table 3.1. For West Germany, the null hypothesis of cross-sectional independence is rejected in all three cases at the five percent level. The degree of cross-sectional dependence appears to be very similar for all three measures. For Germany, the null hypothesis is rejected on the five percent level for regional unemployment differentials and β -differentials. For relative unemployment rates measured as ratios, the null hypothesis is still rejected on the ten percent level.

Table 3.2: Results Germany spacing-test by Ng (2006)

	Germany		
	$\hat{\upsilon}$	svr _s	svr
regional unemployment eta -differentials	0.183	-1.552	2.107*
regional unemployment differentials	0.292	-0.670	2.925*
regional unemployment ratios	0.208	0.813	3.077*

Source: Own calculations, * denote significant on the five percent level.

Table 3.2 reports the result of the spacing test by Ng (2006).¹ Column \hat{v} contains the share of the possible correlation relationships in group *S*. Column *svr*_s contains the *svr* test statistic for group *S*, and column *svr*, the *svr* test statistic for group *L*.

In the case of Germany, the null hypothesis of no cross-sectional dependence can not be rejected for group *S*, but is rejected for group *L* for all three measures of relative regional unemployment rates on the five percent level. Investigating the evolution of relative regional unemployment rates graphically already showed that federal states in East Germany and West Germany behave differently. This might be one of the reasons why for group *S* the hypothesis of cross-sectional independence is not rejected in all three cases. The value of \hat{v} corresponds to the share of all the 120 possible correlation pairs between the 16 German federal states assigned to

¹ The MATLAB code for the spacing test provided on Serena Ng's homepage is used here (http://www.columbia.edu/ sn2294/research.html).

group *S*. The number of correlation pairs in group *S* differs between 22 and 35. Therefore, it can be concluded that cross-sectional dependence is present among the majority of the German regions.

	West Germany			
	$\hat{\upsilon}$	svr _s	svr	
regional unemployment eta -differentials	0.578	2.280*	-	
regional unemployment differentials	0.333	-1.146	2.179*	
regional unemployment ratios	0.244	0.865	0.428	

Table	3.3:	Results	West	Germany	spacing-test	by Na	(2006)
raoic	5.5.	nesures	AAC2C	Ocimany	spacing test	Uy ng	(2000)

Source: Own calculations, * denote significant on the five percent level.

For the West German federal states, the results are rather mixed (see table 3.3). In the case of the β -differentials, the hypotheses of cross-sectional independence is rejected for group *S*. This result for group *S* implies a rejection of the null hypothesis also for group *L* (see Ng 2006). For the regional unemployment differentials, the null hypothesis is rejected for group *L*. But \hat{v} takes on a value of 0.333, which means that only one third of the correlation pairs are assigned to group *S* and two thirds to group *L*. For the relative regional unemployment rates measured as ratios, the null hypothesis can neither be rejected for group *S* nor group *L*. Based on these findings, calculating relative regional unemployment ratios appears to be an appropriate way for West German federal states to annihilate common movements in regional unemployment rates. Furthermore, the development of regional unemployment rates and the West German unemployment rate appears to be characterized by similar relative changes during the last decades.

Reasons for cross-sectional dependence mentioned in the literature are for instance common trends or cyclical behavior. The tests for cross-sectional dependence were applied to relative regional unemployment rates. Usually, relative regional unemployment rates are constructed to account for common movements and to examine the region-specific evolution of regional unemployment. Nevertheless, the tests provide clear evidence that cross-sectional dependence is still present in relative regional unemployment rates. These results give a hint that the regional unemployment rates are actually characterized by common movements, but that these common movements affect regional unemployment rates differently. Otherwise, they would have been eliminated by the construction of relative regional unemployment rates.

The results show that in general, relative regional unemployment rates are characterized by cross-sectional dependence. To test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence, it is necessary to resort to second generation panel unit root tests to take the cross-sectional dependence into account.

3.5 Testing the hypothesis of stochastic convergence

Recent developments in panel unit root tests account for the presence of crosssectional dependence through the specification of approximate factor models. These tests model cross-sectional dependence via common factors shared by all cross-sectional units and provide test statistics for the cross-sectionally adjusted time series. So called second generation panel unit root tests of this kind are provided by Bai/Ng (2004), Moon/Perron (2004), and Pesaran (2007b).

According to Banerjee/Wagner (2009), the PANIC (Panel Analysis of Nonstationarity in Idiosyncratic and Common Components) approach by Bai/Ng (2004) is the least restrictive procedure while the other two methods can be considered as special cases of the PANIC approach. The framework by Bai/Ng (2004) allows both the common factors and the remaining idiosyncratic component to follow a *I*(1) process, while the procedure of Moon/Perron (2004) requires the common factors to be *I*(0) and the procedure by Pesaran (2007b) allows for one stationary common factor only. Hence, the results from the PANIC approach provide the necessary information whether the underlying assumptions about the common factors in the tests by Moon/Perron (2004) and Pesaran (2007b) are valid. Therefore, this chapter follows the approach proposed by Bai/Ng (2004).

The basic idea of the procedure proposed by Bai/Ng (2004) is to decompose the time series into common factors and idiosyncratic terms, and then test each of these components for a unit root. Bai/Ng (2004) show that it is possible to obtain consistent estimators of the common factors and the idiosyncratic terms by applying the method of principal components to first-differenced data. This is independent of the dynamic properties of underlying time series. Hence, the test for the number of common factors does not depend on whether the idiosyncratic components are stationary and vice versa. Banerjee/Wagner (2009) consider this as the most important feature of the analysis by Bai/Ng (2004).

3.5.1 Modeling cross-sectional dependence via approximate factors

The illustration of the method of principal components to estimate the common and idiosyncratic factors in this section follows Bai/Ng (2004). They assume that the data generating process (DGP) for a variable $x_{i,t}$, where *i* denotes the cross-sectional dimension with $i = 1 \dots N$, and *t* denotes the time dimension with $t = 1 \dots T$, can be described as:

New insights into the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in Germany

$$x_{i,t} = D_{i,t} + u_{i,t}$$
(3.14)

where $D_{i,t}$ denotes the deterministic part of the process that can consist of a constant and/or a trend whereas $u_{i,t}$ is the stochastic part. Further, it is assumed that the stochastic component $u_{i,t}$ of the process is driven by two forces: common factors shared by all cross-sectional units and an idiosyncratic individual-specific component. Examples for such common factors are cyclical development or technological change. Hence, common factors capture the co-movement of the economic time series and the cross-sectional correlation. Let F_t denote a $r \times 1$ vector of r common factors, ξ_i the corresponding factor loadings, and $e_{i,t}$ the idiosyncratic component. Thus the DGP can be written as:

$$x_{i,t} = D_{i,t} + \xi_i' F_t + e_{i,t}$$
(3.15)

$$(1-L)F_t = C(L)\eta_t \tag{3.16}$$

$$(1 - \rho_i L) \mathbf{e}_{i,t} = H_i(L) \varepsilon_{i,t} \tag{3.17}$$

where $C(L) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} C_j L^j$ and $H_i(L) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} H_{ij} L^j$. Assumptions (3.16) and (3.17) imply that the DGP of the idiosyncratic component $e_{i,t}$ and the DGP of the *r* common factors, can be described as a first order autoregressive process. The idiosyncratic component $e_{i,t}$ follows a I(1) process if $\rho_i = 1$ and is stationary if $|\rho_i| < 1$. Furthermore, Bai/Ng (2004) allow each of the *r* common factors to follow a stationary or a non-stationary process. r_0 common factors are assumed to follow a I(0) process and r_1 common factors to follow a I(1) process, with $r = r_0 + r_1$. The aim of the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) is to determine r_1 and to test if $\rho_i = 1$.

The common factors and the idiosyncratic components are both unobserved and unknown. Hence, the main difficulty is to determine the number of factors r. Further, estimations of the two components have to be consistent when it is not known a priori whether they are I(1) or I(0). Bai/Ng (2004) suggest to use a principal component method to decompose the time series into its common components and an idiosyncratic component. If equation (3.15) contains only an intercept, first differences are taken to eliminate the shift term and then the principal component method is applied to the model in first differences. The DGP corresponding to equation (3.15) in first differences is given by:

$$\Delta x_{i,t} = \xi_i \Delta F_t + \Delta e_{i,t} \tag{3.18}$$

with t = 2, 3, ..., T and i = 1, 2, ..., N. Let $f_t = \Delta F_t$ and $z_{i,t} = \Delta e_{i,t}$. Hence, equation (3.18) can also expressed as:

$$\Delta x_{i,t} = \xi_i' f_t + z_{i,t}$$
(3.19)

Next, define:

$$X = (X_{11} X_{21} \dots X_{N})$$
(3.20)

as the $T \times N$ matrix of all observations where:

$$\mathbf{x}_{i} = (\mathbf{x}_{i,1}, \mathbf{x}_{i,2}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{i,T})'$$
(3.21)

 \tilde{X} is the corresponding $(T-1) \times N$ matrix of the data in first differences:

$$\widetilde{X} = \Delta X = (\Delta x_1, \Delta x_2, \dots, \Delta x_N)$$
(3.22)

Following Bai/Ng (2004), the principal component estimator \hat{f} of $f = (f_2, f_3, ..., f_r)$ is $(T-1)^{(1/2)}$ times the *r* eigenvectors corresponding to the *r* largest eigenvalues of the $(T-1) \times (T-1)$ matrix $\tilde{X}\tilde{X}'$.

The optimal number of common factors r can be determined by using the information criterions provided in Bai/Ng (2002). Following Banerjee/Wagner (2009) and Carrion-I-Silvestre/German-Soto (2009), the optimal number of common factors is determined by the information criterion B/C_3 provided in Bai/Ng (2002). According to the simulations by Bai/Ng (2002), this information criterion has very good properties in the presence of cross-sectional correlation. In this case, the B/C_3 computed for r^* common factors is given by:

$$BIC_{3}(r^{*}) = V(r^{*}, \hat{F}^{r^{*}}) + r^{*}\hat{\sigma}^{2}\left(\frac{(N+T^{*}-r^{*})\log(NT^{*})}{NT^{*}}\right)$$
(3.23)

with $V(r^*, \hat{F}^{r^*}) = N^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \hat{\sigma}_i^2$, where $\hat{\sigma}_i^2 = \hat{z}'_{i,t} \hat{z}_{i,t} / T^*$ and $T^* = T - 1$. To determine the optimal number of common factors *r*, the maximal number of common factors permitted was set to five.

After determining the optimal number of common factors, it is possible to estimate the corresponding factor loadings given by $\hat{\xi}$. Under the normalization $\hat{f'f}/(T-1) = I_r$, where I_r is the $r \times r$ identity matrix, the estimated factor loadings are obtained from the relationship $\hat{\xi} = \tilde{X'f}/(T-1)$.

Next, the idiosyncratic components \hat{z}_{is} can be computed as:

$$\hat{z}_{i,s} = \Delta x_{i,s} - \hat{\xi}'_i \hat{f}_s$$
(3.24)

Note, the common factors as well as the idiosyncratic components are still written in first differences. However, the main concern is to examine equation (3.15) and not equation (3.18). It is possible to recover the estimated factors by summation. Define for t = 2, 3, ..., T: New insights into the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in Germany

$$\hat{F}_t = \sum_{s=2}^t \hat{f}_s \tag{3.25}$$

and

$$\hat{\mathbf{e}}_{i,t} = \sum_{s=2}^{t} \hat{z}_{i,s}$$
(3.26)

If equation (3.15) contains an intercept and a deterministic trend, it is necessary to take first differences to eliminate the shift term and to demean the data to eliminate the deterministic trend. After taking first differences and demeaning the data, the method of principle components described above can be applied to the panel.

Note, here bounded variables are considered. As discussed in section 2.1.2, the assumption of a deterministic trend appears to be inappropriate in the case of a bounded variable. Trend behavior of a bounded variable appears to be better characterized by a stochastic trend. Hence, it appears to be appropriate to assume that the deterministic part is characterized by a constant only and not by a constant and a linear trend. Therefore, the analysis here only considers the case of only an intercept.

3.5.2 Testing for a unit root

Non-stationarity of the time series $x_{i,t}$ can result from a unit root in the idiosyncratic component and/or from a unit root in the common component. For the case of a unit root in all series $x_{i,t}$, it is sufficient that at least one non-stationary common factor is present if this factor is loaded in all series. That is what Bai/Ng (2004) call integration or non-stationarity due to a pervasive source. If all common factors are stationary, a series $x_{i,t}$ has a unit root if and only if $e_{i,t}$ has a unit root. Bai/Ng (2004) call this non-stationarity due to a series-specific source. Therefore, appropriate unit root tests for the idiosyncratic and the common component are required.

The idiosyncratic component can be tested for a unit root by applying an ADF test on every single series. Even after controlling for cross-sectional dependence, the power of the univariate unit root test remains low. However, Bai/Ng (2004) suggest two tests for the pooled data that focus on the pooled *p*-values from univariate ADF tests for each time series of the panel. Let $p_e(i)$ denote the *p*-value associated with the univariate ADF test for the idiosyncratic component $\hat{e}_{i,t}$ from the *i*th cross-sectional unit, i = 1, ..., N. The BN_N test which parallels the test proposed by Choi (2001) for cross-sectional independent panels is given by:

$$BN_{N} = \frac{-2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \log p_{\hat{e}}(i) - 2N}{\sqrt{4N}} \Longrightarrow N(0,1)$$
(3.27)

The BN_{χ^2} test which parallels the procedure proposed by Maddala/Wu (1999) is given by:

$$BN_{\chi^{2}} = -2\sum_{i=1}^{N} \log p_{\hat{e}}(i) \sim \chi^{2}_{(2N)}$$
(3.28)

Choosing a test for a unit root in the common factor depends on the number of common factors. If there is only a single common factor, which means r = 1, a unit root can be tested for by using an univariate ADF test.² Bai/Ng (2004) show that the ADF test for the estimated common factor in the intercept only case denoted by ADF^c_f, has the same limiting distribution as the ADF test for the constant only case.³

In the case of more than one common factor, Bai/Ng (2004) provide two tests for the number of linearly independent I(1) common trends contained in the common factors. This is equivalent to examining the co-integration rank of the common factors (see Banerjee/Wagner 2009). Both test statistics are computed recursively with the first test statistic based on r = m common factors. This means that in the first step, the null hypothesis of r stochastic trends given by m = r is tested against the alternative hypothesis of m = r - 1. The recursive test procedure ends when the first non-rejection of the null hypothesis occurs.

The $MQ_c^c(m)$ test corrects for serial correlation of arbitrary form by nonparametrically estimating the relevant nuisance parameters. Let $\hat{F}_t^c = \hat{F}_t - \overline{\hat{F}}_t$ with $\overline{\hat{F}}_t = (T-1)^{-1} \sum_{t=2}^T \hat{F}_t$. This procedure is based on estimating a VAR(1) process for \hat{Y}_t with $\hat{Y}_t = \hat{\beta}\hat{F}_t^c$. $\hat{\beta}$ is the matrix of *m* eigenvectors associated with the *m* eigenvalues of the matrix given by $1/T^2 \sum_{t=2}^T \hat{F}_t^c \hat{F}_t^{c'}$. Let $\hat{\varepsilon}_t$ denote the residuals from the VAR(1) process and let:

$$\Sigma^* = \sum_{j=1}^{J} \mathcal{K}(j) \left(T^{-1} \sum_{t=2}^{T} \hat{\varepsilon}_{t-j} \hat{\varepsilon}_t \right)$$
(3.29)

² Note, F_t is a matrix of size r x T. This means that the matrix of common factors is not characterized by the structure of the underlying panel. The size of this matrix only depends on the number of observations in time but not on the number of cross-sectional units. Hence, if there is only one common factor, an univariate unit root test is sufficient.

³ In the case of an intercept and a trend, the ADF test for the estimated common factor has the same limiting distribution as the ADF test for the case with a constant and a linear trend.

New insights into the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in Germany

where K(j) = 1 - j / (J + 1) with j = 0, 1, ..., J. Let $\hat{v}_c^c(m)$ be the smallest eigenvalue of:

$$\hat{\Phi}_{c}(m) = 0.5 \left[\sum_{t=2}^{T} (\hat{Y}_{t} \hat{Y}_{t-1}' + \hat{Y}_{t-1} \hat{Y}_{t}') - T(\Sigma^{*} + \Sigma^{*'}) \right] \left(\sum_{t=2}^{T} \hat{Y}_{t-1} \hat{Y}_{t-1}' \right)^{-1}$$
(3.30)

The test statistic of the $MQ_c^c(m)$ test is given by:

$$MQ_{c}^{c}(m) = T[\hat{v}_{c}^{c}(m) - 1]$$
(3.31)

In contrast, the $MQ_f^c(m)$ test filters the factors under the assumption that they have a finite order VAR representation. The test statistic is constructed in a similar way as before. In this case, first a *p*th order VAR is estimated for $\Delta \hat{Y}_t$ to obtain $\hat{\Pi}(L) = I_m - \hat{\Pi}_1 L - \ldots - \hat{\Pi}_p L^p$. Then, $\hat{\Pi}(L)$ is used to filter \hat{Y}_t to get $\hat{y}_t = \hat{\Pi}(L)\hat{Y}_t$. Let $\hat{v}_f^c(m)$ be the smallest eigenvalue of:

$$\hat{\Phi}_{f}(m) = 0.5 \left[\sum_{t=2}^{T} (\hat{\gamma}_{t} \hat{\gamma}_{t-1}' + \hat{\gamma}_{t-1} \hat{\gamma}_{t}') \right] \left[\sum_{t=2}^{T} \hat{\gamma}_{t-1} \hat{\gamma}_{t-1}' \right]^{-1}$$
(3.32)

The test statistic of the $MQ_{\ell}^{c}(m)$ test is given by:

$$MO_{f}^{c}(m) = T[\hat{v}_{f}^{c}(m) - 1]$$
(3.33)

Critical values for both tests can be found in Bai/Ng (2004).4

3.5.3 Results

Table 3.4 reports the estimated optimal number of common factors for each series based on the BIC_3 provided by Bai/Ng (2002).⁵ In all cases, the optimal number of common factors was well below the maximum number of factors that was permitted. With regard to German and West German relative regional unemployment differentials and β -differentials, one common factor is found. For the regional unemployment ratios, two common factors are found in the case of Germany. For the case of West Germany, no common factor is found. This result is in line with the findings of the spacing test by Ng (2006). Only for West German relative regional unemployment ratios, the no-correlation hypothesis was not rejected for both group *S* and group *L*.

⁴ In the case of an intercept and a linear trend, testing the number of linear independent stochastic trends is similar to the procedure described above. However, the so called $MO_c^r(m)$ test and $MO_r^r(m)$ test are based on the residuals from a regression of \hat{F}_c on a constant and a time trend denoted by \hat{F}_c^r instead of \hat{F}_c^c (see Bai/Ng 2004).

⁵ The MATLAB code for the PANIC approach provided on Serena Ng's homepage is used for the empirical analysis in this section (http://www.columbia.edu/ sn2294/research.html).

	Germany	West Germany
regional unemployment eta -differentials	1	1
regional unemployment differentials	1	1
regional unemployment ratios	2	0

Table 3.4: Estimated optimal number of common factors

The panel unit root tests by Choi (2001) and Maddala/Wu (1999) applied in this section, as well as the pooled BN_N test and the BN_{χ^2} test for the idiosyncratic component, are based on the *p*-values of univariate ADF tests. For these univariate ADF tests, a heterogeneous lag length was allowed to control for serial correlation. The optimal number of lags was determined by the sequential *t*-test suggested by Ng/Perron (1995).

Table 3.5: Results first generation panel unit root tests

	Choi (2001)	Maddala/Wu (1999)	
Germany			
regional unemployment eta -differentials	10.085*	112.676*	
regional unemployment differentials	16.301*	162.408*	
regional unemployment ratios	7.183*	89.463*	
West Germany			
regional unemployment eta -differentials	2.485*	35.716*	
regional unemployment differentials	0.705	24.458	
regional unemployment ratios	5.180*	52.762*	

Source: Own calculations, * indicate rejection of the unit root null hypothesis at the five percent critical level.

Table 3.5 presents the results for the panel unit root test provided by Choi (2001) and Maddala/Wu (1999) for relative regional unemployment rates. Of course, these first generation panel unit root tests are only appropriate for relative regional unemployment rate ratios in the case of West Germany where no cross-sectional correlation was detected. In all other cases, the tests might lead to biased results because the independency assumption is violated. However, these findings of the first generation panel unit root tests serve as a reference to get an impression of how sensitive these first generation panel unit root tests react to the presence of cross-sectional dependence in the case of (West) German regional unemployment rates.

In the case of Germany, the first generation panel unit root tests indicate for the existence of stochastic convergence. Both tests reject the hypotheses of a unit root in relative regional unemployment rates in all three cases at the five percent level. For West Germany, the results are mixed. Both tests find a unit root in relative regional unemployment rate differentials but not for the relative regional unemployment rate β -differentials. In addition, for regional unemployment rate ratios, the hypotheses of a unit root is strongly rejected. Because in this case the assumption of cross-sectional independence is valid, the results can be interpreted as evidence of stochastic convergence for West German regional unemployment rate ratios.

Table 3.6 presents the results for the decomposed time series. The first two columns report the findings of the BN_N test and the BN_{χ^2} test for the idiosyncratic component of the relative regional unemployment rates. The last three columns present the results for the common component. If there is one common factor, an ADF test can be applied to test for a unit root. The results of the ADF^c_f test are presented in the third column. However, two common factors were identified for German relative regional unemployment rate ratios. Here, the $MQ^c_c(m)$ test and the $MQ^c_f(m)$ test are applied to determine the number of linear independent stochastic trends.

	BN _N	BN_{χ^2}	$ADF^c_{\widehat{F}}$	$MQ_c^c(m)$	$MQ_{f}^{c}(m)$	
Germany						
regional unemployment eta -differentials	6.431*	83.450*	-5.588*	-	-	
regional unemployment differentials	3.590*	60.718*	-3.391*	-	-	
regional unemployment ratios	-1.117	23.068	-	2	2	
West Germany						
regional unemployment eta -differentials	5.080*	52.129*	-2.491	-	-	
regional unemployment differentials	2.319*	34.667*	-2.117	-	-	
Sources Own coloulations * indicate rejection	Source: Own coloulations * indicate rejection of the unit root null hypothesis at the five percent critical level					

Table 3.6: Results PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004)

Source: Own calculations, * indicate rejection of the unit root null hypothesis at the five percent critical level.

For Germany, the null hypothesis of a unit root in the idiosyncratic component is rejected for regional unemployment differentials and β -differentials. For the regional unemployment ratios, the null-hypothesis of a unit root can not be rejected.

For the common components of German relative regional unemployment rates, the results are also mixed. For regional unemployment rate differentials and β -differentials, the hypothesis of a unit root in the common factor is rejected at the five percent level. In the case of regional unemployment rate ratios, the results of the $MQ_c^c(m)$ test and the $MQ_f^c(m)$ test indicate that both common factors are non-stationary and not co-integrated.

For West Germany, the hypothesis of a unit root in the idiosyncratic component is rejected for relative regional differentials and for relative regional β -differentials. However, the hypothesis of a unit root can not be rejected for the common factor of these two measures.

According to the definition of stochastic convergence given in section 3.3, relative regional unemployment rates have to follow a stationary process. If relative regional unemployment rates exhibit no cross-sectional dependence, a first generation panel unit root test is sufficient to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. Hence, the results for West German regional unemployment rate ratios can be interpreted as evidence of stochastic convergence. In the case of cross-sectional dependence, a second generation panel unit root test has to be applied. In this case, stochastic convergence requires both the idiosyncratic component as well as the common component to follow a stationary process. Hence, only the findings for German relative regional unemployment rate differentials and β -differentials can be interpreted as evidence for the existence of stochastic convergence. In contrast, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence has to be rejected for German relative regional unemployment rate ratios and West German relative regional unemployment rate ratios and West German relative regional unemployment rate as well as β -differentials.

These results show two important facts. When examining the evolution of regional unemployment disparities and testing the hypothesis of stochastic convergence, the existence of cross-sectional correlation should be taken into account. Otherwise, the hypothesis of non-stationarity appears to be usually over rejected. The first generation panel unit root tests in general tend to favor the hypothesis of stochastic convergence whereas the results from the PANIC approach are much more mixed. Especially the results for West Germany are in contrast to the findings in the existing literature. Moreover, the construction of relative regional unemployment rates appears to be of great importance. The three measures of relative regional unemployment rates correspond to three different assumptions about the shape of the equilibrium relationship between the regional unemployment rate and the national unemployment rate. The analysis shows that the results are very sensitive with respect to these assumptions. Hence, the choice of a certain measure is a crucial decision that affects whether evidence of stochastic convergence is found or not.

The cyclical sensitivity model provides useful information about the appropriate equilibrium relationship. Nevertheless, it appears to give rough hints rather than exact references. For West Germany, the results of the cyclical sensitivity model are not unambiguous. Regional unemployment β -differentials and regional unemployment ratios could both be appropriate measures. The results of the spacing test by Ng (2006) show that relative regional ratios capture cross-sectional dependence better than regional β -differentials. The panel unit root test rejects the

hypothesis of a unit root for West German regional unemployment ratios but not for β -differences. For German federal states, the results of the cyclical sensitive model favored regional unemployment ratios to describe the equilibrium relationship. However, relative regional unemployment rate differences and β -differences are found to be stationary.

These results indicate that region-specific shocks might have long-lasting effects on relative regional unemployment rates. There are two different ways to think about region-specific shocks (see, for example, Choy/Maré/Mawson 2002). A regionspecific shock can be described as a shock that exclusively affects a particular region. Furthermore, a nationwide shock that has disproportional impact on particular regions, can also be considered as region-specific. Because of the construction of relative regional variables, common shocks or common movements that affect all regions in the same way are removed. Hence, the identified common factors in relative regional unemployment rates can be considered as movements common to all regions but with a different impact on regional unemployment rates. Or, to state it differently, these are common factors loaded with a different weight in each time series of the panel. In the case of West Germany, the PANIC approach rejects the hypothesis of stochastic convergence because the common factors contain a unit root, whereas the idiosyncratic component of relative regional unemployment rates follows a stationary process. Hence, non-stationarity of West German relative regional unemployment rates is primarily observable due to a pervasive source. This means shocks that exclusively affect a certain region appear to have rather temporary effects and do not trigger a rise in regional unemployment disparities. According to the findings presented in this section, common shocks that affect regions in a different way appear to be the main source of regional unemployment disparities.

3.6 Conclusion

This chapter examined the evolution of regional unemployment disparities for West German federal states and all German federal states including East Germany. The rank-order stability test indicates that the geographic distribution of regional unemployment rates in Germany was very stable during the last twenty years. Only in the 1980s West Germany was characterized by a high degree of intradistributional dynamics.

Evidence of β -convergence was found for West German federal states but not for all German federal states. This means there is a negative relationship between regional unemployment rates and their corresponding growth rates in West Germany, but not for all German federal states. The existence of β -convergence gives a hint that there might be some form of catching-up process between favorable

Conclusion

and unfavorable regions. However, a negative relationship between regional unemployment rates and their corresponding growth rates is only a necessary but no sufficient condition that the gap between favorable and unfavorable regions becomes smaller and regional inequality decreases. This means the existence of β -convergence does not imply σ -convergence.

Using the coefficient of variation as an inequality measure shows that the inequality in 2009 is actually lower compared to the initial year 1968. Furthermore, the coefficient of variation for all German states in 2009 is higher compared to the initial year 1991. Nevertheless, these results should not be interpreted as evidence for a convergence process in West Germany and for divergence between East and West German federal states. The evolution of the coefficient of variation shows that periods of increasing inequality alternate with periods of decreasing inequality. Therefore, measuring σ -convergence and hence β -convergence strongly depends on the two points in time considered. Especially during the last twenty years regional inequality seems to be mainly driven by cyclical movements and not by a continuous transition process.

While a favorable economic climate leads to a rise of regional inequality, regional inequality decreases during economic crisis. This means that during a boom, the unemployment rate decreases slower in regions with high unemployment rates compared to those with low unemployment rates. During an economic downturn, however, unemployment increases slower in regions with high unemployment rates compared to those with low unemployment rates. Therefore, a positive economic climate is not sufficient to close the gap between low unemployment regions and high unemployment regions.

The results from these different cross-sectional approaches are a sign that regional unemployment rates in Germany may not be characterized by a transition process. Changes in the dispersion of regional unemployment appear to be mainly driven by region-specific shocks due to economic disturbances. Therefore, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence appears to be more appropriate to investigate the evolution of regional unemployment disparities in Germany. The presence of stochastic convergence requires a stable long-run relationship between the regional unemployment rates and their national counterpart. According to the literature, three different assumptions can be made about the shape of this equilibrium relationship. To get an impression about the sensitivity of the results with regard to these assumptions all three approaches are considered here. The hypothesis of stochastic convergence is examined for relative regional unemployment rate glifferentials, relative regional unemployment rate ratios and relative regional unemployment rate shape of stochastic convergence is examined for relative regional unemployment rate ratios and relative regional unemployment rates have to follow a stationary process.

First, the panel unit root tests provided by Choi (2001) and Maddala/Wu (1999) are applied. These so called first generation panel unit root tests usually favor the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. These results are in line with the findings from previous studies using first generation panel unit root tests.

However, such first generation panel unit root tests are only appropriate if cross-sections are not correlated. Otherwise, they tend to reject the hypothesis of non-stationarity too often. The results of the cross-sectional dependence tests suggested by Pesaran (2007b) and Ng (2006) indicate that in most cases the independence assumption is violated for relative regional unemployment rates of (West) German federal states. So called second generation panel unit root tests relaxing the independence assumption appear to be more appropriate than first generation panel unit root tests.

Here the PANIC approach provided by Bai/Ng (2004) is used to tests the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. The basic idea of the PANIC approach is to decompose the underlying time series into common factors which capture cross-sectional correlation and an idiosyncratic region-specific term, and then testing each of these components for a unit root.

This chapter finds evidence of stochastic convergence in the case of German regional unemployment differentials and β -differentials as well as for West German regional unemployment ratios. In all other cases the convergence hypothesis is rejected. In the case of stochastic convergence, the idiosyncratic component as well as common components have to follow a stationary process. In general, the rejection of the hypothesis of stochastic convergence results from a so called pervasive source. This means that at least one common factor was found to contain a unit root. Hence, divergence of regional unemployment rates that are common to all federal states but affect each federal state in a different way. In contrast, unemployment shocks that exclusively appear in a particular federal state, seem to have only transitory effects.

The results of the PANIC approach are rather mixed. This is in contrast to the results of the panel unit tests by Choi (2001) and Maddala/Wu (1999) but also to the findings of previous studies using first generation panel unit root tests. However, these results emphasize the necessity to account for cross-sectional dependence when analyzing stochastic convergence of regional unemployment rates. Furthermore, the findings appear to be sensitive in terms of the underlying assumption about the long-run relationship between regional unemployment rates and their national counterpart. Hence, the choice for a particular measure for relative regional variables is not trivial. These aspects should be taken into account in further research.

Chapter 4

4 Convergence analysis for heterogeneous employment groups

The literature review in chapter 2.1 shows that the large body of literature about convergence of regional labor markets focuses on the evolution of regional unemployment disparities. In contrast, little is known about the evolution of regional employment disparities. However, the results of OECD (2000) and OECD (2005) show that regional unemployment disparities and regional employment disparities might behave differently. To get a comprehensive overview about the evolution of regional labor market disparities, it appears to be necessary to examine both unemployment as well as employment. Therefore, this chapter deals with the question whether regional employment disparities within West Germany narrow, widen or remain constant over time.

The number of unemployed exhibits a clear positive trend during the last two decades whereas the number of employees remained remarkably stable during this time. Nevertheless, German employment is characterized by a clear change in the skill composition. As in most of the developed countries, the number of low-skilled workers decreased and the number of high-skilled workers increased. This decline of job opportunities for low-skilled workers and the rise of job opportunities for high-skilled workers and the rise of job opportunities for high-skilled workers is usually considered a result of the so called skill-biased technological change. This means technological progress favors high-skilled employment, whereas jobs for low-skilled workers get lost (see, for example, Acemoglu 1998, 2002 or Spitz-Oener 2006). Other explanations are an increase in international competition promoting specialization in human-capital intensive industries (see Wood 1994, 2002) and organizational changes (see Lindbeck/ Snower 1996).

The findings of several studies suggest that regions are affected differently by the change of the skill composition. For example, regions with a large share of high-skilled workers show higher employment growth rates compared to lowskilled regions (see, for example, Glaeser/Scheinkman/Shleifer 1995, Simon 1998, Simon/Nardinelli 2002, Blien/Südekum/Wolf 2006, Shapiro 2006, Südekum 2008, and Schlitte 2011). However, it is far from clear whether this triggers convergent or divergent behavior of regional labor market disparities. The aim of this chapter is to examine in which way the change in the skill composition of employment affects the evolution of regional employment disparities. Hence, this chapter provides convergence analysis for total employment as well as for different subgroups of skill-specific employment.

Note, that studies investigating the role of (un)employment subgroups in association with the evolution of regional disparities is only very scarce. To the

best of my knowledge, Südekum (2008) is the only study examining regional convergence for an employment subgroup. Südekum (2008) examines the hypothesis of β -convergence for the share of high-skilled employment for West German districts and the time period 1977 to 2002. His results indicate that convergence has occurred within regions and within single industries, but that the speed of convergence differs. Hence, Südekum (2008) concludes that regional disparities in regional skill composition decrease over time.

Grip/Hoevenberg/Willems (1997) examine the hypothesis of convergence for atypical employment in the European Union where atypical employment contains part-time employment and temporary employment. They provide a convergence index that examines the dispersion of shares of atypical employment within different occupation groups across Europe. The value of the indicator at any point in time is a measure of the degree of harmonization between the countries. This means Grip/ Hoevenberg/Willems (1997) follow the concept of σ -convergence. Note, they do not chose a regional approach, but compare different countries. Nevertheless, it appears to be appropriate to mention this study here, because the findings show that employment subgroups, more precisely, different occupation groups within atypical employment, might behave differently. For part-time employment, none of the occupational groups shows clear convergence tendencies. However, for production and agricultural workers, significant divergence behavior is observable. However, in the case of temporary employment, several occupation groups show a slight converging trend, particularly professional and agricultural workers, while clerical workers show divergent tendencies. These results indicate that employees are not a homogeneous group and divergent and convergent behavior might be found for employment subgroups.

It is far from clear how the different behavior of employment subgroups affects the evolution of total employment.¹ Divergence of total employment might simply reflect the divergent behavior of one employment subgroup only, while all other employment subgroups show convergent behavior. Furthermore, it is possible that total employment shows convergent behavior even if several employment subgroups exhibit divergence. In this case, the geographical distribution of employment might be stable. However, there would be a remarkable change in the geographical distribution of the employment prospects of the different subgroups. This means that if analyzing total employment indicates that employment prospects are evenly distributed across regions, this does not imply that the employment prospects for different employment subgroups are also evenly distributed across regions.

¹ Unfortunately, also Grip/Hoevenberg/Willems (1997) present no results for total part-time employment and total temporal employment respectively.

Hence, if employment subgroups behave differently, the analysis of regional total employment can only provide limited insights into the evolution of regional employment disparities. Considering different employment subgroups appears to be a fruitful extension of the existing literature.

As seen in the literature review, studies about convergence of regional unemployment disparities usually focus on the unemployment rate, whereas various measures are used to operationalize employment, for example, employment growth, the employment rate, or shares of employment subgroups. This chapter focuses on the employment rate.

The employment rate is preferred compared to the absolute employment level as well as employment growth for several reasons. Using the number of employees in a region has the disadvantage that regions differ in size. Due to the size effect, there will always be a gap between the number of employees in large and small regions and hence persistent labor market disparities. Examining changes in the number of employees provides only limited information of the evolution of regional employment disparities. Convergence of regional employment growth rates allows no straightforward conclusion about the evolution of regional disparities in employment opportunities. Assume that all regions are equal in size but the number of employees the gap between the regions whereas identical employment growth rates would trigger divergence. This is what the concept of β -convergence says.

Furthermore, the change in the skill composition of employment is usually considered as reflecting increasing job opportunities for high-skilled workers and decreasing job opportunities for low-skilled workers. The employment rate is defined as the share of the population that is employed. Hence, it reflects the employment prospects of the inhabitants of a certain region. In contrast, a high employment growth rate only says that the employment opportunities increase faster than in other regions. Hence, the region with the highest employment growth rate is not necessarily the region with the highest employment prospects. Using a relative employment measure such as the employment rate is in line with studies about regional unemployment disparities that examine the unemployment rate rather than regional unemployment levels or unemployment growth rates. Employment rates were calculated for total employment as well as for high-skilled, mediumskilled and low-skilled employment.

Skill-specific employment rates are considered here instead of employment shares for the three qualification groups because the main interest of this study is to investigate the evolution of regional employment disparities. Examining employment shares of different skill groups provides information on the evolution of the skill composition of employment across regions. However, the evolution of the skill composition of regional employment allows no straightforward conclusion about the evolution of regional employment opportunities. A rise as well as a decline of the differences in regional employment might go in hand in hand with a stable skill composition of regional employment over time.

For the sake of comparability to the existing literature and the availability of data, the previous chapter focused on German federal states. However, focusing on administrative areas like federal states or districts (NUTS3) causes the problem that borders of such areas are typically the results of political decisions or historical reasons. In general, they do not reflect the distribution of economic activity in space or cannot be regarded as economically independent because functional labor markets extend across administrative borders. An analysis of the dynamics of regional labor market disparities neglecting spatial dependencies runs the risk of capturing only a part of the ongoing processes. For example, an increasing employment rate in a rural area may not be the result of a positive economic development, but of employees moving from a city district to the rural area although still working in the city.

In this study, functional labor markets in West Germany are the unit of analysis. More specifically, the regional planning units (Raumordnungsregionen) provided by the Federal Institute for Research on Building, Urban Affairs and Spatial Development (Bundesinstitut für Bau-, Stadt- und Raumforschung – BBSR) serve to delineate functional labor markets. Based on commuting flows, the German districts were aggregated to 96 units. Here the 71 West German regional planning units are used. The BBSR divides West Germany into 74 regional planning units, where the city state of Hamburg and the city state of Bremen represent own regional planning units. According to the BBSR, the regional planning units "Schleswig-Holstein Sued", "Hamburg-Umland-Sued" and "Hamburg" are aggregated to the analysis region "Bremen". Considering these city states isolated from their hinterland is not appropriate with regard to functional labor markets.

The analysis is restricted to West Germany because the education system of West and East Germany before reunification was very different. Hence, the formal qualification level on what this study is forced to focus on, is not comparable in the 1990s. Furthermore, data on level of regional planning units for East Germany is only available since the mid 1990s. This means only short time series are available when including East Germany.

As in the previous chapter, this chapter also follows various concepts of convergence to get a comprehensive picture about the evolution of regional employment disparities. The traditional approach to investigate the hypothesis of stochastic convergence would be to compute deviations of regional employment

Data and definitions

rates from the West German average and test these deviations for a unit root. The previous chapter showed that there are several approaches to computing such relative regional variables. These approaches differ in the underlying assumption about the shape of the equilibrium relationship between the regional variables and their national counterpart. However, the previous section also showed that the results might be sensitive with respect to these assumptions. The definition of stochastic convergence imposes several restrictions that have to hold in the case of stochastic convergence. This section will show that it is possible to examine whether these restrictions are valid by applying the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) on the original time series. This appears to be a more convenient approach to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence compared to the traditional way. No assumptions about the equilibrium relationship between the regional variables and their national counterpart are required. Further, it is no longer necessary to test the hypothesis of cross-sectional correlation.

The reminder of the chapter is as follows. The first section describes the underlying data for the analysis. Section 4.2 provides some stylized facts about the evolution of regional employment in West Germany. Convergence analysis following the cross-sectional approach is presented in section 4.3. The restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence and how these restrictions can be tested applying the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) is presented in section 4.4. Section 4.5 presents the results for the tests for stochastic convergence. The final section concludes.

4.1 Data and definitions

The employment rate corresponds to the relation between employment and the working age population. The employment rate is calculated as the ratio of employees between 15 and 64 years, measured by place of residence, and the working age population. The working age population are all people between 15 and 64 years. Data on employment is provided by the German Federal Employment Agency. It includes all employees subject to social security contributions. Data on the population is provided by the BBSR. The time series covers the period 1989 to 2008.²

In addition to total employment, this chapter also considers employment groups with different qualification levels. These three groups consist of employees without any vocational qualification (low-skilled workers), employees with completed apprenticeship (medium-skilled workers), and employees with completed tertiary

² Data on employment measured by place of residence is only available as of 1989.

education (high-skilled workers). Skill-specific employment rates are calculated to analyze the evolution of regional disparities for these employment subgroups. The skill-specific employment rates correspond to the ratio of employees between 15 and 64 years in one of the qualification groups and the working age population. Hence, the employment rates for the three qualification groups sum up to the total employment rate.

Note, this chapter does not apply the original qualification measure provided by the Statistic Service of the Federal Employment Agency, but instead a corrected qualification measure. The reason is the fast growing and by now very large share of employees with unknown qualification level. In 1989, this share was 5.4 percent but increased to up to 16.0 percent in 2008.³ On the regional level, there is much more variation. The share of employees with an unknown qualification level in 2008 differs between 8.3 percent in Ostwuerttemberg, and 24.3 percent in Schleswig-Holstein Nord. This can be regarded as a reference that the validity of the qualification measure decreased over time and this should be taken into account when using this measure.

There are three common ways to handle this problem. The first way is to exclude employees with unknown qualifications from the analysis. However, this would mean that for some regions, up to one quarter of the employees are no longer considered. The second way is to assume that all employees with unknown qualification levels have no vocational qualification and to assign them to the group of low-skilled workers. Another possibility is to assume that the employment share of the three qualification groups for employment with unknown qualification levels corresponds to the employment share of the three qualification groups for employment with a known qualification level. If this assumption holds, the employees with unknown qualification levels can be assigned to the three qualification groups according to these employment shares for total employment (with known qualification level).⁴

Here a different way is used to account for the rising share of workers with unknown qualification. The underlying assumptions to assign the employees with unknown qualification to the three qualification groups are very restrictive. In fact, the share of employees with unknown qualification levels differs considerably not only between the regions but also between occupations and sectors. In addition, for occupations and sectors there appears to be a certain degree of correlation between a large employment share of low-skilled workers and a large employment share

³ Therefore, with an average annual growth rate of 6.1 percent, the group of employees with an unknown qualification was the fastest growing "qualification" group during the last two decades. The high-skilled employees follow with an average annual growth rate of 3.3 percent between 1989 and 2008.

⁴ Fitzenberger/Osikominuy/Völterz (2006) provide several deductive imputation procedures to take the shortcoming of the education variable into account. However, the imputation procedures are developed for a panel of individuals, whereas this study is based on aggregate data.
of employees with unknown qualification level. Nevertheless, a straightforward relationship between these two measures is not observable.

Here the starting point of the correction strategy are occupation groups on the three digit level. For each regional planning unit, it is assumed that the regional employment shares of the three qualification groups for employment with unknown qualification level in a certain occupation group corresponds to the regional employment shares of the three qualifications for employment with known qualification level in this occupation group. According to these shares, the employees with an unknown qualification level are assigned to the three qualification groups. This leads to the number of low-skilled, medium-skilled and high skilled workers for each occupation group in the considered regional planning unit. To get skill-specific regional employment, the number of employees in the three qualification groups are aggregated across the occupation groups. Aggregating the number of skill-specific employees for all regional planning units leads to West German skill-specific employment.

4.2 The evolution of skill-specific employment in West Germany

Figure 4.1 shows the development of employment in West Germany. The number of employees during the last 20 years was surprisingly stable. The number of employees in 2008 is about five percent higher than in 1989 (21,705,000 compared to 20,724,300). However, this difference seems to be the result of cyclical movements in employment.



Although, neither a positive nor a negative trend is observable for West German employment, this does not hold for the regional planning units. 15 regions have lost employment during the last 20 years whereas 29 regions exhibit a clear positive trend in employment (see figure A.1 in the appendix). Hence, the stable number of employees in West Germany is not the result of stable regional employment. Jobs get lost in one region and new jobs are created in another region.

Figure 4.1 reveals that the gualification structure of the employees changed remarkably over time. On the one hand, high-skilled workers doubled in number from 1,186,600 in 1989 up to 2,399,200 in 2008. On the other hand, the number of low-skilled workers diminished by 27.1 percent from 6,054,200 to 4,414,400. The majority of employees belongs to the group of medium-skilled workers. The number of workers in this group also increased between 1989 and 2008. But the employment growth rate for this group with 10.4 percent was considerably smaller compared to that of the high-skilled workers.





Source: Statistic of the German Federal Employment Agency, Federal Institute for Research on Building, Urban Affairs and Spatial Development, own calculations.

In addition, the evolution of the employment rates reflects the changes in the skill composition of employment (see figure 4.2). The total employment rate remained remarkably stable during the whole observation period with 49.2 percent in 1989 and 50.3 percent in 2008. It fluctuated around a mean of 49.0 percent with its highest value in 1991 (50.6 percent) and its lowest value in 2005 (47.8 percent). The high-skilled employment rate doubled between 1989 to 2008 from 2.8 percent up to 5.6 percent. The low-skilled employment rate decreased by almost one third from 14.4 percent in 1989 to 10.2 percent in 2008. The low-skilled employment rate is still considerably higher than the high-skilled employment rate. Furthermore, a slight increase in the medium-skilled employment rate from 32.0 percent in 1989 to 34.5 percent in 2008 is observable.

The levels of the employment rates considerably differ between regions. In 2008, the regional total employment rates range between 56.9 percent in Schwarzwald-Baar-Heuberg and 44.4 percent in Trier and Ost-Friesland, a difference of 12.5 percentage points (see figure A.2 in the appendix). The distance between the highest and lowest medium-skilled employment rate is similar with 10.7 percentage points. Westmittelfranken reported the highest mediumskilled employment rate with 40.4 percent, whereas the lowest medium-skilled employment rate with 29.1 percent could be found in Bonn (see figure A.4 in the appendix). However, the high and low-skilled employment rates exhibit the largest regional differences. The highest value for the low-skilled employment rate in 2008 was reported in Schwarzwald-Baar-Heuberg (15.7 percent). It is two times higher than in Lueneburg (7.8 percent) (see figure A.5 in the appendix). Only 2.5 percent of the working age population in Ost-Friesland are high-skilled employees. In Munich, the high-skilled employment rate amounts to 11.3 percent and is more than four times higher than in Ost-Friesland (see figure A.3 in the appendix). Further, the geographical distribution of total employment rates and low-skilled employment rates is characterized by a large degree of similarity. In contrast, the geographical distribution of total employment rates and high-skilled employment rates clearly differs. This means that only regions that provide job opportunities for low-skilled workers can realize above average total employment rates. Or, to state it differently, regions with high employment prospects are those regions where low-skilled people also might get a job.

For every region, an increase of the high-skilled employment rate and a decrease of the low-skilled employment rate is observable (see figure A.3 and figure A.5 in the appendix). Hence, regional high-skilled and low-skilled employment rates across West Germany followed a common trend. Although, the West German total employment rate was higher in 2008 compared to 1989, eleven regional planning units reported a lower value in 2008 than in 1989. They were Schleswig-Holstein Ost, Duesseldorf, Rhein-Main, Starkenburg, Hochrhein-Bodensee, Neckar-Alb, Nordschwarzwald, Stuttgart, Bayerischer Untermain, Industrieregion Mittelfranken and Oberfranken-Ost. Note, that in 15 of the regional planning units, the number of employees decreased during the last 20 years whereas only eleven regional planning units reported a lower total employment rate in 2008 compared to 1989. This means that in some regions, a fall in the number of employees went hand in hand with a fall in the number of the working age population. In Rhein-Main, Stuttgart and Munich, the medium-skilled employment rate decreased, whereas West Germany reported an increase of the medium-skilled employment rate. Nevertheless, for Stuttgart and Munich, the value of the total employment rate in 2008 exceeded the value in 1989. Hence, in these two regional planning units, the fall of the medium-skilled and the low-skilled employment rate was compensated by a rise in the high-skilled employment rate. In contrast, Rhein-Main belongs to the group of regional planning units with a decreasing total employment rate. The employment gains by the high-skilled were not sufficient to compensate the losses in medium- and low-skilled employment.

4.3 Recent trends in regional employment disparities

Similar to section 3.2, this section provides results for the cross-sectional approach to convergence. It examines the hypotheses of β -convergence and σ -convergence for regional total employment rates as well as for regional skill-specific employment rates. Furthermore, it investigates the intra-distributional dynamics of these measures.

To get a first impression of the persistence of regional employment disparities, the employment rates of each regional planning unit in 1989 and 2008 are plotted against each other (see figure 4.3). The dashed lines denote the corresponding West German rates in 1989 and 2008. These lines divide the panels of figure 4.3 into four areas. In the upper right area are regions with an above average employment rate in 1989 and a below average employment rate in 2008. In the bottom left area are regions with a below average employment rate in 1989 and a below average employment rate in 1989 and a below average employment rate in 1989 and a below average employment rate in 2008. In the bottom left area are regions with a below average employment rate in 1989 and a below average employment rate in 2008. In the bottom rate in 2008. In the upper left area are regions with a below average employment rate in 2008. In the bottom rate in 2008. In the bottom rate in 2008. In the upper left area are regions with a below average employment rate in 2008. In the bottom rate in 2008. In the bottom rate in 2008. In the upper left area are regions with a below average employment rate in 2008. In the bottom rate in 2008.

Panel 1 of figure 4.3 shows that the ranking of the regional planning units according to their total employment rate has remained remarkably stable over time. The regression line has a slope of 0.78 and a R^2 of 0.76. With 0.87, the correlation coefficient for total employment rates in 1989 and 2008 is high. Regional planning units with high total employment rates in 1989 also report high total employment rates in 2008 and vice versa. Only ten of the 71 regional planning units changed their position relative to the West German total employment rate. Seven regions changed from the group of regions with an above average total employment rate to the group with a below average total employment rate. Three regions with a below average total employment rate in 1989 reported an above average total employment rate in 2008.



For the high-skilled employment rates and the low-skilled employment rates, the results are very similar to the findings for the total employment rate. For the low-skilled employment rate, the regression line has a slope of 0.58 and a R^2 of 0.74 and the correlation coefficient is high with 0.86. There are only six regions which changed their groups (five from below average to the above average group and one from above average to the below average group). For the high-skilled employment rate, the relationship during the last twenty years is even more persistent. The regression line has a slope of 1.81 and a R^2 of 0.93. The correlation coefficient with 0.96 exceeds the value for the total employment rate as well as for the low-skilled employment rate. There are only four regions that changed their position with regard to the West German average.

In contrast, the ranking of regional planning units according to the mediumskilled employment rate appears to be much weaker. There are 22 regional planning units that changed their position compared to the West German medium-skilled employment rate. 14 regions changed from the group with a below average medium-skilled employment rate to the above average group. Eight regions reported an above average medium-skilled employment rate in 1989 but a below average medium-skilled employment rate in 2008. The medium-skilled employment rate exhibits with 0.62 the lowest correlation coefficient of all employment rates under consideration. The regression line has a slope of 0.79 and a comparatively small R^2 of 0.38.

These results indicate that the total employment rate, the high-skilled employment rate and the low-skilled employment rate are characterized by a low degree of intra-distributional dynamics. In contrast, the geographical distribution of the medium-skilled employment rate exhibits more dynamics. Following Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) and Martin (1997), the intra-distributional dynamics are examined in more detail by investigating the rank-order stability of regional employment rates over time. To test the rank-order stability, a Spearman's rank correlation coefficient is calculated for every year with 1989 as the reference year.

Figure 4.4 shows a slight decrease of the rank correlation coefficient for the total employment rate, the high-skilled employment rate and the low-skilled employment rate. In all three cases, the ranking of the regions according to the employment rate is very stable over time. The rank correlation coefficient in 2008 still exceeds 0.85 in all three cases. In contrast, clear changes in the rank order are observable for the medium-skilled employment rate. In 2008, the rank correlation coefficient is only 0.55. Especially in the 1990s, a sharp decrease of the rank correlation coefficient is observable. Between 1999 and 2003, the rank correlation coefficient remained stable followed by a slight decrease until 2008. The results confirm that the ranking of regions according to the medium-skilled employment rate are less persistent between 1989 and 2008, and that there is considerably more fluctuation here compared to other employment rates.

Hence, the medium-skilled employment rate was characterized by a strong degree of intra-distributional dynamics during the 1990s, whereas no similar pattern was found for the other employment rates. These findings are somewhat surprising. The medium-skilled workers are by far the largest group of employees. Thus, it seems reasonable to expect that the medium-skilled employment rate and the total employment rate show similar characteristics. However, this is not the case. It should kept in mind that the development of total employment is not first and foremost driven by the largest employment subgroup, but instead by the most

dynamic employment subgroup (in absolute terms). The changes in high-skilled employment and low-skilled employment were more pronounced than the changes in medium-skilled employment. Therefore, changes in total employment also appear to be mainly driven by these two measures and they overlay the development of medium-skilled employment. This implies that the ranking of total employment rates is also more similar to the ranking of high- and low-skilled employment rates compared to the ranking of medium-skilled employment rates.



Further information about the evolution of regional employment disparities provides the concept of β -convergence and the concept of σ -convergence. Figure 4.5 presents the relationship between the initial value of the employment rate in 1989, and their average annual growth rate between 1989 and 2008. A negative relationship between these two measures can be interpreted as evidence of (unconditional) β -convergence.



Figure 4.5: Relationship between regional employment rates in 1989 and their average annual growth rates 1989–2008

Source: Statistic of the German Federal Employment Agency, Federal Institute for Research on Building, Urban Affairs and Spatial Development, own calculations.

Indeed, for employment rates shown in figure 4.5, a negative relationship is observable. The regression coefficients are significantly different from zero on the five percent level. But the coefficients are only small (total employment rate: -0.03, high-skilled employment rate: -0.18, medium-skilled employment rate: -0.05, low-skilled employment rate: -0.06). Further, the value of the adjusted R^2 shows that the initial level of the employment rate explains only a small part of the variation in the growth rate of total and skill-specific employment rates (total employment rate: 0.23, high-skilled employment rate: 0.07, medium-skilled employment rate: 0.08, low-skilled employment rate: 0.08). These results can be interpreted as evidence of the existence of weak (unconditional) β -convergence.

To examine whether the existence of β -convergence leads to a decrease in regional inequality, the evolution of the dispersion of regional employment rates is

considered in figure 4.6. As in section 3.2, the coefficient of variation is applied as an inequality measure.

Figure 4.6 reveals that regional high-skilled employment rates are characterized by the highest degree of dispersion followed by the low-skilled employment rate. The coefficient of variation is smaller for the medium-skilled employment rate and the total employment rate. For these two measures, the coefficient of variation is nearly identical. For the high-skilled employment rate, a clear increase in the regional dispersion is observable between 1999 and 2003. From then on, the coefficient of variation remains stable. In contrast, medium-skilled, low-skilled and total employment rates, neither exhibit a clear positive nor clear negative trend over time with regard to the regional dispersion.



Figure 4.6 shows that for regional employment rates, the existence of β -convergence does not go hand in hand with the existence of σ -convergence. Regional inequality across West German regional planning units according to their employment rates appears to be persistent and provides no sign of a catching-up process. The evolution of the coefficient of variation neither indicates a clear convergent behavior nor a clear divergent behavior of regional employment rates during the last 20 years.

Section 3.2 showed that changes in the dispersion of regional unemployment rates are mainly driven by the business cycle. However, such a relationship is only hard to observe for regional employment rates. The cyclical movement of the dispersion

of regional total employment rates and regional medium-skilled employment appears to be very weak. For low-skilled employment, the cyclical behavior of the dispersion is slightly more pronounced. An explanation might be that the number of employees clearly exceeds the number of unemployed. Therefore, during an economic downturn, the outflows from employment compared to the number of employees is less pronounced than the inflows into unemployment compared to the number of unemployed. Hence, the dispersion of regional unemployment reacts more sensitively to changes in the economic climate than does the dispersion of regional employment. This would also explain why cyclical movements appear to be slightly more pronounced for low-skilled workers. The risk of job loss is larger for this employment group than for the other employment groups. Further, for this group it is most clearly observable that an economic downturn leads to more equality, whereas a boom increases regional inequality.

Regional medium-skilled employment rates are characterized by intradistributional dynamics during the 1990s. However, these changes in the ranking of the regions due to their medium-skilled employment rate did not affect the dispersion of employment rates across the regions. Regional total employment rates, high- and low-skilled employment rates are characterized by both a persistent distribution across regions, as well as persistent regional inequality. This is in line with the findings for regional unemployment rates.

The results show that regional employment rates are not characterized by transition dynamics. The results for the concept of β -convergence indicate that the value of the employment rate in the initial period can only explain a small part of the variation of the corresponding average annual growth rate for the time period 1989 to 2009. Therefore, also for regional employment rates, the concept of stochastic convergence appears to be more appropriate.

4.4 Stochastic convergence and cross-sectional dependence

The traditional approach to investigate the hypothesis of stochastic convergence, consists of calculating relative regional variables and testing them for a unit root. Banerjee/Wagner (2009) discuss in detail the restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence that have to hold for relative regional variables to follow a stationary process. Following the discussion in Banerjee/Wagner (2009), this section will show that an alternative approach to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence would be to examine directly whether these restrictions are valid or not. Further, this section shows that applying the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) on the original time series instead of relative regional variables, provides all necessary information about the restrictions imposed by the definition of convergence.

4.4.1 Structures and restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence

Let $X_t = (x_{1,t}, ..., x_{N,t})'$ denote the joint vector of a regional variable $x_{i,t}$. If X_t is I(0), this would imply that all regions are in their equilibrium and, therefore, shocks only have transitory effects. In this case, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence would be valid because if X_t is I(0), the differences between the regions also have to be I(0). Here, X_t is assumed to follow a I(1) process. According to Banerjee/Wagner (2009), under appropriate assumptions, the Granger-type representation of this vector is given by:

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_{1,t} \\ \vdots \\ x_{N,t} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} C_1 \\ \vdots \\ C_N \end{pmatrix} \eta_t + \begin{pmatrix} D_1 \\ \vdots \\ D_N \end{pmatrix} T_t + c^*(L)\varepsilon_t$$
(4.1)

where η_t denotes the vector $r \ge 1$ of linearly independent common stochastic trends, T_t the vector of *s* deterministic components of the data generating process, and $c^*(L)\varepsilon_t$ the stationary part. Following Evans/Karras (1996), the definition of stochastic convergence for this variable is given by:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E(x_{i,t} - a_t) = \mu_i \tag{4.2}$$

where a_t denotes a joint common trend. The definition of stochastic convergence maintains that the deviations of the regional variable $x_{i,t}$ from the common trend a_t follow a I(0) process. However, it is not possible to test equation (4.2) because the common trend a_t is unobservable and unknown. In general, the cross-sectional average \overline{x}_t where $\overline{x}_t = N^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^N x_{i,t}$ is used as a proxy for the common trend (see also section 2.1.2). This leads to the following definition of stochastic convergence:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E(x_{i,t} - \overline{x}_t) = \mu_i \tag{4.3}$$

Let $C_i = (c_{i,1}, ..., c_{i,r})$ and $D_i = (d_{i,1}, ..., d_{i,s})$. Further, let $\overline{c}^*(L) = N^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N} c^*(L) \varepsilon_i$. According to Banerjee/Wagner (2009), the corresponding cross-sectional average \overline{x}_i can be expressed in the following fashion:

$$\overline{X}_{t} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} c_{i,1} \eta_{1,t} + \dots + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} c_{i,r} \eta_{r,t} + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} d_{i,1} T_{1,t} + \dots + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} d_{i,s} T_{s,t} + \overline{c}^{*}(L) \varepsilon_{t}$$
(4.4)

Hence, if the hypothesis of stochastic convergence holds, calculating the deviations of each time series of the panel from the cross-sectional average has to eliminate all

stochastic trends as well as all non-constant deterministic terms. Only in this case, the stationary terms remain after computing relative regional variables. Banerjee/ Wagner (2009) show that this means that the stochastic terms in equation (4.1) and equation (4.4) are given by:

$$c_{i,k} - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} c_{i,k} = 0$$
(4.5)

for all i = 1, ..., N. Equation (4.5) implies that $c_{i,k} = c_k$ for all i = 1, ..., N and for all k = 1, ..., r. Therefore, the definition of stochastic convergence allows for one common stochastic I(1) trend given by $\eta_t = \sum_{k=1}^r c_k \eta_{k,t}$. Additionally, this stochastic trend has to be loaded with the same weight in each series. Furthermore, the coefficient of each non-constant deterministic part has to be identical for each time series of the panel. This in turn implies that the definition of stochastic convergence does not allow for different linear trend slopes in the data.⁵

In this I(1) setting, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence requires that the idiosyncratic component of the regional variable follows a stationary process. Further, non-stationarity of $x_{i,t}$ is only allowed to occur via one common factor with homogeneous factor loadings that is I(1). Otherwise, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence does not hold.

Because these two conditions have to be valid in the case of stochastic convergence, it is possible to distinguish between two sources of divergence. Divergence might occur because the idiosyncratic component of the regional variable follows a non-stationary process. This might be caused by developments that exclusively affect a particular region. Further, divergence might occur because the common components of the regional variable follow a non-stationary process and are loaded with heterogeneous weights in each time series of the panel. This could be the case if there are common developments that affect each region differently. Note, these origins of regional divergence are very similar to the definition of region-specific shocks given in Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) (see also section 3.5.3). This emphasizes that region-specific shocks with long-lasting effects can be considered as the main source of regional divergence in the time series approach to convergence.

In this framework, the regional variables $x_{i,t}$ exhibit cross-sectional correlation because they contain common components. Relative regional variables are only free from cross-sectional correlation if there is only one common component characterized by homogeneous loadings. Only in this case is the common component eliminated by computing the deviations from the cross-sectional mean.

⁵ Note, this implies that trend-stationarity of relative regional variables is not a sufficient condition for the existence of stochastic convergence.

If the relative regional variables contain no common components, non-stationarity of the idiosyncratic component remains the only possible source of divergence. From this point of view, the assumption of cross-sectional independence is not only important for the choice of an appropriate panel unit root test, but also has a meaning in regard to contents. The assumption of cross-sectional independence for relative regional variables implies that total shocks affect each region in the same way. For example, there is a downturn in a particular industry and the regions are characterized by different degrees of specialization in terms of this industry. Such a form of a region-specific shock as a possible source of divergence would be excluded under the assumption of cross-sectional independence. However, the results from the previous chapter indicate that this assumption is only hard to verify. Shocks common to all regions but affecting regions in a different way seemed to be an important source of divergence of regional unemployment rates in Germany.

4.4.2 Testing stochastic convergence as a second generation panel unit root test

The definition of stochastic convergence given in Evans/Karras (1996) can be rewritten for regional employment rates er_{i} , as:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} E(e_{i,t} - a_t) = \mu_i \tag{4.6}$$

where *i* denotes the cross-sectional dimension with i = 1, ..., N, and *t* denotes the time dimension with t = 1, ..., T. a_t denotes a_t joint trend that is present in all *N* series of the panel. In the case of stochastic convergence, the deviations of the regional employment rates $e_{i,t}$ from the common trend a_t have to follow a stationary process.

If the regional employment rate is I(0), this implies that also the differences between the regions are I(0). Hence, in this case, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence holds. According to the discussion in section 4.4.1, if $er_{i,t}$ is I(1), there are two conditions that have to be valid in the case of stochastic convergence. Firstly, even in the case of stochastic convergence, the regional employment rates are allowed to contain one common trend that follows a non-stationary process, this means a_t is I(1). However, this common trend has to be shared by all regions in the same way. The common factor has to be loaded with the same weight in each time series of the panel. Secondly, the remaining idiosyncratic component of the regional employment rates has to be I(0).

Note, these conditions can be tested by applying the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) introduced in section 3.5 on the original time series of a regional variable.

The PANIC approach combines the principal component method and unit root tests. In the first step, a principal component method is applied to decompose the different time series of the panel into their idiosyncratic components and the common components. This provides information about the (optimal) number of common factors present in the data and whether the corresponding factor loadings are heterogeneous or homogeneous. The second step of the PANIC approach consists of testing the idiosyncratic component and the common factors for a unit root. Therefore, the results from the PANIC approach applied on the original time series of a regional variables provides information about whether the variable is I(0) or I(1). Moreover, in the I(1) case, it is possible to examine whether this variable is characterized by one non-stationary common trend with homogeneous factor loadings and a stationary idiosyncratic component.

In the context of stochastic convergence, the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) is not only a tool to test for a unit root in a panel if the cross-sectional units exhibit correlation. Further, the PANIC approach provides an appropriate framework to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence by applying the combination of factor decomposition and unit root test to regional variables. In contrast to the traditional approach of testing the hypothesis of stochastic convergence, this approach makes it possible to directly test the restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence.

Applying the PANIC approach on the original time series to test the hypothesis of convergence, provides some additional advantages compared to the traditional approach to examine the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. As already mentioned before, the common trend process a_t is unobservable and unknown. To overcome this problem, the cross-sectional average of the variable of interest in general serves as a proxy for a_t .

As discussed in section 3.3, the literature provides several ways to calculate relative regional variables. They differ in the underlying assumption about the shape of the equilibrium relationship between the regional variables and their national counterpart. The results of the previous chapter indicate that the results for the hypothesis of stochastic convergence might be sensitive in terms of these assumptions. Using the PANIC approach, it is no longer necessary to account for a joint trend by calculating the deviations from the cross-sectional average. Instead, the time series is decomposed into its idiosyncratic and common components using the principal component method. Hence, in this case, no proxy for the equilibrium relationship between the regional average of the equilibrium relationship between the regional variables and their national counterpart.

The West German employment rate $\overline{e}r_t$, can only serve as a proxy for one nonstationary joint trend with homogeneous factor loadings. If the time series of the panel are characterized by one or more joint trends with heterogeneous factor loadings, the deviations of er_i , from \overline{er} , still contain fragments of this common trend.

Hence, the calculation of relative regional variables corresponds to a factor decomposition of the original regional variable for one common factor loaded with the same weight in each series (see, for example, Banerjee/Wagner 2009). Therefore, applying the PANIC approach on relative regional variables means that the underlying time series of the panel are de-factored twice. The first time by the construction of relative regional variables. The second time by the principal component method. However, focusing on absolute regional variables instead of relative regional variables, means that the approximate factor model provides the original common factors. Otherwise, the common factors identified by the approximate factor model solely represent fragments of the common factor present in the original time series. In this case, information about the structure of the common factor could get lost. Hence, it seems to be appropriate to avoid a two time de-factorizing of the time series. Further, it is not a priori known whether relative regional variables exhibit cross-sectional correlation or not. This makes it necessary to test for cross-sectional dependence. The idea of the PANIC approach is to distinguish between common factors that trigger cross-sectional dependence in the data, and the remaining idiosyncratic component. Hence, tests for crosssectional dependence become dispensable.

The hypothesis of stochastic convergence has to be rejected if the idiosyncratic component is I(1), or if there are common factors with heterogeneous factor loadings that are I(1). In the latter case, relative regional variables exhibit crosssectional dependence because the construction of relative regional variables is no longer sufficient to eliminate the common trend. In addition, if the panel is characterized by cross-sectional correlation, non-stationarity of the deviations of er_{i} from \overline{er}_{i} would still imply that region-specific shocks have permanent effects on regional employment rates. However, divergence of regional employment rates might occur because the idiosyncratic component of the regional employment rates is stationary, but the fragments of a common trend are non-stationary and vice versa. In the first case, divergence would be the result of a shock common to all regions but affecting each region in a different way. In the second case, divergence occurs because shocks that exclusively affect a particular region have long-lasting effects.⁶ In both cases the regional employment rates show divergent behavior. However, it appears to be fruitful to distinguish between the different origins of the divergence processes. For example, the results of the previous chapter for regional

⁶ Of course, divergence of regional employment rates might also occur because the idiosyncratic component is I(1), and there is at least one common factor with heterogeneous factor loadings that is I(1).

unemployment rates show that the hypothesis of stochastic convergence is usually rejected because of a non-stationary common factor with heterogeneous factor loadings. In contrast to the PANIC approach, simple univariate unit root tests are not able to distinguish between these two origins of divergence. The same is true for first generation panel unit root tests due to the assumption of cross-sectional independence.

To test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for regional employment rates in West Germany, the restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence are directly considered. Instead of focusing on relative regional employment rates, the PANIC approach is applied to the original series. This allows to test for whether the assumptions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence about the shape of the idiosyncratic component and common factors are valid or violated in the underlying data. Further, if the hypothesis of stochastic convergence is rejected, it can be examined what the sources of divergence in regional employment rates are.

4.5 Convergence or divergence of regional employment rates?

This section presents the results of the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) for regional total employment rates as well as for the regional skill-specific employment rates. Note, the employment rate is also a bounded variable just like the unemployment rate. Hence, it is again assumed that regional employment rates contain a constant but not a deterministic trend.

To choose the optimal number of common factors, the panel BIC_3 provided by Bai/Ng (2002) is used (see also section 3.5.1). Table 4.1 presents the optimal number of common factors identified by the principal component approach.

	Common Factors
total employment rate	1
high-skilled employment rate	1
medium-skilled employment rate	2
high-skilled employment rate	1
Source: Own calculations	

Table 4.1: Estimated optimal number of common factors in West German regional employment rates

For the medium-skilled employment rate, two common factors are identified. For the other employment rates, one common factor is identified. In the case of the total employment rate, the common factor captures the cyclical behavior of the total employment rate. For the high- and low-skilled employment rate, the common factor reflects the positive and the negative trend behavior of the time series respectively. The two common factors for the medium-skilled employment rate are harder to interpret. The first common factor seems to capture the cyclical behavior, while the second common factor seems to reflect the slight positive trend in medium-skilled employment.

	BN _N	BN_{χ^2}	$ADF^c_{\widehat{f}_t}$	$MQ_c^c(m)$	$MQ_f^c(m)$
total employment rate	4.455*	217.07*	-3.482*	-	-
high-skilled employment rate	9.787*	306.93*	1.093	-	-
medium-skilled employment rate	-3.078*	90.13	-	2	2
low-skilled employment rate	-0.048	141.20	-1.902	-	-
Source: Own calculations. * denotes significance on the five percent level.					

Table 4.2 presents the results of the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) for total employment rates and the skill-specific employment rates. In the case of stochastic convergence, the idiosyncratic component has to follow a stationary process. The first two columns of table 4.2 present the results of the two pooled unit root tests for the idiosyncratic components BN_N and BN_{χ^2} suggested by Bai/Ng (2004) (for details see section 3.5.2).

For the idiosyncratic component of regional total employment rates as well as regional high-skilled employment rates, both tests reject the hypothesis of a unit root on the five percent level. This means that region-specific shocks occurring in a particular region have only transitory effects on the high-skilled employment rate. None of the regions deviates permanently from the single global trend identified for high-skilled employment and total employment. In contrast, the hypothesis of a unit root can not be rejected for the idiosyncratic component of the low-skilled employment rate. This means labor market shocks that exclusively affect a certain region, have persistent effects on low-skilled employment and influence their long-run behavior. Therefore, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence has to be rejected for regional low-skilled employment rates. For regional medium-skilled employment rates, the results for the idiosyncratic component are ambiguous. While the BN_N test rejects the hypothesis of a unit root on the five percent level, the unit root hypothesis can not be rejected by the BN_{ν^2} test.

Apart from the idiosyncratic component, the definition of stochastic convergence imposes several restrictions about the shape of the common factors. The common factor also has to follow a stationary process. However, the definition of stochastic convergence also allows for the presence of one non-stationary common factor with homogeneous factor loadings. In the case of the total employment rate, the high- and low-skilled employment rate, an ADF test is sufficient to test for a unit because only one common factor was identified. The result of this $ADF_{f_t}^c$ test are presented in the third column of table 4.2. For the medium-skilled employment rate, more than one common factor was identified. Hence, the $MQ_c^c(m)$ test and the $MQ_f^c(m)$ test provided by Bai/Ng (2004) to examine the number of linearly independent *I*(1) common trends contained in the common factors has to be applied (see also section 3.5.2). The result for these tests are presented in the last two columns of table 4.2.

For the medium-skilled employment rate, the results of the $MQ_c^c(m)$ test and the $MQ_f^c(m)$ test indicate that both identified common factors are I(1). However, the definition of stochastic convergence allows for only one non-stationary common factor to be present in the data. Therefore, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence has to be rejected for the medium-skilled employment rate.

For the common factor of regional total employment rates, the $ADF_{f_t}^c$ test rejects the hypothesis of the unit root on the five percent level. Because the common component reflects the cyclical movements of regional total employment rates, it is not surprising that the common factor is found to be stationary. In the case of the regional total employment rates, the results of the unit root tests for the idiosyncratic component and the common factor provide evidence of stochastic convergence.

In contrast, the $ADF_{f_t}^c$ test favors the hypothesis of a unit root in the common factor of the low- and high-skilled employment rate. If the idiosyncratic component follows a stationary process as in the case of the high-skilled employment rate, the definition of stochastic convergence is in line with the existence of one non-stationary common factor. However, it requires that a stochastic common factor is loaded with the same weight in each time series. Therefore, it is necessary to consider the corresponding factor loadings in more detail.

	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min	Max	t-stat, H_0 : $\xi_i = 1$
total employment rate (\hat{F}^{1})	0.99	0.12	0.67	1.25	-0.51
high-skilled employment rate (\hat{F}^1)	0.95	0.32	0.46	2.24	-1.35
medium-skilled employment rate (\hat{F}^1)	0.98	0.21	0.45	1.44	-0.89
medium-skilled employment rate (\hat{F}^2)	0.07	1.00	-1.61	1.86	-7.79*
low-skilled employment rate ($\hat{F}^{_1}$)	0.98	0.21	0.67	1.63	-0.90
Source: Own calculations, * denotes significance on the five percent level.					

Tahle	43.	Description	of factor	loadings
Iduic	4.3.	Description	UI TACLUI	loaulitys

Table 4.3 provides descriptive statistics about the factor loadings for regional employment rates. In most cases, the mean of the factor loadings is near unity. One exception are the factor loadings of the second common factor for the medium-skilled employment rate. Here, the mean of the common factor is near zero. Comparing the minima and the maxima as well as the standard deviation of the factor loadings, reveals that the factor loadings of the second factor of the medium-skilled employment rate exhibit a strong degree of variation across regions. This means that the slight positive trend in medium-skilled employment seems to affect the regions very differently.

A *t*-test is applied to examine the hypothesis that the factor loadings correspond to unity. The results are provided in the last column of table 4.3. Only for the second common factor of the medium-skilled employment rate does the *t*-test reject the null hypothesis of all factor loadings equalling unity. In all other cases, the null hypothesis is not rejected. Hence, the stochastic common factor present in the time series of the high-skilled employment rate appears to be loaded with the same weight in each series. Because the idiosyncratic component was found to be stationary, the restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence appear to be valid for regional high-skilled employment rates.

For regional total employment rates, the findings provide evidence of the existence of stochastic convergence. The idiosyncratic as well as the common component follow a stationary process. This implies that relative regional employment rates also follow a stationary process. According to these findings, shocks only have transitory effects on the idiosyncratic component and the common component. After a shock, regional total employment rates return back to their steady state. Therefore, disparities in total regional employment rates seem to be mainly characterized by different steady state values. The results provide no evidence that disparities in regional total employment rates occur because of slow or sluggish adjustment processes after a labor market shock.

However, the regional skill-specific employment rates behave differently to the total employment rate. This means that the evolution of regional disparities in total employment rates does not simply reflect the evolution of regional disparities in skill-specific employment rates.

Evidence of stochastic convergence was only found for regional highskilled employment rates. The idiosyncratic components of regional high-skilled employment rates follow a stationary process and there is one non-stationary common factor with homogeneous factor loadings present in the data. This is in line with the definition of stochastic convergence. In contrast, regional low- and medium-skilled employment rates show divergent behavior. For regional low-skilled employment rates, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence is clearly rejected. The idiosyncratic components are found to contain a unit root. Therefore, permanent deviations from the common trend are possible on a regional level in the case of low-skilled employment rates. Nevertheless, the evolution of the coefficient of variation did not indicate that the inequality across regions in terms of low-skilled employment rates increased during the last twenty years. One reason might be that the evolution of regional low-skilled employment rates was mainly driven by common movements which overlayed region-specific movements.

In addition, for the regional medium-skilled employment rates, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence has to be rejected. The hypothesis of stochastic convergence allows only for one non-stationary common factor present in the data. However, the $MQ_c^c(m)$ test and the $MQ_f^c(m)$ test indicate that medium-skilled employment rates are characterized by two linear independent common factors which are both I(1). Further, one of the common factors reflecting a slight positive trend in medium-skilled employment is loaded with a different weight in each time series of the panel and, hence, seems to affect the regions differently.

4.6 Conclusion

This chapter deals with the evolution of regional employment disparities within West Germany. It examines the hypothesis of convergence for West German regional employment rates for the time period 1989 to 2008. The number of employees in West Germany was very stable during the last twenty years. However, this period was characterized by a remarkable change of the skill composition of the employees. The number of high-skilled workers increased, while the number of low-skilled workers decreased. Hence, next to regional total employment rates, also regional skill-specific employment rates were investigated to take the changes in the skill composition of employees into account. Skill-specific employment rates were calculated for low-skilled workers, medium-skilled workers and high-skilled workers. Further, to get a comprehensive overview, different approaches to convergence were applied.

Evidence of weak unconditional β -convergence was found for all four employment rates under consideration. However, the negative relationship between the initial values of regional employment rates and their corresponding growth rates implied by the existence of β -convergence does not lead to a decrease in regional inequality. According to the development of the coefficient of variation, the regional dispersion of regional employment rates was stable between 1989 and 2008. One could even observe a rise in the dispersion of the high-skilled employment rate between 1999 and 2003. For regional unemployment rates, the development of the coefficient of variation was characterized by a clear cyclical pattern. In contrast, for regional employment rates, such a cyclical pattern was only hardly observable.

Further, testing the rank-order stability shows that total employment rates were characterized by a small degree of intra-distributional dynamics. Similar results were found for the low- and high-skilled employment rate. In contrast, regional medium-skilled employment rates were characterized by a higher degree of intra-distributional dynamics especially during the 1990s.

Similar to regional unemployment rates, the behavior of regional employment rates can only hardly be characterized by a transition process. Investigating the cross-sectional behavior of regional employment rates shows no evidence of a catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions. Hence, also in the case of regional employment rates, the concept of stochastic convergence appears to be more appropriate.

This chapter discussed in detail the restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence. In the case of stochastic convergence, the idiosyncratic component and the common component of this variable have to follow a stationary process. However, the definition of stochastic convergence is also in line with the existence of one non-stationary common factor with homogeneous factor loadings. Therefore, it is possible to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence by investigating whether these conditions are valid. For this purpose, the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) can be applied. Following this alternative way to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence to the traditional way of calculating deviations of regional variables from their national counterpart and examining whether these deviations follow a stationary process.

The results for the total employment rate provide evidence of stochastic convergence. The idiosyncratic component as well as the common component present in regional total employment rates are found to be stationary. Hence, differences in regional total employment rates seem to be the result of different steady state values rather than weak and sluggish adjustment processes after a region-specific shock.

However, in the case of skill-specific employment rates, evidence of stochastic convergence was only found for regional high-skilled employment rates. The hypothesis of stochastic convergence was rejected for regional low-skilled employment rates and regional medium-skilled employment rates.

In the case of the low-skilled employment rate, non-stationarity of the idiosyncratic component is identified as a source of divergence. This means that region-specific shocks have long-lasting effects on regional low-skilled

employment and might lead to a permanent deviation from the common trend. The studies by Decressin/Fatás (1995) and Kunz (2012) identify labor mobility as the major adjustment mechanism after a regional labor market shock in the long run for West German regions. Compared to the high-skilled employees, the low-skilled employees are less mobile. This could be one explanation for the long-lasting effects of a shock in the case of low-skilled employment and for temporary effects in the case of high-skilled employment.

The results for the medium-skilled employees are less clear and hard to interpret. The panel unit root tests for the idiosyncratic component lead to ambiguous results. However, two non-stationary common factors were identified for regional mediumskilled employment rates and this is not in line with the definition of stochastic convergence. The medium-skilled workers are the largest group of employees and contain a wide range of different occupations. This stronger heterogeneity within the group of medium-skilled workers compared to other qualification groups might be a possible explanation for these findings.

The change of the skill-composition of employees is usually explained by the so called skill-biased technological change. The technological progress favors high-skilled employment whereas jobs for low-skilled workers get lost. Autor/Levy/ Murnane (2003) and Goos/Manning (2007) introduce a more nuanced definition of skill-biased technological change. They emphasize the role of tasks rather than the qualification level of an employee. According to their point of view, the skillbiased technological change leads to diminishing relevance of routine tasks, while the relevance of non-routine tasks becomes more important. Hence, this form of skill-biased technological change does not only take place between high and lowskilled employees, but also within different qualification groups. The empirical results by Spitz-Oener (2006) support this point of view for West Germany. Note, that the ranking of the regions according to the medium-skilled employment rate appears less stable during the last twenty years compared to the other employment rates. Further, one of the common factors identified for medium skilled appears to reflect the slight positive trend in medium-skilled employment. However, each region is affected differently by this common factor because it is characterized by heterogeneous factor loadings. Hence, the impact of the skill-biased technological change might differ for the medium-skilled employees on a regional level, depending on the task composition of the medium-skilled workers.

Only little is known about the role of heterogeneous employment groups and the evolution of regional labor market disparities. This study shows that analyzing the evolution of regional labor market disparities by investigating total employment only provides limited insights. Employment subgroups can behave in a different way to total employment. The changes in the skill competition does not seem to affect the geographical distribution of employment prospects for total employment. However, it seems to go hand in hand with a redistribution of skill-specific employment prospects across regions.

The results indicate that regional total employment rates do not show stochastic convergence because the skill-specific employment subgroups show convergent behavior. Hence, to get a complete picture about the evolution of regional labor market disparities, a more detailed look on employment subgroups is necessary. They appear to be an important driving force for the differences between regions.

Chapter 5

5 Regional labor market dynamics after a labor demand shock

According to the results of the previous chapters, region-specific labor market shocks appear to be an important driving force for persistent regional labor market disparities. This raises the following questions: How long does it take until everything returns back to normal after a regional labor market shock? What are the main adjustment mechanisms after a region-specific labor market shock and how do they work? This chapter analyzes regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock for West German regions and provides additional results for Germany as a whole.

In their seminal paper, Blanchard/Katz (1992) provide an empirical framework with which it is possible to investigate regional adjustment processes after a region-specific labor demand shock. Suppose a person looses his or her job due to an unfavorable regional labor demand shock. This person can either leave the labor force, become unemployed in the region of residence, or move to another region. In an analogous manner, newly created jobs after a positive labor demand shock can either be filled by people out of the labor force, unemployed or people from outside the region. Therefore, the existing literature considers mobility of labor between these different labor market states as the main adjustment mechanism after regional labor market shocks. Blanchard/Katz (1992) suggest a vector autoregressive (VAR) model that considers the interactions between these different states.

By now, many studies exist which adopt or augment the original approach suggested by Blanchard/Katz (1992). Results for West Germany are presented by Decressin/Fatás (1995) and Kunz (2012). Decressin/Fatás (1995) examine adjustment processes for West German federal states and the time period 1975 to 1987. Kunz (2012) examines the adjustment process for West German federal states and the smaller districts for the time period 1989 to 2004. Both studies find for the federal states that in the first year of the shock, the main part of the shock is absorbed by participation decisions and changes in unemployment. The participation rate and the unemployment rate quickly return back to their initial value and very soon migration becomes the main adjustment channel. For the West German districts, Kunz (2012) identifies migration as the most important adjustment mechanism even in the early stages of the shock.

However, it should be kept in mind that in the framework by Blanchard/Katz (1992) migration is the only form of labor mobility. This means that a person can only work in his or her region of residence. This appears to be a very restrictive assumption because commuting as an additional form of labor mobility is excluded.

Therefore, an analysis based on the framework by Blanchard/Katz (1992) runs the risk of overestimating the role of migration during the adjustment process if commuting is not negligible. This chapter will show that in this case, the identified response of migration corresponds to the response of labor mobility as a whole. Therefore, it appears to be reasonable to consider the role of labor mobility in more detail and distinguish between migration and commuting. For this purpose, the framework of Blanchard/Katz (1992) is augmented to allow for both migration and commuting.

According to the theoretical model of regional evolutions provided in section 2.2.2, the role of wages during the adjustment process is twofold. An adverse regional labor demand shock should lead to a decline in regional wages. Low wages trigger out-migration of people and in-migration of firms. What happens to regional employment depends on the relative strength and speed of these two effects. The role of wages during the adjustment process was already investigated by Blanchard/Katz (1992) for the US, Debelle/Vickery (1999) for Australia, Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) for New Zealand, and Leonardi (2004) for Italy. A corresponding analysis for Germany is still missing. This chapter will fill this gap.

The findings of the literature examining the adjustment process after a labor demand shock differs between countries. This is not surprising because of differences in national labor market institutions. However, labor market institutions are only one possible explanation why the existing studies provide different results.

Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) point out that it is also possible to obtain different results for the adjustment processes after a labor demand shock even for the same country if regions of different size are considered. This confirms the findings by Kunz (2012) for West Germany which show that labor mobility plays a more important role as an adjustment mechanism in the case of districts compared to federal states. Kunz (2012) points out that labor mobility is more intense between small regional units whereas a lot of migration and commuting activities take place inside large regions. According to the discussion in Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) and Fredriksson (1999), it is not surprising that labor mobility plays a larger role for small regional units compared to large regional units. In small regional units, fewer labor market opportunities exist. Therefore, after a downturn in regional labor demand, people are more likely to have to look outside their own regions for a new job.

This leads to the question which regional unit is the optimal choice to examine the adjustment processes after a labor demand shock. If regional units are too large, the analysis runs the risk of capturing only a part of the ongoing processes. Examining small regional units such as districts or municipalities, increases the risk of neglecting spatial dependencies because functional labor markets extend across administrative borders. A lot of commuting activities on the district level take place between cities and their hinterland. Suppose someone moves from the city into a rural neighboring district of the city but still works in the city. In this case, changes in labor mobility are not the result of changes in employment opportunities. Hence, for small regional units, the relationship between labor mobility and employment opportunities appears to be ambiguous.

Because of these arguments, the delimitation of regions to analyze the adjustment process after a labor demand shock should reflect the distribution of economic activity in space and the units of analysis should be regarded as economically independent respectively. Therefore, a functional delimitation of regional labor markets appears to be most appropriate. As in chapter 4, the regional planning units provided by the BBSR serve to delineate functional labor markets. The BBSR divides Germany into 96 regional planning units where the city of Hamburg, Bremen and Berlin represent own regional planning units. As discussed in the previous chapter, this would not be in line with the idea of functional labor markets. Therefore, the regional planning units "Schleswig-Holstein Sued", "Hamburg-Umland-Sued", and "Hamburg" are aggregated to the analysis region "Hamburg" as well as "Bremen-Umland" and "Bremen" to the analysis region "Bremen" and "Havelland-Fläming", "Oderland-Spree" and "Berlin" to the analysis region "Berlin". This leads to the 91 German regional planning units used here.

Usually, the main concern when analyzing regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock is not the response of a certain region, but to get information about the adjustment processes of the representative or average region. For this purpose, the regions are pooled in the VAR. This leads to a panel vector autoregressive (PVAR) model.

Each equation of the VAR contains lagged values of the endogenous variable on the right hand side. Hence, after pooling the data, each equation of the PVAR has a dynamic panel specification. This has to be taken into account when estimating the PVAR. Almost every existing study applies a least square dummy variable (LSDV) estimator to estimate the coefficients of the PVAR. However, this estimator only leads to consistent results if the time dimension gets large (see, for example, Nerlove 1967, 1971 and Nickell 1981). In this case, large means that the time dimension of the panel should exceed the value of 30 (see, for example, the simulation results in Judson/Owen 1999). Note, the literature review in section 2.2 shows that this is not the case for most of the existing studies. The panel in this chapter is characterized by a large cross-sectional dimension and a small time dimension. Hence, results from a LSDV estimation are subject to potential bias. Binder/Hsiao/Pesaran (2005) provide several estimators for a PVAR with a large cross-sectional dimension and a small time dimension. Mutl (2009) augments the framework by Binder/Hsiao/ Pesaran (2005) by allowing for spatial correlation of the error terms. Here, the estimation procedure by Mutl (2009) is applied to take the structure of the panel into account.

The remainder of this chapter is as follows. The first section introduces the empirical framework. It augments the original approach provided by Blanchard/Katz (1992) allowing for both commuting and migration. The adjustment process is usually visualized by impulse response functions. This analytical tool is also introduced in section 5.1. Furthermore, the PVAR estimator provided by Mutl (2009) is discussed. Section 5.2 describes the underlying data and provides some stylized facts about the regional variables considered in the analysis. Further, the relationship between regional employment prospects and labor mobility is investigated. Section 5.3 presents the results and section 5.4 concludes.

5.1 Empirical framework

This section introduces the empirical framework applied in this study. The model suggested by Blanchard/Katz (1992) is based on identity (2.45). Section 5.1.1 shows that this identity only provides an adequate framework to examine regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock if there is no commuting activity. Further, a more common identity is derived taking migration and commuting activity into account. The different PVAR specification examined in this study are presented in section 5.1.2. Finally, impulse response analysis and the PVAR estimator suggested by Mutl (2009) are discussed.

5.1.1 Basic principles of the empirical framework

The specification of vector autoregressive (VAR) models to examine the adjustment processes after a regional labor demand shock is based on the following identity (see also section 2.2.4):

 $employment = (1 - unemployment rate) \times participation rate \times population (5.1)$

Identity (5.1) is interpreted in the following way: changes in labor demand trigger changes in unemployment, changes in labor force participation and changes of the population due to migration.

Section 2.2.4 already showed that identity (5.1) is based on a decomposition of the employment rate (see also Rowthorn/Glyn 2006). This section will show that the decomposition of the employment rate only leads to identity (5.1) if the employees working in a region are identical to the employees living in this

region. This restriction implies that there is no commuting activity between the regions. People can only start working in a region after moving into this region (if they do not already live there). Labor mobility between regions only takes place via migration and commuting as an additional form of labor mobility is excluded. If this assumption does not hold, commuting activities might also serve as an adjustment mechanism. In this case, an empirical model based on identity (5.1) is misspecified. It no longer provides an adequate framework to analyze the adjustment processes after a labor demand shock because it only captures a part of the ongoing adjustment processes. More precisely, the empirical models applied in previous studies based on identity (5.1) tend to overestimate the response of migration if commuting activities between regions are not negligible. The identified impact of the shock on migration rather reflects the response of labor mobility as a whole. Hence, this section provides an identity that accounts for commuting activities and overcomes this drawback.

The employment rate corresponds to the share of the working age population in a country or region that is employed and is calculated in the following way:

$$employmentrate = \frac{E^{por}}{POP}$$
(5.2)

where *POP* denotes the working age population and E^{por} denotes employment measured by place of residence. This means E^{por} corresponds to the number of employees that live in the region under consideration. Note, that this index is suppressed in identity (5.1). Thus, the decomposition of the employment rate has to be expressed as follows:

$$\frac{E^{POT}}{POP} = \frac{E^{POT}}{LF} \times \frac{LF}{POP}$$
(5.3)

where *LF* denotes the labor force that corresponds to the sum of the employees measured by place of residence and the unemployed *U*. Solving equation (5.3) for E^{por} leads to:

$$E^{por} = \frac{E^{por}}{LF} \times \frac{LF}{POP} \times POP$$
(5.4)

where E^{por}/LF corresponds to the labor force employment rate and LF/POP corresponds to the participation rate. Further transformation of the labor force employment rate is necessary to rewrite identity (5.4) in terms of the unemployment rate:

Regional labor market dynamics after a labor demand shock

$$E^{por} = \frac{E^{por}}{U + E^{por}} \times \frac{LF}{POP} \times POP$$

$$E^{por} = \frac{E^{por} + U - U}{U + E^{por}} \times \frac{LF}{POP} \times POP$$

$$E^{por} = \left(1 - \frac{U}{U + E^{por}}\right) \times \frac{LF}{POP} \times POP$$

$$E^{por} = \left(1 - \frac{U}{LF}\right) \times \frac{LF}{POP} \times POP$$
(5.5)

where U/LF corresponds to the unemployment rate. According to identity (5.5), changes in employment measured by place of residence, triggers changes in unemployment, changes in labor force participation and changes in the working age population due to migration. However, this is not the relationship we are really interested in when analyzing the adjustment processes after a labor demand shock. Employment measured by place of residence is a variable that represents regional labor supply rather than regional labor demand. Strictly speaking, identity (5.1) represents a suitable framework to examine regional labor market dynamics after a labor supply shock but not to investigate regional labor market dynamics after a regional labor demand shock.

Regional labor demand is determined by the firms that are located in a region. Hence, the appropriate measure for regional labor demand is the number of employees working in this region.¹ Let E^{pow} denote employment measured by place of work. Augmenting equation (5.4) by this labor demand measure leads to the following expression:

$$E^{por} \times E^{pow} = \left(\frac{E^{por}}{LF}\right) \times \left(\frac{LF}{POP}\right) \times POP \times E^{pow}$$
(5.6)

Equation (5.6) can be rewritten as:

$$E^{pow} = \left(\frac{E^{por}}{LF}\right) \times \left(\frac{LF}{POP}\right) \times POP \times \left(\frac{E^{pow}}{E^{por}}\right)$$
(5.7)

Equation (5.7) can also rewritten in terms of the unemployment rate:

$$E^{pow} = \left(1 - \frac{U}{LF}\right) \times \left(\frac{LF}{POP}\right) \times POP \times \left(\frac{E^{pow}}{E^{por}}\right)$$
(5.8)

¹ Indeed, the existing studies about regional labor market dynamics apply employment data measured by place of work. Only Kunz (2012) provides results for an innovation in employment measured by place of work and by place of residence.

Identity (5.8) differs form identity (5.1) by an additional term on the right hand side that corresponds to the ratio of employment measured by place of work and employment measured by place of residence. Only if the employees that work in the region are identical to the employees that live in the region does the ratio of these two variables become unity. In this special case, identity (5.1) and identity (5.8) are identical.

If the number of employees measured by place of work and the number of employees measured by place of residence differ, then this implies that there must be people commuting between the regions. Hence, the ratio between these two variables can be interpreted as a measure for (net) commuting activity.

According to identity (5.8), a change in employment due to a labor demand shock triggers changes in unemployment, changes in labor force participation, changes of the working age population due to migration and changes in the commuting activity.

The assumption of no or negligible commuting activities might be valid for large regional units but appears to be violated for smaller regional units such as districts or counties. In the case of Germany, the assumption of no commuting activities has to be considered as very critical even for larger regional units. Burda/ Hunt (2001) point out that for many people in East Germany, commuting has been a feasible substitute instead of leaving their place of residence and moving to West Germany.

5.1.2 Specification of the PVAR

The original VAR applied in Blanchard/Katz (1992) includes the employment growth rate $(\gamma_{i,t}^n)$, the logarithm of the labor force employment rate $(le_{i,t})$, and the logarithm of the participation rate $(pr_{i,t})$. The main interest of the study by Blanchard/Katz (1992) is to examine the adjustment processes after a region–specific shock. To account for common movements in the regional variables, all variables enter the VAR as relative regional variables denoted by $\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^n$. $\tilde{l}e_{i,t}$ and $\tilde{p}r_{i,t}$. This means that these variables are measured relative to their national counterpart. To investigate the adjustment processes after a region, Blanchard/Katz (1992) apply the following panel vector autoregressive (PVAR) model:

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n} = \alpha_{i10} + \alpha_{11}(L)\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t-1}^{n} + \alpha_{12}(L)\tilde{I}e_{i,t-1} + \alpha_{13}(L)\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}^{n}$$
(5.9)

$$\tilde{l}e_{i,t} = \alpha_{i20} + \alpha_{21}(L)\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n} + \alpha_{22}(L)\tilde{l}e_{i,t-1} + \alpha_{23}(L)\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}^{le}$$
(5.10)

$$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t} = \alpha_{i30} + \alpha_{31}(L)\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n} + \alpha_{32}(L)\tilde{l}e_{i,t-1} + \alpha_{33}(L)\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t-1} + \varepsilon_{i,t}^{\rho r}$$
(5.11)

where *i* denotes the cross-sectional dimension with $i = 1 \dots N$ and *t* denotes the time dimension with $t = 1 \dots T$. α refers to the coefficients, (*L*) denotes the lag operator and error terms are denoted by $\varepsilon_{i,t}^n$, $\varepsilon_{i,t}^{le}$ and $\varepsilon_{i,t}^{pr}$. Further, region-specific constant terms are included in each equation to control for regional fixed effects.

Based on the estimated coefficients of this system of equations, Blanchard/ Katz (1992) derive the responses of the employment level, the unemployment rate, the participation rate and migration after a labor demand shock. Because only the participation rate enters the PVAR directly, further transformations are necessary to obtain the effects of the labor demand shock on the other three measures.

The development of the employment level after a labor demand shock can easily be calculated based on the regression results of the relative regional employment growth rate $\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^n$. To examine the response of the unemployment rate due to a labor demand shock, Blanchard/Katz (1992) apply the relationship $\log le_{i,t} = \log(1 - ur_{i,t}) \approx -ur_{i,t}$.

To derive the impact of the shock on migration, identity (5.7) can be used. However, identity (5.7) is written in terms of the employment level whereas the PVAR is specified in terms of the employment growth rates. Hence, we also need to rewrite the identity in terms of growth rates to use it to derive the response of migration to the shock:²

$$\gamma E^{pow} = \gamma \left(\frac{E^{por}}{LF}\right) + \gamma \left(\frac{LF}{POP}\right) + \gamma \left(\frac{E^{pow}}{E^{por}}\right) + \gamma POP$$
(5.12)

Blanchard/Katz (1992) assume that there is no commuting activity between the regions and the employees measured by place of residence and employees measured by place of work are identical. This means $E^{pow} = E^{por} = E$ and identity (5.12) reduces to:

$$\log E^{pow} = \log\left(\frac{E^{por}}{LF}\right) + \log\left(\frac{LF}{POP}\right) + \log\left(\frac{E^{pow}}{E^{por}}\right) + \log POP$$

$$\Delta \log E^{pow} = \Delta \log \left(\frac{E^{por}}{LF} \right) + \Delta \log \left(\frac{LF}{POP} \right) + \Delta \log \left(\frac{E^{pow}}{E^{por}} \right) + \Delta \log POP$$

or rewritten as follows:

$$\frac{\Delta E^{pow}}{E^{pow}} = \frac{\Delta (E^{por}/LF)}{(E^{por}/LF)} + \frac{\Delta (LF/POP)}{(LF/POP)} + \frac{\Delta (E^{pow}/E^{por})}{(E^{pow}/E^{por})} + \frac{\Delta POP}{POP}$$

² The first difference of a variable measured in logarithms corresponds to the growth rate of this variable $(\Delta(\log x) = \Delta x/x)$. This relationship is used here to derive identity (5.12) from identity (5.7). Taking the logarithm from identity (5.7) leads to:

Then, fist differences are taken that leads to an expression of identity (5.7) in terms of growth rates instead of levels given by:

$$\gamma E = \gamma \left(\frac{E}{LF}\right) + \gamma \left(\frac{LF}{POP}\right) + \gamma (POP)$$
(5.13)

In this case, the impact of the shock on migration can be derived using the following identity:³

$$\gamma(POP) = \gamma E - \gamma \left(\frac{E}{LF}\right) - \gamma \left(\frac{LF}{POP}\right)$$
(5.14)

The PVAR applied here differs from the system of equations suggested by Blanchard/ Katz (1992) in several ways. The PVAR takes the following form:

$$x_{i,t} = A(L)x_{i,t-1} + u_{i,t}$$
(5.15)

where $x_{i,t}$ denotes the vector of endogenous variables, A denotes the matrix of regression coefficients, and $u_{i,t}$ is a vector of disturbance terms. The disturbance term is assumed to follow a two-way error component structure including regional fixed effects to take unobserved regional heterogeneity into account. Further, the disturbance terms of the cross-sectional units in the PVAR are allowed to be spatially dependent. These assumptions are discussed in detail in section 5.1.4.

Note, that in equation (5.15), the right hand side variables are identical in each equation. In contrast, in the original VAR by Blanchard/Katz (1992) the current values of the relative regional employment growth rate are included in the labor force employment rate equation and the participation rate equation. Hence, the PVAR in this chapter is more in line with the specifications provided in Jimeno/Bentolila (1998), Fredriksson (1999), Mäki-Arvela (2003), and Leonardi (2004).

The analysis starts with the three variable model suggested by Blanchard/Katz (1992). The vector of endogenous variables of this PVAR is given by:

$$\mathbf{x}_{i,t}' = [\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^n, \tilde{l}\mathbf{e}_{i,t}, \tilde{p}\mathbf{r}_{i,t}]$$
(5.16)

where $\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^n$ denotes the growth rate of the number of employees measured by place of work, $\tilde{I}e_{i,t}$ denotes the logarithm of the labor force employment rate, and $\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t}$ is the logarithm of the participation rate (all variables measured as relative regional variables). The impact of a labor demand shock on labor mobility can be derived using identity (5.12):

$$\gamma\left(\frac{E^{pow}}{E^{por}}\right) + \gamma POP = \gamma E^{pow} - \gamma\left(\frac{E^{por}}{LF}\right) - \gamma\left(\frac{LF}{POP}\right)$$
(5.17)

³ Note, only if the assumption of no commuting activity holds and $E^{pow} = E^{por} = E$ is it possible to determine the response of migration due to a labor demand shock using this identity. Otherwise, the identity provides the response of labor mobility overall including migration and commuting.

Hence, the three variable approach only provides information about the response of labor mobility as a whole to a shock in regional labor demand. It is not possible to distinguish between commuting and migration. To disclose the effect of a regional labor demand shock on migration and commuting, it is necessary to augment the vector of variables given in equation (5.16). Let $ca_{i,t}$ denote net-commuting activity in region *i* at time *t* that corresponds to the ratio of the number of employees measured by place of work and the number of employees measured by place of residence. The corresponding growth rate is given by $\gamma_{i,t}^{ca}$. The vector of endogenous variables of the PVAR augmented by this additional variable measured as a relative regional variable can be expressed as:

$$\mathbf{x}_{i,t}' = [\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^n, \tilde{l}\mathbf{e}_{i,t}, \tilde{p}\mathbf{r}_{i,t}, \tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{ca}]$$
(5.18)

Identity (5.12) can be applied to derive the effect of a regional labor demand shock on migration based on the results of this PVAR:

$$\gamma POP = \gamma E^{pow} - \gamma \left(\frac{E^{por}}{LF}\right) - \gamma \left(\frac{LF}{POP}\right) - \gamma \left(\frac{E^{pow}}{E^{por}}\right)$$
(5.19)

However, changes in net-commuting activity allow no straightforward interpretation about the origin of a rise or fall of regional commuting activity. For example, an increase of net-commuting activity goes hand in hand with a rise of in-commuters, while the number of out-commuters remains stable as well as with a decreasing number of out-commuters, while the number of in-commuters remains stable. Only in the first case does a rise in net-commuting reflect a rise in labor mobility.

There are two possible ways how commuting can serve as an adjustment channel. New jobs after a positive labor demand shock can either be filled by incommuters from outside the region, or by former out-commuters that now stay in the region. The responses of in-commuters and out-commuters to an innovation in regional labor demand do not necessarily have to be symmetric. Commuting is costly because of travel costs and external effects. For former out-commuters, these costs of commuting fall away if they start to work in their region of residence. Hence, out-commuters might be more likely to accept a job offer in their region of residence and lower wages compared to workers living outside the region. In contrast, for workers living outside the region, commuting is only attractive if the costs of commuting are compensated by higher wages. Following this discussion, one would expect the response of out-commuters after a regional labor demand shock to exceeds the response of the in-commuters.

In contrast, this has not to be the case if employment is heterogenous and the regional labor demand shock is selective in terms of different employment
subgroups. For example, if new jobs favor workers with a certain qualification level or human capital that the workers living in the region can not provide, one could also expect the response of the in-commuters to exceed that of the out-commuters. Hence, introducing gross-commuting flows into the model, can provide additional information about labor mobility and the nature of the shock.

Let $ic_{i,t}$ denote the number of in-commuters in region *i* at time *t*, and let $oc_{i,t}$ denote the corresponding measure for the number of out-commuters. The growth rates for these two measures are given by $\gamma_{i,t}^{ic}$ and $\gamma_{i,t}^{oc}$. The vector of endogenous variables of the PVAR including relative regional gross-commuting flows is given by:

$$\mathbf{x}_{i,t}^{\prime} = [\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n}, \tilde{l}\boldsymbol{e}_{i,t}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{p}}_{i,t}^{r}, \tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{oc}, \tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{ic}]$$
(5.20)

According to the theoretical model of regional evolution introduced by Blanchard/ Katz (1992), the response of wages after a labor demand shock affects the speed of adjustment. However, the role of wages during the adjustment process is twofold. For example, lower wages because of an adverse shock induce net in-migration of firms and the creation of new jobs. Lower wages and higher unemployment induce net out-migration of labor. The long-run effect on employment depends on the relative strength and speed of the two effects. Hence, it seems to be reasonable to examine the role of the wage feedback during the adjustment process.

Let $wa_{i,t}$ denote wages per employee in region *i* at time *t*. Following Choy/Maré/ Mawson (2002), the growth rate of wages per employee $\gamma_{i,t}^{wa}$ is considered in the PVAR. The vector of endogenous variables for the three variable model suggested by Blanchard/Katz (1992) augmented by the growth rate of wages per employee is given by:

$$\mathbf{x}_{i,t}^{\prime} = [\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n}, \tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{wa}, \tilde{l}\mathbf{e}_{i,t}, \tilde{p}\mathbf{r}_{i,t}]$$
(5.21)

Again, all variables enter the PVAR as relative regional variables. For the model including net-commuting, the corresponding vector of endogenous variables augmented by the growth rate of regional wages per employee $\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{wa}$ is given by:

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{i,t}^{\prime} = [\tilde{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}_{i,t}^{n}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}_{i,t}^{wa}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{h}} \boldsymbol{e}_{i,t}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\rho}} \boldsymbol{r}_{i,t}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}_{i,t}^{ca}]$$
(5.22)

For the model including gross-commuting, the corresponding vector of endogenous variables is given by:

$$\mathbf{x}_{i,t}^{\prime} = \left[\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n}, \tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{wa}, \tilde{l}\mathbf{e}_{i,t}, \tilde{p}_{i,t}, \tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{oc}, \tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{ic}\right]$$
(5.23)

Note, that the ordering of the variables implies that a current change in regional employment affects regional wages but not vice versa. This identification assumption is appealing because the aim of this chapter is to examine the effects of a regional labor demand shock rather than the effects of a regional wage shock.

5.1.3 Impulse response analysis

It is hard to assess the interaction among the variables in the PVAR solely on the basis of the estimated coefficients. In general, the effect of an impulse in one variable and the corresponding responses of the other variables are depicted graphically based on impulse response functions. This makes it possible to get a visual impression of the dynamics after an innovation in labor demand.

The regional evolution literature is interested in tracing the responses of the system of equations after an impulse in labor demand. The easiest way to examine what happens to the system after an innovation in labor demand is to assume that there is a one period increase in the employment growth rate and that no further shock in the other variables occurs at that date. However, this assumption imposes the restriction that a shock in one variable is not accompanied by responses of the other variables at least in the period of the shock. This appears to be a very unrealistic assumption when investigating adjustment processes after a labor demand shock. The creation of new jobs after a positive innovation in labor demand must go hand in hand with changes in unemployment, labor force participation or labor mobility. Otherwise, these new jobs could not be filled. Therefore, a labor demand shock in one period has to trigger contemporaneous changes in at least another variable at the same time. Hence, it appears to be appropriate to relax the assumption that the effects of a shock on different variables are independent. In this case, it has to be assured that the responses of the system are the effect of a shock in labor demand and do not reflect an innovation in the other variables.

Blanchard/Katz (1992) take this problem into account by the specification of the VAR. Note, that in their VAR, the current value of the relative regional employment growth rate $\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^n$ enters the labor force employment rate equation and the participation rate equation. In contrast, current changes in the labor force employment rate and the participation rate are not allowed to affect the other variables in the system. Because of this identification assumption, a shock in the relative regional employment growth rate is accompanied by immediate changes in all other variables in the VAR. Further, this identification assumption assures that the response in the variables are solely triggered by a change in labor demand and not by the supply side factors entering the VAR. Here, another identification strategy is applied to trace the effects of a labor demand shock. This study follows Jimeno/Bentolila (1998), Fredriksson (1999), and Leonardi (2004) and applies so called orthogonalized impulse response functions.

Lets consider a VAR of order *p* including *m* equations of the following form:

$$x_{t} = \sum_{k=1}^{p} A_{k} x_{t-k} + u_{t}$$
(5.24)

where x_t denotes the vector of variables, A_k denotes the coefficient matrix and the error term u_t is a white noise process. The impulse response function does not depend on the cross-sectional dimension of the panel. Hence, the subscript *i* is omitted here. The interests of impulse response analysis is the variation of the variables around their means. Therefore, the mean term is suppressed in equation (5.24). The impulse response function is based on the infinite moving average (MA) representation of the VAR of order *p*:

$$x_t = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Phi_k u_{t-k}$$
(5.25)

where Φ_k denotes the coefficient matrix. According to equation (5.25), the current value of the variables results from past shocks weighted by Φ_k . Therefore, the elements of Φ_k reflect the responses of the system to a shock. It is possible to compute Φ_k recursively based on the coefficient matrix of equation (5.24) using $\Phi_0 = I_m$ and $\Phi_k = \sum_{j=1}^k \Phi_{k-j} A_j$ where $A_j = 0$ for j > p (see, for example, Lütkepohl 2005).

However, equation (5.25) provides impulse response functions under the restriction that shocks in different equations of the VAR are independent. Orthogonalized impulse response functions can be applied to relax this restriction. The idea of orthogonalized impulse response functions is to modify equation (5.25) so that the residuals are orthogonal this means uncorrelated. After this transformation, it is possible to refer the common part of an innovation in one variable to the other variables of the system (see, for example, Lütkepohl 2005).

This is obtained be the Cholesky decomposition of the variance covariance matrix $\Sigma_{_{U}}$ of the error terms that is given by $\Sigma_{_{U}} = PP'$. *P* is a lower triangular nonsingular matrix with positive diagonal elements. Equation (5.25) can be rewritten as:

$$x_{t} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Phi_{k} P P^{-1} u_{t-k} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \Theta_{k} \varepsilon_{t-k}$$
(5.26)

where $\Theta_k = \Phi_k P$ and $\varepsilon_t = P^{-1}u_t$ is a white noise process. The variance covariance matrix of ε_t is given by:

$$\Sigma_{\varepsilon} = P^{-1} \Sigma_{u} (P^{-1})' = I_{\kappa}$$
(5.27)

As equation (5.27) shows, the white noise errors ε_t have uncorrelated components. This means they are orthogonal to each other. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume for equation (5.26) that an innovation in one component of ε_t does not go in hand in hand with innovations in the other components of ε_t . This allows us to trace the effects of an isolated labor demand shock. Hence, it is assured that changes occurring in the other variables of the system solely reflect the responses of the system to this impulse and are not the result of an additional shock. The modified coefficient matrix Θ_k is interpreted as the responses of the system according to this orthogonalized impulse.

Because $\Theta_k = \Phi_k P$ and $\Phi_0 = I_m$, the impulse in the initial period corresponds to *P*. This means that the initial innovation is derived by the Cholesky decomposition of the variance covariance matrix Σ_u . The response in the period after the shock is given by Θ_1 which can be computed as $\Theta_1 = \Phi_1 P = \Phi_0 A_1 P = I_m A_1 P$. The response of the system for the following periods can be computed in a similar way (depending on the order of the VAR).

Further, equation (5.27) indicates that the residuals ε_t have unit variance. Thus, a simulated shock occurring in the system corresponds to a one standard deviation innovation.

The triangularity of matrix ε_t implies that a shock in one variable has a contemporaneous effect on all the variables following in the VAR but not vice versa. Hence, the ordering of the variables is an important issue when applying orthogonalized impulse response functions (see, for example, Lütkepohl 2005). The first variable should be the only one with a potential impact on the other variables entering the VAR but not vice versa. This chapter examines the effect of a region-specific labor demand shock. Hence, it is assumed that changes in regional employment growth trigger changes in the other variables. The ordering of the other variables corresponds to the set of endogenous variables of the different models described in section 5.1.2.

5.1.4 Estimation strategy

The region evolution literature is usually interested in the response of the average region to a labor demand shock. For this reason, all regions are pooled together which leads to a panel vector autoregressive (PVAR) model. Usually, region-specific constant terms are included in each equation to allow for regional fixed effects. Then, the majority of the studies apply an ordinary least squares (OLS)

estimator to the multi equation system.⁴ This procedure corresponds to estimating the coefficients of the PVAR by a least squares dummy variable (LSDV) estimator. However, such a LSDV estimator in a dynamic panel framework where lagged values of the endogenous variable enter the right hand side of the regression is subject to bias if the time dimension of the panel is small (see, for example, Nerlove 1967, 1971 and Nickell 1981).

Note, that the results derived by the LSDV estimator are exactly identical to the results obtained after taking deviations from cross-sectional means to eliminate the fixed effects and applying OLS on this transformed regression (see, for example, Arellano 2003).⁵ This procedure corresponds to the so called within-group (WG) estimator. It can be shown for a dynamic panel model that after the within transformation, the transformed values of the lagged endogenous variable are correlated with the transformed error term. Therefore, the assumption of strict exogeneity is no longer valid for the lagged endogenous variable after this transformation. The transformed regression equation suffers an endogeneity problem. As a consequence, the regression coefficients derived by the WG estimator and, hence, by the LSDV estimator are inconsistent for a fixed time dimension even if the cross-sectional dimension tends to infinity (for more details see, for example, Arellano 2003). Nickell (1981) analytically derived this bias and shows that the bias disappears if the time dimension tends to infinity. The simulation results by Judson/Owen (1999) suggest that a time dimension of more than 30 observations can be considered as sufficient to overcome this so called Nickell bias. However, the panel in this study is characterized by a large cross-sectional dimension and a small time dimension. Hence, the results might be subject to the Nickell bias if a LSDV estimator is applied. The estimation strategy has to take this into account.

For a single equation dynamic panel model characterized by a large crosssectional dimension and a small time dimension, usually generalized method of moments (GMM) estimators (see, for example, Arellano/Bond 1991, Arellano/Bover 1995, Ahn/Schmidt 1995, Blundell/Bond 1998) are applied to overcome the Nickell bias. Binder/Hsiao/Pesaran (2005) develop a quasi maximum likelihood (QML) estimator for a PVAR and generalize GMM estimation to a system context. The estimators provided by Binder/Hsiao/Pesaran (2005) do not need the assumption that both the cross-sectional dimension and the time dimension are large. Hence, they can applied to panel data with a small time dimension.

Here, the fixed effects QML estimator is applied because it provides several advantages compared to the various GMM approaches. The simulation results by

⁴ One exception is Fredriksson (1999), who applies the mean group estimator suggested by Pesaran/Smith/Im (1996).

⁵ Of course, except for the fixed effects.

Binder/Hsiao/Pesaran (2005) show that the fixed effects QML estimator tends to outperform the several GMM estimators in finite samples under both normal and non-normal errors. Further, even in a panel with a short time dimension, the underlying data could have arisen from non-stationary and/or co-integration processes. It is well known that the standard GMM approach by Arellano/ Bond (1991) breaks down if the endogenous variable follows a non-stationary process (see, for example, the discussion in Arellano 2003). Arellano/Bond (1991) suggest taking first-differences to eliminate the fixed effects and using lagged level variables as instruments for the first-differenced form of the model. In the case of non-stationarity, the moment conditions no longer hold and the GMM estimator will become inconsistent. The extended GMM estimators provided by Arellano/Bover (1995), Ahn/Schmidt (1995), and Blundell/Bond (1998) overcome this problem by proposing an additional set of moment conditions. However, these conditions require the assumption that the individual effects and the disturbances are uncorrelated. The simulation results in Binder/Hsiao/Pesaran (2005) show that the precision of these GMM estimators deteriorates if the strength of the correlation relationship between these two measures increases. Binder/Hsiao/ Pesaran (2005) argue that it is possible to solve this problem by reformulating the standard GMM approach using lagged values of the variables in first-differences as instruments. However, they also point out that in the case of a stationary process, the correlation between the variables in first differences is only small. Hence, results from this GMM approach might be highly inefficient. In contrast to the GMM estimators, the QML estimator does not suffer from these problems.

Mutl (2009) extends the PVAR literature to allow for spatial dependence of the error terms of the model. He follows the spatial econometrics literature and studies a first order spatial autocorrelation model with a known spatial weighting matrix. If the disturbance terms follow a spatial autoregressive process, this implies that the region under consideration is affected by shocks in neighboring regions. Hence, an innovation in labor demand can also be triggered via regional spillover effects. Controlling for spatial correlation in the disturbance term assures that the disturbances are free from such spillover effects. This makes it possible to trace the effects of a region-specific shock in labor demand.

Let $x_{i,t}$ be the $m \times 1$ vector of m endogenous variables for the ith cross-sectional unit, with $i = 1 \dots N$ and t refers to the time dimension, with $t = 1 \dots T$. Please note, that m also corresponds to the number of different equations in the PVAR. The first order PVAR model⁶ for cross-sectional unit i can be written as:

⁶ The exposition is restricted to a first order PVAR for simplicity.

$$x_{i,t} = Ax_{i,t-1} + u_{i,t}$$
(5.28)

where A denotes the matrix of slope coefficients and $u_{i,t}$ is a $m \times 1$ vector of disturbances. The error term $u_{i,t}$ is allowed to be dependent among the cross-sectional units and is given by:

$$u_{i,t} = \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_{i,j} u_{j,t} + (I_m - A)_{i} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$$
(5.29)

where w_{ij} denotes the known spatial weighting parameters describing how "close" the other regions are to the region *i*. The scalar parameter λ captures the degree of spatial correlation. To determine the proximity of the regions, common borders are used here. w_{ij} is 1 if regional planning unit *i* and regional planning unit *j* share a common border. Otherwise w_{ij} becomes 0. No region can share a common border with itself. Hence $w_{i,i}$, is always 0. $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ are independent innovations, μ_i represents the individual-specific effects and I_m denotes the identity matrix. According to Binder/ Hsiao/Pesaran (2005) and Mutl (2009) the reason for restricting the individualspecific effects to the form $(I_m - A)\mu_i$ is to assure that in the case of a unit root in the model, the trend behavior is the same as in the stationary case. Note, model (5.28) contains *m* equations. Hence, the observations $x_{i,t-1}$, the individual-specific effects μ_{ij} and the disturbances $u_{i,t}$ and $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ are $m \times 1$ vectors and the spatial weighting matrix $w_{i,j}$, the matrix of slope coefficients *A* and the identity matrix are matrices of size $m \times m$.

Stacking across individuals leads to the following expression:

$$\begin{aligned} x_t &= (I_N \otimes A) x_{t-1} + u_t \\ u_t &= \lambda \mathcal{W} u_t + [I_N \otimes (I_m - A)] \mu + \varepsilon_t \end{aligned} \tag{5.30}$$

where $x_{t^{t}} \ \mu_{t} \ u_{t}$ and ε_{t} are all vectors of size $mN \times 1$ with $x_{t} = (x'_{1t} \dots x'_{Nt})'$, $\mu_{t} = (\mu'_{1t} \dots \mu'_{Nt})', \ u_{t} = (u'_{1t} \dots u'_{Nt})'$ and $\varepsilon_{t} = (\varepsilon'_{1t} \dots \varepsilon'_{Nt})'$. Following Mutl (2009), the indexation with N is omitted in order to maintain legible notation.

The $mN \times mN$ weighting matrix W is:

$$W = \begin{pmatrix} W_{11} & \dots & W_{1N} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ W_{N1} & \dots & W_{NN} \end{pmatrix}_{mN \times mN}$$
(5.31)

Solving for the disturbance term yields:

$$u_t = (I_{mN} - \lambda W)^{-1} ([I_N \otimes (I_m - A)]\mu + \varepsilon_t)$$
(5.32)

To eliminate the individual-specific effects, first differences are taken. Equation (5.30) in first differences is given by:

$$\Delta x_{t} = (I_{N} \otimes A)\Delta x_{t-1} + \Delta u_{t}$$

$$\Delta u_{t} = (I_{mN} - \lambda W)^{-1}\Delta \varepsilon_{t}$$
(5.33)

Therefore, the model in first differences is given by:

$$\Delta x_{t} = (I_{N} \otimes A)\Delta x_{t-1} + (I_{mN} - \lambda W u_{t})^{-1} \Delta \varepsilon_{t}$$
(5.34)

Note, that the disturbance term in equation (5.34) is still spatially correlated. However, the spatial correlation of the error term can be removed by multiplying both sides of equation (5.34) by $(I_{mN} - \lambda W)$. This procedure is called the spatial Cochrane-Orcutt transformation (see, for example, Kelejian/Prucha 1997). After this transformation, equation (5.34) can be rewritten as:

$$(I_{mN} - \lambda W)\Delta x_{t} = (I_{mN} - \lambda W)(I_{N} \otimes A)\Delta x_{t-1} + \Delta \varepsilon_{t}$$
(5.35)

If no spatial dependence exists and $\lambda = 0$, equation (5.35) corresponds to a fixedeffect PVAR considered in Binder/Hsiao/Pesaran (2005). In this case, the provided estimators can be applied to get consistent and efficient estimates for the slope coefficients. If spatial correlation among the cross-sectional units exists and $\lambda \neq 0$, these estimators still lead to consistent results. This means that the slope coefficients converge to their true values. However, the estimation results are inefficient. The standard significance test for the regression coefficients are no longer valid and inference becomes misleading.

The spatial autocorrelation parameter is unknown. Hence, consistent estimates for λ are needed for the spatial Cochrane-Orcutt transformation. In turn, consistent estimates for λ require information about the spatially correlated error term u_t . The spatial econometrics literature suggests a three step approach to solve this problem and to get consistent and efficient estimation results for a spatial error model. The appropriate estimator for the model in the case of no spatial dependence in the error term leads to consistent results even if the assumption of no spatial correlation is invalid. This implies that residuals from this estimation can be applied to derive consistent estimates for λ . Therefore, the first step is to apply this estimator to the model and compute the residuals. The second step is to determine λ based on the calculated residuals. The third step consists of the spatial Cochrane-Orcutt transformation and the estimation of the transformed model. Mutl (2009) provides a similar three-step estimation procedure for the PVAR.

In the first step, an instrumental variable (IV) approach is used to get consistent estimates to calculate the spatially correlated disturbances. Mutl (2009) suggest stacking the model in a different way to derive the IV estimator. After taking transpose and stacking the observations at different times for a given cross-section i, equation (5.33) can be expressed as:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \Delta x'_{i_1} \\ \vdots \\ \Delta x'_{i_T} \end{pmatrix}_{T \times m} = \begin{pmatrix} \Delta x'_{i_0} \\ \vdots \\ \Delta x'_{i_{T-1}} \end{pmatrix}_{T \times m} A'_{m \times m} + \begin{pmatrix} \Delta u'_{i_1} \\ \vdots \\ \Delta u'_{i_T} \end{pmatrix}_{T \times m}$$
(5.36)

In a more compact way, equation (5.36) can be rewritten as:

$$\Delta X_i = \Delta X_{i-1} A' + \Delta U_i \tag{5.37}$$

Stacking the cross-sections yields to:

$$\Delta X = \Delta X_{-1} A' + \Delta U \tag{5.38}$$

where $\Delta X = (\Delta X'_1, \ldots, \Delta X'_N)'$, $\Delta X_{-1} = (\Delta X'_{1,-1}, \ldots, \Delta X'_{N,-1})'$ and $\Delta U = (\Delta U'_1, \ldots, \Delta U'_N)'$. Mutl (2009) defines the IV estimator of *A* as :

$$\hat{A}_{N} = \left[\hat{Z}'\hat{Z}\right]^{-1}\hat{Z}'\Delta X \tag{5.39}$$

where $\hat{Z} = P_H \Delta X$ with $P_H = H(H'H)^{-1}H'$. *H* is a vector of instruments used for ΔX_{-1} . Mutl (2009) suggests the use of the instruments $H = X_{-2} = (X'_{1,-2}, ..., X'_{N,-2})'$ where $X_{i,-2} = (x_{i,-1}, ..., x_{i,T-2})'$. The estimates of the spatially correlated disturbances can be derived as:

$$\hat{u}_{t} = x_{t} - (I_{N} \otimes \hat{A}_{N}) x_{t-1}$$
(5.40)

In the second step, Mutl (2009) provides a multivariate version of the spatial generalized moment (GM) estimation procedure to determine a consistent estimator for λ based on the residuals from the IV estimation in the first step. It is possible to express equation (5.29) in the following way:

$$u_{i,t} = \lambda \sum_{j=1}^{N} w_{i,j} u_{j,t} + v_{i,t}$$
(5.41)

where $v_{i,i}$ is given by:

$$v_{it} = (l_m - A)\mu_i + \varepsilon_{it} \tag{5.42}$$

The moment conditions for the spatial GM estimation procedure are derived based on these two equations. For details about the moment conditions for multivariate versions of the spatial GM estimation see Mutl (2009). Kelejian/Prucha (1999) already show consistency of a similar two stage procedure for univariate single cross-section models with spatial lags in both the dependent variable as well as the error term. Kapoor/Kelejian/Prucha (2007) extend the results for an univariate static panel model. Both of these papers consider non-stochastic exogenous variables and, hence, their results are not directly applicable to the PVAR model considered here. However, Mutl (2006) contains a straightforward extension of their proofs for univariate dynamic panel models. Mutl (2009) conjectures that the spatial GM procedure will also be consistent under an appropriate set of assumptions in a multivariate setting.

The third step consists of the spatial Cochrane-Orcutt transformation of the PVAR and the estimation of the transformed model. Let $\hat{\lambda}$ denote the estimated spatial autocorrelation parameter derived in the second step. The PVAR after the spatial Cochrane-Orcutt transformation is given by:

$$(I_{mN} - \hat{\lambda}W)\Delta x_{t} = (I_{mN} - \hat{\lambda}W)(I_{N} \otimes A)\Delta x_{t-1} + \Delta\varepsilon_{t}$$
(5.43)

This transformed model can be estimated with standard techniques, such as the QML method or the multivariate extension of GMM approach given in Binder/ Hsiao/Pesaran (2005).

Mutl (2009) derived a constrained likelihood estimator which is equivalent to using the spatial Cochrane-Orcutt transformation and then maximizing the QML function derived under the assumption that the disturbances are independent. Let Ω_{ε} denote the variance covariance matrix of $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ and Υ denote the variance covariance matrix Σ is defined as:

$$\Sigma = \begin{pmatrix} \Upsilon & -\Omega_{\varepsilon} & 0 \\ \Omega_{\varepsilon} & 2\Omega_{\varepsilon} & & \\ & \ddots & -\Omega_{\varepsilon} \\ 0 & & -\Omega_{\varepsilon} & 2\Omega_{\varepsilon} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.44)

the matrix *R* is defined as:

$$R = \begin{pmatrix} I_{m} & 0 \\ -A & I_{m} & \\ & \ddots & \\ 0 & -A & I_{m} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.45)

and the matrix S corresponds to:

$$S = (\Delta x'_{1}, ..., \Delta x'_{7}) \cdot (\Delta x'_{1}, ..., \Delta x'_{7})$$
(5.46)

The constrained likelihood function to maximize with respect to $\tilde{\theta} = (vech\Upsilon', vech\Omega'_{e}, vecA')'$ is given by:

$$Q_{N}\left(\tilde{\theta}\right) = -\frac{mNT}{2}\log(2\pi) - \frac{N}{2}\log|\Sigma| + \log\left|I_{mNT} - \hat{\lambda}W\right|$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}tr\left[R'\left(I_{mNT} - \hat{\lambda}W\right)\left(I_{N} \otimes \Sigma^{-1}\right)\left(I_{mNT} - \hat{\lambda}W'\right)RS_{N}\right]$$
(5.47)

taking the consistent estimator $\hat{\lambda}$ of λ as given. The Monte Carlo simulation results show that the constrained likelihood procedure works well in small samples. This estimator is chosen to analyze regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock.

5.2 Data and some stylized facts

This section provides information about the data and variables applied in this study. The definition of the regional variables entering the PVAR are described and stylized facts for these variables are presented. Further, descriptive analysis for the relationship of regional unemployment and labor mobility are provided. Finally, the construction of relative regional variables is described.

5.2.1 Data source and definitions

The data on employment, unemployment, population and labor mobility contains all people between the age of 15 and 64 years. This means the population corresponds to the working age population and migration is restricted to migration flows of the working age population.

Data on employment and unemployment measured in June of each year is provided by the German Federal Employment Agency. Data on employment includes

all employees between 15 and 64 years covered by the social security system. Data on population is provided by the BBSR. The population is measured in December of each year. Data on wages and migration are provided by the German Federal Statistical Office. The available wages are the average annual wages per employee. The time series covers the period from 1999 to 2009.

The employment growth rate corresponds to changes in the number of employees working in a certain region. Employment measured by place of work is used here because the employment growth rate should reflect changes in labor demand.

The labor force is defined as the sum of employees measured at the place of residence and the unemployed. The participation rate is calculated as the ratio of the labor force to the working age population. The labor force employment rate is calculated as the ratio of employed persons measured at the place of residence and the labor force.

Migration is restricted to migration flows within Germany. Net-migration denotes the difference between the number of immigrants and emigrants in a certain region. The migration rate represents the relationship between net-migration and the working age population. Therefore, a negative regional net-migration rate indicates that losses in the working age population due to out-migration in a region are higher than gains in the working age population due to in-migration.

The net-commuting rate is calculated in a similar fashion to net-migration. Net-commuting corresponds to the difference between the number of incommuters and the number of out-commuters. The net-commuting rate is the relation between net-commuting and the number of employees measured at the place of work. The out-commuting rate denotes the relation of out-commuters and the number of employees measured by place of residence. The in-commuting rate denotes the relation between in-commuters and the number of employees measured at the place of work.

5.2.2 Stylized facts

In 1999, the German employment growth rate was almost one percent. Figure 5.1 shows that the German regions have experienced large differences in the employment growth rate. The regional planning units Munich and Ingolstadt reported employment growth rates above three percent whereas in Anhalt-Bitterfeld-Wittenberg and Lausitz-Spreewald, the number of employees decreased by more than three percent.

In 2009, the number of employees in Germany decreased by 0.3 percent. For the same year, large differences in regional employment growth are also observable. The highest employment growth rate in 2009 was reported in Ingolstadt with 1.9 percent.



In contrast, the number of employees in Südthueringen and Schwarzwald-Baar-Heuberg decreased by more than three percent.





Comparing 1999 and 2009, differences in the ranking of the regional planning units according to their employment growth rates are observable.⁷ 14 of the 17 regional planing units which reported a decrease in the number of employees in 1999, were located in East Germany. The three West German regional planning units were Emscher-Lippe, Dortmund and Oberfranken-Ost. In contrast, only five of the 17 regional planning units with the lowest employment growth rates in 2009 were located in East Germany. Further, only one of the 17 regions with the most unfavorable employment growth rates in 1999 remained in this group in 2009. Moreover, the regional planning units Berlin, Halle/Saale, Emscher-Lippe, Prignitz-Oberhavel, Uckermark-Barnim, Vorpommern and Dortmund lost employment in 1999 but reported a positive employment growth rate in 2009 (in contrast to the German average).

Figure 5.2 also shows that there has been a high degree of mobility between regional planning units with an above and a below average employment growth rate compared to the German rate in 1999 and 2009.⁸ 14 regions with a below average employment growth rate in 1999, reported an above average regional employment growth rate in 2009. 30 regions with an above average regional employment growth rate in 1999, reported an below average growth rate in 2009. This means that compared to 1999, nearly 50 percent of the regional planning units changed their position in comparison to the German employment growth rate in 2009.

More results indicate that the ranking of the regions due to their employment growth rates is less persistent. The R^2 from the regression with regional employment growth rates in 2009 as the endogenous variable and the employment growth rate in 1999 as an exogenous variable is near zero (0.003). The slope of the regression line is 0.04, and the regression coefficient is not significantly different from zero. The correlation coefficient at 0.05 is very low.

In contrast to the employment growth rate, the labor force employment rate, the participation rate as well as the wages per employee show persistent behavior. The ranking of the regions according to these variables remained remarkably stable during the last ten years (see figure 5.4, figure 5.5, and figure 5.6).

In 2009, the labor force employment rate in Germany varied between 80.8 percent in Mecklenburgische Seenplatte and 95.8 percent in Ingolstadt. In general, regional planning units with low labor force employment rates were located in East Germany, the North West of Germany and the Ruhr area. The regional

⁷ This section compares the ranking of the regions for two years only. Therefore, the observed pattern might only be representative for these two years. Note, that the relationship observable for 1999 and 2009 remains stable considering other years.

⁸ The dashed lines denote the German employment growth rates in 1999 and 2009.

planning units with the highest labor force employment rates were located in the South of Germany (see figure 5.3).





Figure 5.4: Regional labor force employment rates in Germany (1999 and 2009)

Figure 5.4 shows that the geographical distributions of regional labor force employment rates in Germany did not change very much during the last ten years. Compared to the regional employment growth rate, there was less fluctuation between the group of regions with an above and below average labor force employment rate. Only seven regional planning units changed between these groups. The correlation coefficient for regional labor force employment rates in 1999 and in 2009 amounts to 0.96. The regression line has a slope of 0.82 and the R^2 is 0.92. These results indicate that the ranking of the regional planning units according to their labor force employment rate was very stable.

Figure 5.5 reveals that the regional planning units are grouped into two different categories according to their participation rates. The group of regions with high participation rates consists of East German regional planning units. The reason for the high participation rates in East Germany compared to West Germany, is the notably higher female labor market participation in the East. Among the East German regional planning units, only Berlin realized a participation rate in 1999 and 2009 that was similar to the regional participation rates in West Germany.



Urban Affairs and Spatial Development, own calculations.

In 2009, Trier and Hochrhein–Bodensee reported participation rates below 50 percent, whereas the participation rates in East German regional planning units exceeded the value of 61 percent. The highest value was reported in Altmarkt with 65.9 percent. However, differences in regional participation rates between East and West Germany

were more pronounced in 1999 compared to 2009 (see also figure 5.6). In 1999, Oberfranken-West realized the highest participation rates among the West German regional planning units with 58.1 percent. This was three percentage points below the participation rate of Uckermark-Barnim that reported the lowest participation rate among the East German regional planning units. In 2009, Schwarzwald-Baar-Heuberg was able to realize a participation rate similar to East German regions. In Schwarzwald-Baar-Heuberg, the participation rate in 2009 amounted to 60.0 percent and the participation rate of Mittleres Mecklenburg/Rostock was 60.6 percent. Apart from the differences between East and West Germany, no clear regional pattern is observable for regional participation rates (see figure 5.6).



The correlation coefficient for regional participation rates in 1999 and 2009 amounts to 0.97. The slope of the regression line is 0.89 with an R^2 of 0.94. Only ten of the 91 regional planning units changed their position in comparison to the average German participation rate. Eight regional planning units with a below average participation rate in 1999, realized an above average participation rate in 2009. Two regions changed from the group of regions with an above average participation rate in 1999 to the group of regions with a below average participation rate in 2009. These findings show that the geographical distribution of participation rates within Germany was very stable during the last ten years.



Figure 5.7 shows that regional planning units are grouped into three different categories according to regional wages per employee. Large agglomerations in West Germany such as the regional planning units Hamburg, Duesseldorf, Cologne, Munich, Stuttgart and Rhein-Main exhibit by far the highest wages per employee in 1999 and 2009 (see also figure 5.8). Moreover, regional planning units with a strong specialization in car manufacturing (Braunschweig, Ingolstadt), and the regional planning units located in the Rhine-Neckar-Triangle (Starkenburg, Rheinpfalz, Unterer Neckar) belong to this group. The remaining regional planning units in this group are all located in Baden-Wuerttemberg. The other West German regional planning units as well as Berlin appear at the center of the picture. The East German regional planning units are situated further away from the national average in both periods.

Wages per employee show strong persistent behavior during the last decade. Only nine of the regional planning units changed their position in relation to the German average between 1999 and 2009. Moreover, the correlation coefficient for regional wages per employee in 1999 and 2009 is high with 0.97. In addition, the fitted regression line with a slope of 1.03 supports these findings.



These results for German regional employment growth, the regional labor force employment rate, the regional participation rate and regional wages are in line with other studies which consider European countries. The ranking of regions according to the labor force employment rate (the unemployment rate respectively), the participation rate, and wages, appeared to be very persistent over time. In contrast, regional employment growth rates were found to be characterized by low or modest persistence respectively. This result appears to be less surprising. Stocks such as the employment rate are usually considered as more persistent over time compared to flows such as the employment growth rate. However, it seems to be noteworthy that the findings for US states by Blanchard/Katz (1992) indicate very persistent regional employment growth rates and less persistent unemployment rates.

5.2.3 Labor mobility in Germany

The findings of the regional evolutions literature show that labor mobility is an important adjustment channel after a labor demand shock. However, labor mobility is usually limited to migration whereas little attention is paid to the role of commuting. This does not only hold for the regional evolutions literature. Patacchini/Zenou (2007) and Elhorst (2003) point out that most studies about regional labor market disparities and regional labor mobility tend to focus on the impact of migration flows and neglect the role of commuting. For Germany, Granato et al. (2011) examine the relationship between regional labor market disparities and labor mobility considering migration and commuting. This section takes a closer look at both labor mobility measures.

In 2009, the net-migration rate of German regional planning units varied between -1.4 percent in Altmark, and 0.5 percent in Rhein-Main. It is no surprise that a West German regional planning unit realized the highest net-migration rate and an East German regional planning unit realized the lowest net-migration rate. A common feature of internal migration in Germany since reunification is that people leave East Germany and move to West Germany. Wage differences, employment opportunities, differences in labor productivity and gradually shrinking subsidies for East German regions are identified as reasons for the migration decision (see, for example, Alecke/Untiedt 2000, Hunt 2000, Burda/Hunt 2001, Parikh/Leuvensteijn 2002, Burda 2008, and Alecke/Mitze/Untiedt 2010).

The working age population losses in East Germany due to internal migration appeared to be slightly more pronounced in 2009 than in 1999. In 1999, some regions in East Germany located around the regional planning unit of Berlin realized positive net-migration rates as well as Westmittelsachsen that includes the city of Leipzig. However, twenty years after reunification, Berlin and Oberes Elbtal/Osterzgebirge including the city of Dresden, were the only regional planning units in East Germany with a positive net-migration rate. In all other East German regions was the number of emigrants higher than the number of immigrants in 2009.

For West German regional planning units, no clear regional pattern is observable. Most of the agglomerations in West Germany such as Munich, Industrieregion Mittelfranken, Hamburg, Duesseldorf, Cologne or Rhein-Main, reported positive net-migration rates. For rural regional planning units in West Germany, both negative and positive net-migration rates are observable.

Figure 5.10 shows that the relationship between regions with population gains and regions with population losses due to internal migration was stable during the last ten years. There is a clear linear relationship between regional net-migration rates in 1999 and 2009. These results show that the regions of origin of internal migration and the target regions of internal migration in 1999 and 2009 were very similar.





Source: Federal Institute for Research on Building, Urban Affairs and Spatial Development, own calculations.

In 2009, the net-commuting rate varied between -33.5 percent in Uckermark-Barnim and 16.9 percent in Rhein-Main. All regional planning units with a netcommuting rate higher than 10.0 percent were located in West Germany (Unterer Neckar, Duesseldorf, Industrieregion Mittelfranken, Munich, Rhein-Main). The neighboring regions of these agglomeration centers exhibit negative values for the net-commuting rate. High negative values in East Germany are realized by the regional planning units surrounding the regional planning unit Berlin, while Berlin itself reported a net-commuting rate of 2.6. The highest net-commuting rate in East Germany with 3.1 percent was realized in the regional planning unit Oberes Elbtal/Osterzgebirge.

Commuting primarily takes place between agglomerations and rural regions. Nevertheless, differences between East and West Germany are still observable. Only 4 of the 20 East German regional planning units reported a positive netcommuting rate in 2009. Burda/Hunt (2001) already mentioned that especially workers in East Germany living in a region that shares a common border with West Germany tend to commute rather than to migrate. Einig/Pütz (2007) show the growing importance of out-commuting for less prosperous regional labor markets, especially for regions in East Germany.



Comparing figure 5.12 and figure 5.10 shows that the ranking of the regions according to their net-commuting rates is much more persistent than in the case of regional net-migration rates. The regression line in figure 5.12 has a slope of 1.17, whereas the regression coefficient for the net-migration rate amounts to 0.52. The correlation coefficient for these two mobility measures also shows that the correlation is higher for net-commuting rates (0.97) than for net-migration rates (0.72).

Net-commuting rates provide only limited insights into the dynamics of commuting activities. If the number of out-commuters and the number of in-commuters change by the same amount, then net-commuting is not affected. Hence, stability of in-commuting and out-commuting is only one possible reason for a stable net-commuting rate. Whether there are changes in regional commuting activities or not can be seen by considering in-commuting rates and out-commuting rates separately. Figure 5.13 shows that there has been a rise in regional commuting activities during the last ten years. With 17.9 percent, the German (in) commuting rate was 3.3 percentage points higher in 2009 compared to 1999.⁹ The four regional planning units with by far the highest out-commuting rates were Prignitz-Oberhavel, Uckermark-Barnim, Starkenburg and Emscher-Lippe. Only the first two regional planning units are located in East Germany. Emscher-Lippe is located in the Ruhr area and Starkenburg belongs to the Rhine-Neckar-Triangle.



⁹ Here, the commuting flows between the German regional planning units are considered. Therefore, on the national level, the number of in- and out-commuters have to be identical by definition. Nevertheless, the German in- and out-commuting rate differs. The reason is the different denominators. The number of employees measured by place of work exceeds the number of employees measured by place of residence.

Figure 5.13 reveals that regional in-commuting rates as well as regional outcommuting rates show persistent behavior (see also figure A.6 and figure A.7 in the appendix). There were few changes of the regions of origin of the commuting workers and their target regions during the last ten years. The slope of the regression line for the in-commuting rate is 1.17 and 1.13 for the out-commuting rate. In both cases, the correlation coefficient is high and amounts to 0.97 for regional incommuting rates and 0.98 for regional out-commuting rates.





Source: Statistic of the German Federal Employment Agency, own calculations.



Figure 5.14: Regional net-migration rates and unemployment rates in Germany, 2009

Notes: Slope of the regression line: -0.06 (*t*-stat.: -5.59, $R^2 = 0.26$), correlation coefficient: -0.50. Source: Statistic of the German Federal Employment Agency, Federal Institute for Research on Building, Urban Affairs and Spatial Development, own calculations. Note, the descriptive analysis about commuting activities in Germany is based on regional planning units. This means that commuting activities between cities and their hinterland take place within these regional units. Hence, not all commuters are considered here, but instead the group of long-distance commuters. Nevertheless, commuting activities appear to be very pronounced in this group. Commuting seems a considerable form of labor mobility in the case of Germany.

To get a first impression of the relationship between regional labor market disparities and labor mobility, the regional unemployment rates and both mobility measures are investigated. Figure 5.14 reveals that there is a clear negative relationship between the net-migration rate and the unemployment rate. Regions with high unemployment rates realize negative net-migration rates. This means that regions with high unemployment are characterized by more emigrants than immigrants.



Figure 5.15 shows that there is also a negative relationship between the regional net-commuting rates and the regional unemployment rates. Workers tend to commute into regions with better employment opportunities. In contrast, Kunz (2012) finds a slight positive relationship between regional net-commuting rates and regional unemployment rates for districts. Cities usually realize positive net-commuting rates, whereas their rural neighboring regions realize negative net-commuting rates. However, unemployment rates for cities are usually higher compared to rural districts. This explains the positive relationship for German

districts. In this chapter, the units of analysis are regional planning units. The main part of commuting activities between cities and their hinterland takes place within the regional planning units.¹⁰

The results by Granato et al. (2011) show that labor mobility seems to reduce regional disparities in unemployment in Germany. They also find that, compared to migration, commuting is less important for a reduction of labor market disparities in Germany. Figure 5.14 and figure 5.15 are in line with these findings.

The regression results imply that there is a significant negative relationship between labor mobility and unemployment. However, the relationship between the regional unemployment rates and the measures for labor mobility appears to be more pronounced in the case of migration than in the case of commuting. Indeed, the regression coefficient amounts to -0.82 for the commuting case and only to -0.06 for the migration case but the R^2 is considerably higher in the migration case (0.26 compared to 0.09). Accordingly, the correlation coefficient for net-migration rates and unemployment rates with -0.50 is notably higher than for net-commuting rates and unemployment rates with -0.30.

Granato et al. (2011) also show that in- and outgoing mobility flows do not have to work symmetrically. To get a more detailed look at this issue, figure 5.16 presents the relationship for regional unemployment rates and regional incommuting rates as well as regional out-commuting rates. If in-commuting and out-commuting flows were to work symmetrically, one would expect a negative relationship between in-commuting and unemployment, whereas the relationship between unemployment and out-commuting should be positive.

Figure 5.16 shows that the in- and out-commuting flows do not work symmetrically. The first panel of figure 5.16 provides no evidence that workers commute into regions with low unemployment rates. The slope of the regression line takes a negative value (-0.14) but is not significantly different from zero. The corresponding R^2 is near zero. In contrast, a slight positive relationship is observable for regional unemployment rates and regional out-commuting rates. The regression coefficient for the unemployment rate is 0.42 and significant at the five percent level. However, the corresponding R^2 with 0.04 is only small. Accordingly, the correlation coefficient is only small in 2009 for regional unemployment rates and out-commuting rates (-0.09) and for regional unemployment rates and out-commuting rates (0.21).

¹⁰ Note, that Kunz (2012) investigates the relationship between regional net-commuting rates and regional unemployment rates for the year 2004 whereas figure 5.15 presents results for 2009. However, the relationship between net-commuting rates and unemployment rates for regional planning units in 2004 is very similar to the one in figure 5.15.



Figure 5.16: Regional in-commuting, out-commuting and unemployment in Germany, 2009

These results show that there is a negative relationship between labor mobility and regional unemployment. Workers tend to out-commute from regions with fewer employment opportunities, whereas the target regions of commuting are not necessarily regional planning units with low unemployment rates. Further, the results show that job opportunities are by far not the only reason for the migration or commuting decision.

5.2.4 Measurement of relative regional variables

To derive the effects of a region-specific shock in labor demand, all variables have to enter the PVAR measured as relative regional variables. This is necessary to purge the regional variables from common movements. Following Decressin/Fatás (1995), Fredriksson (1999), Debelle/Vickery (1999), Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002), Pekkala/ Kangasharju (2002a), Pekkala/Kangasharju (2002b), and Kunz (2012) we allow regional variables to differ in terms of their elasticity to movements of their national counterpart and construct relative regional variables measured as β -differences. Baddeley/Martin/Tyler (1998) show that β -differences can be considered as a combination of simple differences and simple ratios. Hence, the choice of β -differences is less restrictive compared to the assumption that the relationship between regional variables and their national counterpart are best described by either simple differences or simple ratios.

Let $\gamma_{i,t}^n$ denote the employment growth rate of region *i* at time *t*, and $\overline{\gamma}_t^n$ corresponds to the employment growth rate of (West) Germany at time *t*. The relative regional employment growth rate for region *i* measured as β -difference $\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^n$ is calculated in the following fashion:

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{n} = \gamma_{i,t}^{n} - \beta_{i}^{n} \overline{\gamma}_{t}^{n}$$
(5.48)

The coefficients β_i^n are unknown and have to be estimated. Here, the cyclical sensitivity approach by Thirlwall (1966) and Brechling (1967) is applied to determine $\hat{\beta}_i^n$ (see also section 2.2.1). A regression model of the form of equation (2.31) is estimated for each region separately with the regional employment growth rate as endogenous variable and the (West) German employment growth rate as exogenous variable. Then, the estimated coefficients $\hat{\beta}_i^n$ are applied to calculate the β -differences of the employment growth rate for each region as:

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^n = \gamma_{i,t}^n - \hat{\beta}_i^n \overline{\gamma}_t^n \tag{5.49}$$

The β -differences for the logarithm of the labor force employment rate $le_{i,t}$ the logarithm of the labor force participation rate $pr_{i,t}$ the growth rate of netcommuting activity $\gamma_{i,t}^{ca}$ the growth rate of the number of in-commuters $\gamma_{i,t}^{ic}$ the growth rate of the number of out-commuters $\gamma_{i,t}^{oc}$ and the growth rate of wages per employee $\gamma_{i,t}^{wa}$ are calculated in a similar way following the cyclical sensitivity approach:

$$\tilde{l}e_{i,t} = le_{i,t} - \hat{\beta}_i^{le}\bar{l}e_t$$
(5.50)

$$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t} = \rho r_{i,t} - \hat{\beta}_i^{\rho r} \overline{\rho}r_t$$
(5.51)

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{ca} = \gamma_{i,t}^{ca} - \hat{\beta}_i^{ca} \overline{\gamma}_t^{ca}$$
(5.52)

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{ic} = \gamma_{i,t}^{ic} - \hat{\beta}_i^{ic} \overline{\gamma}_t^{ic}$$
(5.53)

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{oc} = \gamma_{i,t}^{oc} - \hat{\beta}_i^{oc} \overline{\gamma}_t^{oc}$$
(5.54)

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{wa} = \gamma_{i,t}^{wa} - \hat{\beta}_i^{wa} \overline{\gamma}_t^{wa}$$
(5.55)

5.3 Results

This section presents the results for the dynamic response of the average region to a transitory one-period shock in region-specific employment growth. Note, that this study contributes to the existing literature in several ways. The original approach by Blanchard/Katz (1992) is augmented by allowing for different forms of labor mobility and it focuses on functional delimitated labor markets instead of administrative areas. Further, a new estimation procedure is applied to take the structure of the panel into account which is characterized by a large crosssectional dimension and a small time dimension. The section starts with a re-estimation of the three variable model in Kunz (2012) for West German districts using the PVAR estimator provided by Mutl (2009).¹¹ The aim of this analysis is to investigate whether the new estimation strategy matters, and if so, how. Then, the adjustment processes for West German regional planning units are examined.

Section 5.3.2 investigates the role of labor mobility during the adjustment process in more detail, distinguishing between commuting and migration for West German regional planning units. Section 5.3.3 analyzes the role of wages during the adjustment process. Finally, section 5.3.4 presents results for Germany as a whole.¹²

5.3.1 The classical approach revisited

To get an impression of how the new estimation method applied in this study affects the results, we start with a re-estimation of the model provided by Kunz (2012). Kunz (2012) applies the three variable approach by Blanchard/Katz (1992) for the 326 West German districts. The time series covers the period 1989 to 2004. A common lag length of two periods for each equation of the system was chosen. This specification is also applied for the other models examined in this chapter.

Figure 5.17 displays the dynamic response of the employment level, the unemployment rate and the participation rate induced by a one standard deviation shock in relative regional employment growth.¹³ This labor demand shock leads to an immediate rise of the employment level by 1.44 percent. The unemployment rate decreases by 0.22 percent and the participation rate increases by 0.06 percent in the initial year of the shock. The responses of the three variables in the period of the shock are very similar to the results by Kunz (2012). According to his findings, a labor demand shock triggers an immediate increase of the regional employment level by 1.62 percent, a decrease of the unemployment rate by 0.21 percent and an increase of the participation rate by 0.05 percent.

However, differences appear considering the adjustment path of the unemployment rate and the participation rate. According to Kunz (2012), the unemployment and participation rate reach their initial value already two years after the shock and it takes around six years until the effects of the labor demand shock dissipate.

¹¹ MATLAB is used for the empirical analysis in this section.

¹² Regression results for the different models are presented in the appendix.

¹³ For impulse response functions with estimated two-standard error bounds see figure A.8 to figure A.19 in the appendix.





Here, the participation rate reaches its peak two periods after the shock and is 0.14 percent higher than before the shock. In the period after the shock, the unemployment rate reaches its lowest value. In this period, the unemployment rate falls short of its initial value by 0.26 percent. From then on, both variables start to return back to their initial values as they were before the shock occurred. However, it takes around twelve years until both measures return back to their initial values. These results indicate that the effect of the shock on the unemployment rate and the participation rate is more persistent compared to the findings in Kunz (2012). Moreover, the adjustment process of the two variables shown in figure 5.17 appears to be smoother compared to the findings by Kunz (2012).

The response of the employment level in figure 5.17 is in line with the findings from previous studies. The effect of a labor demand shock on the employment level becomes weaker over time, but the employment level remains above its initial value. Here, the employment level remains permanently 1.82 percent above its initial value. Because the unemployment and participation rate return back to their initial values after twelve years but the employment level remains permanently higher, labor mobility appears to be the main adjustment mechanism in the long run.

Comparing the findings by Kunz (2012) based on the LSDV estimator and the results presented here based on the PVAR estimator provided by Mutl (2009) shows some similarities but also some clear differences. The responses of the unemployment rate and the labor force participation rate in the initial period of the shock as well as the behavior of employment are very similar. Further, labor mobility seems to be

the most important adjustment mechanism in the long run. However, the results for the adjustment paths of unemployment and participation show clear differences. The results presented here indicate that a region-specific labor demand shock has long-lasting effects on both variables and it takes more than a decade until these variables return back to their initial values. Therefore, the adjustment processes appear to be much more sluggish compared to the findings by Kunz (2012). These findings show that it is necessary to take the structure of the panel characterized by a large cross-sectional dimension and a small time dimension into account when examining the adjustment processes after a labor demand shock.



Next, the adjustment processes for the functional delimitated regional planning units are investigated. Figure 5.18 shows the adjustment process after a labor demand shock for the 71 West German regional planning units for the same time period. Fredriksson (1999), Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002), and Kunz (2012) emphasize that the adjustment dynamics after a regional labor demand shock and the size of the regional units under consideration are closely connected. Figure 5.18 shows that the response of the employment level according to a one standard deviation innovation in regional labor demand is considerably less pronounced for the larger regional planning units compared to the smaller districts. In the period of the shock, the employment level increases by 0.71 percent. This is in line with the findings by Kunz (2012). He showed that the response of the employment level for the smaller West German districts is more pronounced compared to the larger West German federal states. In the long run, the employment level remains 0.85 percent above its initial value.

A region-specific labor demand shock triggers a fall of the unemployment rate by 0.23 percent and a rise of the participation rate of 0.05 percent. The short-run results for the West German regional planning units are similar to the results for the West German districts. In contrast, the adjustment process for the unemployment and participation rate is quicker in the case of the regional planning units. However, it still takes a decade until both variables return to their initial values.



Finally, the observation period is expanded up to the current period. Figure 5.19 shows the results for the 71 West German regional planning units but for a longer time period 1989 to 2009. The short-run results are very similar to the findings for the time period 1989 to 2004. Minor differences occur for the long-run behavior of the employment level, the unemployment rate and the participation rate. Hence, the adjustment processes appears to be stable over time.

In the initial year of the labor demand shock, the employment level increases by 0.70 percent and the unemployment rate decreases by 0.25 percent. The response of the participation rate with 0.08 percent is higher compared to the time period 1989 to 2004. In the long run, the employment level reaches a similar level as in the period of the shock and remains 0.68 percent above its initial value. However, the adjustment process for the unemployment and participation rate appears to be

a little more sluggish once the years 2005 to 2009 are included in the data. It takes around twelve years until the unemployment and participation rate return back to their initial values.

All results provided in this section indicate that labor mobility is the major adjustment mechanism after a regional labor demand shock in the short as well as long run. This can be shown by decomposing the responses of the unemployment rate, the participation rate and labor mobility to a shock in labor demand using identity (5.17). In the case of West German districts, 15 percent of the shock in the initial year is absorbed by the unemployment rate and 4 percent by the participation rate. This means labor mobility accounts for 81 percent of the shock absorption in the initial year.

For the West German regional planning units and the time period 1989 to 2004, the unemployment rate accounts for 32 percent of the shock in the initial year and the participation rate accounts for 7 percent. Compared to the West German districts, labor mobility is less important as an adjustment mechanism. Nevertheless, more than 60 percent of the shock in the initial year is absorbed by labor mobility. This result is not surprising regarding the larger regional planning units. The main part of commuting activities between a city and the rural neighboring regions takes place within the regional planning units.

In addition, for West German regional planning units and the time period 1989 to 2009, labor mobility appears to be the most important adjustment mechanism. In the initial period of the shock, labor mobility absorbs more than 50 percent of the shock. However, compared to the results for the shorter time period, the role of the unemployment rate and especially the participation rate as adjustment channels were of growing importance including the recent years. The unemployment rate accounts for 36 percent of the shock and the participation rate for 11 percent in the initial year of the shock.

The results in this section provide information about the importance of labor mobility as an adjustment mechanism. However, in this three variable model based on Blanchard/Katz (1992) it is only possible to derive the response of labor mobility as a whole. The results provide no insights into the different forms of labor mobility. The next section takes a more detailed look on labor mobility as an adjustment mechanism.

5.3.2 The role of labor mobility for the adjustment process

The three variable model provided by Blanchard/Katz (1992) makes it possible to determine the impact of a regional labor demand shock on labor mobility. However, it is not possible to distinguish between migration and commuting as separate

adjustment mechanisms after a shock. The aim of this section is to quantify the contribution of these two measures of labor mobility to the adjustment process.

Due to data restrictions, the time series covers the years from 1999 to 2009. To highlight differences in the adjustment process due to the shorter time period and differences due to the augmented set of variables entering the PVAR, the staring point here is again the three variable model. This model provides the baseline results.



The results for the adjustment process for the time period 1999 to 2009 based on this model are provided in figure 5.20. The response of the employment level appears to be very similar to the findings for the period 1989 to 2009. A one standard deviation innovation in regional labor demand leads to a contemporaneous increase of the employment level by 0.68 percent. Two periods after the shock, the employment level is 0.78 percent above its initial value. From then on, the effect of the shock diminishes but the number of employees permanently remains on a higher level. In the long run, the employment level is 0.41 percent higher than its initial value.

The response of the unemployment rate in the initial period of the shock with 0.27 percent is also very similar to the time period 1989 to 2009. In contrast, the adjustment process of the unemployment rate appears to be more sluggish. Most of the effect of the shock is absorbed after fifteen years, but it takes up to 20 years until the effect of the shock completely disappears. With an increase of 0.05 percent, the response of the participation rate in the initial period of the shock

is smaller compared to the time period 1989 to 2009. In addition, it only takes around six years until the effect of the shock on the participation rate disappears and the participation rate returns back to its initial value.

In the initial period of the shock, unemployment absorbs 40 percent of the shock and participation 7 percent. This means that in the year of the shock, over 50 percent of the shock is absorbed by labor mobility.



To distinguish between the impact of the shock on migration and commuting, the model is augmented by net-commuting activities represented by the ratio between employees measured by place of work and employees measured by place of residence. The vector of endogenous variables corresponds to equation (5.18). Based on the estimation results for the growth rate of net-commuting activity, the impact of the shock on the level of net-commuting activities is derived. The results for the model augmented by net-commuting activity are displayed in figure 5.21.

The findings indicate that a one standard deviation shock in labor demand triggers an immediate increase of net-commuting activities by 0.27 percent. Moreover, a labor demand shock has a permanent effect on net-commuting activities and in the long run, the ratio between employees measured by place of work and employees measured by place of residence is about 0.31 percent above its initial value. Compared to figure 5.20, the response of the unemployment rate in the initial period of the shock with 0.28 percent is now slightly higher, and the response of the participation rate with 0.04 percent slightly smaller.

According to these results, the unemployment rate absorbs 41 percent and the participation rate accounts for 6 percent of the shock in the initial period. This means that more than 50 percent of the shock is absorbed by labor mobility. However, migration appears to play only a minor role as an adjustment channel. Around 40 percent of the shock is absorbed by net-commuting activity, whereas changes in the working age population due to migration account for only 13 percent of the shock. Figure 5.21 also shows that even in the long run, commuting absorbs a larger part of the shock compared to migration.

Finally, the responses of gross-commuting flows are considered to examine whether a labor demand shock affects in-commuting and out-commuting symmetrically. The vector of endogenous variables of the PVAR corresponds to equation (5.20). Note, the impulse response functions reflect the development of the level of in-commuters and out-commuters. Analog to the case of employment, the estimated results of the in-commuter growth rate and the out-commuter growth rate are applied to compute the evolution of the level of in- and out-commuters.



Figure 5.22 shows that in-commuters and out-commuters do not react symmetrically to an innovation in labor demand. In the year of the shock, the number of in-commuters increases by 1.46 percent, whereas the number of out-commuters decreases by 0.19 percent only. In the period after the shock, the number of in-commuters is 1.61 percent above its initial value. From then on, the number
of in-commuters decreases but remains permanently around one percent above its initial value. A steady decrease of the number of out-commuters is observable for ten years. In the long run, the number of out-commuters is about 0.45 percent below the initial value.

The asymmetric response of out- and in-commuters gives a hint that the new job opportunities that go hand in hand with a positive regional labor demand are not distributed equally across employees. In this case, the decrease in the number of out-commuters should be higher than the increase in the number of in-commuters because travel costs decline for out-commuters if they can work in their region of residence. The higher increase in the number of in-commuters implies that new jobs require qualifications that not all people already living in the region are endowed with.

Another explanation for the asymmetric response might be that the new incommuters and the out-commuters are characterized by an on average different degree of search intensity. If the new in-commuters were primarily unemployed before, it appears to be reasonable to assume that their search intensity to get a new job is higher compared to the group of out-commuters that are already employed. In this case, the smaller response of the out-commuters would reflect that people are less willing to give up their current job and change their employer solely for a new job in their region of residence.

However, these explanations only hold for a positive labor demand shock but not in the case of a negative labor demand shock. An underlying assumption of the model is that negative and positive shocks work symmetrically (see section 2.2.4). In the case of an unfavorable labor demand shock, the stronger response of the incommuters might simply reflect that if in-commuters loose their jobs, they do not affect the number of unemployed in the region under consideration or the regional labor force because they do not live in this region. They can only affect these two measures in their region of residence. Hence, these results can also be interpreted in the sense that there are regional spill-over effects of the shock via labor mobility.

The response to a labor demand shock can also be expressed in the number of people instead of relative changes. This makes it more convenient to quantify the contribution of the different adjustment channels. However, Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002) point out that the impulse response analysis only provides the net impact of the labor demand shock on the variables in the model. Hence, a fall in the number of unemployed in the period of the shock only implies that the number of outflows from unemployment exceeds the inflows into unemployment but not that there are no inflows into unemployment from, for example, people out of the labor force or migrants. This has to be kept in mind when considering the results for the number of people.

Suppose the one standard deviation innovation in labor demand corresponds to 100 new jobs or 100 new employees measured by place of work respectively.¹⁴ An increase of 100 employees measured by place of work goes hand in hand with 51.9 additional employees measured by place of residence. This implies that 48.1 of the new jobs are filled by commuters.¹⁵ The number of in-commuters increases by 37.5 persons and 4.6 former out-commuters start working in their region of residence. The number of unemployed decreases by 38.5 people, and 28.0 migrants move into the region.

As the sum of migrants and former unemployed exceeds the number of additional employees measured by place of residence, this implies that the number of people out of the labor force has to increase by 5.7 persons. Of course, this is not a very intuitive result. One would expect that a positive labor demand shock goes hand in hand with a drop in the number of people out of the labor force. A reason for this finding might be the restrictive definition of the labor force. Here, the labor force includes the unemployed and the employees covered by the social security code. Hence, people out of the labor force also include self employed people as well as employees not covered by the social security code. Therefore, the people out of the labor force do not only consist of discouraged people. It seems appropriate to assume that an innovation in employment covered by the social security code also affects other forms of employment. Hence, an unemployed person getting a job that is not covered by the social security code leads to a decrease of the labor force. Similarly, if this person looses his or her job and becomes unemployed, the labor force increases.

Another explanation could be that only West Germany is considered here and that the western part of Germany is first and foremost the target region of internal migration in Germany (see section 5.2.3). Note, that the finding of a rise of people out of the labor force results from the very small response of the participation rate. This in turn means that the response of the labor force and the working age population has to be very similar. The pattern of internal migration in Germany is characterized by migration flows from East to West and this pattern was very stable during the last decades. Hence, these migration flows generally appear to be the result of unfavorable job opportunities in the East compared to the West, rather than region-specific shocks in West German regional planning units. However, the sample of cross-sectional units does not include the East German regional planning

¹⁴ These responses in the number of people for the average region are calculated based on the West German sample means of the labor force employment rate (E^{POP} / LF = 0.89), the participation rate (LF / POP = 0.55), the incommuting rate (0.18) and the out-commuting rate (0.16).

¹⁵ In-commuters do not affect the number of employees measured by place of residence because they do not live in the region. Out-commuters do not affect the number of employees measured by place of residence because they already live in the region.

units and this might lead to an overestimation of the migration response to a labor demand shock for West Germany.

5.3.3 The role of the wage feedback in the adjustment process

This section investigates the role of wages in the adjustment process. The starting point is the three variable model augmented by the growth rate of wages per employee. The vector of endogenous variables of the PVAR corresponds to equation (5.21), and all variables enter the PVAR measured as relative regional variables. For the impulse response analysis, the estimated results for the growth rate of wages per employees are applied to derive the development of the wage level per employees caused by a labor demand shock.



Figure 5.23 shows the responses of the employment level, the wage level, the unemployment rate and the participation rate to a one standard deviation shock in labor demand. In the initial period of the shock, the wage level increases by 0.20 percent. In the period after the shock, the wage level is 0.25 percent above its initial value. From then on, the effect of the shock on the wage level decreases, but the wage level remains permanently above its initial value. In the long run, the wage level is 0.08 percent higher compared to the time before the shock. The adjustment paths for the employment level, the unemployment rate and the participation rate are nearly identical to the results for the three variable model without wages presented in section 5.3.2.

To examine the effect of the wage feedback, we follow the approach suggested by Blanchard/Katz (1992) and recompute impulse response functions setting all the coefficients of lagged wages in the PVAR to zero. Responses of the employment level, the unemployment rate and the participation rate with and without wage feedback are presented in figure 5.24.



These results confirm the impression that there are only minor effects of the wage feedback on the adjustment process. It seems that in the short run, the increase of the wage level and the slightly more pronounced fall in the unemployment rate induces net in-migration and net in-commuting of labor. Hence, during the periods directly after the shock, the employment level allowing for the wage feedback is slightly higher compared to the case where the wage feedback is suppressed. However, in the long run, the higher wage level dampens the creation of new jobs and the response of the employment level but this effect is also very small. In the long run, the employment level remains about 0.46 percent above its initial level suppressing the wage feedback, and about 0.45 percent above its initial value in the model with wage feedback.

Allowing for a wage feedback, the response of the participation rate appears to be slightly more pronounced. However, in both cases, the participation rate returns back to its initial value six years after the shock. Further, the wage feedback appears to slightly accelerate the adjustment process of the unemployment rate. It takes 18 years until the unemployment rate returns to it initial value suppressing the wage feedback, but only 16 years allowing for a wage feedback.



Figure 5.25: Response of employment, wages, unemployment, participation and net-commuting to a labor demand shock (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)

Figure 5.26: Response of employment, wages, unemployment, participation and gross-commuting to a labor demand shock (West German regional planning units, 1999 to 2009)



Figure 5.25 displays the results for the model including net-commuting activity. The vector of endogenous variables of the PVAR corresponds to equation (5.22). The left panel of figure 5.25 shows the responses of the employment level, the wage level, the unemployment rate, the participation rate and net-commuting activity, whereas the right panel displays the response of net-commuting activity with and without wage feedback. The adjustment path of net-commuting activity in both cases is nearly identical.

Finally, the model including gross-commuting flows is augmented by wages. The vector of endogenous variables of this PVAR corresponds to equation (5.23). The corresponding impulse response functions as well as the responses of the number of in- and out-commuters with and without wage feedback are displayed in figure 5.25.

As figure 5.26 shows, the wage feedback also has only minor effects on the number of in-commuters and out-commuters. Only in the long run does the wage feedback slightly dampen the response of the in-commuters. Without wage feedback, the number of in-commuters is about 1.08 percent higher compared to its initial value, whereas in the case with feedback, the number of in-commuters remains permanently 1.05 percent above its initial value. This is in line with the findings for the responses of the employment level.

The wage feedback does not appear to notably accelerate or dampen the adjustment process after a labor demand shock. Comparing the results of the models with and without wage feedback, shows that the responses of the model variables are almost identical. Only for the long run are very slight differences for the response of the employment level and the response of the number of incommuters observable. These results are in line with the findings by Blanchard/Katz (1992), Debelle/Vickery (1999), Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002), and Leonardi (2004). The results of these studies indicate that the wage feedback does not alter the adjustment process much at all. For the West German regional planning units, this effect appears to be even smaller than in those studies.

5.3.4 Region labor market dynamics in Germany

Everything we know about adjustment processes after a regional labor demand shock in Germany is confined to West Germany. Section 5.2.3 already showed that internal migration flows in Germany are characterized by gains in the working age population in West Germany and losses in East Germany both due to migration. It was argued in section 5.3.2, that this pattern leads to an overestimation of the role of migration in a model that only considers West German regions. A region-specific labor demand shock might not be strong enough to explicitly change this pattern.

The descriptive analysis in section 5.2.2 showed that regional labor market disparities between East an West Germany are still very pronounced. Clear differences in regional labor market conditions are observable for East West German regions. However, this heterogeneity does not imply that the two parts are not closely connected. Therefore, it appears to be reasonable to examine regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock for Germany as a whole.

The model includes region-specific fixed effects to account for unobserved regional heterogeneity. However, pooling these heterogeneous regions might lead to serious problems if the regional labor market disparities between East and West Germany are the result of different adjustment processes between the two parts of Germany. The PVAR assumes homogeneity of regression coefficients for the cross-sectional units pooled in the model. If the adjustment processes differ between East and West Germany, the findings of the impulse response analysis can only hardly be considered as the response of the "average" German region to a region-specific labor demand shock. Hence, the results have to be interpreted with caution. Nevertheless, considering all German regional planning units might provide some fruitful insights whether regional labor market dynamics after a region-specific labor demand shock differ between East and West Germany.¹⁶ Hence, the different specifications of the PVAR of section 5.3.2 were re-estimated including all 91 German regional planning units.



¹⁶ Note, it is not possible to estimate a PVAR for East Germany separately because of the small number of crosssectional units. Further, a model for East Germany would also suffer from the problem that the pattern of mobility within Germany is characterized by flows from East to West Germany.

Figure 5.27 provides the response of the employment level, the unemployment rate and the participation rate after a labor demand shock for all German regional planning units for the period 1999 to 2009. Comparing figure 5.27 with figure 5.20 shows that the adjustment processes identified for all German regional planning units indeed differs from the findings from the West German model. Therefore, it does not seem appropriate to interpret the results as responses of the average German regional planning unit after an innovation in regional labor demand.

First, the response of the employment level is more pronounced. A one standard deviation innovation in labor demand leads to a contemporaneous increase of the employment level by 0.88 percent. Three years after the shock, the employment level is 1.34 percent above its initial value. From then on, the effect of the shock decreases, but in the long run, the employment level remains 0.57 percent above its initial value.

In the period of the shock, the unemployment rate decreases by 0.36 percent, the participation rate increases by 0.15 percent. It takes between six and seven years until the unemployment rate reaches its initial value again. However, it takes about 17 years until the effect of the shock on the unemployment rate cancels out. For the whole sample of German regional planning units, especially the adjustment process of the participation rate appears to be more sluggish. In the West German case it takes six years until the participation rate returns back to its initial value. Here, the participation rate reaches its highest value four years after the shock and it takes up to 25 years until the effect of the shock cancels out. This means that in the first year of the shock, 41 percent of the shock is absorbed by the unemployment rate, 17 percent by the participation rate, and labor mobility accounts for 43 percent of the shock.

Figure 5.28 displays the response impulse functions for the model augmented by net-commuting activity. The responses of the employment level, the unemployment rate and the participation rate are very similar to figure 5.27. A one standard deviation shock in labor demand leads to a contemporaneous increase in net-commuting activity by 0.29 percent. In the long run, the relation between employees measured by place of work and employees measured by place of residence remains about 0.43 percent above its initial value. This means that in the initial period of the shock, the unemployment rate accounts for 44 percent of the shock, the participation rate accounts for 18 percent of the shock, and netmigration accounts for 32 percent. Hence, migration absorbs only 6 percent of the shock.





The results for the model including gross-commuting flows are presented in figure 5.29. According to figure 5.29, a labor demand shock triggers an increase in the number of in-commuters by 1.45 percent and a decrease in the number of out-commuters by 0.20 percent. Two periods after the shock, the number of in-commuters is 2.12 percent above its initial value. From then on, the effect

of the shock declines, and in the long run the number of in-commuters remains 1.10 percent above its initial value. In contrast to the West German case, the effect of the shock on the number of out-commuters starts to decline four periods after the shock. In the long run, the number of out-commuters remains 0.24 percent below its initial value.

Again, it is possible to express the effects of a labor demand shock in terms of the number of workers. If 100 new jobs are created in the course of a labor demand shock, 28.6 of these jobs are filled by commuters. There are 25.2 new in-commuters and 3.4 former out-commuters. Hence, an increase of 100 employees measured by place of work, goes hand in hand with an increase of 71.4 employees measured at their place of residence. 41.1 new workers were formerly unemployed, and 14.0 of the new workers came from outside the labor force. 16.3 new workers migrated from other regions.

In section 5.3.2, it was already argued that due to this pattern of internal migration flows in Germany, the response of migration was overestimated for West Germany. The findings for the model including all German regional planning units are in line with this point of view.

Compared to the findings for West Germany, especially the unemployment rate and the participation rate show a different behavior. However, also the results presented in this section indicate that the adjustment process is rather sluggish and a region-specific labor demand shock has long-lasting effects on these variables. Further, labor mobility and especially commuting appears to be the main adjustment mechanism in the long run.

The results presented in this section for Germany indicate that adjustment processes after a labor demand shock clearly differ between East and West Germany. Unfortunately, it is not possible to derive the response of the "average" East German regions from these results.

Labor market institutions are identical within Germany. Hence, this raises the question why adjustment processes differ between East and West Germany. An underlying assumption of this analysis is that the adjustment processes are symmetric in the case of positive and negative employment shocks. However, in 2009 the number of employees in East Germany is 10.6 percent below the value in 1999. In contrast, the number of employees in West Germany in 2009 is 2.4 percent higher compared to 1999. Therefore, there seems to be a higher probability for negative region-specific shocks in East Germany compared to West Germany and asymmetric adjustment processes could explain the differences.

Further, the results show that it might be problematic to examine the adjustment processes for regions characterized by heterogeneous labor market conditions as it is the case in East and West Germany. The results from the PVAR can only hardly be interpreted as the response of the "average" region. This should be kept in mind, especially if regional labor market dynamics are investigated for a group of regions located in different countries.

5.4 Conclusion

This chapter examined the adjustment processes of regional labor markets after a region-specific labor demand shock. Previous studies identified labor mobility as the main adjustment mechanism in the aftermath of a regional labor demand shock. The findings of this chapter also indicate that labor mobility is the most important adjustment mechanism for West German regional planning units even in the short run. In the initial year of the shock, labor mobility absorbs more than 50 percent of the shock.

However, labor mobility is usually confined to migration in the existing literature whereas commuting as an additional form of labor mobility is neglected. The aim of this chapter is to get a more detailed look on the role of labor mobility. The framework developed in this chapter allows us to distinguish between these two different forms of labor mobility. For the West German regional planning units, commuting was found to be more important than migration. In the initial period of the shock, commuting accounts for 40 percent of the shock, and migration accounts for 13 percent of the shock. Moreover, the results show that commuting activities are permanently affected by an innovation in regional labor demand and even in the long run a larger part of the shock is absorbed by commuting compared to migration. It appears to be noteworthy that the analysis is based on functional delimitated labor markets. Commuting activities between cities and their hinterland take place within the considered regional planning units. Nevertheless, commuting appears to be the main adjustment channel.

The results also show that in-commuting an out-commuting do not react symmetrically to a labor demand shock. If the labor demand shock goes hand in hand with the creation of 100 additional jobs, around 48 of the jobs are filled by in-commuters and around 5 jobs are filled by former out-commuters now working in their region of residence. This strong asymmetric response of the in-commuters and the out-commuters gives a hint that a labor demand shock does not affect all employees in the same way. The shock appears to be sensitive in terms of the labor market characteristics of people. However, another interpretation of this result might be that an unfavorable shock is exported via in-commuters into their regions of origin. More detailed analysis is needed to determine which employees are mainly affected by a labor demand shock. Moreover, the findings show that an innovation in labor demand has longlasting effects on the unemployment rates of West German regional planning units. It takes between 15 and 20 years until the effect of the shock completely disappears. These findings indicate that slow adjustment after a regional labor demand shock is a possible explanation for persistent disparities in regional unemployment.

In contrast, the response of the participation rate after a labor demand shock appears to be less pronounced for West German regional planning units. It takes around six years for the participation rate to recover.

The findings by Blanchard/Katz (1992), Debelle/Vickery (1999), Choy/Maré/ Mawson (2002), and Leonardi (2004) already indicate that wages affect the adjustment process relatively little. According to this chapter, wages appear to play an even smaller role during the adjustment process for West German regional planning units.

So far, the existing regional evolutions literature dealing with Germany only considers West Germany. Pronounced labor market disparities between East and West Germany are still observable and the two parts of Germany are still heterogeneous in terms of regional labor market conditions. Hence, also the adjustment processes after a labor demand shock might differ between East and West Germany. The findings of the model including all German regional planning units are in line with this point of view. However, the results of this study provide no detailed insights into what are the differences in terms of the adjustment process between East and West Germany or to quantify these differences. Further, these findings have to interpreted with caution because it is not appropriate to interpret the results from the model pooling all German regional planning units as the response of the "average" German region.

Comparing East and West Germany shows that the labor market conditions are still heterogeneous. However, this does not mean that the two parts are not closely connected as the pattern of internal migration flows in Germany shows. A regionspecific labor demand shock might not be strong enough to explicitly change this pattern characterized by flows from East to West Germany. Hence, the response of migration to a labor demand shock might be overestimated when only considering West Germany and not the whole country.

Further, the possibility of a negative labor demand shock appears to be higher for East German regional planning units compared to West German ones. Hence, another explanation for differences between East and West Germany might be asymmetric effects of negative and positive labor demand shocks. To test the underlying assumption of symmetric shocks made in this chapter could be an additional topic for further research. Note, it remains somewhat of a black box what happens to migrants or commuters after leaving a region. For example, if an adverse labor demand shock triggers a fall in in-commuting and a rise in migration, it is not clear if these people find a job or if they are unemployed in their (new) home region. In the latter case, labor mobility might be a good adjustment mechanism if a region was hit by a shock. Otherwise, the effect of the shock would only be exported into another region. Hence, it might be another fruitful approach to examine the expansion of the shock in space. The spatial aspects of the estimator might serve as a corresponding tool for this analysis.

Chapter 6

6 What are the new insights into the evolution of regional labor market disparities?

This study examines the evolution of regional labor market disparities in Germany. It investigates the hypothesis of convergence for regional labor markets. In contrast to previous studies, the findings here suggest that region-specific labor market shocks are an important driving force of regional labor market disparities. This raises the question how long does it take until things return back to normal after a region-specific labor market shock. Following the framework provided by Blanchard/Katz (1992), this study additionally examines the adjustment processes after a region-specific labor demand shock.

The existing literature provides two broad threads of convergence analysis: the cross-sectional approach to convergence and the time series approach to convergence. The underlying assumption of the cross-sectional approach is that the regions under consideration are characterized by a transition process towards their steady states. Regional disparities simply reflect differences in the initial conditions. As soon as all regions reach their steady state, regional disparities should minimize or even disappear. Following this point of view, convergence can be considered as a catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions. In contrast, the time series approach to convergence emphasizes the role of region-specific shocks due to economic disturbances as the origin of regional disparities. Following this point of view, convergence can also be considered as an adjustment process after a region-specific shock. To get a comprehensive overview, this study follows both approaches to investigate the hypothesis of convergence of regional labor markets.

OECD (2005) already showed that regional unemployment disparities and regional employment disparities might behave differently. Although the large body of literature deals with convergence of regional unemployment disparities, it appears to be reasonable to consider both regional unemployment as well as regional employment. Hence, chapter 3 examines the hypothesis of convergence for unemployment rates of West German federal states and the time period 1968 to 2009 as well as for unemployment rates of all German federal states and the time period 1991 to 2009. Further, chapter 4 examines the hypothesis of convergence for employment rates of West German regional planing units and the time period 1989 to 2008.

The development of employment in Germany during the last years was characterized by a remarkable change of the skill composition. The number of lowskilled workers decreased, whereas the number of high-skilled workers increased. However, it is far from clear whether and how the change in the skill composition of employment affects the geographical distributions of employment prospects. Therefore, the hypothesis of convergence is investigated for regional skill-specific employment rates as well as regional total employment rates. Skill-specific employment rates are calculated for high-skilled workers, medium-skilled workers and low-skilled workers. The results indicate that these employment subgroups behave in a different way than total employment. Hence, convergence analysis for total employment might only provide an incomplete picture about the evolution of regional employment disparities.

In the 1980s, the unemployment rates of West German federal states were characterized by a high degree of intra-distributional dynamics. In contrast, during the last twenty years, the ranking of (West) German federal states according to their unemployment rates was very stable. Similar results occur for the total employment rates of West German regional planning units during the time period 1989 to 2009. The same holds for high-skilled employment rates and low-skilled employment rates. In contrast, regional medium-skilled employment rates were characterized by a large degree of intra-distributional dynamics during the 1990s.

Evidence of β -convergence was found for unemployment rates of West German federal states. In contrast, the hypothesis of β -convergence has to be rejected when considering all German federal states. For regional total employment rates as well as for regional skill-specific employment rates, the findings indicate β -convergence. However, for regional employment rates, the speed of convergence appears to be rather slow.

The existence of β -convergence is a hint that there might be some form of catching-up process between favorable and unfavorable regions. However, a negative relationship between the initial values of a regional variable and their corresponding growth rates is only a necessary but not a sufficient condition for closing the gap between favorable and unfavorable regions and decreasing regional inequality. This means that the existence of β -convergence does not automatically imply σ -convergence.

Here the coefficient of variation is used as an inequality measure to investigate the hypothesis of σ -convergence. Neither for regional unemployment nor employment rates does the development of the coefficient of variation provides clear evidence of σ -convergence. For regional unemployment rates, the evolution of the coefficient of variation shows that periods of increasing inequality alternate with periods of decreasing inequality. Especially during the last twenty years, regional inequality seems to be mainly driven by cyclical movements and not by a continuous transition process.

While a favorable economic climate leads to a rise of regional unemployment disparities, regional inequality decreases during economic crisis. This means that during a boom, the unemployment rate decreases slower in regions with higher unemployment rates compared to those with lower unemployment rates. In contrast, during an economic downturn, unemployment increases slower in regions with high unemployment rates compared to those with low unemployment rates. Therefore, a positive economic climate is not sufficient to close the gap between low and high unemployment regions.

Similar results occurred for regional employment rates. However, the cyclical behavior of the dispersion of regional employment rates is less pronounced compared to regional unemployment rates. Further, with regard to regional high-skilled employment rates, a period of divergence was observable in the late 1990s.

The development of regional inequality in terms of (un)employment exhibits no clear trend but is mainly affected by the economic climate. Hence, simply comparing regional inequality at two points in time can easily lead to misleading results. Finding evidence of convergence and divergence first and foremost depends on where these two points are located within the business cycle. Moreover, because σ -convergence implies β -convergence, the concept of β -convergence also suffers from this problem. When investigating the hypothesis of σ -convergence it is possible to take this into account by examining the development of regional inequality over time. However, it appears to be rather questionable whether the concept of β -convergence can be considered as an appropriate approach to investigate the evolution of regional labor market disparities in Germany.

The results from the cross-sectional approach to convergence are contradictory to the point of view that regional unemployment rates and regional employment rates in (West) Germany are characterized by a transition process. Changes in the dispersion of regional unemployment and employment appear to be mainly driven by economic disturbances and shocks. Therefore, the time series approach to convergence appears to be more appropriate to investigate the evolution of regional labor market disparities in Germany than the classical cross-sectional approaches usually applied in the growth literature.

According to the definition of stochastic convergence given by Evans/Karras (1996), there is a stable long-run relationship between the regional variable and its cross-sectional average in the case of stochastic convergence. This implies that region-specific shocks should only have transitory effects on the deviations of regional variables from their national counterpart and they should return back to their initial value fairly quickly. Therefore, the deviations of regional variables from their national counterpart have to follow a stationary process. Computing the deviations of regional variables from their cross-sectional average leads to so called relative regional variables. The literature provides three different ways of calculating relative regional variables. They differ in the underlying assumption about the shape of the equilibrium relationship between regional variables and their

national counterpart. To get an impression about the sensitivity of the results with regard to these assumptions, this study follows all three approaches to calculate relative regional unemployment rates. The hypothesis of stochastic convergence is examined for relative regional unemployment rate differences, relative regional unemployment rate β -differences.

The low power of univariate unit root tests is well known. Therefore, several studies use panel unit root tests to examine the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. The so called first generation panel unit root tests require the assumption of independent cross-sectional units. If this assumption is not valid, the first generation panel unit root tests tend to reject the null hypothesis of a unit root too often. The tests for cross-sectional independence by Pesaran (2007b) and Ng (2006) applied in this study show that relative regional unemployment rates in Germany exhibit cross-sectional dependence. Hence, so called second generation panel unit root tests relaxing the assumption of cross-sectional independency are necessary to investigate the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for German regional unemployment rates.

Here the PANIC (Panel Analysis of Nonstationarity in Idiosyncratic and Common Components) approach provided by Bai/Ng (2004) is used to test the hypothesis of stochastic convergence. The basic idea of the PANIC approach is to first decompose the underlying time series into common factors which capture cross-sectional correlation and an idiosyncratic term. Then, each of these components are tested for a unit root.

Evidence of stochastic convergence of regional unemployment rates in (West) Germany following the PANIC approach is rather mixed. The results indicate stochastic convergence in the case of German regional unemployment differentials and β -differentials, and West German regional unemployment ratios. In all other cases the hypothesis of stochastic convergence has to be rejected. This shows that the findings might be sensitive according to the underlying assumption about the equilibrium relationship between the regional unemployment rates and their national counterpart. Further, the results are in contrast to the findings for West German regional unemployment by Möller (1995), Bayer/Jüßen (2007), and Kunz (2012) using first generation panel unit root tests but also to the findings of the first generation panel unit root tests applied in this study. Hence, the findings indicate that the existence of cross-sectional dependence is of key importance for the choice of an appropriate test procedure to investigate the hypothesis of stochastic convergence.

According to these results, region-specific shocks have long-lasting effects on German relative regional unemployment rate ratios as well as West German relative regional unemployment rate differentials and β -differentials. There are

two different ways to think about such region-specific shocks (see, for example, Choy/Maré/Mawson 2002). A region-specific shock is one that either specifically occurs in a particular region or that affects more than one region but each region experiences a disproportionate impact of that shock.

In the case of stochastic convergence of regional unemployment rates, the idiosyncratic components as well as the common factors of relative regional unemployment rates have to follow a stationary process. In general, the rejection of the hypothesis of stochastic convergence is the result of a unit root in the common factor, whereas for the idiosyncratic components, the null hypothesis of a unit root is usually rejected. Further, the existence of common factors in relative regional unemployment rates indicates that regional unemployment rates are characterized by common components affecting the regions differently. Otherwise, the common components would have been eliminated by the construction of relative regional unemployment rates. This means that divergence of regional unemployment rates that are common to all federal states but affect each federal state differently. In contrast, region-specific shocks that exclusively appear in a particular federal state seem to have only transitory effects.

Note, in this framework, cross-sectional dependence occurs via common factors shared by all regions. Hence, the assumption of cross-sectional independence of relative regional variables is not only important in terms of the choice of an appropriate panel unit root test, but additionally has a meaning in regards of content. The assumption of cross-sectional independence for relative regional variables implies that the regional variable is not characterized by common movements affecting each region in a different way. Hence, these forms of regionspecific shocks as a source of divergence are excluded when assuming crosssectional independence. This in turn implies that the assumption of cross-sectional dependence only holds if all common factors in the data are eliminated by the calculation of relative regional variables. This is only the case if the data contains only one common factor that is loaded with the same weight in each time series of the panel.

The definition of stochastic convergence holds if the common components of a regional variable as well as the remaining idiosyncratic component of a regional variable follows a stationary process. Moreover, the discussion in Banerjee/ Wagner (2009) shows that in the case of a stationary idiosyncratic component, the definition of stochastic convergence is in line with the existence of one common factor with homogeneous factor loadings even if this common factor is *l*(1). Hence, it is also possible to examine the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for a regional variable by investing whether these restrictions imposed by the definition of stochastic convergence are valid. This study shows that the PANIC approach by Bai/Ng (2004) can be applied on the original time series to examine whether these restrictions hold. This alternative approach provides several advantages compared to the traditional approach of examining the hypothesis of stochastic convergence by testing relative regional variables for a unit root. For example, the results for regional unemployment rates indicate that making assumptions about the equilibrium relationship between regional variables and their national counterpart to construct relative regional variable is not trivial. Further, tests for cross-sectional dependence are required for the choice of an appropriate panel unit root test. Using the alternative approach, this is no longer necessary. Moreover, if the hypothesis of stochastic convergence has to be rejected, the alternative approach provides more detailed insights into the possible sources of divergence.

This study applies the alternative approach to investigate the hypothesis of stochastic convergence for regional employment rates. The results for the total employment rate provide evidence of the existence of stochastic convergence. In this case, the common factor as well as the remaining idiosyncratic components follow a stationary process. Hence, differences in regional total employment rates seem to be the result of different steady state values rather than weak and sluggish adjustment processes after a region-specific shock.

However, when examining regional skill-specific employment rates, evidence of stochastic convergence was only found for the high-skilled employment rate. The hypothesis of stochastic convergence was rejected for regional low-skilled employment rates and regional medium-skilled employment rates.

In the case of the low-skilled employment rate, divergence occurs because the idiosyncratic components contain a unit root. This means that a region-specific shock that falls specifically in one region has long-lasting effects on regional low-skilled employment. Therefore, such a shock might lead to a permanent deviation from the common trend. Decressin/Fatás (1995), Kunz (2012), and also this study identify labor mobility as the main adjustment mechanism after a region-specific labor market shock in Germany. Compared to the high-skilled employees, the low-skilled are less mobile. This could be one explanation for the long-lasting effects of a shock in the case of low-skilled employment and for temporary effects in the case of high-skilled employment.

With regard to the regional medium-skilled employment rates, the hypothesis of stochastic convergence has to be rejected because the PANIC approach identifies two common factors that are both *I*(1). Further, one of these common factors is characterized by heterogeneous factor loadings. This is not in line with the definition of stochastic convergence. According to Autor/Levy/Murnane (2003) and Goos/Manning (2007) the skill-biased technological change is characterized

by diminishing relevance of routine tasks, while the relevance of non-routine tasks becomes more important than a change in the formal qualification level of the employees. Hence, skill-biased technological change could also take place within skill-specific employment groups. The medium-skilled employees do not only represent by far the largest group among the employees, but they are also very heterogenous in terms of the tasks they perform. This might explain the results for medium-skilled employment rates.

The results indicate that regional total employment rates do not show stochastic convergence because the skill-specific employment subgroups show convergent behavior. The changes in the skill competition do not seem to affect the geographical distribution of employment prospects for total employment. However, it seems to go hand in hand with a redistribution of skill-specific employment prospects across regions.

Moreover, the findings show that a more detailed look on employment subgroups is necessary to get a complete picture about the evolution of regional labor market disparities. Employment subgroups can behave differently to total employment. Further, they appear to be an important driving force for the differences between regions. However, until now, only little is known about the role of and the interactions between different (un)employment subgroups in terms of the evolution of regional labor market disparities. Apart from this study, only Südekum (2008) provides empirical results about the relationship of employment subgroups and the evolution of regional labor market disparities. To the best of my knowledge, no study exists which investigates this relationship for unemployment subgroups. The analysis of (un)employment subgroups might be a fruitful topic for further research about the evolution of regional labor market disparities.

In contrast to previous studies, the findings in this study suggest that regionspecific labor market shocks are an important driving force of regional labor market disparities. To examine the adjustment processes after a region-specific labor demand shock in detail, the framework provided by Blanchard/Katz (1992) is adopted and augmented. According to Blanchard/Katz (1992), the main adjustment channels after a region-specific shock are unemployment, labor force participation and labor mobility. However, in the regional evolutions literature, labor mobility is usually confined to migration whereas commuting as an additional form of labor mobility is neglected. This study provides a more detailed look on the role of labor mobility. The framework developed here makes it possible to distinguish between migration and commuting.

To examine the response of the representative region after a region-specific labor demand shock and the interactions between the different labor market measures, Blanchard/Katz (1992) suggest using a panel vector autoregressive (PVAR) model. In general, a least square dummy variable (LSDV) estimator is applied on the PVAR. However, each equation of the PVAR represents a dynamic panel model. It is well known that results from a LSDV estimator are subject to the Nickell bias if the time dimension of the panel is not sufficiently large. Note, the majority of the existing studies adopting the framework by Blanchard/Katz (1992) do not take this into account. The panel in this study is characterized by a small time dimension and a large cross-sectional dimension. Therefore, the PVAR estimator for a panel with a small time dimension and large cross-sectional dimension additionally allowing for spatial correlation in the error term introduced by Mutl (2009) is applied here. The findings in this study suggest that it is of importance to take the structure of the panel into account when estimating the PVAR.

Several studies point out that the size of the regions under consideration might additionally affect the results. For example, even considering the same country it is reasonable to assume that the role of labor mobility as an adjustment mechanism is more pronounced for small regional units compared to large regional units. Therefore, the delimitation of the regional units is not trivial when investigating regional adjustment processes. Functional labor markets usually extend across administrative borders. To take this into account, German regional planning units are the units of analysis here.

Previous studies identified labor mobility as the main adjustment mechanism in the aftermath of a regional labor demand shock. The findings of this study also indicate that labor mobility is the most important adjustment mechanism for West German regional planning units even in the short run. In the initial year of the shock, labor mobility absorbs more than 50 percent of the shock. However, for the West German regional planning units, commuting was found to be more important than migration. In the initial period of the shock, commuting accounts for 40 percent of the shock and migration accounts for 13 percent of the shock. Moreover, the results show that commuting activities are permanently affected by an innovation in regional labor demand and even in the long run a larger part of the shock is absorbed by commuting compared to migration. Note, the main part of commuting activities takes place between cities and their hinterland and, therefore, within regional planning units. Nevertheless, commuting appears to be the main adjustment channel. Further, the findings show that in-commuters and out-commuters do not react symmetrically to a shock. The response of the incommuters is much more pronounced. This is a hint that shocks might be sensitive in terms of labor market characteristics of workers and that a region-specific labor demand shock might be exported to other regions via commuters.

Moreover, the findings show that an innovation in labor demand has longlasting effects on the unemployment rates of West German regional planning units. It takes between 15 and 20 years until the effect of the shock completely disappears. These findings indicate that slow adjustment after a regional labor demand shock is a possible explanation for persistent disparities in regional unemployment. In contrast, the response of the participation rate after a labor demand shock appears to be less pronounced for West German regional planning units. It still takes around six years for the participation rate to recover.

According to this study, the role of wages during the adjustment process for West German regional planning units is only minor. This result is in line with the findings by Blanchard/Katz (1992), Debelle/Vickery (1999), Choy/Maré/Mawson (2002), and Leonardi (2004).

The existing regional evolutions literature dealing with Germany only considers West Germany. Here, also a PVAR including all German regional planning units is considered. However, these findings have to be interpreted with caution because it is not appropriate to consider the results from the model pooling all German regional planning units as the response of the "average" German region. Pronounced labor market disparities between East and West Germany are still observable. The results from the model pooling all German regional planning units indicates that the adjustment processes after a labor demand shock might also differ between East and West Germany. Unfortunately, they provide no insights why differences between East and West Germany occur, and do not allow to quantify these differences.

Even 20 years after reunification, the labor market conditions in East and West Germany are still heterogeneous. Nevertheless, the two parts appear to be closely connected. This can be seen, for example, in the pattern of the mobility flows in Germany. Thus, the two parts of Germany should not be examined separately when examining adjustment processes after a region-specific shock. The results of this study also support this point of view. The specification of a PVAR that allows to map the differences during the adjustment process in East and West appears to be an important topic for further research about labor market dynamics after a region-specific shock in Germany.

Appendix

A.1 Appendix: Figures
































A.2 Appendix: Regression results

	Dependent variable					
Regressors	${\widetilde \gamma}_{i,t}^n$	$\tilde{l}e_{i,t}$	$\tilde{p}r_{\!_{i,t}}$			
${ ilde \gamma}^n_{t-1}$	0.228*	0.025*	0.010			
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-2}^n$	0.123*	0.015	0.044*			
$\tilde{l}e_{t-1}$	-0.005	1.013*	0.069*			
Ĩe _{t-2}	-0.090*	-0.269*	0.002			
$\tilde{p}r_{t-1}$	-0.021	0.015	0.692*			
$\tilde{p}r_{t-2}$	-0.127*	0.009	0.035*			
N obs.	5216	5216	5216			
Source: Own calculations * denote significant on the five percent level						

Table A.1: Regression results PVAR West German districts, 1989-2004

Table A.2: Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units, 1989-2004

	Dependent variable					
	${\widetilde{\gamma}}^n_{i,t}$	$\tilde{I}e_{i,t}$	$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t}$			
Regressors						
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-1}^n$	0.313*	0.062*	0.051			
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-2}^n$	0.134*	0.022	0.113*			
Ĩe _{t-1}	-0.016	1.032*	0.038			
$\tilde{l}e_{t-2}$	-0.068	-0.299*	-0.007			
$\tilde{p}r_{t-1}$	0.000	0.020	0.653*			
$\tilde{p}r_{t-2}$	-0.170*	-0.020	0.080*			
N obs.	1136	1136	1136			
Source: Own calculations * denote significant on the five percent level						

	Dependent variable					
	${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{i,t}^n$	Ĩe _{i,t}	$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t}$			
Regressors						
$\tilde{\gamma}_{t-1}^{n}$	0.322*	0.069*	0.055			
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-2}^n$	0.101*	-0.015	0.098*			
$\tilde{l}e_{t-1}$	-0.064	0.993*	0.047			
Ĩe _{t-2}	-0.065	-0.206*	-0.002			
$\tilde{\rho}r_{t-1}$	-0.057*	0.027	0.647*			
$\tilde{p}r_{t-2}$	-0.114*	-0.025	0.034			
N obs.	1491	1491	1491			
Source: Own calcul	ations, * denote significant	on the five percent level.				

Table A.3: Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units, 1989-2009

Table A.4: Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units, 1999-2009

	Dependent variable					
	${\widetilde \gamma}^n_{i,t}$	Ĩe _{i,t}	$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t}$			
Regressors						
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-1}^n$	0.117*	0.021	-0.017			
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-2}^n$	0.076	-0.053	0.039			
$\tilde{l}e_{t-1}$	0.045	0.935*	0.165*			
Ĩe _{t-2}	-0.242*	-0.127*	-0.102			
$\tilde{p}r_{t-1}$	-0.061	0.128*	0.702*			
$\tilde{p}r_{t-2}$	-0.100	0.000	-0.189*			
N obs.	781	781	781			
Courses Ourse and an	anti-one * descente atomiticante	and the a firm in a second larger				

	Dependent variable					
Regressors	${\widetilde \gamma}_{i,t}^n$	Ĩe _{i,t}	$\tilde{p}r_{i,t}$	${\widetilde \gamma}^{ca}_{i,t}$		
$rac{ ilde{\gamma}^n_{t-1}}{ ilde{\gamma}^n_{t-2}}$	0.385*	0.026	-0.019	0.026		
	0.016	-0.084	0.126*	-0.017		
$\tilde{l}e_{t-1}$	-0.099	0.916*	0.177*	0.077		
$\tilde{l}e_{t-2}$	-0.064	-0.112	-0.131*	-0.042		
$\widetilde{\rho}r_{t-1}$	-0.129*	0.123*	0.697*	-0.014		
$\widetilde{\rho}r_{t-2}$	-0.035	0.003	-0.200*	-0.027		
$egin{array}{l} \widetilde{\gamma}_{t-1}^{ca} \ \widetilde{\gamma}_{t-2}^{ca} \end{array}$	-0.485*	0.029	-0.086	-0.029		
	0.090	0.079	-0.212*	0.002		
N obs.	781	781	781	781		

Table A.5: Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including net-commuting activity, 1999–2009

Source: Own calculations, * denote significant on the five percent level.

Table A.6: Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including gross-commuting activity, 1999–2009

	Dependent variable					
Regressors	${\widetilde{\gamma}}^n_{i,t}$	Ĩe _{i,t}	$\tilde{p}r_{i,t}$	${\widetilde \gamma}^{oc}_{{}_{i,t}}$	${ ilde \gamma}^{\scriptscriptstyle ic}_{\scriptscriptstyle i,t}$	
$\widetilde{\gamma}_{t-1}^{n}$	0.250*	-0.008	-0.026	-0.171	0.271	
$\widetilde{\gamma}_{t-2}^{n}$	0.067	-0.164*	0.131*	0.087	-0.092	
$\tilde{I}e_{t-1}$	-0.027	0.919*	0.162*	-0.047	0.267	
$\tilde{I}e_{t-2}$	-0.188*	-0.117	-0.125*	-0.046	-0.549*	
$\widetilde{\rho}r_{t-1}$	-0.099	0.122*	0.695*	-0.121	-0.157	
$\widetilde{\rho}r_{t-2}$	-0.074	0.013	-0.196*	-0.016	-0.274	
${ ilde \gamma}^{ m oc}_{t-1} otag { ilde \gamma}^{ m oc}_{t-2}$	0.044	0.022	0.014	0.152*	0.058	
	0.009	0.027	0.031	0.168*	0.052	
$\widetilde{\gamma}_{t-1}^{ic} \ \widetilde{\gamma}_{t-2}^{ic}$	-0.040	0.020	-0.002	0.073*	-0.063	
	0.004	0.051*	-0.033	-0.003	0.021	
N obs.	781	781	781	781	781	

${\widetilde \gamma}^{\scriptscriptstyle {\scriptscriptstyle W} a}_{\scriptscriptstyle i,t}$	$\tilde{I}e_{i,t}$	$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t}$
0.043	0.001	-0.001
-0.029	-0.055	0.021
0.064	0.134*	-0.056
-0.007	0.031	0.090*
0.028	0.907*	0.152*
-0.118	-0.115*	-0.099
-0.012	0.121*	0.704*
-0.009	0.000	-0.187*
781	781	781
	$\tilde{\gamma}^{wa}_{i,t}$ 0.043 -0.029 0.064 -0.007 0.028 -0.118 -0.012 -0.009 781	$\begin{array}{c c} \tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{wa} & \tilde{le}_{i,t} \\ \hline 0.043 & 0.001 \\ -0.029 & -0.055 \\ \hline 0.064 & 0.134^* \\ -0.007 & 0.031 \\ \hline 0.028 & 0.907^* \\ -0.118 & -0.115^* \\ -0.012 & 0.121^* \\ -0.009 & 0.000 \\ \hline 781 & 781 \\ \hline \end{array}$

Table A.7: Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including wages, 1999–2009

Source: Own calculations, * denote significant on the five percent level.

Table A.8: Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including wages and net-commuting activity, 1999–2009

$r_{i,t} \qquad \tilde{\gamma}_{i,t}^{ca}$
007 0.020
105* -0.015
064* 0.013
091* -0.030
158* 0.081
122* -0.042
696* -0.015
195* -0.027
101 -0.025
207* 0.004
81 781

			Dependen	t variable		
	${\widetilde{\gamma}}^n_{i,t}$	${ ilde \gamma}^{\scriptscriptstyle wa}_{i,t}$	Ĩe _{i.t}	<i></i> р <i>r</i> _{i.t}	${\widetilde \gamma}_{i,t}^{ m oc}$	${\widetilde \gamma}^{i ext{c}}_{i,t}$
Regressors						
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-1}^n$	0.248*	0.086	-0.038	0.007	-0.172	0.261
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-2}^n$	0.057	-0.127	-0.168*	0.104	0.063	-0.084
${\widetilde \gamma}^{\scriptscriptstyle wa}_{\scriptscriptstyle t-1}$	0.040	0.061	0.132*	-0.064*	0.068	0.002
${\widetilde \gamma}_{t-2}^{\scriptscriptstyle wa}$	0.046	-0.004	0.035	0.086*	0.099	-0.039
$\tilde{l}e_{t-1}$	-0.042	-0.030	0.901*	0.142*	-0.077	0.269
$\tilde{l}e_{t-2}$	-0.181*	-0.058	-0.112	-0.114	-0.030	-0.546*
$\tilde{p}r_{t-1}$	-0.099	-0.036	0.121*	0.693*	-0.121	-0.159
$\tilde{p}r_{t-2}$	-0.074	0.029	0.009	-0.191*	-0.014	-0.273
${\widetilde \gamma}_{t-1}^{oc}$	0.043	0.069*	0.017	0.018	0.152*	0.056
${\widetilde \gamma}_{t-2}^{oc}$	0.006	0.004	0.021	0.031	0.164*	0.052
${\widetilde \gamma}_{t-1}^{i\mathrm{c}}$	-0.040	0.007	0.023	-0.006	0.072*	-0.061
${\widetilde \gamma}_{t-2}^{ic}$	0.005	0.038	0.050*	-0.029	-0.001	0.020
N obs.	781	781	781	781	781	781

Table A.9: Regression results PVAR West German regional planning units including wages and gross-commuting activity, 1999–2009

Source: Own calculations, * denote significant on the five percent level.

Table A.10: Regression results PVAR German regional planning units, 1999-2009

	Dependent variable					
Regressors	${\widetilde{\gamma}}^n_{i,t}$	$\tilde{I}e_{i,t}$	$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t}$			
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-1}^n$	0.260*	0.133*	0.050			
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-2}^n$	0.120*	0.166*	-0.061*			
$\tilde{l}e_{t-1}$	0.207*	0.825*	0.247*			
Ĩe _{t-2}	-0.308*	-0.203*	-0.040			
$\tilde{p}r_{t-1}$	0.003	0.051	0.902*			
$\tilde{p}r_{t-2}$	-0.109	-0.030	-0.043			
N obs.	1001	1001	1001			

	Dependent variable					
	${\widetilde{\gamma}}^n_{i,t}$	$\tilde{l}e_{i,t}$	$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t}$	${ ilde \gamma}^{ca}_{i,t}$		
Regressors						
$\tilde{\gamma}_{t-1}^{n}$	0.374*	0.156*	0.008	0.119*		
${ ilde \gamma}^n_{t-2}$	0.039	0.217*	-0.071*	-0.024		
$\tilde{I}e_{t-1}$	0.033	0.766*	0.288*	-0.026		
$\tilde{l}e_{t-2}$	-0.156*	-0.185*	-0.053	-0.009		
$\tilde{\rho}r_{t-1}$	-0.225*	-0.022	0.920*	-0.075		
$\tilde{\rho}r_{t-2}$	0.086	0.040	-0.067	0.080		
${ ilde \gamma}^{\scriptscriptstyle ca}_{t-1}$	-0.001	0.034	0.077	0.102		
${\widetilde{\gamma}}^{ca}_{t-2}$	0.307*	-0.072	-0.021	0.189*		
N obs.	1001	1001	1001	1001		
Courses Ourse and a	فاستاد مغمسماه * مستقمان	Court on the Cure assessed	laural.			

Table A.11: Regression results PVAR German regional planning units including net-commuting activity, 1999–2009

Source: Own calculations, * denote significant on the five percent level.

Table A.12: Regression results PVAR German regional planning units including gross-commuting activity, 1999–2009

	Dependent variable					
	${\widetilde{\gamma}}^n_{i,t}$	Ĩe _{i.t}	$\tilde{\rho}r_{i,t}$	${\widetilde \gamma}^{oc}_{i,t}$	${ ilde \gamma}^{i {f c}}_{i,t}$	
Regressors						
$\tilde{\gamma}_{t-1}^{n}$	0.346*	0.154*	0.052	-0.220*	0.219	
${\widetilde{\gamma}}_{t-2}^n$	0.051	0.254*	-0.180*	0.004	-0.109	
$\tilde{l}e_{t-1}$	0.223*	0.845*	0.277*	-0.064	0.442*	
$\tilde{l}e_{t-2}$	-0.335*	-0.278*	-0.029	-0.011	-0.522*	
$\tilde{p}r_{t-1}$	-0.006	0.098	0.888*	-0.156	0.094	
$\tilde{p}r_{t-2}$	-0.123	-0.053	-0.042	0.188	-0.189	
${ ilde \gamma}^{oc}_{t-1}$	-0.046	-0.091*	0.012	0.218*	0.099	
${ ilde \gamma}^{ m oc}_{t-2}$	0.058	0.077*	-0.017	0.063	0.040	
${\widetilde \gamma}_{t-1}^{ic}$	-0.043	-0.035	0.011	0.086*	0.021	
${\widetilde \gamma}_{t-2}^{ m ic}$	0.039	-0.030	0.057*	0.013	0.032	
N obs.	1001	1001	1001	1001	1001	

References

- Acemoglu, Daron (2002): Directed Technical Change. In: The Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 69, No. 4, p. 781–809.
- Acemoglu, Daron (1998): Why Do New Technologies Complement Skills? Directed Technical Change and Wage Inequality. In: The Quarterly Journal of Economic, Vol. 113, No. 4, p. 1055–1089.
- Adams, James D. (1985): Permanent Differences in Unemployment and Permanent Wage Differentials. In: The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 100, No. 1, p. 29–56.
- Ahn, Seung C.; Schmidt, Peter (1995): Efficient Estimation of Models for Dynamic Panel Data. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 68, No. 1, p. 5–27.
- Alecke, Björn; Mitze, Timo; Untiedt, Gerhard (2010): Internal Migration, Regional Labour Market Dynamics and Implications for German East-West Disparities: Results from a Panel VAR. In: Jahrbuch für Regionalwissenschaft, Vol. 30, No. 2, p. 159–189.
- Alecke, Björn; Untiedt, Gerhard (2000): Determinanten der Binnenwanderung in Deutschland seit der Wiedervereinigung – Eine makroökonometrische Analyse mit Paneldaten für die Bundesländer und den Zeitraum 1991 bis 1997. Volkswirtschaftliche Diskussionsbeiträge Universität Münster Nr. 309.
- Arellano, Manuel (2003): Panel Data Econometrics. Advanced Texts in Economerics, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Arellano, Manuel; Bond, Stephen (1991): Some Tests of Specification for Panel Data: Monte Carlo Evidence and an Application to Employment Equations. In: The Review of Economic Studies, Vol. 58, No. 2, p. 277–297.
- Arellano, Manuel; Bover, Olympia (1995): Another Look at the Instrumental Variable Estimation of Error-Components Models. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 68, No. 1, p. 29–51.
- Autor, David H.; Levy, Frank; Murnane, Richard J. (2003): The Skill Content of Recent Technological Change: An Empirical Exploration. In: The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 118, No. 4, p. 1279–1333.
- Baddeley, Michelle; Martin, Ron; Tyler, Peter (1998): European Regional Unemployment Disparities: Convergence or Persistence? In: European Urban and Regional Studies, Vol. 5, No. 3, p. 195–215.
- Bai, Jushan; Ng, Serena (2004): A Panic Attack on Unit Roots and Cointegration. In: Econometrica, Vol. 72, No. 4, p. 1127–1177.
- Bai, Jushan; Ng, Serena (2002): Determining the Number of Factors in Approximate Factor Models. In: Econometrica, Vol. 70, No. 1, p. 191–221.

- Baltagi, Badi H.; Bresson, Georges; Pirotte, Alain (2007): Panel Unit Root Tests and Spatial Dependence. In: Journal of Applied Econometrics, Vol. 22, No. 2, p. 339–360.
- Banerjee, A.; Marcellino, M.; Osbat, C. (2005): Testing for PPP: Should We Use Panel Methods. In: Empirical Economics, Vol. 30, p. 77–91.
- Banerjee, A.; Marcellino, M.; Osbat, C. (2004): Some Cautions on the Use of Panel Methods for Integrated Series of Macroeconomic Data. In: Econometrics Journal, Vol. 7, p. 322–340.
- Banerjee, Anindya; Wagner, Martin (2009): Panel Methods to Test for Unit Roots and Cointegration. In: Mills, Terence C.; Patterson, Kerry (Eds.) Palgrave Handbook of Econometrics, Vol. 2: Applied Econometrics, chap. 13, Springer, 1 ed., p. 632–726.
- Barro, Robert J.; Sala-I-Martin, Xavier (2004): Economic Growth. Cambridge, London: MIT Press, 2 ed.
- Barro, Robert J.; Sala-I-Martin, Xavier (1992): Convergence. In: Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 100, No. 2, p. 223–251.
- Barro, Robert J.; Sala-I-Martin, Xavier (1991): Convergence Across States and Regions. In: Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, Vol. 1991, No. 1, p. 107–182.
- Bartik, Timothy J. (1993): Who Benifits from Local Job Growth: Migrants or the Original Residents? In: Regional Studies, Vol. 27, No. 4, p. 297–311.
- Bayer, Christian; Jüßen, Falko (2007): Convergence in West German Regional Unemployment Rates. In: German Economic Review, Vol. 8, No. 4, p. 510–535.
- Bernard, Andrew B.; Durlauf, Steven N. (1996): Interpreting Tests of the Convergence Hypotheses. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 71, No. 1–2, p. 161–173.
- Bernard, Andrew B.; Durlauf, Steven N. (1995): Convergence in International Output. In: Journal of Applied Econometrics, Vol. 10, No. 2, p. 97–108.
- Binder, Michael; Hsiao, Cheng; Pesaran, M. Hashem (2005): Estimation and Inference in Short Panel Vector Autoregressions With Unit Roots and Cointegration. In: Econometric Theory, Vol. 21, No. 4, p. 795–837.
- Blanchard, Oliver; Katz, Lawrence F. (1992): Regional Evolutions. In: Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, Vol. 1992, No. 1, p. 1–75.
- Blien, Uwe; Südekum, Jens; Wolf, Katja (2006): Local Employment Growth in West Germany: A Dynamic Panel Approach. In: Labour Economics, Vol. 13, No. 4, p. 445–458.
- Bliss, Christopher (1999): Galton's Fallacy and Economic Convergence. In: Oxford Economic Papers, Vol. 51, No. 4, p. 4–14.
- Blundell, Richard; Bond, Stephen (1998): Initial Conditions and Moment Restrictions in Dynamic Panel Data Models. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 87, No. 1, p. 115–143.

- Brechling, Frank (1967): Trends and Cycles in British Regional Unemployment. In: Oxford Economic Papers, Vol. 19, No. 1, p. 1–21.
- Breitung, Jörg; Meyer, Wolfgang (1994): Testing for Unit Roots in Panel Data: Are Wages on Different Bargaining Levels Cointegrated? In: Applied Economics, Vol. 26, No. 4, p. 353–361.
- Breitung, Jörg; Pesaran, M. Hashem (2008): Unit Roots and Cointegration in Panels.
 In: Mátyás, László; Sevestre, Patrick (Eds.) The Econometrics of Panel Data,
 Vol. 46 of Advanced Studies in Theoretical and Applied Econometrics, chap. 9,
 Springer, 3 ed., p. 279–322.
- Bruno, Giovanni S. F. (2005): Estimation and Inference in Dynamic Unbalanced Panel-Data Models with a Small Number of Individuals. In: Stata Journal, Vol. 5, No. 4, p. 473–500.
- Burda, Michael (2008): What Kind of Shock Was It? Regional Integration and Structural Change in Germany After Unification. In: Journal of Comparative Economics, Vol. 36, No. 4, p. 557–567.
- Burda, Michael; Hunt, Jennifer (2001): From Reunification to Economic Integration: Productivity and the Labor Market in East Germany. In: Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, Vol. 2001, No. 1, p. 1–71.
- Byers, J. D. (1990): The Cyclical Sensitivity of Regional Unemployment: An Assessment. In: Regional Studies, Vol. 24, No. 5, p. 447–453.
- Campbell, John Y.; Perron, Pierre (1991): Pitfalls and Opportunities: What Macroeconomists Should Know About Unit Roots. In: Blanchard, Olivier Jean; Fischer, Stanley (Eds.) NBER Macroeconomics Annual 1991, Vol. 6, chap. 3, Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press, p. 141–220.
- Carrion-I-Silvestre, Josep Lluís; German-Soto, Vicente (2009): Panel Data Stochastic Convergence Analysis of the Mexican Regions. In: Empirical Economics, Vol. 37, No. 2, p. 303–327.
- Cavaliere, Giuseppe (2005): Limited Time Series With a Unit Root. In: Econometric Theory, Vol. 21, No. 5, p. 907–945.
- Cavaliere, Giuseppe (2002): Bounded Integrated Processes and Unit Root Tests. In: Statistical Methods & Applications, Vol. 11, No. 1, p. 41–69.
- Chapman, Paul G. (1991): The Dynamics of Regional Unemployment in the UK, 1974-89. In: Applied Economics, Vol. 23, No. 6, p. 1059–1064.
- Chatterji, Monojit (1992): Convergence Clubs and Endogenous Growth. In: Oxford Review of Economic Policy, Vol. 8, No. 4, p. 57–69.
- Chatterji, Monojit; Dewhurst, John H. L. (1996): Convergence Clubs and Relative Economic Performance in Great Britain: 1977-1991. In: Regional Studies, Vol. 30, No. 1, p. 31-40.
- Choi, In (2001): Unit Root Tests for Panel Data. In: Journal of International Money and Finance, Vol. 20, No. 2, p. 249–272.

- Choy, Wai Kin; Maré, David C.; Mawson, Peter (2002): Modelling Regional Labour Market Adjustment in New Zealand. New Zealand Treasury Working Paper 02/01.
- Combes, Pierre-Philippe (2000): Economic Structure and Local Growth: France 1984-1993. In: Journal of Urban Economics, Vol. 47, No. 3, p. 329–355.
- Combes, Pierre-Philippe; Magnac, Thierry; Robin, Jean-Marc (2004): The Dynamics of Local Employment in France. In: Journal of Urban Economics, Vol. 56, No. 2, p. 217–243.
- Cover, James Peery (1992): Asymmetric Effects of Positive and Negative Money-Supply Shocks. In: The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 107, No. 4, p. 1261–1282.
- Cross, Rod (1995): Is the Natural Rate Hypothesis Consistent with Hysteresis? In: Cross, Rod (Ed.) The Natural Rate of Unemployment: Reflections on 25 Years of the Hypothesis, chap. 10, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p. 181–200.
- Dauth, Wolfgang (2012): Agglomeration and regional employment dynamics. In: Papers in Regional Science, doi: 10.1111/j.1435-5957.2012.00447.x.
- Debelle, Guy; Vickery, James (1999): Labour Market Adjustment: Evidence on Interstate Labour Mobility. In: Australian Economic Review, Vol. 32, No. 3, p. 249–263.
- Debelle, Guy; Vickery, James (1998): Labour Market Adjustment: Evidence on Interstate Labour Mobility. Research Discussion Paper 9801, Reserve Bank of Australia.
- Decressin, Jörg; Fatás, Antonio (1995): Regional Labor Market Dynamics in Europe. In: European Economic Review, Vol. 39, No. 9, p. 1627–1655.
- DeJong, David N.; Nankervis, John C.; Savin, N.E.; Whiteman, Charles H. (1992): The Power Problems of Unit Root Test in Time Series With Autoregressive Errors. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 53, No. 1–3, p. 323–343.
- Dickey, David A.; Fuller, Wayne A. (1979): Distribution of the Estimators for Autoregressive Time Series With a Unit Root. In: Journal of the American Statistical Association, Vol. 74, No. 366, p. 427–431.
- Dixon, Robert; Shepherd, David (2001): Trends and Cycles in Australian State and Territory Unemployment Rates. In: The Economic Record, Vol. 77, No. 238, p. 252–269.
- Dixon, Robert; Shepherd, David; Thomson, James (2001): Regional Unemployment Disparities in Australia. In: Regional Studies, Vol. 35, No. 2, p. 93–102.
- Durlauf, Steven N.; Johnson, Paul A.; Temple, Jonathan R.W. (2009): The Econometrics of Convergence. In: Mills, Terence C.; Patterson, Kerry (Eds.) Palgrave Handbook of Econometrics, Vol. 2: Applied Econometrics, chap. 23, Palgrave Macmillan, 1 ed., p. 1087–1118.

- Durlauf, Steven N.; Johnson, Paul A.; Temple, Jonathan R.W. (2005): Growth Econometrics. In: Aghion, Phillipe; Durlauf, Steven N. (Eds.) Handbook of Economic Growth, Vol. 1A, chap. 8, North-Holland, p. 555–677.
- Eichengreen, Barry (1993): Labor Markets and European Monetary Unification. In: Masson, Paul R.; Taylor, Mark P. (Eds.) Policy Issues in the Operation of Currency, chap. 6, New York: Cambridge University Press, p. 130–162.
- Eichengreen, Barry (1990): One Money for Europe? Lessons from the US Currency Union. In: Economic Policy, Vol. 5, No. 10, p. 118–187.
- Einig, Klaus; Pütz, Thomas (2007): Regionale Dynamik der Pendlergesellschaft. Entwicklung von Verflechtungsmustern und Pendeldistanzen. In: Informationen zur Raumentwicklung, p. 73–92, Heft 2/3.
- Elhorst, J. Paul (2003): The Mystery of Regional Unemployment Differentials: Theoretical and Empirical Explanations. In: Journal of Economic Surveys, Vol. 17, No. 5, p. 709–748.
- Engle, Robert F.; Granger, C. W. J. (1987): Co-Integration and Error Correction: Representation, Estimation, and Testing. In: Econometrica, Vol. 55, No. 2, p. 251–276.
- Engle, Robert F.; Yoo, Byung Sam (1987): Forecasting and Testing in Co-integrated Systems. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 35, No. 1, p. 143–159.
- Evans, Paul; Karras, Georgios (1996): Convergence Revisited. In: Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol. 37, No. 2, p. 249–264.
- Fitzenberger, Bernd; Osikominuy, Aderonke; Völterz, Robert (2006): Imputation Rules to Improve the Education Variable in the IAB Employment Subsample. In: Zeitschrift für Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften/Journal of the Applied Social Sciences, Vol. 126, No. 3, p. 405–436.
- Fredriksson, Peter (1999): The Dynamics of Regional Labor Markets and Active Labor Market Policy: Swedish Evidence. In: Oxford Economic Papers, Vol. 50, No. 4, p. 623–648.
- Fuchs, Michaela (2011): The Determinants of Local Employment Dynamics in Western Germany. In: Empirical Economics, Vol. 1, No. 1, p. 1–2.
- Galton, Francis (1886): Regression Towards Mediocrity in Hereditary Stature. In: The Journal of the Anthropological Institute of Great Britain and Ireland, Vol. 15, p. 246––263.
- Gil-Alana, Luis Aberiko; del Barrio, Pedro García (2009): New Revelations About Unemployment Persistence in Spain: Time Series and Panel Data Approaches Using Regional Data. In: Applied Economics, Vol. 42, No. 2, p. 219–236.
- Glaeser, Edward L.; Scheinkman, José A.; Shleifer, Andrei (1995): Economic Growth in a Cross-Section of Cities. In: Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol. 36, No. 1, p. 117–143.

- Goos, Maarten; Manning, Alan (2007): Lousy and Lovely Jobs: The Rising Polarization of Work in Britain. In: The Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 89, No. 1, p. 118–133.
- Granato, Nadia; Haas, Anette; Hamann, Silke; Niebuhr, Annekatrin (2011): Does Labour Mobility Reduce Disparities Between Regional Labour Markets in Germany? In: Regional Studies, online First.
- Gray, David (2004): Persistent Regional Unemployment Differentials Revisited. In: Regional Studies, Vol. 38, No. 2, p. 167–176.
- Grip, Andries De; Hoevenberg, Jeroen; Willems, Ed (1997): Atypical Employment in the European Union. In: International Labour Review, Vol. 136, No. 1, p. 49–71.
- Gros, Daniel (1996): A Reconsideration of the Optimum Currency Area Approach: The Role of External Shocks and Labour Mobility. In: National Institute Economic Review, Vol. 158, No. 1, p. 108–127.
- Harris, Richard; Sollis, Robert (2003): Applied Time Series Modelling and Forecasting. Chichester, West Sussex: John Wiley and Sons, 1 ed.
- Hlouskova, Jaroslava; Wagner, Martin (2006): The Performance of Panel Unit Root and Stationarity Tests: Results from a Large Scale Simulation Study. In: Econometric Reviews, Vol. 25, No. 1, p. 85–116.
- Hunt, Jennifer (2000): Why Do People Still Live in East Germany? Working-Paper No. 7645, National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER), Cambridge, MA.
- Im, Kyung So; Peseran, M. Hashem; Shin, Youngcheol (2003): Testing for Unit Roots in Heterogeneous Panels. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 115, No. 1, p. 53–74.
- Jimeno, Juan F.; Bentolila, Samuel (1998): Regional Unemployment Persistence (Spain, 1976-1994). In: Labour Economics, Vol. 5, No. 1, p. 25–51.
- Johansen, Søren (1995): Likelihood-Based Inference in Cointegrated Vector Autoregressive Models. Advanced Texts in Econometrics, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Johansen, Søren (1991): Estimation and Hypothesis Testing of Cointegration Vectors in Gaussian Vector Autoregressive Models. In: Econometrica, Vol. 59, No. 6, p. 1551–1580.
- Judson, Ruth A.; Owen, Ann L. (1999): Estimating Dynamic Panel Data Models: A Guide for Macroeconomists? In: Economics Letters, Vol. 65, No. 1, p. 9–15.
- Kapoor, Mudit; Kelejian, Harry H.; Prucha, Ingmar R. (2007): Panel Data Models with Spatially Correlated Error Components. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 140, No. 1, p. 97–130.
- Kawagoe, Masaaki (2004): A Comparative Study of Regional Labour Dynamics in Japan. Japan Center for Economic Research Discussion Paper No. 90.
- Kelejian, Harry H.; Prucha, Ingmar R. (1999): A Generalized Moments Estimator for the Autoregressive Parameter in a Spatial Model. In: International Economic Review, Vol. 40, No. 2, p. 509–533.

- Kelejian, Harry H.; Prucha, Ingmar R. (1997): Estimation of Spatial Regression Models with Autoregressive Errors by Two-Stage Least Squares Procedures: A Serious Problem. In: International Regional Science Review, Vol. 20, No. 1–2, p. 103–111.
- Krugman, Paul (1991a): Geography and Trade. Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press, 1 ed.
- Krugman, Paul (1991b): Increasing Returns and Economic Geography. In: Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 99, No. 3, p. 483–499.
- Kunz, Marcus (2012): Regional Unemployment Disparities in Germany: An Empirical Analysis of the Determinants and Adjustment Paths on a Small Regional Level.
 No. 331 in IAB-Bibliothek, Bielefeld: Bertelsmann.
- Leonardi, Marco (2004): The Persistence of Italian Regional Unemployment: The Role of Migration and Wages. Working Papers WTW, Università degli Studi di Milano.
- Levin, Andrew; Lin, Chien-Fu; Chu, Chia-Shang James (2002): Unit Root Tests in Panel Data: Asymptotic and Finit-Sample Properties. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 108, No. 1, p. 1–24.
- Lindbeck, Assar; Snower, Dennis J. (1996): Reorganization of Firms and Labor-Market Inequality. In: The American Economic Review, Vol. 86, No. 2, p. 315–321, papers and Proceedings of the Hundredth and Eighth Annual Meeting of the American Economic Association San Francisco, CA, January 5–7, 1996.
- Lütkepohl, Helmut (2005): New Introduction to Multiple Time Series Analysis. Berlin, Heidelberg, New York: Springer, 1 ed.
- Maddala, G. S.; Wu, Shaowen (1999): A Comparative Study of Unit Root Tests with Panel Data and a New Simple Test. In: Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 61, No. Special Issue, p. 631–652.
- Mäki-Arvela, Petteri (2003): Regional Evolutions in Finland: Panel Data Results of a VAR Approach to Labour Market Dynamics. In: Regional Studies, Vol. 37, No. 5, p. 423–443.
- Magrini, Stefano (2004): Regional (Di)Convergence. In: Henderson, Vernon; Thisse, Jaques-François (Eds.) Handbook of Regional and Urban Economics, Vol. 4: Cities and Geography, chap. 62, North-Holland, p. 2741–2796.
- Marston, Stephen T. (1985): Two Views of the Geographic Distribution of Unemployment. In: The Quarterly Journal of Economics, Vol. 100, No. 5, p. 57–79.
- Martin, Ron (2001): EMU Versus the Regions? Regional Convergence and Divergence in Euroland. In: Journal of Economic Geography, Vol. 1, No. 1, p. 51–80.
- Martin, Ron (1997): Regional Unemployment Disparities and their Dynamics. In: Regional Studies, Vol. 31, No. 3, p. 237–252.

- Möller, Joachim (1995): Empirische Analyse der Regionalentwicklung. In: Gahlen, Bernhard; Hesse, Helmut; Ramser, Hans Jürgen (Eds.) Standort und Region. Neue Ansätze zur Regionalökonomik, Vol. 24 of Wirtschaftswissenschaftliches Seminar Ottobeuren, Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck, p. 197–230.
- Montalvo, Jose G. (2006): Regional Evolutions in Labor Markets in the Philippines: A Dynamic Approach. In: Journal of Asian Economics, Vol. 17, p. 448–477.

Moon, Hyunsik Roger; Perron, Benoit (2004): Testing for a Unit Root in Panels with Dynamic Factors. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 122, No. 1, p. 81–126.

Mutl, Jan (2009): Panel VAR Models with Spatial Dependence. Working Paper.

- Mutl, Jan (2006): Dynamic Panel Data Models with Spatially Correlated Disturbances. PhD thesis, University of Maryland, College Park.
- Nelson, Charles R.; Plosser, Charles R. (1982): Trends and Random Walks in Macroeconmic Time Series: Some Evidence and Implications. In: Journal of Monetary Economics, Vol. 10, No. 2, p. 139–162.
- Nerlove, Marc (1971): Further Evidence on the Estimation of Dynamic Economic Relations from a Time Series of Cross Sections. In: Econometrica, Vol. 39, No. 2, p. 359–382.
- Nerlove, Marc (1967): Experimental Evidence on the Estimation of Dynamic Economic Relations from a Time Series of Cross-Sections. In: The Economic Studies Quarterly, Vol. 18, No. 3, p. 42–74.
- Newey, Whitney K.; West, Kenneth D. (1987): A Simple, Positive Semi-Definite, Heteroskedasticity and Autocorrelation Consistent Covariance Matrix. In: Econometrica, Vol. 55, No. 3, p. 703–708.
- Ng, Serena (2006): Testing Cross-Section Correlation in Panel Data Using Spacings. In: Journal of Business and Economic Statistics, Vol. 22, No. 2, p. 265–312.
- Ng, Serena; Perron, Pierre (1995): Unit Root Tests in ARMA Models with Data-Dependent Methods for the Selection of the Truncation Lag. In: Journal of the American Statistical Association, Vol. 90, No. 429, p. 268–281.
- Nickell, Stephen (1981): Biases in Dynamic Models with Fixed Effects. In: Econometrica, Vol. 49, No. 6, p. 1417–1426.
- Nicolau, Joao (2002): Stationary Processes that Look Like Random Walks The Bounded Random Walk Process in Discrete and Continious Time. In: Econometric Theory, Vol. 18, No. 1, p. 99–118.
- O'Connell, Paul G.J. (1998): The Overvaluation of Purchasing Power Parity. In: Journal of International Economics, Vol. 44, No. 1, p. 1–19.
- OECD (2005): How Persistent Are Regional Disparities in Employment? The Role of Geographic Mobility. In: OECD Employment Outlook, chap. 2, OECD Publishing, p. 73–123.

- OECD (2000): Disparities in Regional Labour Markets. In: OECD Employment Outlook, chap. 2, OECD Publishing, p. 31–78.
- Overman, Henry G.; Puga, Diego (2002): Unemployment Clusters Across Europe's Regions and Countries. In: Economic Policy, Vol. 17, No. 34, p. 115–148.
- Parikh, Ashok; Leuvensteijn, Michiel Van (2002): Internal Migration in Regions of Germany: A Panel Data Analysis. European Network of Economic Policy Research Institutes, Working Paper No. 12.
- Patacchini, Eleonora; Zenou, Yves (2007): Spatial Dependence in Local Unemployment Rates. In: Journal of Economic Geography, Vol. 7, No. 2, p. 169–191.
- Pehkonen, Jaakko; Tervo, Hannu (1998): Persistence and Turnover in Regional Unemployment Disparities. In: Regional Studies, Vol. 32, No. 5, p. 445–458.
- Pekkala, Sari; Kangasharju, Ari (2002a): Regional Labor Market Adjustment: Are Positive and Negative Shocks Different. In: Labour, Vol. 16, No. 2, p. 267–286.
- Pekkala, Sari; Kangasharju, Ari (2002b): Regional Labor Markets in Finland: Adjustment to Total Versus Region-Specific Shocks. In: Papers in Regional Science, Vol. 81, No. 3, p. 329–342.
- Perron, Pierre (1990): Testing for a Unit Root in a Time Series Regression with a Changing Mean. In: Journal of Bussiness and Economic Statistics, Vol. 8, No. 2, p. 153–162.
- Perron, Pierre; Vogelsang, Timothy J. (1992): Nonstationarity and Level Shifts with an Application to Purchasing Power Parity. In: Journal of Business and Economic Statistics, Vol. 10, No. 3, p. 301–320.
- Pesaran, M. Hashem (2007a): Empirics for Economic Growth and Convergence: A Pair-Wise Approach to Testing for Output and Growth Convergence. In: Journal of Econometrics, Vol. 138, No. 1, p. 312–355.
- Pesaran, M. Hashem (2007b): A Simple Panel Unit Root Test in the Presence of Cross Section Dependence. In: Journal of Applied Econometrics, Vol. 22, No. 2, p. 265–312.
- Pesaran, M. Hashem (2004): General Diagnostic Tests for Cross Section Dependence Panels. Camebridge Working Papers in Economics, No. 435, University of Camebridge, and CESifo Working Paper Series No. 1229.
- Pesaran, M. Hashem; Smith, Ronald Patrick (1995): The Natural Rate Hypothesis and its Testable Implications. In: Cross, Rod (Ed.) The Natural Rate of Unemployment: Reflections on 25 Years of the Hypothesis, chap. 11, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p. 203–230.
- Pesaran, M. Hashem; Smith, Ronald; Im, Kyung So (1996): Dynamic Linear Models for Heterogenous Panels. In: Mátyás, László; Sevestre, Patrick (Eds.) The Econometrics of Panel Data, chap. 8, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2 ed., p. 145–195.

- Phillips, Peter C. B.; Perron, Pierre (1988): Testing for a Unit Root in Time Series Regression. In: Biometrika, Vol. 75, No. 2, p. 335–346.
- Quah, Danny T. (1996a): Convergence Empirics Across Economies with (Some) Capital Mobility. In: Journal of Economic Growth, Vol. 1, No. 1, p. 95–124.
- Quah, Danny T. (1996b): Empirics for Economic Growth and Convergence. In: European Economic Review, Vol. 40, No. 6, p. 1353–1375.
- Quah, Danny T. (1996c): Empirics for Growth and Distribution: Stratifiction, Polarization and Convergence Clubs. In: Journal of Economic Growth, Vol. 2, No. 1, p. 27–59.
- Quah, Danny T. (1996d): Twin Peaks: Growth and Convergence in Models of Distribution Dynamics. In: Economic Journal, Vol. 106, No. 437, p. 1045–1055.
- Quah, Danny T. (1993a): Empirical Cross-section Dynamics in Economic Growth. In: European Economic Review, Vol. 37, No. 2–3, p. 426–434.
- Quah, Danny T. (1993b): Galton's Fallacy and Tests of the Convergence Hypothesis. In: Scandinavian Journal of Economics, Vol. 95, No. 4, p. 427–443.
- Rey, Sergio J.; Le Gallo, Julie (2009): Spatial Analysis of Economic Convergence. In: Mills, Terence C.; Patterson, Kerry (Eds.) Palgrave Handbook of Econometrics, Vol. 2: Applied Econometrics, chap. 27, Palgrave Macmillan, 1 ed., p. 1251–1290.
- Rowthorn, Robert; Glyn, Andrew J. (2006): Convergence and Stability in U.S. Employment Rates. In: Contributions to Macroeconomics, Vol. 6, No. 1, article 4.
- Sala-I-Martin, Xavier (1996): Regional Cohesion: Evidence and Theories of Regional Growth and Convergence. In: European Economic Review, Vol. 40, No. 6, p. 1325–1352.
- Sargan, J.D.; Bhargava, Alok (1983): Testing Residuals from Least Squares Regression for Being Generated by the Gaussian Random Walk. In: Journal of Applied Econometrics, Vol. 51, No. 1, p. 153–174.
- Schlitte, Friso (2011): Local Human Capital, Segregation by Skill, and Skill-Specific Employment Growth. In: Papers in Regional Science, online First.
- Shapiro, Jesse M. (2006): Smart Cities Quality of Life, Productivity, and the Growth Effects of Human Capital. In: Review of Economics and Statistics, Vol. 88, No. 2, p. 324–335.
- Simon, Curtis J. (1998): Human Capital and Metropolitan Employment Growth. In: Journal of Urban Economics, Vol. 43, No. 2, p. 223–243.
- Simon, Curtis J.; Nardinelli, Clark (2002): Human Capital and the Rise of American Cities, 1900–1990. In: Regional Science and Urban Economics, Vol. 32, No. 1, p. 59–96.
- Spitz-Oener, Alexandra (2006): Technical Change, Job Tasks, and Rising Educational Demands: Looking Outside the Wage Structure. In: Journal of Labor Economics, Vol. 24, No. 2, p. 235–270.

- Südekum, Jens (2008): Convergence of the Skill Composition Across German Regions. In: Regional Science and Urban Economics, Vol. 38, No. 2, p. 148–159.
- Tani, Massimiliano (2003): Have Europeans Become More Mobile? A Note on Regional Evolutions in the EU: 1988–1997. In: Economic Letters, Vol. 80, No. 1, p. 23–30.
- Taylor, Mark P.; Sarno, Lucio (1998): The Behavior of Real Exchange Rates During the Post-Bretton Woods Period. In: Journal of International Economics, Vol. 46, No. 2, p. 281–312.
- Thirlwall, A.P. (1966): Regional Unemployment as a Cyclical Phenomenon. In: Scottish Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 13, No. 2, p. 205–219.
- Topel, Robert H. (1986): Local Labor Markets. In: The Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 94, No. 3, p. 111–143, part 2: Hoover Institution Labor Conference.
- Wood, Adrian (2002): Globalization and Wage Inequalities: A Synthesis of Three Theories. In: Review of World Economics, Vol. 138, No. 1, p. 54–82.
- Wood, Adrian (1994): North-South Trade, Employment, and Inequality: Changing Fortunes in a Skill-Driven World. IDS Development Studies Series, Oxford: Clarendon Press.

Abstract

This book deals with the question of whether regional disparities in labor market performance widen, become narrower or remain constant over time. It examines the hypothesis of convergence for the unemployment rates of the German Federal States and employment rates of western German regional planning units. Additionally, skill-specific employment rates are considered in order to investigate the relationship between the change in the skill composition of employment and the development of regional employment disparities. The results for the regional unemployment rates are fairly mixed: they provide no evidence that regional inequality clearly increased or decreased over time. Evidence of convergence is found for regional total and high-skilled employment rates. In contrast, the hypothesis of convergence has to be rejected for regional low-skilled and mediumskilled employment rates. In other words, while the changes in the skill composition of employment do not seem to affect the geographical distribution of employment prospects for total employment, they do seem to have an effect on skill-specific employment prospects across regions. Finally, the relationship between adjustment processes after a region-specific labor demand shock and the existence of regional labor market disparities for western German regional planning units is examined. Unemployment, labor force participation, and labor mobility are considered to be the main adjustment channels in the wake of a region-specific labor demand shock. A panel vector autoregressive (PVAR) model is applied to analyze the role of these labor market measures during the adjustment process in the aftermath of a shock. The results show that slow adjustment processes after a region-specific labor demand shock are a possible explanation for persistent disparities in regional unemployment. As in previous studies, labor mobility is identified as being the main adjustment mechanism in the aftermath of a regional labor demand shock. However, a more detailed look at labor mobility shows that here commuting is more important than migration.

Kurzfassung

Dieses Buch beschäftigt sich mit der Frage, ob sich regionale Arbeitsmarktdisparitäten über die Zeit vertiefen, verringern oder ob sie stabil bleiben. Die Konvergenzhypothese wird für die Arbeitslosenquoten deutscher Bundesländer und die Beschäftigungsguoten westdeutscher Raumordnungsregionen überprüft. Um die Auswirkungen des gualifikatorischen Wandels der Beschäftigten auf die Entwicklung regionaler Beschäftigungsdisparitäten aufzuzeigen, werden zusätzlich gualifikationsspezifische Beschäftigungsguoten betrachtet. Es findet sich kein eindeutiger Hinweis darauf, dass die Unterschiede zwischen den Bundesländern hinsichtlich deren Arbeitslosenquoten im Zeitverlauf deutlich zu- oder abgenommen haben. Hinweise auf Konvergenz finden sich im Fall der regionalen Beschäftigungsguoten aller Beschäftigten und der Beschäftigungsguoten für Hochgualifizierte, jedoch nicht für die regionalen Beschäftigungsquoten der Beschäftigten ohne Berufsausbildung sowie der Beschäftigten mit abgeschlossener Berufsausbildung. Der Wandel der Qualifikationsstruktur der Beschäftigten beeinflusst nicht die regionale Verteilung der Beschäftigungschancen insgesamt. Er scheint jedoch Auswirkungen auf die regionale Verteilung der gualifikationsspezifischen Beschäftigungschancen zu haben. Weiterhin wird der Zusammenhang zwischen Anpassungsprozessen nach einem regionalen Arbeitsnachfrageschock und der Existenz regionaler Arbeitsmarktdisparitäten untersucht. Arbeitslosigkeit, Arbeitsmarktpartizipation und Arbeitskräftemobilität gelten als die wichtigsten Anpassungskanäle nach einem solchen Schock. Um die Bedeutung dieser Arbeitsmarktgrößen für den Anpassungsprozess nach einem Schock aufzuzeigen, wird ein Panel-Vektorautoregressives Modell (PVAR) verwendet. Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass langsame Anpassungsprozesse nach einem regionsspezifischen Arbeitsnachfrageschock eine mögliche Erklärung für dauerhafte regionale Arbeitslosigkeitsdisparitäten sind. Wie in vorangegangenen Arbeiten wird auch hier Arbeitskräftemobilität als wichtigster Anpassungsmechanismus nach einem solchen Schock identifiziert. Eine detaillierte Betrachtung der Arbeitskräftemobilität zeigt, dass dabei das Pendeln eine wichtigere Rolle spielt als Wanderungen.

Numerous countries, Germany among them, are characterized by pronounced regional labor market disparities. Various regional economic studies provide very different approaches to explaining the existence of such variations. However only a few papers give information about the dynamics of regional labor market disparities: Do these increase with time, do they decrease, or do they remain stable? Moreover, the previous studies do not pay attention to the role played in this process by employee groups with differing levels of qualification. Daniel Werner's study closes these gaps. Werner also examines in detail adjustment processes in the wake of regional labor market shocks. His conclusion: The mobility of workers – and here especially commuting – is the most important adjustment mechanism.





Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung der Bundesagentur für Arbeit Weddigenstraße 20-22 • 90478 Nürnberg • www.iab.de